

UNIVERSITÉ DE STRASBOURG



École Doctorale des Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé S T R A S B O U R G

École Doctorale Des Sciences De La Vie Et De La Santé INSERM U1114



Paul Michael ANDERSON

soutenue le : 11 April 2014

pour obtenir le grade de : Docteur de l'université de Strasbourg

Discipline/ Spécialité : Neurosciences

Oscillations dans la bande de fréquence gamma dans des modèles de rongeurs pour la schizophrénie

THÈSE dirigée par : PINAULT Didier JONES Nigel	CR1 HDR, Université de Strasbourg Senior Research Fellow, University of Melbourne
RAPPORTEURS :	
DRAGUHN Andreas	Professor, University of Heidelberg
BURNE Thomas	Associate Professor, University of Queensland

AUTRES MEMBRES DU JURY :

SANDNER Guy BOUSSIOUTAS Alex O'BRIEN Terence Professeur, Université de Strasbourg Professor, University of Melbourne Professor, University of Melbourne

GAMMA FREQUENCY OSCILLATIONS IN RODENT MODELS FOR SCHIZOPHRENIA

PAUL MICHAEL ANDERSON

Submitted in total fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy under a Cotutelle arrangement with The University of Melbourne and l'Université de Strasbourg

March 2014

Department of Medicine at the Royal Melbourne Hospital Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and Health Sciences The University of Melbourne, Australia

&

Inserm U1114, Faculté de Médecine, FMTS Ecole Doctorale des Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé l'Université de Strasbourg, France

"I don't know anything, but I do know that everything is interesting if you go into it deeply enough"

– Richard P. Feynman

Background

Schizophrenia is a devastating psychiatric illness most prominently characterised by symptoms such as hallucinations, disordered thought and delusions. However, patients also exhibit a variety of sensory and cognitive deficits including alterations in visual processing, sensory gating, working memory and attention. The pathophysiological mechanisms behind these cognitive impairments are still unknown, but they are thought to result from abnormal activity both within and between cortical areas, and in how brain networks code, communicate and combine information (Andreasen et al., 1999; Friston, 1999; Phillips and Silverstein, 2003).

Neural oscillations, in particular those in the gamma frequency band (γ , 30– 80 Hz), are purported to support the coordination of activity in diverse brain regions and to combine the inputs of disparate neural networks (Engel et al., 1997; Singer, 1999; Buzsaki and Draguhn, 2004). This type of functional integration is essential for cognitive processes, such as attention, memory and perception, and the associated γ oscillations are altered in neurobiological disorders, including schizophrenia (Tallon-Baudry and Bertrand, 1999; Fries et al., 2001; Melloni et al., 2007). Patients with schizophrenia have increased ongoing cortical γ activity during psychotic episodes and hallucinations (Spencer et al., 2004; Ffytche, 2008) and extensive disruptions (both increases and decreases) in sensory-evoked and taskinduced γ oscillations (see Gandal et al., 2012 and Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010 for reviews). These findings lead to the hypothesis that excessive ongoing γ activity represents an aberrant network 'noise', disrupting information processing and communication in neural circuits. This viewpoint provides a theoretical framework for understanding the information processing deficits in schizophrenia.

Gamma oscillations are generated by recurrent inhibition through the action of networks of parvalbumin (PV) containing GABAergic interneurons, a neuronal subtype that is reduced in number in patients with schizophrenia (Lewis et al., 2005; Glausier et al., 2014). Non-competitive N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAr) antagonists, such ketamine and MK-801 (well-known as psychotomimetic substances), quickly and transiently increase the power of ongoing γ oscillations in rodents (Pinault, 2008) and in humans (Hong et al., 2010). The hypothesis of NMDAr hypofunction is currently widely investigated at both clinical and experimental levels (Krystal et al., 1994; Kocsis et al., 2013) and provides a biological basis for how abnormal γ oscillations may arise in schizophrenia. The work presented in this thesis consists of a series of studies into the effects of pharmacological and genetic manipulations on ongoing and sensory-evoked γ oscillations in rodent models for schizophrenia.

Aims

The goal of this thesis is to increase our understanding of the pathophysiological properties of γ oscillations in rodent models for schizophrenia and to explore how this electrophysiological marker may be used to evaluate novel compounds with antipsychotic properties. Three separate studies were conducted using behavioural, electrophysiological, pharmacological and genetic tools.

Aim 1 – Effects of chronic administration of antipsychotics on ketamine-induced behavioural and electrophysiological abnormalities

Current antipsychotic medications alleviate the symptoms in less than half of patients with schizophrenia, with limited efficacy in the negative and cognitive symptom domains (Leucht et al., 2008). For this reason the development of novel antipsychotic medications is a necessary goal to improve treatment of this complex disease. Translational biomarkers of antipsychotic efficacy would be useful tools for the development of potential novel medications. A single systemic injection of a subanesthetic dose of ketamine or MK-801 in rodents induces a dose-dependent increase in both the power of ongoing γ oscillations and in locomotor activity (Pinault, 2008; Hakami et al., 2009). Hyperlocomotion in rodents is commonly employed as a model for psychosis (Van den Buuse et al., 2005). Clinical studies have demonstrated that abnormalities in γ activity in schizophrenia patients are associated with psychotic symptomatology (Baldeweg et al., 1998; Gordon et al., 2001; Spencer, 2009). These findings suggest that NMDAr antagonist-induced increases in the power of γ oscillations may represent a useful electrophysiological biomarker of an acute psychotic-like state (Lee et al., 2003). Furthermore, previous work from our laboratory (Jones et al., 2012) demonstrated that single injections of typical and atypical antipsychotics modulate the power of γ oscillations and reduce ketamine-induced behavioural effects. This study aimed to investigate the efficacy of conventional pharmacological treatments and a novel metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR) agonist (LY379368) in a chronic dosing paradigm that reflects clinical treatment, in an attempt to evaluate the translational properties of the model.

Aim 2 – Gamma frequency activity and NMDA receptors in neuregulin 1 mutant mice: implications for schizophrenia.

Neuregulin 1 (Nrg1), a protein coded by a leading candidate 'risk' gene for schizophrenia (Stefansson et al., 2002), Nrg1 mRNA and protein expression are altered in schizophrenia (Hashimoto et al., 2004; Law et al., 2006). Although the pathophysiological mechanisms by which altered Nrg1 expression or function results in vulnerability to develop schizophrenia is not known, several lines of evidence link Nrg1 and NMDAr function (Geddes et al., 2011). Nrg1 signalling is

important for the development of PV interneuron circuits, the interneuron subtype that contributes to the generation of γ oscillations. Furthermore, ablation of ErbB4 (the Nrg1 receptor) on PV interneurons leads to a range of abnormal synaptic and circuit level activities, including altered γ frequency activity (Wen et al., 2010; del Pino et al., 2013). Mice genetically engineered to be heterozygous for the transmembrane domain of the Nrg1 protein (Nrg1 TM HET mice) possess a behavioural phenotype relevant to schizophrenia, exhibiting hyperlocomotion, increased anxiety, impairments in working memory and social interaction deficits (Stefansson et al., 2002; Karl et al., 2007; Duffy et al., 2010; Chesworth et al., 2012). This study examined ongoing γ activity and expression of NMDAr in mice containing a heterozygous mutation in the transmembrane domain of Nrg1 with the aim to characterise electrophysiological singularities of this genetic model.

Aim 3 – Contribution of the corticothalamic pathway in the ketamineinduced reduction of the γ signal-to-noise ratio

There is a growing body of literature indicating involvement of dysfunctional thalamic networks in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, specifically in the observed disturbances in function-related γ frequency oscillations (Cronenwett and Csernansky, 2010; Pinault, 2011; Woodward et al., 2012). A postulated mechanism of these impairments is reduced NMDAr activation at glutamatergic synapses on GABAergic interneurons (Carlen et al., 2011). We previously demonstrated that a single subanesthetic dose of ketamine transiently increases the power of ongoing γ oscillations and decreases sensory-evoked γ oscillations in the rat somatosensory thalamocortical (TC) network (Kulikova et al., 2012), reducing the γ signal-to-noise ratio; (defined as the power of the sensory-evoked γ response above the power of the baseline γ noise). Both the glutamatergic TC neurons and the GABAergic thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN) neurons are innervated by glutamatergic corticothalamic (CT) axons originating from layer VI. The goal of the

present study was to assess the contribution of the CT pathway in the ongoing and sensory-evoked γ oscillations in the somatosensory thalamus.

Methodology

Aim 1 – The effects of chronic antipsychotic administration on the electrophysiological and behavioural effects of acute NMDAr antagonism was assessed by implanting adult male Wistar rats with subcutaneous osmotic pumps and electrocorticogram (ECoG) recording electrodes. Animals received treatment with subcutaneous (s.c.) haloperidol (0.25 mg/kg), clozapine (5 mg/kg), LY379268 (0.3 mg/kg) or vehicle (10% acetic acid) for 28 days during which they then underwent weekly recordings of electrophysiological activity. On day 26 ketamine (5 mg/kg, s.c.) was administered and concurrent ECoG and locomotor activity were recorded. Behavioural data was objectively quantified using Ethovision tracking software and ECoG data were analysed using a combination of fast-Fourier transforms (FFT) and wavelet analysis. Results were compared with those generated previously using acute treatment with antipsychotic medications.

Aim 2 – To characterise the electrophysiological and behavioural effects of a mutation in the transmembrane domain of the Neuregulin 1 gene, female Nrg1 TM HET mice and wild-type controls were implanted with ECoG recording electrodes and underwent a series of electrophysiological recordings and behavioural tests. Ongoing electrophysiological activity was recorded during periods of quiet wakefulness in animal's home cages, as well as during a ketamine (10 mg/kg, s.c.) challenge in an open-field behavioural chamber. Locomotor activity was assessed in the open field under saline and ketamine conditions. Sensory-triggered γ activity was assessed using an auditory-evoked paradigm in acoustic behavioural chambers again under both saline and ketamine conditions. Electrophysiological data were

analysed using a combination of FFT and wavelet decomposition techniques. mRNA expression of ErbB4 and NMDAr subunits, as well as NR2B phosphorylation levels were measured in the prelimbic cortex using qPCR and Western blotting.

Aim 3 – To investigate the contributions of the CT pathway to thalamic ongoing sensory-evoked γ activities we performed a series of and in-vivo electrophysiological studies in lightly anaesthetised adult Wistar rats. Local-field potential and multi-unit activities were simultaneously recorded at the three key sites of the somatosensory TC system. We recorded the activities of 1) the medial part of the ventral posterior nucleus (VPm) - the principal target of trigeminal nerve input to the thalamus. 2) The thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN) - a GABAergic structure with γ pacemaker properties that exclusively innervates the dorsal thalamus and receives innervation from both the VPm and the Layer VI CT pathway (Pinault, 2004). 3) Layer VI of the corresponding somatosensory cortex. Electrical stimulation of the vibrissae was applied to evoke somatosensory activity and electrophysiological measures were recorded under saline and ketamine (2.5 mg/kg, s.c.) conditions. Further experiments were conducted with tetrodotoxin (TTX, a sodium channel blocker) applied directly to the cortical surface to block cortical feedback. Data generated were analysed with time-frequency decomposition using wavelet techniques, this allowed for the qualitative and quantitative assessment of ongoing and sensory-evoked γ activities.

Results

Aim 1 – Significant and sustained decreases in the power of ongoing γ oscillations was measured after chronic administration of haloperidol (64% decrease) or clozapine (43% decrease), but not with LY379268 (2% increase). Chronic administration of all three drugs attenuated the ketamine-induced γ and locomotor

hyperactivities. When compared to the acute effects of antipsychotic administration, the chronic delivery of both haloperidol and clozapine was able to significantly reduce the transient abnormal electrophysiological effects that follow a single sub-anaesthetic dose of ketamine.

Aim 2 – Nrg1 TM HET mutant mice displayed an increase in the power of ongoing cortical γ compared to wild-type mice (p<0.0001), reduced auditory-evoked γ activity (p<0.0001) as well as a dampened γ power response to ketamine. Nrg1 mice exhibited increased baseline hyperlocomotion compared to wild type animals, but both genotypes showed a similar locomotor response to ketamine. ErbB4 and NMDAr subunit mRNA expression was unaffected by Nrg1 genotype, but NR2B phosphorylation levels were significantly lower in Nrg1 mutant mice. Nrg1 mice displayed an altered γ frequency oscillation phenotype that is relevant to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. The reduced phosphorylation of the NMDAr NR2B subunit presents a potential molecular mechanism in the generation of these abnormal γ rhythms.

Aim 3 – A single injection of ketamine quickly and transiently increased the power of ongoing γ oscillations and simultaneously decreased both the amplitude and the γ power of the sensory-evoked responses in both the thalamus and the cortex. The sensory-evoked response recorded in the VPm and TRN was characterised principally by both short-latency (4.3±0.1 ms) and long-latency (10.8±0.1 ms) negative components. The late response was hypothesised to be the result of CT feedback. Local application of TTX in the related cortex abolished the amplitude of the late response and decreased the amount of the associated γ power. The amplitude of the late response was highly correlated (r2=0.9, p<0.001) with the power of the sensory-evoked γ oscillations, indicating that the CT pathway significantly contributed in the sensory-evoked γ in the thalamus.

Conclusions

Gamma oscillations have been demonstrated to play an important role in a variety of cognitive processes. There is increasing evidence that the cognitive abnormalities and symptoms seen in schizophrenia are related to dysfunctional networks, which exhibit abnormal γ oscillations; a potential hallmark of the pathophysiology of the disease. The three separate studies, which form the basis of the present thesis, used electrophysiological singularities (γ hyperactivity) recorded in rodent models for schizophrenia and psychotic states to increase our understanding of the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. The outcome of this thesis work could lead to the development of more robust and effective translational models for psychiatric disorders.

Aim 1 – The study of chronic antipsychotic treatment both verifies and expands our previous work demonstrating that antipsychotic medications affect γ oscillations, this result validates a potential biomarker of antipsychotic efficacy and further increases the relevance of γ oscillations to the schizophrenia disease state. It also develops a model that appears to be responsive to chronic, but not acute, antipsychotic treatment. The increased efficacy of haloperidol and clozapine under chronic treatment conditions recapitulates the clinical situation, which strengthens the validity to this model.

Aim 2 – The presence of distinct γ frequency electrophysiological abnormalities in Nrg1 mutant animals is the first evidence of an abnormal γ oscillatory as a potential endophenotype in the Nrg1 transmembrane domain mutant mouse, providing a neurophysiological correlate of the behavioural abnormalities observed in this model. It provides further evidence of the γ signal-to-noise ratio decreases in schizophrenia models and it is also an important extension of our γ oscillation model into a genetic foundation. Aim 3 – Investigating the contribution of the CT pathway in the ongoing and somatosensory-evoked γ oscillations demonstrated that the cortex plays a great role in the generation of thalamic γ oscillations during information processing and that ketamine reduces the CT-mediated sensory γ signal-to-noise ratio.

Thus, the specific results from each study extend certain aspects of our understanding of the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and offer potential new methods for the development of therapeutic concepts. In particular, we show that, by using various tools (behavioural, electrophysiological, pharmacological and genetic), we can study, in rodent models (pharmacological or genetic), both the state and the functionality of neural circuits through the dynamics of spontaneous and sensory-evoked γ oscillations and use them to test molecules having antipsychotic properties.

Résumé Français

Contexte

La schizophrénie est une maladie psychiatrique invalidante caractérisée principalement par des symptômes tels que des hallucinations, des troubles de la pensée et des idées délirantes. Les patients présentent également une variété de déficits sensoriels et cognitifs incluant des altérations dans le traitement des informations sensorielles, dans la mémoire de travail et l'attention. Les mécanismes physiopathologiques à l'origine de ces troubles cognitifs demeurent inconnus, mais de nombreux travaux laissent à penser qu'ils résulteraient d'une activité anormale au sein de diverses aires corticales et leurs interactions fonctionnelles ainsi que dans la manière dont les circuits du cerveau codent, communiquent et transmettent les informations (Andreasen et coll, 1999; Friston, 1999; Phillips et Silverstein, 2003).

Les oscillations neuronales, en particulier dans la bande de fréquence gamma (γ , 30-80 Hz) sont reconnues pour jouer un rôle important dans la coordination (synchronisation spatio-temporelle) des activités de diverses régions du cerveau (Engel et coll., 1997; Singer, 1999; Buzsaki and Draguhn, 2004). Ce type d'intégration fonctionnelle est essentiel dans les processus complexes comme la cognition, l'attention, la mémoire et la perception, tous étant associés à des oscillations γ , lesquelles sont perturbées dans de nombreux désordres neurobiologiques complexes comme la schizophrénie (Tallon-Baudry and Bertrand, 1999; Fries et coll., 2001; Melloni et coll., 2007). Le cortex de patients atteints de schizophrénie développe une augmentation des oscillations γ durant des épisodes psychotiques et des hallucinations (Baldeweg et coll., 1998; Spencer et coll., 2004; Ffytche, 2008) ainsi que d'importantes perturbations (augmentation comme diminution) dans les oscillations γ évoquées par les voies sensorielles (Gandal et coll., 2012; Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010). Ces résultats nous conduisent à formuler

l'hypothèse selon laquelle l'activité γ spontanée (ou activité basale) représente, au sein des réseaux neuronaux, un « bruit » persistant et gênant à leur bon fonctionnement, ainsi perturbant le traitement de l'information et de la communication dans les circuits en question. Ce point de vue offre un cadre théorique pour la compréhension des déficits du traitement de l'information dans la schizophrénie.

Les oscillations γ sont engendrées essentiellement par une inhibition récurrente assurée par l'action collective d'interneurones GABAergiques contenant de la parvalbumine (PV), un sous-type neuronal qui est réduit en nombre chez les patients atteints de schizophrénie (Lewis et coll., 2005). Les antagonistes noncompétitifs des récepteurs N-méthyl D-aspartate (rNMDA), comme la kétamine et le MK-801 (des substances psychotomimétiques connues), augmentent rapidement et transitoirement la puissance des oscillations γ chez l'homme (Hong et coll., 2010) et le rongeur (Pinault, 2008; Hakami et coll, 2009). L'hypothèse d'un hypofonctionnement des rNMDA est actuellement largement étudiée au niveau clinique et expérimental (Krystal et coll., 1994; Kocsis et coll., 2013) pour comprendre les mécanismes responsables des anomalies fonctionnelles dans les oscillations γ observées dans la schizophrénie. Cette thèse se compose d'une série d'études sur les effets de manipulations pharmacologiques et génétiques sur les oscillations γ spontanées et évoquées, par l'activation des voies sensorielles, dans des modèles murins pour la schizophrénie.

Objectifs

L'objectif de cette thèse est de comprendre les propriétés physiopathologiques des oscillations γ au sein de modèles murins pour la schizophrénie et de chercher comment utiliser ce marqueur électrophysiologique pour tester des molécules avec

des propriétés (potentiellement) antipsychotiques. Trois études distinctes ont été réalisées avec des outils comportementaux, électrophysiologiques, pharmacologiques et génétiques.

Objectif 1 – Effet d'une administration chronique d'antipsychotiques sur les effets comportementaux et électrophysiologiques induits par la kétamine

Les traitements antipsychotiques actuels apaisent les symptômes de moins de la moitié des patients atteints de schizophrénie avec une efficacité limitée pour les symptômes négatifs et cognitifs (Leucht et coll., 2008). C'est pourquoi, le développement de nouveaux médicaments antipsychotiques est un objectif essentiel pour traiter efficacement cette maladie complexe. Des biomarqueurs translationnels de l'efficacité antipsychotique représenteraient un outil important dans le développement de ces nouveaux médicaments. Les antagonistes non-compétitifs des rNMDA induisent, chez le rongeur, une augmentation de la puissance des oscillations γ spontanées et une augmentation de l'activité locomotrice (Hakami et coll., 2009), un modèle couramment utilisé pour les états psychotiques aigus (Van den Buuse et coll., 2005). Les résultats cliniques montrent que des anomalies de l'activité γ chez des patients atteints de schizophrénie est liée à la symptomatologie psychotique (Baldeweg et coll, 1998; Gordon et coll, 2001; Spencer, 2009). Ces résultats suggèrent que les augmentations induites par les antagonistes des rNMDA dans la puissance γ représentent un bio-marqueur électrophysiologique d'un état rappelant un état psychotique aigu (Lee et coll., 2003). De plus, des travaux antérieurs de notre laboratoire (Jones et coll., 2012) démontrèrent que les antipsychotiques typiques et atypiques modulent profondément la puissance des oscillations γ et réduisent les effets comportementaux induits par la kétamine. Cette étude visait à évaluer l'efficacité des traitements pharmacologiques classiques ainsi que celle d'un nouvel agoniste des récepteurs métabotropiques au glutamate

(mGluR) (LY379368) avec des doses similaires à celles utilisées en clinique, et ce, afin d'évaluer les propriétés translationnelles de ce modèle.

Objectif 2 – Activité γ et rNMDA chez des souris mutantes (Neuregulin 1) : implications pour la schizophrénie.

La Neuregulin 1 (Nrg1), une protéine codée par un gène « risque » candidat pour la schizophrénie (Stefansson et coll, 2002), l'ARNm Nrg1 et l'expression de protéines sont modifiés dans la schizophrénie (Hashimoto et coll., 2004; Law et coll., 2006). Bien que les mécanismes physiopathologiques qui lient les modifications d'expression Nrg1 à la vulnérabilité à la schizophrénie ne soient pas connus, plusieurs indices lient le gène Nrg1 au fonctionnement des rNMDA (Geddes et coll., 2011). La Signalisation Nrg1 est importante pour le développement de circuits des interneurones PV+, et ces interneurones à décharge rapide contribuent à la genèse d'oscillations γ et l'ablation de ErbB4 (récepteur Nrg1) sur les interneurones PV+ conduit à une série d'activités synaptiques anormales, comprenant une modification de l'activité γ (Wen et coll., 2010; del Pino et coll., 2013). Les souris génétiquement modifiées pour être hétérozygote pour le domaine transmembranaire de la protéine Nrg1 (souris Nrg1 TM HET) possèdent un phénotype comportemental pertinent pour la schizophrénie, présentant une hyperlocomotion, une augmentation de l'anxiété, des troubles de la mémoire de travail et des déficits d'interaction sociale (Stefansson et coll., 2002; Karl et coll., 2007; Duffy et coll., 2010; Chesworth et coll., 2012). Notre étude portait sur les oscillations γ et l'expression des rNMDA chez la souris contenant une mutation hétérozygote dans le domaine transmembranaire de Nrg1 dans le but de caractériser des singularités électrophysiologiques chez ce modèle génétique.

Objectif 3 – Contribution de la voie corticothalamique dans la réduction induite par la kétamine du rapport signal γ-bruit γ

Un nombre croissant d'arguments cliniques et expérimentaux soutiennent l'hypothèse selon laquelle les circuits neuronaux impliquant le thalamus sont dysfonctionnels dans la physiopathologie de la schizophrénie, plus précisément dans les perturbations des oscillations γ fonctionnelles observées (Cronenwett and Csernansky, 2010; Pinault, 2011; Woodward et coll., 2012). Ces déficits seraient sous-tendus par un mécanisme impliquant un hypofonctionnement des rNMDA au niveau des synapses glutamatergiques sur des interneurones GABAergiques (Carlen et coll., 2011). Nous avons déjà démontré dans le système thalamocortical (TC) du rat que l'administration systémique d'une dose subanesthésique de kétamine augmente transitoirement la puissance des oscillations γ spontanées et diminue les oscillations γ évoquées par l'activation des voies sensorielles (Kulikova et coll., ainsi réduisant le rapport puissance du signal γ (de nature 2012), sensoriel)/puissance du bruit γ (oscillations basales). Les neurones TC glutamatergiques et du noyau réticulaire thalamique (TRN) GABAergique sont massivement innervés par les axones corticothalamiques (CT), glutamatergiques, issus de la couche VI. L'objectif de cette étude était d'évaluer la contribution de la voie CT dans les oscillations γ spontanées et évoquées dans le thalamus somatosensoriel.

Méthodologie

Objectif 1 – Les effets d'une administration chronique d'antipsychotiques sur les effets aigus, électrophysiologiques et comportementaux, de la kétamine furent testés à la suite de l'implantation, chez le rat Wistar male adulte, avec une pompe osmotique sous-cutanée (s.c.) et des électrodes pour effectuer un

électrocorticogramme (ECoG). Ainsi les animaux recevaient une perfusion souscutanée d'un traitement contenant de l'halopéridol (0,25 mg/kg), de la clozapine (5 mg/kg), du LY379268 (un agoniste aux récepteurs mGluR2/3, 0,3 mg/kg) ou un véhicule (acide acétique à 10%) durant 28 jours au cours desquels des enregistrements ECoG hebdomadaires furent effectués. Au jour 26, une dose subanesthésique (5 mg/kg, s.c.) de kétamine fut injectée par voie sous-cutanée puis les activités, locomotrice et ECoG, furent simultanément enregistrées. Les données électrophysiologiques furent analysés en combinant des transformées de Fourier rapides (FFT) et une analyse par ondelettes. Les résultats furent comparés à ceux précédemment obtenus en utilisant un traitement aigu avec les mêmes substances dotées de propriétés antipsychotiques.

Objectif 2 – Afin de caractériser les effets électrophysiologiques et comportementaux d'une mutation dans le domaine transmembranaire du gène Nrg1, des souris Nrg1 TM HET femelles furent implantées avec des électrodes d'enregistrement corticales ECoG et furent soumises à une série d'enregistrements électrophysiologiques et des tests comportementaux. L'activité électrophysiologique spontanée était enregistrée au cours des périodes de veille calme dans leur cage, ainsi que lors d'une administration de kétamine (10 mg/kg, s.c.). L'activité locomotrice fut évaluée dans une enceinte appropriée sous condition saline ou kétamine. L'activité γ sensorielle évoquée fut évaluée à l'aide d'un paradigme de stimulation auditive dans des enceintes comportementales acoustiques, et ce, sous la condition saline ou kétamine. Les données électrophysiologiques furent analysées en utilisant une combinaison de FFT avec des techniques de décomposition en ondelettes. L'expression de l'ARNm d'ErbB4 et des sous-unités rNMDA ainsi que les niveaux de phosphorylation de NR2B furent mesurés dans le cortex prélimbique.

Objectif 3 – Afin d'étudier la contribution de la voie CT dans les activités thalamiques γ , spontanées et évoquées, nous effectuâmes une série d'études électrophysiologiques in vivo sur des rats adultes Wistar sous anesthésie légère. Plus précisément, des potentiels de champ extracellulaires et des activités multi-unitaires étaient enregistrés simultanément aux trois sites clés du système TC somatosensoriel. Ainsi étaient enregistrées les activités 1) de la partie médiane du noyau ventral postérieur (VPM) - la principale entrée du nerf trijumeau du thalamus ; 2) du noyau réticulaire thalamique (TRN), une structure GABAergique avec des propriétés de type pacemaker dans la bande de fréquence γ , qui innerve exclusivement le thalamus dorsal et qui est innervé par les neurones TC du VPM et par les neurones CT issus de la couche VI du cortex somatosensoriel ; et 3) des neurones de cette couche VI (Pinault, 2004). La voie somatosensorielle était activée par une stimulation électrique des vibrisses, et les enregistrements simultanés étaient effectués en condition saline ou kétamine (2,5 mg/kg, s.c.). D'autres expériences furent réalisées avec de la tétrodotoxine (un bloquant des canaux sodiques) appliquée directement sur la surface corticale afin de bloquer les activités de la voie CT. Les données obtenues furent traitées par une analyse tempsfréquence en utilisant la technique des ondelettes, ainsi permettant d'appréhender qualitativement et quantitativement les activités γ spontanées et évoquées.

Résultats

Objectif 1 – Une baisse significative et durable de la puissance des oscillations γ spontanées fut observée à la suite d'une administration chronique d'halopéridol (diminution de 64 %) ou de clozapine (diminution de 43 %), mais pas avec le LY379268 (augmentation de 2%). Les effets aigus de l'injection de kétamine (augmentations significatives de la puissance des oscillations γ spontanées et de

l'activité locomotrice) furent considérablement atténués durant l'administration chronique de chacun des trois médicaments comparativement à la condition contrôle (véhicule). Par rapport aux effets d'une administration aiguë d'antipsychotiques, l'administration chronique d'halopéridol ou de clozapine réduisit de manière significative les effets électrophysiologiques d'une injection de kétamine.

Objectif 2 – Le cortex des souris mutantes Nrg1 TM HET montrait une augmentation de la puissance des oscillations γ corticales spontanées par rapport aux souris de type sauvage (p < 0.0001), une réduction de la l'activité γ évoquée (à la suite de l'activation des voies auditives ; p < 0.0001) ainsi qu'une diminution de la puissance de l'hyperactivité γ spontanée transitoire induite par la kétamine. Les Souris Nrg1 présentaient aussi une augmentation de leur activité locomotrice basale par rapport aux souris sauvages, mais pas de réponse locomotrice singulière mesurable après une injection de kétamine à une dose subanesthésique. L'expression d'ARNm ErbB4 et des rNMDA n'étaient pas affectée par le génotype Nrg1, mais les niveaux de phosphorylation NR2B étaient significativement plus faibles chez les souris mutantes Nrg1. Ces souris présentaient une hyperactivité γ spontanée anormalement élevée, un endo-phénotype présentant une certaine pertinence relative à la physiopathologie de la schizophrénie. Une réduction de la phosphorylation de la sous-unité NR2B des rNMDA est un mécanisme moléculaire candidat potentiel dans la genèse de ces rythmes γ anormaux.

Objectif 3 – Un injection unique de kétamine (à une dose subanesthésique) augmentait, rapidement et transitoirement, la puissance des oscillations γ spontanées et simultanément diminuait l'amplitude des réponses sensorielles évoquées au sein du thalamus et du cortex ainsi que la puissance des ondes γ correspondantes. Les réponses évoquées dans le VPM et le TRN étaient composées de 2 ondes négatives à courte (4.3 ± 0.1 ms) et longue (10.8 ± 0.1 ms) latences. Cette onde tardive étaient interprétée comme étant la manifestation d'un rétrocontrôle CT. L'application locale de TTX sur le cortex atténua l'amplitude de la réponse tardive et diminua la puissance des oscillations γ associées. L'amplitude de la réponse tardive était hautement corrélée (R2 = 0.9, p < 0.001) avec la puissance des oscillations γ évoquées, indiquant que la voie CT contribuait de manière significative aux oscillations γ de nature sensorielle enregistrées au sein du thalamus.

Conclusions

Les oscillations γ jouent un rôle important dans divers processus cognitifs. Il y a de plus en plus d'éléments indiquant que les désordres cognitifs et les symptômes observés dans la schizophrénie sont liés à un dysfonctionnement des circuits neuronaux se manifestant par des anomalies dans les oscillations γ , un marqueur potentiel de la physiopathologie de la maladie. Les trois études distinctes de ce travail de thèse utilisèrent des singularités électrophysiologiques (hyperactivité γ) enregistrées dans des modèles murins pour la schizophrénie et pour des états psychotiques. Notre travail devrait conduire au développement de modèles translationnels plus efficaces et plus robustes de désordres psychiatriques complexes et donc nous aider à élargir notre connaissance de la physiopathologie de la schizophrénie.

Objectif 1 - L'étude d'un traitement chronique par une molécule de type antipsychotique parachève nos travaux précédents sur les effets aigus de médicaments antipsychotiques sur les oscillations γ , validant ainsi ces oscillations comme un biomarqueur potentiel pour étudier l'efficacité de substances dotées de propriétés antipsychotiques potentielles. Ce travail donne du poids sur la relation étroite entre les oscillations γ et la schizophrénie. Il développe aussi un modèle qui semble être plus sensible à un traitement chronique qu'à un traitement aigu par un antipsychotique. L'efficacité d'un traitement chronique avec l'halopéridol ou la clozapine reproduit la situation clinique, ce qui ajoute du poids à la validité de ce modèle.

Objectif 2 – Les oscillations γ anormalement excessives dans le cortex des souris mutantes Nrg1 sont interprétées comme un endo-phénotype potentiel, un corrélat neurophysiologique des anomalies comportementales observées dans ce modèle génétique. Il fournit un argument supplémentaire en faveur de l'hypothèse selon laquelle il y a une diminution du rapport signal-bruit durant le traitement de l'information dans la schizophrénie.

Objectif 3 – En étudiant la contribution de la voie CT dans les oscillations γ spontanées et évoquées (par les voies somatosensorielles), nous démontrons que la voie CT joue un rôle majeur dans la genèse d'oscillations γ thalamiques durant le traitement de l'information et que la kétamine réduit le rapport signal γ -bruit γ dans la transmission CT.

Ainsi, les résultats spécifiques à chaque étude alimentent certains aspects de notre connaissance de la physiopathologie de la schizophrénie et offre une voie nouvelle pour le développement de concepts thérapeutiques. Plus particulièrement, nous montrons qu'en utilisant divers outils (comportementaux, électrophysiologiques, pharmacologiques et génétiques) nous pouvons étudier, sur des modèles murins (pharmacologiques ou génétiques), l'état et la fonctionnalité de circuits neuronaux au travers de la dynamique des oscillations γ spontanées et évoquées, par exemple par l'activation de voies sensorielles, et les utiliser pour tester des molécules ayant des propriétés antipsychotiques. This is to certify that

- i. The thesis comprises only my original work towards the PhD except where indicated in the Preface,
- ii. due acknowledgement has been made in the text to all other material used,
- iii. the thesis is fewer than 100,000 words in length, exclusive of tables, maps, bibliographies and appendices.

Signature _____

Date _____

PREFACE

The following sections of this thesis were contributed to by colleagues and collaborators:

Résumé Français Front Matter

Mr. Audran Chamarty and Associate Professor Didier Pinault of the Faculté de Médecine, Université de Strasbourg, France assisted in the translation of the English Abstract into French

Acute antipsychotic experiments Chapter 2

Ms. Maya Reddy of the Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Australia conducted experiments investigating acute administration of antipsychotics prior to my PhD. This data was reanalysed and used in addition to the original experiments performed in Chapter 2.

Tissue collection and qPCR assessment of NMDA receptor expression Chapter 3

Dr. Leonora Long of the Schizophrenia Research Institute, Sydney, Australia performed the tissue collection, qPCR assessment of NMDA receptor expression in neuregulin 1 mutant mice, and generated Figure 3.6

Western blot assessment of NMDA receptor phosphorylation Chapter 3

Dr. Shijie Liu of the Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Australia performed Western Blots of phosphorylated NMDA receptor protein and generated Figure 3.7.

In-vivo electrophysiology studies of the somatosensory pathway Chapter 4

Experiments in this chapter were performed under the supervision of Associate Professor Didier Pinault of the Faculté de Médecine, Université de Strasbourg, France.

I wish to acknowledge and thank these contributors for their kind assistance in the creation of this thesis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to give my deepest thanks to the many people who have helped and supported me through the processes of creating this thesis:

Firstly to my supervisors Dr. Nigel Jones, Professor Terence O'Brien and Associate Professor Didier Pinault, I wish to thank you all for the wonderful opportunity you have provided to me over the last four years. You have each provided fantastic support and inspiration to me and I truly appreciate it. You have helped me mature and progress as a scientist and you have encouraged me to strive to push myself and achieve more.

Thanks to my family, without your love and support I never would have been able to get to this point. You raised me to have a sense of curoisty and a faith in my ability to find answers to questions that has resulted in this achievement.

Thanks to Gabriella Dezsi, Gil Rind and Ezgi Ozturk, your help and support in the lab has been invaluable and your contribution far exceeds the technical help you gave me. I would also like to thank everyone else past and present in the O'Brien lab for providing a great environment to work in.

To Lisa Cardamone, Lucy Vivash and Agnieszka Swierczak, thank you for being there throughout this process. You have been an endless comfort during the ups and downs of my PhD and I am so glad to have been able to join you in the many commiserations and celebrations along the way. To Audran Chamarty, you made me feel welcome in a foreign land and provided endless hours of stimulating and slightly ridiculous conversation that I will never forget.

Thank you Amelia Koe, you are simply an amazing person and your friendship and love is the highlight of my life. You have been the source of more inspiration and support than you can ever know.

AWARDS AND SCHOLARSHIPS

The following awards and scholarships supported the production of this thesis:

The University of Melbourne – Melbourne Abroad Travel Scholarship

To fund travel to the Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting in 2013

Australian Government Department of Education — Endeavour Research

Fellowship

Stipend to support Cotutelle collaboration in Strasbourg, France

The University of Melbourne — Overseas Research Experience Scholarship

To fund travel to Strasbourg, France

Australasian Neuroscience Society — 2012 Annual Conference Student Travel Award

To fund travel to the 32nd ANS Annual Meeting

Australasian Neuroscience Society - 2011 Annual Conference Student Travel

Award

To fund travel to the 31st ANS Annual Meeting in 2011

Australian Rotary Health Foundation — Ian Scott PhD Scholarship

Scholarship to support living expenses throughout my PhD (2011-2013)

My heartfelt thanks to these organisations for their generous financial support

PRESENTATIONS AND PUBLICATIONS

Presentations

- Poster: "Ketamine decreases sensory- evoked corticothalamic- mediated γ oscillations in the rat somatosensory thalamus" — SfN Annual Meeting 2013, San Diego, USA
- **Poster:** "A single psychotomimetic dose of ketamine disrupts corticothalamic dynamics" *Bernstein Conference* 2012, Munich, Germany
- **Poster:** "Ketamine disrupts sensory-evoked γ oscillations in the corticothalamic pathway" *Neurex Annual Meeting* 2012, Illkirch, France
- **Oral:** "Altered gamma oscillations in a Neuregulin 1 mouse model for schizophrenia" *Australian Neuroscience Society Annual Conference* 2012, Gold Coast, Australia
- **Poster:** "Characterising the effects of anti-psychotic medications on gamma frequency oscillations in rodents" *Australian Neuroscience Society Annual Conference* 2011, Auckland, New Zealand
- **Poster:** "Gene × Environment interactions in a Neuregulin 1 model for schizophrenia" *Inaugural Student Brain Symposium* 2011, Melbourne Brain Centre

Publications – in press

NC Jones, M Reddy, **PM Anderson**, MR Salzberg, TJ O'Brien, D Pinault. Typical and atypical antipsychotics reduce EEG gamma power, but only LY379268 reduces the ketamine-induced rise in gamma power. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 2012; 15(5): 657-68

SP Kulikova, EA Tolmacheva, **PM Anderson**, J Gaudias, BE Adams, T Zheng, D Pinault. Opposite effects of ketamine and deep brain stimulation on rat thalamocortical information processing. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 2013; 36(10): 3407-19

NC Jones, **PM Anderson**, G Rind, C Sullivan, M van den Buuse, & TJ O'Brien. "Effects of aberrant gamma frequency oscillations on prepulse inhibition" *Accepted for Publication International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* February 2014

Publications – in preparation

PM Anderson, D Pinault, TJ O'Brien, NC Jones. "Chronic administration of antipsychotic medications alter the power of ongoing gamma oscillations and reduces the effects of a psychotomimetic dose of ketamine." *Submitted to International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* – Februrary 2014 *Chapter 2 constitutes a modified version of this manuscript*

PM Anderson, LE Long S Liu, D Pinault, CS Weickert, TJ O'Brien, NC Jones. "Gamma frequency oscillations and NMDA receptors in neuregulin 1 mutant mice: implications for schizophrenia."

Chapter 3 constitutes a modified version of this manuscript

PM Anderson, TJ O'Brien, NC Jones, D Pinault. "Ketamine disrupts sensoryevoked γ oscillations in the cortico-thalamic pathway"

Abbreviations

AMPA	α-Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
ACSF	Artificial cerebral spinal fluid
ASSR	Auditory steady-state response (ASSR)
CT	Corticothalamic
ECoG	Electrocorticogram
EPS	Extrapyramidal side effects
ERP	Event-related potential
EPSC	Exitatory post-synaptic current
FFT	Fast Fourier transform
GABA	Gamma-Aminobutyric Acidx
GAD ₆₇	Glutamic acid decarboxylase 67 kDA
HFO	High frequency oscillation
i.m.	Intra-muscular
i.p.	Intra-peritoneal
i.v.	Intra-venous
LFP	Local field potential
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
mGluR	Metabotropic glutamate receptor
MMN	Mismatch negativity
NAA	N-acetylaspartic acid
NAAG	N-acetylaspartylglutamate
NMDA	N-Methyl-D-aspartate
Nrg1	Neuregulin 1
PV	Parvalbumin
PCP	Phencyclidine
PET	Positron emission tomography
PSD95	Post synaptic density protein 95
PPI	Prepulse inhibition
S.C.	Sub-cutaneous
TTX	Tetrodotoxin
TRN	Thalamic reticular nucleus
TC	Thalamocortical
TM HET	Transmembrane heterozygous
VL	Ventral lateral nucleus
VPm	Ventral posteromedial nucleus

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 - Literature Review	1
1.1 - Schizophrenia	2
1.1.1 - Symptoms	2
1.1.2 - Diagnosis	5
1.1.3 - Epidemiology	
1.1.4 - Importance of Cognitive Symptoms	7
1.1.5 - Aetiology	10
1.1.5.1 - Environment	11
1.1.5.2 - Genetics	
1.2 – Treatment of Schizophrenia	14
1.2.1 - Typical Antipsychotics	15
1.2.2 - Atypical Antipsychotics	
1.2.3 - Pharmacology	
1.3 - The Dysconnection Hypothesis	21
1.3.1 - Imaging Evidence	23
1.3.2 - Structural Changes	
1.3.3 - Molecular Abnormalities	
1.3.4 - Electrophysiological Abnormalities	28
1.3.5 - Cause of Dysconnection	
1.4 - NMDA Receptor Hypofunction	33
1.4.1 - Glutamate and NMDA Receptors	33
1.4.2 -NMDA Receptor Antagonists in Humans	37

1.4.3 - Molecular and Genetic Evidence	40
1.4.4 - NMDA Receptor Hypofunction and Other Neurotransmitters	43
1.5 - Neural Oscillations	46
1.5.1 - Studying Oscillations	51
1.5.2 - Gamma Oscillations	55
1.5.3 - Gamma Oscillations in Schizophrenia	57
1.5.3.1 - Perceptual Related Gamma	57
1.5.3.2 - Cognition Related Gamma	59
1.5.3.3 - Ongoing Gamma	63
1.5.4 - Mechanisms of Gamma Oscillations	
1.6 - Animal Models for Schizophrenia	73
1.6.1 - Neuregulin 1 Models for Schizophrenia	75
1.6.2 – NMDA Receptor Antagonist Models for Schizophrenia	76
1.6.3 - Animal Models and Gamma Oscillations	78
1.7 - Thesis Aims	83

Chapter 2 - Effects of Chronic Administration of Antipsychotics on Ketamine-Induced Behavioural and Electrophysiological	
Abnormalities	
2.1 - Introduction	88
2.2 - Materials and Methods	90
2.2.1 - Animals	90
2.2.2 - Surgery	90
2.2.3 - Drugs and Vehicles	91

2.2.4 - Assessm	ent of ECoG Power and Locomotor Activity	92
2.2.5 - ECoG A	Acquisition and Analysis	
2.2.6 - Acute D	Oosage Data	93
2.2.7 - Statistic	al Analyses	93
2.3 - Results		94
2.3.1 - Haloper Ongoing Gamm Frequency Pow	ridol And Clozapine Reduce the Power of na Oscillations, LY379268 Increases Low er	94
2.3.2 - Chronic Significantly Att Power	e Treatment with Haloperidol or Clozapine tenuates the Ketamine-Induced Rise in Gamma	
	ee Antipsychotics Attenuate Ketamine-Induced on	100
Hyperlocomotio		
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotic 2.4 - Discussion		102
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotic 2.4 - Discussion Chapter 3 - Aberrant C and NMD Mice	Gamma Frequency Neural Activity A Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant	102
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotic 2.4 - Discussion Chapter 3 - Aberrant C and NMD Mice 3.1 - Introduction	Gamma Frequency Neural Activity A Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant	102 106 108
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotic 2.4 - Discussion Chapter 3 - Aberrant C and NMD Mice 3.1 - Introduction 3.2 - Materials and Me	Gamma Frequency Neural Activity A Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant	102 106 108 110
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotion 2.4 - Discussion Chapter 3 - Aberrant Control and NMD Mice 3.1 - Introduction 3.2 - Materials and Me 3.2.1 - Animals	Gamma Frequency Neural Activity A Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant	102 106 108 110 110
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotion 2.4 - Discussion Chapter 3 - Aberrant Control and NMD Mice 3.1 - Introduction 3.2 - Materials and Me 3.2.1 - Animals 3.2.2 - Electroo	Gamma Frequency Neural Activity A Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant thods the Implantation Surgery	102 106 108 110 110 111
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotion 2.4 - Discussion Chapter 3 - Aberrant C and NMD Mice 3.1 - Introduction 3.2 - Materials and Me 3.2.1 - Animals 3.2.2 - Electroop 3.2.3 - Electroop	Gamma Frequency Neural Activity A Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant thods le Implantation Surgery bhysiology Recordings and Analyses	102 106 108 110 110 111 111
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotion 2.4 - Discussion Chapter 3 - Aberrant Content and NMD Mice 3.1 - Introduction 3.2 - Materials and Me 3.2.1 - Animals 3.2.2 - Electroop 3.2.3 - Electroop 3.2.4 - Locomotion	Gamma Frequency Neural Activity A Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant thods	102 106 108 110 110 111 111 112
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotion 2.4 - Discussion Chapter 3 - Aberrant Content and NMD Mice 3.1 - Introduction 3.2 - Materials and Me 3.2.1 - Animals 3.2.2 - Electroop 3.2.3 - Electroop 3.2.4 - Locomo 3.2.5 - Tissue Content 3.2.5 - Tissue Content Hyperlocomotion	Gamma Frequency Neural Activity A Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant thods thods le Implantation Surgery ohysiology Recordings and Analyses otor Activity Collection	102 106 108 110 110 111 111 111 112 112
2.3.3 - All Three Hyperlocomotion 2.4 - Discussion Chapter 3 - Aberrant Content and NMD Mice 3.1 - Introduction 3.2 - Materials and Me 3.2.1 - Animals 3.2.2 - Electroop 3.2.3 - Electroop 3.2.4 - Locomo 3.2.5 - Tissue Co 3.2.6 - qPCR A	Gamma Frequency Neural Activity A Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant thods	102 106 108 110 110 111 111 112 112 113

3.2.8 - Statistical Analysis	114
3.3 - Results	115
3.3.1 - Nrg1 TM HET Mice Have Elevated Ongoing Gamma Frequency Power	115
3.3.2 - Nrg1 TM HET Mice Display Reduced Gamma Frequency Response to Ketamine	117
3.3.3 - Nrg1 TM HET Mice Show Reduced Auditory-Evoked Gamma Oscillations	119
3.3.4 - Nrg1 TM HET Mice Exhibit Hyperlocomotion, but Genotype Does Not Differentially Impact Behavior Following Ketamine	121
3.3.5 – NMDA Receptor Subunit Expression in Nrg1 TM HET Mice	123
3.3.6 - Cortical NR2B Subunit Phosphorylation is Reduced in Nrg1 TM HET Mice	123
3.4 - Discussion	
Chapter 4 - Contribution of the Corticothalamic Pathway to Ketamine-Induced Disruption of Information Processing	129
4.1 - Introduction	132
4.2 - Materials and Methods	134
4.2.1 - Animals	134
4.2.2 - Surgery	134
4.2.3 - Recording Procedure	136
4.2.4 - Electrophysiology and Histology	140
4.2.5 - Analysis	140
4.3 - Results	

	4.3.1 - Ketamine has Opposite Effects on Ongoing and Sensory- Evoked Gamma Oscillations Throughout the TC-CT Somatosensory Pathway	143
	4.3.2 - The Latency of Sensory-Evoked Responses Indicates CT Feedback Modulates the Late Response in the VPm	148
	4.3.3 - Cortical Application of TTX Alters the Sensory-Evoked Activity in the Thalamus	150
	4.3.4 - Reducing CT Feedback Attenuates the Gamma Signal in the Thalamus	153
4.4 -	Discussion	156
Chapter !	5 - Discussion	162
Chapter 5.1 -	5 - Discussion Key Findings	162
Chapter 5.1 - 5.2 -	5 - Discussion Key Findings Rodent Models as Translational Tools for Understanding Gamma Oscillations in Schizophrenia	162 162 166
Chapter 5.1 - 5.2 - 5.3 -	5 - Discussion Key Findings Rodent Models as Translational Tools for Understanding Gamma Oscillations in Schizophrenia Gamma Signal-to-Noise Abnormalities	162 162 166 171
Chapter 9 5.1 - 5.2 - 5.3 - 5.4 -	5 - Discussion Key Findings Rodent Models as Translational Tools for Understanding Gamma Oscillations in Schizophrenia Gamma Signal-to-Noise Abnormalities Limitations and Future Directions	162 162 166 171 175
Chapter 5.1 - 5.2 - 5.3 - 5.4 - 5.5 -	5 - Discussion Key Findings Rodent Models as Translational Tools for Understanding Gamma Oscillations in Schizophrenia Gamma Signal-to-Noise Abnormalities Limitations and Future Directions Final Conclusions	162 162 166 171 175 182
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1.1 –	A schematic Representation of NMDA Receptor Voltage Activation	36
Figure 1.2 –	Representative ECoG Trace, Frequency Bands and Power Spectrum	48
Figure 1.3 –	Illustration of the Different Categories of Neural Oscillations and Methods of Analysis	54
Figure 1.4 –	A Schematic Representation of the Pyramidal - Interneuron Gamma (PING) Model	68
Figure 1.5 –	PV+ Interneuron and Pyramidal Cell Interaction During NMDA Receptor Blockade	80
Figure 2.1 –	Average Spectral Power from ECoG of Rats Undergoing Chronic Antipsychotic Treatment	95
Tables 2.1-4	- Average Spectral Power in Discrete Frequency Bands from ECoG of Rats Undergoing Chronic Antipsychotic Treatment	96
Figure 2.2 –	Effects of Antipsychotic Treatment on Ketamine-Induced Increases in Gamma Power	99
Figure 2.3 –	Effects of Antipsychotic Treatment on Ketamine-Induced	101
Table 3.1 –	- Applied Biosystems TaqMan Gene Expression Assay Numbers	_113
Figure 3.1 –	Spontaneous High Frequency Cortical Oscillations are Increased in Nrg1 TM HET Mice	116
Figure 3.2 –	Changes In Spectral Power Following Saline or Ketamine Injections in Nrg1 TM HET Mice and Wildtype Littermates	118
Figure 3.3 –	Average Evoked Responses and Time-Frequency Heatmaps of Audio Stimuli ECoG Recordings in Nrg1 Mice And Wildtype Controls	120
Figure 3.4 –	Reduced Event-Related Gamma Activity in Nrg1 Mutant Mice	121
Figure 3.5 –	Locomotor Activity of Nrg1 TM HET Mice and Wildtype Controls Over 30 Minute Periods	122
Figure 3.6 –	mRNA Expression of NMDA Receptor Subunits in Prelimbic Cortex of Nrg1 TM HET Mice and Wildtype Controls	123

Figure 3.7 –	Protein Levels of the NMDA Receptor Subunit NR2B and the Phosphorylated NR2B Y1472	124
Figure 4.1 –	Experimental Design for Simultaneous Recording of the Major regions of the Somatosensory TC-CT Networks	138
Figure 4.2 –	Experimental Design of TTX Experiments for Identification of the CT Component in the Thalamic Sensory-Evoked Potential	139
Figure 4.3 –	Time-Frequency Analysis Using Morlet Wavelets to Determine the Gamma Signal-to-Noise Ratio	142
Figure 4.4 –	Effects of Ketamine on Ongoing Oscillations in the Somatosensory Cortex and Related Thalamus	144
Figure 4.5 –	Ketamine has Opposite Effects on Ongoing and Sensory-Evoked Gamma Activity in both Layer VI and the VPm	146
Figure 4.6 –	- Ketamine has Opposite Effects on the Baseline and Sensory- Evoked Gamma Signal in the TC-CT Somatosensory System	147
Figure 4.7 –	Timing of Sensory-Evoked Response in the Somatosensory TC- CT Circuit	149
Table 4.1 – 1	Latencies of Sensory-Evoked Potentials Throughout the TC-CT Somatosensory Pathway	149
Figure 4.8 –	TTX Application to the Cortical Surface Reveals the 'late' Thalamic Evoked Response involves CT Feedback	152
Figure 4.9 –	Time-Frequency Analysis of TTX Effects on Sensory-Evoked Responses in the VPm and Layer VI of the Related Somatosensory Cortex	154
Figure 4.10	 TTX Effects on the Power of Sensory-Evoked Gamma Responses in the VPm and Layer VI of the Somatosensory Cortex 	

CHAPTER 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

Schizophrenia is a debilitating mental disorder characterised by a breakdown in normal thought processes, blunted emotional responses and varied cognitive deficits. The pathological processes that lead to the development of schizophrenia are still unknown despite ongoing efforts to elucidate these processes over the past 100 years. There is a growing conception in modern neuroscience that the cognitive functions of the brain are the result of coordinated patterns of activity across distributed neuronal circuits. This view enables a powerful theoretical explanation of schizophrenia, that it is the result of dysconnection amongst functional neuronal networks. Gamma oscillations (γ , 30-80 Hz) are a key mechanism that drives the synchronisation of neural activity and disruptions in gamma oscillations represent a potential mechanistic explanation for the dysconnectivity hypothesis. The cellular and molecular mechanisms that govern the generation of gamma frequency neural oscillations intersect with the substantial body of evidence regarding the behavioural, molecular and physiological pathologies of schizophrenia. The following literature review will detail the symptoms and neuropathology of schizophrenia and describe how the hypothesis of dysconnection in the functional neural networks that govern cognitive processes is a cogent one. A description of the neurochemical hypothesis of NMDAr hypofunction and how it converges with the dysfunction hypothesis and γ oscillations will be made. Finally the use of animal models and evidence of NMDAr induced γ oscillatory dysfunction will be detailed.

1.1

Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a chronic, severe, and debilitating mental disorder that is characterised by disordered thought, hallucinations, delusions and diverse cognitive deficits (Harrison, 1999). First identified and named in the early 1900's (Bleuler, 1950; Kraeplin, 1919), schizophrenia has long been a confounding disorder; difficult to treat, devastating to those that suffer from it and resisting attempts by scientists to understand it. To this date we still have limited understanding of the fundamental causes of schizophrenia and a reciprocally poor ability to treat those that have it. Approximately 1 percent of the population worldwide develops schizophrenia during their lifetime, and treatment and care of sufferers is estimated to occupy 2-3 % of national healthcare budgets around the world (Knapp et al., 2004). Schizophrenia is also a major cause of disability, being ranked by the World Health Organisation as the 8th leading cause of disability worldwide (Rössler et al., 2005). Despite the prevalence, the high costs, and degree of suffering caused by schizophrenia treatment, options are still limited in their effectiveness, with approximately 29% of patients diagnosed with schizophrenia recovering to a level described as 'good' or better (Jalensky, 2000). As a result of these concerning statistics more research is needed into the underlying causes of schizophrenia and its varied symptomatology.

1.1.1 Symptoms

Schizophrenia is a heterogenous disease, with a large variety of symptoms. The varied nature of schizophrenia symptomatology can be seen between different patients and even within individuals across the course of their disease. The most prominent symptoms are the sometimes bizarre hallucinations and delusions and these capture the imagination of both the public and health professionals and researchers; however, there is a much larger and more varied symptomatology than these. The symptoms of schizophrenia are broken down into three key domains – positive, negative and cognitive symptoms (van Os and Kapur, 2009). Positive symptoms include the psychotic symptoms and represent traits and actions that patients with schizophrenia possess that aren't seen in healthy individuals. Negative symptoms describe a range of disruptions to normal behaviours and actions that are missing or absent in patients. Lastly, cognitive symptoms are a range of deficits in normal cognition that have been observed in patients with schizophrenia. The negative and cognitive symptoms can be hard to distinguish as being central to the disease, yet they can have some of the most profound impacts on a patients wellbeing and recovery over time and are the hardest to treat (Elvevåg and Goldberg, 2000).

Positive Symptoms

Hallucinations – The most common form is auditory hallucinations, typically manifesting as one or more voices that are often quite derogatory and violent. World Health Organisation studies suggest that internationally, more than 70 percent of people with schizophrenia have auditory hallucinations, and that percentage may be higher in industrialised societies (Girolamo, 1996).

Delusions – Defined as "A false belief based on incorrect inference about external reality that is firmly sustained despite what almost everyone else believes and despite what constitutes incontrovertible and obvious proof or evidence to the contrary" (World Health Organisation, 1992).

Thought Disorder – Unusual or dysfunctional ways of thinking, sometimes manifesting as garbled and nonsensical speech.

Motor Symptoms – Can manifest in two opposite extremes; patients may present with agitated and highly repetitive motions or conversely, almost complete catatonia (a lack of movement).

Negative Symptoms

Affective flattening – A reduction in the ability to express and display emotion. This can include reductions in facial expressions and gestures as well as speech. Can also affect the ability to understand and interpret emotion in others.

Avolition – The loss of will or drive, patients can lack the ability to act on plans even when it causes them great difficulties.

Anhedonia – A loss of the ability to enjoy or gain or pleasure from almost any activity. Anhedonia is one of the least treatable and most persistent negative symptoms.

Alogia – is a reduction in verbal communication, literally a lack of speech seen in some patients. In some ways it can be considered "negative thought disorder" (Sadock et al., 2014). This can include an increased latency to response, short verbal responses, and a complete lack of spontaneous speech.

Cognitive Symptoms

Specific cognitive deficits have been identified in patients with schizophrenia in addition to the positive and negative symptoms listed above, they include reductions in: Working memory, attention, verbal learning and memory, visual learning and memory, reasoning and problem solving, speed of processing and social cognition (Green et al., 2000; 2004; Keefe and Harvey, 2012).

1.1.2 Diagnosis

There is currently no objective test to definitively recognise schizophrenia, and diagnosis is made by mental health professionals in accordance with the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-Fourth edition (DSM-IV) released by the American Psychiatric Association or the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) administered by the World Health Organisation. There are slight differences between the two systems, but overall there is a high degree of agreement between them.

The major differences are in criteria concerning the length of symptomatic presentation required to make a diagnosis. The DSM-IV-requires a duration of 6 months (with at least 1 month of active symptoms) as opposed to only 1 month in the ICD-10. The primary diagnostic criteria is the presence of one 'first-rank' positive symptom such as bizarre delusions of control or auditory hallucinations of voices commenting on behaviour or two concurrent symptoms covering other hallucinations, thought disorder, movement disorders or negative symptoms.

The most recent version of the DSM, the fifth edition (DSM-5) was released in 2013 and made some minor changes to the existing diagnosis. The special status of bizarre delusions and verbal auditory hallucinations was reduced so that a single symptom is no longer sufficient for a diagnosis of schizophrenia. Also the specific subtypes of schizophrenia (i.e., paranoid, disorganised, catatonic) were removed, as they had been shown to have limited stability, low reliability, and poor validity (Tandon et al., 2013). It is excepted the further revision to the ICD 11 will make similar changes (Braff et al., 2013).

1.1.3 Epidemiology

Schizophrenia is typically reported to have an onset in late adolescence with appearance in childhood or adulthood occurring rarely (Sadock et al., 2014). The lifetime prevalence of schizophrenia has been shown as ranging from 1.4 - 4.6 per 1000 people worldwide (Jablensky, 2000) and is commonly reported as affecting 1% of the population, with recent estimates of prevalence across Europe supporting this figure (Wittchen et al., 2011). It is also most-commonly reported to have a slightly higher prevalence in males than females. A recent meta-analysis, a systematic review incorporating 43 individual studies, covering over 100,000 reported cases of schizophrenia largely supports this characterisation, with some caveats. Men were found to have a 1.15 fold (95% CI 1.00 – 1.31) greater risk than women to be diagnosed with schizophrenia. Men showed a peak in the incidence of schizophrenia at ages 20-29, with a median rate of 4.15/10,000 person-years followed by a rapid drop off in incidence throughout later life (van der Werf et al., 2012). Women had a much lower peak incidence at this age, 1.71/10,000 person-years but show an elevated risk throughout the ages 30-39.

It has been estimated that the treatment of schizophrenia utilises from 2 – 3% of the worldwide health budget (Knapp et al., 2004). Estimates in Australia place the direct financial costs of the disease at \$1.85 billion in 2001, nearly \$50,000 per person for each of more than 37,000 Australians with the illness (SANE, 2002). A 2012 estimate places the cost at €93.9 billion across the European Union (Olesen et al., 2011). In addition to the financial costs there is a burden of the disease in terms of pain, suffering and loss of life. Schizophrenia causes significant disability in sufferers, being ranked by the World Health Organisation as the 8th leading cause of disability worldwide (Rössler et al., 2005). The estimated cost to healthy life in Australia was the loss of 22,616 years to schizophrenia in one year alone (SANE, 2002). Moreover, the burden of disease

was greater for schizophrenia than for ovarian cancer, rheumatoid arthritis or HIV/AIDs, and of similar magnitude to leukaemia and melanoma. Although schizophrenia is a heterogeneous disorder with a wide variety of symptoms and severity, overall patients have much poorer outcomes compared to other psychiatric illnesses (Jobe and Harrow, 2005). For example one study showed that up to 47% of patients first presenting with schizophrenia may achieve symptom remission within five years, the overall rate of recovery during early years of the illness is shown to be less than 14% within two years or longer (Robinson, 2004).

Patients with schizophrenia also exhibit much higher rates of mortality than unaffected populations. A systematic review covering 25 nations showed that patients with schizophrenia have a risk of mortality 2.5 times that of the general population (Saha et al., 2007). Patients also show a correspondingly reduced life expectancy of 12 - 15 years lower than their unaffected cohorts. Devastatingly, suicide is incredibly prevalent amongst patients with schizophrenia with some studies reporting as many as 10% of all patients committing suicide (Caldwell and Gottesman, 1990). More recent studies report a lifetime prevalence of suicide at 4.9% amongst schizophrenic patients, considerably high compared to 0.01% in the general population (Palmer et al., 2005). Schizophrenia is a devastating disease, causing extreme burdens both financially and emotionally to society and the families of people suffering from the disease.

1.1.4 Importance of Cognitive Symptoms

The dramatic and sometimes bizarre nature of the positive symptoms of schizophrenia has led to their dominance in the conception of schizophrenia, both in the public at large and amongst health professionals and researchers. The focus on positive symptoms has important ramifications for our understanding and the treatment of the disease, leaving the negative and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia to remain under-recognised and often under-appreciated as a major cause of suffering and disability in patients.

The earliest descriptions of schizophrenia gave a much greater prominence to the negative symptoms. The first clinicians to formally describe schizophrenia (Kraepelin and Bleuler) both made mention of the emotional dullness or deterioration present in patients. Bleuler claimed it "stands at the forefront of the clinical picture" (Bleuler, 1950). Later attempts to formalise and make more robust and reliable diagnostic systems have placed a greater emphasis on the psychotic and positive symptoms. These efforts, such as Kurt Schnieder's description of 'first-rank symptoms' (Schneider, 1959) included various forms of hallucinations, bizarre delusions and experiencing thoughts and feelings as the actions of outside influences. The presence of one of these symptoms, in the absence of clear intoxication or other brain injury or illness, was (and often still is) taken as sufficient for making a diagnosis of schizophrenia (Sadock et al., 2014).

This increased focus on the importance of the positive symptoms of schizophrenia rose to prominence at around the same time as the discovery of the applicability and usefulness of antipsychotic medications. This had an unfortunate effect as both the diagnosis and the treatment of schizophrenia became mainly concentrated with the positive and psychotic symptoms (Turner, 2007). Furthermore, psychotic symptoms are uniquely responsive to antipsychotic medications, which have limited (if any) effects on the negative and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia (Goldberg et al., 2007; Szoke et al., 2008). Effective treatment soon became focused on maximising antipsychotic dosages in order to minimise positive symptoms.

Because of this focus on the positive symptoms, the negative and cognitive symptoms have been largely unrecognised and under-appreciated as a major factor in the poor outcomes seen with schizophrenia. Thankfully in the last several decades an increased appreciation of the importance of the negative and cognitive symptom domains has arisen. It has even been claimed that negative symptoms are the most important symptoms in schizophrenia, because the severity of negative symptoms predicts long-term disability better than the severity of positive symptoms (Leeson et al., 2009). Negative and cognitive symptoms may also be the most significant predictor of disease outcome; the severity of negative symptoms and cognitive symptoms has a large influence on future work performance and social relationship (Milev et al., 2005). Negative symptoms are also more stable across time than positive symptoms (Arndt et al., 1995).

The importance of the cognitive symptom domain has also risen with new attempts to improve diagnostic and treatment paradigms in schizophrenia. Cognitive impairment associated with schizophrenia is now viewed as a potential psychopharmacological target for treatment (Hyman and Fenton, 2003; Miyamoto et al 2012). Although cognition is not a formal part of the current diagnostic criteria for schizophrenia, both the DSM-IV and ICD-10 make several references to cognitive abnormalities in their descriptions of schizophrenia. There is also increasing evidence that neurocognitive abnormalities are present before manifestation of psychotic symptoms (the 'prodromal' stage) (Simon et al., 2007). This gives rise to the possibility that cognitive screening may be able to detect schizophrenia prior to the disease onset, opening up a range of treatment possibilities not previously available. It may also be feasible to include some cognitive testing parameters in more robust and objective diagnostic tools. Diagnostic and scientific experts have increasingly expressed the idea that neurocognitive impairment is a core feature of the illness and not simply the result of the symptoms or the current treatments of schizophrenia (Elvevåg and Goldberg, 2000; Keefe and Harvey, 2012).

The greatest evidence for the importance of cognitive deficits to the disease is the prevalence and magnitude of the deficits seen. In several cognitive fields, multiple studies have demonstrated impairments in patients with schizophrenia is as large as two standard deviations lower than the healthy controls (Harvey and Keefe, 2001; Heinrichs and Zakzanis, 1998; Keefe et al., 2006). Up to 98% of patients with schizophrenia have lower cognitive function than is predicted by their parents' education level (Keefe et al., 2005). Also, twin studies performed with monozygotic twins discordant for schizophrenia show almost all twins diagnosed with schizophrenia have lower cognitive functioning than their unaffected sibling (Goldberg et al., 1990).

Cognitive impairments and negative symptoms cause profound hardship and disability in the lives of patients with schizophrenia. Treatments options that specifically target these symptom domains are also extremely limited to nonexistent at this time. Finally cognitive symptoms seem to exist prior to the onset of the more dramatic positive and negative symptoms, potentially giving insight into the pathophysiological causes underlying the disease as well as providing a potential pathway to the development of new diagnostic and treatment options.

1.1.5 Aetiology

There is currently no single accepted biological mechanism that leads to the development of schizophrenia, nor is there an established specific aetiology; however, considerable evidence from a variety of genetic twin and familial studies identifies a clear genetic role in the disease, as well as a significant interaction between environmental factors and a genetic predisposition (Sullivan et al., 2003). There are also multiple anatomical, structural and neurochemical differences observed in patients with schizophrenia that can give us insight into both the

underlying causes of schizophrenia and the mechanisms by which the myriad symptoms of schizophrenia are manifested.

1.1.5.1 Environment

The lifetime prevalence of schizophrenia is fairly consistent across countries, ethnicities and cultures (Bromet and Fennig, 1999). There are however, some notable exceptions that support the notion that external environmental factors can impact on the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Twin studies suggest a small but significant portion of schizophrenia is due to shared environmental influences that are likely prenatal in origin (Sullivan et al., 2003). In support of this the majority of environmental factors identified as contributing towards schizophrenia in epidemiological studies are prenatal stressors. These factors include extremely stressful events occurring to the mother during the pregnancy, such as the emotional impact of losing close relatives during the first trimester (Khashan et al., 2008) or medical complications during pregnancy such as maternal bleeding (Cannon et al., 2002). There is also evidence to suggest that women with diabetes (Van Lieshout and Voruganti, 2008) and older than 35 (Wohl and Gorwood, 2007) at the time of conception can increase the risk of offspring developing schizophrenia. Maternal infection during pregnancy, specifically influenza or rubella, has also been suggested to increase the risk of developing schizophrenia (Brown and Susser, 2002), as has maternal exposure to famine (Susser et al., 1996).

Complications during delivery that potentially cause fetal hypoxia have also been shown to increase the risk of schizophrenia (Cannon et al., 2002). People with schizophrenia also have more minor physical anomalies than healthy controls, which may reflect increased prenatal insults (McDonald and Murray, 2000). Children born in winter and spring also display an increased risk of developing schizophrenia (Bradbury and Miller, 1985), as do children born at higher latitudes (Kinney et al., 2009). This has led to the hypothesis that perinatal vitamin D deficiency is a risk factor for schizophrenia (McGrath, 1999; McGrath et al., 2003). There is also increased risks seen from living in an urban environment (Krabbendam and Van Os, 2005) and using cannabis during adolescence (Arseneault et al., 2002). The majority of epidemiological evidence concerning environmental factors in the development of schizophrenia points towards pre and perinatal insults that may affect development. This leads to a hypothesis that schizophrenia can be affected by developmental challenges, particularly those that can impinge upon the healthy development and maturation of the nervous system (McGrath et al., 2003).

1.1.5.2 Genetics

Schizophrenia has a well-established relationship to genetic factors; twin and familial studies have demonstrated an increased risk of schizophrenia in the relatives of sufferers (Tsuang, 2000). The risk of developing schizophrenia increases with the degree of shared genetics; in monozygotic twins the risk of developing schizophrenia approaches 50% when one sibling has the disease, is 6%-17% in first degree relatives (e.g., parents, siblings or children) and 2%-6% in second degree relatives (uncles/aunts) (Gottesman, 1991). In spite of the clear heritability of the disease, the consensus view in the field is that "schizophrenia is best viewed as a complex trait resulting from both genetic and environmental etiological influences" (Sullivan, 2005). With the rise of modern genotyping technology and the bioinformatic capabilities to analyse the enormous amounts of data such techniques generate, the genetics of schizophrenia has been put under great scrutiny. Genomewide association studies initially had poor success, with nearly no positive associations observed and those with significant results were inconsistent and rarely replicated (Sullivan, 2005; Girard et al., 2012). More recent studies with larger sample sizes have successfully identified a range of genetic loci associated with

schizophrenia (Ripke et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2012; Yue et al, 2012), a result which emphasises the heterogeneous nature of schizophrenia (Girard et al, 2012).

Genetic association studies have had considerably more success, with a range of genes identified, many of which have been replicated and show a clear neurobiological connection to the disease. A recent large meta-analysis identified a total of 24 polymorphisms across 16 genes that conferred significant risk for schizophrenia (Allen et al., 2008). The majority of the reliably and repeatedly identified schizophrenia risk genes influence the nervous system. For example *DISC1* encodes for a protein named disrupted in schizophrenia 1, which was first identified in a genome wide association study (Millar et al., 2000). This protein has been shown to play a role in neuronal migration, neurite outgrowth, neuronal maturation, synaptic transmission, and plasticity (Ross et al., 2006).

Genetic alterations in proteins related to neurotransmitters, their metabolism or their receptors are commonplace (Lewis and Moghaddam, 2006). For example GAD1 encodes the enzyme glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) which is responsible for catalysing the production of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) from glutamic acid (Addington et al., 2005). GABA deficits are one of the most replicated post-mortem histological findings in schizophrenia (Lewis et al., 2005) as well as playing an important role in synchronised neural activity (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2012; Lewis et al., 2012). Several genes identified as risk factors for schizophrenia can influence the function of glutamatergic signalling pathways (Harrison and Owen, 2003). These include DAAO (Chumakov et al., 2002), which encodes an enzyme that metabolises D-serine, an endogenous modulator of NMDArs, GRM3, which encodes the mGlu3 subtype of metabotropic glutamate receptors (Egan et al., 2004) and neuregulin 1 (Stefansson et al., 2002) which can influence the expression of NMDA receptors through activation of Erb4 receptors. The large genetic heterogeneity associated with schizophrenia has also been attributed to an increased prevalence of *de novo* mutations (Xu et al., 2008) amongst patients with the disease. It has recently been reported that *de novo* mutations in patients with schizophrenia are over-represented in proteins associated with NMDArs (Fromer et al., 2014).

These various lines of genetic evidence provide support for a conception of schizophrenia as resulting from dysfunctional communication and information transfer in the nervous system. Neurotransmitters are the chemical messengers of the nervous system and genetic alterations in these systems alter the brain's ability to transfer information and coordinate neuronal activity.

1.2

Treatment of Schizophrenia

The treatment of schizophrenia is primarily based on pharmacological intervention, through the administration of antipsychotic medications. Psychotherapy and social outreach programs are also utilised, chiefly to improve patient's social integration and create beneficial patterns of behaviour. Schizophrenia is often a highly isolating condition and non-pharmacological interventions are often centred on improving quality of life issues (Bengtsson-Tops and Hansson, 1999; Browne et al., 1996). However, therapeutic interventions are almost always secondary to psychopharmacolgy in schizophrenia care, with antipsychotic medications the mainstay of treatment. As such, the following review will focus on pharmacotherapy in schizophrenia.

Antipsychotics are broadly divided into two classes: the 'typical' antipsychotics – the first generation of drugs specifically designed for the treatment of psychotic symptoms, primarily defined as being high-affinity dopamine D_2 receptor antagonists; and the 'atypical' or second generation antipsychotics –

developed later and generally having a lower specificity for D_2 receptors while also targeting a wide variety of other neurotransmitter targets, including serotonin (5-HT), noradrenaline and muscarinic receptors (Miyamoto et al., 2004).

Although antipsychotic medications are currently the most effective treatment available they do not achieve success in treating all patients, with approximately 29% of patients diagnosed with schizophrenia ever recovering to a level described as 'good' or better (Jablensky, 2000). Furthermore, many patients with severe schizophrenia show no response to either typical or atypical antipsychotics (Buckley et al., 2001; Mouaffak et al., 2006). Up to a third of all these treatment resistant individuals will only show a poor or partial response to pharmacotherapy (Suzuki et al., 2012). Therefore it is important to develop new antipsychotic medications that have improved efficacy and side effect profiles.

1.2.1 Typical Antipsychotics

Prior to the development of pharmacological interventions, primary treatment for psychotic conditions was the confinement of patients. The first true antipsychotic drug discovered was chlorpromazine. First synthesised in 1950, chlorpromazine's sedative properties led it to being trialled in psychiatric patients with noted success. Chlorpromazine is still often used as a benchmark of treatment efficacy when evaluating different medications (Adams et al., 2014). With the success of chlorpromazine a variety of similar drugs were developed and tested for efficacy; over 51 typical antipsychotics were approved for use and 12 are still used to some extent today. Haloperidol is probably the most widespread typical antipsychotic in use today, used in the treatment of acute psychosis and to manage aggressive and delusional symptoms in a wide variety of disorders (Settle and Ayd, 1983). The typical antipsychotics produce a wide-variety of side effects, most prominently symptoms resembling Parkinson's disease. These include a variety of movement disorders including dystonia and akathisia, collectively referred to as extrapyramidal side effects (EPS). The pervasiveness and significant adverse consequences of shortterm and long-term motor side effects associated with classic antipsychotic drugs led to a search for antipsychotic drugs that would be as efficacious but without the risk of EPS.

1.2.2 Atypical Antipsychotics

Clozapine was the first 'atypical' or second-generation antipsychotic drug discovered and remains the classical example of its class. It was found to be an effective antipsychotic but does not lead to the development of EPS in patients. Unfortunately clozapine can in rare cases lead to a fatal blood condition known as agranulocytosis (Kane, 1988), which has limited it's widespread use. Other secondgeneration medications were introduced including risperidone, olanzapine, quetiapine and ziprasidone in an effort to provide the therapeutic benefits of clozapine without the associated risk of haematological disorders. The atypical antipsychotics are generally shown to have similar effects to the typical antipsychotics in reducing the positive symptoms of schizophrenia, with some limited evidence showing an increased efficacy (Davis et al., 2003; Geddes et al., 2000; Leucht et al., 1999). A lower incidence of EPS is the major advantage of the atypical antipsychotics compared with most typical medications (Leucht et al., 2009). The exception is clozapine, which has shown considerable efficacy in treatment refractory patients (Chakos et al., 2001; Tuunainen et al., 2002), that is patients who do not respond to any other treatments. The potentially lethal sideeffects of clozapine limits it's use to the most treatment resistant cases.

The atypical drugs do show some improvements in the reduction of negative symptoms, although this has been theorised to be a result of the beneficial sideeffect profiles (Rosenheck et al., 2003) or an ability to ameliorate secondary causes of negative symptoms, such as depression and anxiety (Tollefson and Sanger, 1997). A subset of the atypical medications (including clozapine) are sometimes found to show modest improvements in treating the cognitive symptoms of the disease (Thornton et al., 2006; Woodward et al., 2005), when compared to the typical medications. Despite the lack of EPS these second generation drugs still have problematic side-effects; primarily they alter glucose and lipid metabolism (Henderson et al., 2005; Koro et al., 2002) and have a propensity to induce weight gain (Allison et al., 1999).

1.2.3 Pharmacology

The typical antipsychotics are all high affinity antagonists at dopamine D₂ receptors and this is thought to be the primary site of action for their antipsychotic efficacy, as well as the pathway that leads to the development of EPS (Nasrallah and Tandon, 2000). There is a strong correlation between the dosage necessary to see a therapeutic effect in these drugs and their affinity for the D₂ receptor (Creese et al., 1976; Seeman, 1987; Seeman et al., 1976). This is further supported by numerous in-vivo imaging studies (Remington and Kapur, 1999). These imaging studies reveal that the therapeutic effects of antipsychotics do not typically appear until dopamine D₂ receptor occupancy reaches 65-70% (Farde et al., 1992; Kapur et al., 1996; 2000b; Nordström et al., 1993). EPS side effects have been shown to be associated with D₂ occupancy over 80% (Farde et al., 1992). It is important to note here that the relatively slow onset of antipsychotic effects, typically estimated at 1-2 weeks (Gelder et al., 2000; Nasrallah and Tandon, 2000) is not consistent with the rapid D2 receptor blockade induced by these drugs and this is still an area of considerable research (Agid et al., 2003; 2006; Seeman, 2011).

The second-generation atypical antipsychotics received their name from the lack of EPS appearing at effective doses. There remains some debate about what exactly constitutes 'atypicality' but a general consensus includes a lower affinity for D_2 receptors and a high affinity for $5-HT_{2A}$ receptors. This leads to the hypothesis that the ratio of affinity for $5-HT_{2A}$ versus D_2 receptors was the crucial target for 'aytpical' antipsychotics (Meltzer et al., 1989). Many atypical antipsychotics still produce significant (> 70%) occupancy of D_2 receptors at therapeutic doses, although clozapine and quetiapine have lower affinities (Kapur et al., 2000a; 1999; Nordström et al., 1995). These confounding results highlight that dopamine antagonism is important, but indicate antipsychotic efficacy is not dependent on reaching some threshold of D_2 occupancy.

Some of the most widely prescribed and effective atypical antipsychotics: Clozapine, risperidone, olanzapine and ziprasidone, reach 5-HT_{2A} receptor occupany levels of greater than 80% (Farde et al., 1992; Kapur et al., 1998; 1999; Miyamoto et al., 2004). It is thought that this 5-HT_{2A} antagonism modulates dopamine transmission, ameliorating the EPS effects of dopamine blockade. Beyond this it is unclear what benefits 5-HT_{2A} antagonism has (Lieberman et al., 1998), although potential benefits against depression and anxiety have been reported, as well as increased efficacy against negative symptoms (Leucht et al., 2009). Clozapine also has partial agonist effects at 5-HT_{1A} receptors and this effect has been hypothesised to improve negative symptoms and cognitive impairment by enhancing dopamine release in the PFC (Miyamoto et al., 2004).

Typical antipsychotic agents also have varying degrees of activity at serotonin, muscarine, noradrenaline and histamine receptors (Nasrallah and Tandon, 2000). It is generally thought that these non-dopaminergic targets do not reflect specific targets in the treatment of psychotic symptoms. These targets do result in a variety of adverse effects, with predictable side-effects arising from the specific receptor profile. For example blockade of histamine H₁ receptors is related to weight gain (Kroeze et al., 2003), while blocking the α 1 adrenergic receptor

contributes to hypotension and sedative effects (Nasrallah, 2007). There are some slight exceptions, such as muscarinic M_1 receptor agonism, an effect that is unique to clozapine, and is thought to underlie it's superior efficacy (Davies et al., 2004). However, there is no conclusive evidence that any pharmacological action other than D_2 receptor blockade plays a significant role in antipsychotic efficacy (Miyamoto et al., 2012).

Given the relevance of NMDAr and the glutamate system to schizophrenia (see Section 1.4 for review) it is interesting to note that some antipsychotic drugs can modulate NMDAr function (Lidsky et al., 1997). Clozapine and haloperidol have been shown to effect the phosphorylation levels and extracellular availability of NMDAr's through intracellular mechanisms (Leveque et al., 2000). Clozapine itself has a very low affinity for the NMDA receptor (Shim et al., 1999) and has been shown to have subunit specific inhibitory effects (Levine et al., 2003). It has also been proposed that antipsychotic drugs can enhance NMDAr function by increasing circulating dopamine in the prefrontal cortex (Chen and Yang, 2002). In a wide range of preclinical animal studies, pre-treatment with antipsychotics, particularly the atypical drugs can attenuate the behavioural and physiological effects of NMDAr antagonists (Bakshi and Geyer, 1995; Corbett et al., 1995; Duncan et al., 1998; Jones et al., 2012).

Thus there is reasonable evidence that certain antipsychotic drugs, in certain situations are able to exert complex alterations to glutamate function and NMDAr activities (Bressan et al., 2005). Unfortunately the mechanisms through which antispsychotic treatment is able to attenuate NMDAr antagonists psychotomimetic effects is poorly understood. It is possible longterm treatment with antipsychotics is modulating the number, density or phosphorylation states of NMDAr. However, to date numerous animal studies have produced inconsistent result; showing increases, decreases and no changes in various brain region and for various glutamate receptors. (Giardino et al., 1997; McCoy et al., 1998; Ossowska et al., 1999; Spurney et al., 1999).

Developing new antipsychotic treatments that specifically target NMDAs is a difficult proposition, due to the ubiquity of NMDAr's through the nervous system. Selectively targeting NMDAr's to only have beneficial antipsychotic effects would be difficult if not impossible. One potential alternative target that has become of interest in recent years is the group II metabotropic glutamate receptors, (mGluR_{2/3}). These are G protein coupled receptors that are thought to modulate glutamatergic release, making them viable targets for schizophrenia treatment.

Targeting mGluR's presents a more selective target to modulate glutamatergic and NMDAr function and have received a considerable amount of attention as potential targets for therapeutic intervention in schizophrenia (Vinson and Conn, 2012). mGluR₂ in particular are a promising target; these receptors are found on presynaptic neurons outside of the synaptic density. They are thought to play a role in monitoring excessive glutamate release and when activated work to inhibit the further release of glutamate (Scanziani et al., 1997). This role for mGluR's would ameliorate one of the downstream effects of NMDAr antagonists, which is excessive glutamate release (Moghaddam et al., 1997). A selective mGluR_{2/3} agonist LY404039 has shown promising efficacy in this field and a successful phase II clinical trial was completed (Patil et al., 2007). LY404039 was as effective as a conventional atypical drug, olanzapine and even showed improved efficacy against negative symptoms and has a beneficial side effect profile (Adams et al., 2013). This is an important development as this is the first report of a drug with no D_2 receptor antagonism having efficacy in treating the symptoms of schizophrenia and will help guide future research into the underlying causes and pathophysiology of the disease.

1.3

The Dysconnection Hypothesis

In the last several decades, stimulated by the rise of modern non-invasive imaging techniques, a new hypothesis has arisen that explains the complex symptomatology of schizophrenia as the result of pathological interactions between brain circuits – the dysconnectivity hypothesis. The idea that schizophrenia is not caused by a specific and localised neurological defect, but is instead the result of abnormal and disrupted communication between brain regions has its roots in some of the earliest descriptions of schizophrenia. As far back as 1906 the prominent neuroanatomist Carl Wernicke proposed that psychosis is the result of an anatomical defect in the fibre projections of the brain (Wernicke, 1906). Even the name schizophrenia itself, coined by Blueler in the early 20th century (Bleuler, 1950), derives from the Greek for 'split mind', evoking the concept of disconnection. Technological limitations meant that until recently the only method available to study this hypothesis was through the use of post-mortem brain tissue from patients, and the concept languished for decades.

With the advent of modern non-invasive imaging techniques in the 1980's and beyond we have gained the ability to study both the structure and function of intact, living brains using technologies such as positron emission tomography (PET), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and electroencephalography (EEG). Remarkably this concept from the earliest years of the twentieth century has been given substantial empirical support in recent years. The concept that schizophrenia is the result of abnormal activity and connectivity distributed throughout the brain has undergone a renaissance in recent years (Friston, 1999; 2002; Stephan et al., 2009; Uhlhaas, 2013). The dysconnectivity hypothesis was formalised by (Friston, 2002) stating that: "schizophrenia can be understood in cognitive terms, and in terms of pathophysiology, as a failure of functional integration within the brain. Functional integration refers to the interactions of functionally specialised systems (i.e., populations of neurons, cortical areas and sub-areas), that are required for adaptive sensorimotor integration, perceptual synthesis and cognition. Functional integration is mediated by the influence that the dynamics or activity of one neuronal system exerts over another and therefore rests on the connections among them."

The body of evidence supporting this work has grown to include both structural and functional abnormalities, highlighting not just anatomical differences but also differences in the patterns of neural activity in patients with schizophrenia (Uhlhaas, 2013). The advent of modern techniques to gain insight into neuronal functioning such as EEG and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), has given insight not just into pathological conditions such as schizophrenia, epilepsy and Parkinson's but also into the dynamic nature of healthy cognitive functioning.

The concept that complex interaction between various brain regions serves as a neurological substrate for higher cognitive functioning has grown to dominate cognitive neuroscience (Bullmore and Sporns, 2009). The formation and governance of these networks of interacting neuronal circuits is achieved through the coupling together of neurons functionally relevant to the task, while inhibiting those that are not (Fries, 2005). In this understanding the synchronised and coordinated activity of disparate neuronal regions and circuits is essential for cognitive function and even consciousness (Uhlhaas et al., 2009). The dramatic and heterogeneous symptoms of schizophrenia are posited to arise as a result of abnormal, 'dysfunctional' activity between brain regions, a pathology of neural dynamics (Uhlhaas, 2013).

An important distinction to make with regard to the dysconnection hypothesis is that it does not imply a simple separation or breakage in the neural connectivity (be that structural or functional) in schizophrenia. The prefix 'dys' means bad or ill, and is specifically chosen to emphasise that the connectivity observed in schizophrenia is abnormal and differs from what is seen in healthy individuals, but does not imply the directionality of these changes. Reductions in connectivity certainly are observed and constitute a part of the constellation of changes that make up schizophrenia, but equally important are increases in connectivity that can lead to aberrant neural function. For example excessive ongoing or baseline γ activity has been associated with hallucinations and the positive symptoms of schizophrenia (Baldeweg et al., 1998). Similarly it has been reported that patients with schizophrenia have a hyperactive default-mode network and that they are less able to task switch and modulate this activity down in response to cognitive demands (Whitfield-Gabrieli et al., 2009). The dysconnection hypothesis incorporates all aspects of aberrant functional connectivity.

1.3.1 Imaging Evidence

The modern origins of the dysconnectivity hypothesis are in the rise of noninvasive neuroimaging techniques in the 1980s and 1990s, including PET and fMRI. As these technologies were developed and then applied to studying the ongoing activity in the living brains of patients with schizophrenia they started to reveal patterns of abnormal and irregular activity distributed across the entire brain. These abnormal patterns of activity eventually gave rise to the dysconnection hypothesis; the impairment of the ability to coordinate action and communicate information across the brain is the fundamental cause schizophrenia (Friston, 2002; Stephan et al., 2009). The evidence for this comes from a variety of different studies and methodologies, which show a remarkable agreement with the central hypothesis that there is disruption in the coordinated patterns of activity in schizophrenia. For example, an early resting-state PET study found that "schizophrenic subjects showed derangements in the pattern of interactions among brain areas". This was quickly followed by other PET studies showing dysfunctional networks of brain activation involving the prefrontal cortex and limbic system (Weinberger et al., 1992) and the temporal lobe (Friston et al., 1992). Following these initial studies, further evidence supporting the dysconnectivity hypothesis has arisen from a number of sources. Studies utilising PET and then eventually fMRI have found significant abnormalities in the functional connectivity between the temporal and frontal regions of the brains of people suffering from schizophrenia (Friston et al., 1996; Lawrie et al., 2002; Meyer-Lindenberg et al., 2005).

Most recently the concept of the default-mode network has arisen in fMRI studies. This describes the network of brain regions that are active when an individual is at rest, i.e. not engaged in any task specific activity. The default-mode network is characterised by coherent neuronal activity across the network, which is inhibited when task specific activity is initiated (Buckner et al., 2008). The default-mode network has been shown to display altered and dysfunctional patterns of activity in patients with schizophrenia (Broyd et al., 2009; Garrity et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2007). There is also a comprehensive body of research that has established a pattern of abnormal γ frequency activity in patients with schizophrenia, resulting from both sensory and cognitive task related paradigms. γ frequency activity is hypothesised to serve as the major mechanism for forming and coordinating transient networks of neural processes, so these deficits hold a particular relevance to the dysconnectivity hypothesis, and are reviewed in detail in Section 1.5.2.

1.3.2 Structural Changes

Changes in the anatomical structure of the brain are a widely replicated finding in schizophrenia (Harrison, 1999) and there is considerable anatomical evidence to support the dysconnection hypothesis. The majority of studies on structural changes in schizophrenia report increases in ventricle size and decreases in brain volume, including differences in the volume of the grey and white matter of the brain as well as more specific differences in brain structures such as the hippocampus (Wong and Van Tol, 2003), amygdala (Lawrie and Abukmeil, 1998; Nelson et al., 1998), prefrontal cortex, thalamus (Konick and Friedman, 2001), anterior cingulate (Baiano et al., 2007) and corpus callosum (Woodruff et al., 1995).

Changes in both the corpus callosum and thalamus have implications for communication amongst and between different brain regions. Both of these regions are highly connected to various cortical regions and play specific roles in the transfer and synchronisation of information across the brain (Berlucchi, 1999). Thalamo-cortical (TC) circuits are important generators of γ oscillations (Ribary et al., 1991; Whittington et al., 2000), rhythmic fluctuations in the electrical activity of the brain that are proposed to coordinate the communication of groups of neurons (discussed in detail in Section 1.5). TC circuits are proposed to synchronise various regions of the brain serving to integrate perceptual information (Llinas et al., 1998). Deficits in the structure and function of these areas would have a significant impact on the synchronised activity of the brain, resulting in the functional dysconnections which are hypothesised to underlie the symptomatology of schizophrenia (Friston, 1999).

Related to these findings of disruptions in anatomically highly connected areas of the brain are studies of white matter tracts with modern imaging techniques such as diffusion tensor imaging. These studies utilise an MRI scanner but instead of producing images of brain structures, they are sensitive to the directional flow of water. This enables diffusion tensor studies to determine the size, strength and integrity of white matter tracts in the brain (Basser and Pierpaoli, 2011). The consensus result is that patients with schizophrenia have reduced fractional anisotropy (FA), a measure that reflects fibre density, axonal diameter, and myelination in white matter (Kanaan et al., 2005). Several studies found reductions in FA across the whole brain, (Agartz et al., 2001; Ardekani et al., 2003; Hubl et al., 2004), and four studies have found specific reductions in the corpus callosum (Agartz et al., 2001; Ardekani et al., 2003; Foong et al., 2000; Hubl et al., 2004).

1.3.3 Molecular Abnormalities

Postmortem studies of neural tissue from patients with schizophrenia have consistently provided evidence of deficits in the GABAergic system in patients with schizophrenia (Lewis et al., 2005). GABA-expressing interneurons are essential for the generation of γ frequency oscillations, which connects this molecular change seen in patients with the function dysconnection hypothesised to result in the symptoms of schizophrenia (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2012; Uhlhaas, 2013). One of the earliest studies that examined neurochemical deficits found a reduction of GABA concentrations in the thalamus and nucleus accumbens in patients as compared to age-matched controls (Perry et al., 1979). A similar study found reductions in both GABA and the GABA transporter GAT-1 in the prefrontal cortex (Ohnuma et al., 1999).

Another related finding is that the 67kD isoform of glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD₆₇), the enzyme that catalyses the reaction to synthesise GABA, is also altered in patients with schizophrenia (Lewis et al., 2005). The density of neurons that express GAT-1 and GAD₆₇ mRNA was found to be decreased throughout the cortex (Akbarian et al., 1995; Guidotti et al., 2000; Hashimoto et al., 2003; Volk et al., 2000; 2001). The reduction in GAD₆₇ expression is in fact

the most robust and widely replicated finding in post-mortem histopathological studies (Akbarian and Huang, 2006). *GAD1*, the gene that codes for the enzyme GAD₆₇, is a schizophrenia risk gene (Addington et al., 2005). Deficits in *GAD1* mRNA expression have also been reported from post-mortem tissue studies of schizophrenia patients (Akbarian and Huang, 2006; Hashimoto et al., 2008; Huang and Akbarian, 2007; Straub et al., 2007).

GABA-expressing neurons represent an enormous diversity of cell types, which differ in morphology, connectivity, neurochemistry and physiology (Buzsaki et al., 2004; Maccaferri and Lacaille, 2003; Markram et al., 2004; Monyer and Markram, 2004; Whittington and Traub, 2003). Of the several subtypes of GABAexpressing cells, fast-spiking cells that express that calcium binding protein parvalbumin (PV+ cells) hold special significance for the generation of γ frequency oscillations (Bartos et al., 2007; Cunningham et al., 2006; Hajos et al., 2004; Klausberger et al., 2003). There is increasing evidence that PV+ cells are specifically disrupted in patients with schizophrenia (Lewis et al., 2005), which provides the cellular and molecular basis for the disruption of γ frequency oscillations.

(Lewis et al., 2005) demonstrated that PV+ interneurons show a specific reduction in the synthesis of GABA in patients with schizophrenia. The same group demonstrated that the number of cells containing PV mRNA that express a detectable level of GAD_{67} mRNA is decreased by as much as 45% in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia patients (Hashimoto et al., 2003). It was also revealed that the expression of PV itself in these cells was significantly reduced, as compared to the levels of other calcium binding proteins in a separate population of GABAergic cells (Hashimoto et al., 2003). There are other results that indicate a dysfunction in PV+ subtypes of GABAergic neurons; the density of axon terminals of chandelier cells (one of two classes of PV+ interneuron) have been found to be decreased by

up to 40% in patients with schizophrenia (Pierri et al., 1999; Woo et al., 1998), indicating reduced inhibitory tone in patients.

Post-mortem studies have also demonstrated abnormalities in the glutamate system that interacts with GABAergic deficits in schizophrenia. The density of GABAergic neurons that express the NR2A subunit of the NMDAr has been shown to be decreased in the anterior cingulate cortex of patients with schizophrenia (Woo et al., 2004). A similar result has been found in prefrontal cortex, with reductions in the number of neurons that express both GAD_{67} and NR2A in schizophrenia patients (Woo et al., 2008). Overall there is conclusive evidence for a specific and prevalent deficit in GABA related enzymes, particularly in the PV+ interneurons. These neurons are essential for the generation and maintenance of cortical rhythms that are involved in coordinating neuronal communication and information processing. The deficits commonly found in these cells provide evidence of cellular and molecular alterations that can potentially lead to abnormal γ oscillations and in turn the functional dysconnection of neural circuitry responsible for the cognitive deficits and perceptual symptoms seen in schizophrenia.

1.3.4 Electrophysiological Abnormalities

There are a wide variety of perceptual responses that can be measured in humans using scalp recorded electroencephalogram (EEG). These responses generate stereotypical neurological and electrical activity that can be measured and analysed to assess information processing and perceptual function. Many of these techniques reveal specific abnormalities in patients with schizophrenia further supporting the hypothesis that a widespread dysfunction in neuronal communication is prevalent in the disease. Note that a detailed review of γ frequency activity is covered in Section 1.5.3 and so this section focuses on other electrophysiological measures.

P50 auditory evoked potentials – The P50 wave is defined as the amplitude of positive-going wave that can be recorded in EEG and occurs approximately 50 ms after an auditory stimulus. In healthy subjects the P50 amplitude is suppressed when there is another audio stimuli 500 ms prior. P50 suppression represents a form of sensory gating, a process whereby the brain modulates its response to stimuli and theoretically prevents overstimulation by filtering incoming information (Freedman, 1996). Several studies have demonstrated that P50 suppression is impaired in patients with schizophrenia (Clementz et al., 1997; 1998; Freedman et al., 2001). As reported earlier there is a genetic connection to this paradigm and schizophrenia; animal studies have demonstrated that blockade of α 7 containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors leads to a loss of inhibition following auditory stimulation (Stevens et al., 1998) and the gene that codes for α 7 is a risk gene for schizophrenia (Leonard and Freedman, 2006).

P300 event-related potential – like the P50, the P300 is defined as the amplitude of the positive-going cortical EEG potential that occurs roughly 300 ms following a target stimulus in an auditory 'oddball' paradigm. In the oddball paradigm the subject is presented a series of tones in which a small percentage (typically 5 - 10 %) vary in some way from the others, such as pitch or length. Subjects must respond to these 'oddball' stimuli. The P300 is thought to represent the interaction of multiple neuronal circuits including the frontal cortex, hippocampus and thalamus (Kiehl et al., 2001). Again patients with schizophrenia are regularly reported to show reduced amplitudes of P300 potentials (Ford et al., 1994; Turetsky et al., 1998).

Mismatch negativity (MMN) – is a negative-going amplitude visible in scalp recorded EEG, that is generated in response to an unexpected or 'deviant' stimuli. In this paradigm subjects listen to a long series of repetitive tones and a very infrequent 'deviant' tone is occasionally played. The MMN response is thought to reflect an automatic memory comparison processes that is designed to perceive change (Näätänen et al., 2005). The MMN is a relatively low level perceptual process and can be elicited regardless of whether the subject is attending to the stimuli. Patients with schizophrenia show reduced MMN as compared to healthy controls (Alain et al., 1998; Umbricht and Krljes, 2005). Interestingly the administration of an NMDAr antagonist has also been shown to reduce the MMN amplitude (Umbricht et al., 2000).

Sleep Spindles – reductions in the amount of sleep spindle activity have been reported in patients with schizophrenia (Ferrarelli et al., 2007; 2010; Wamsley et al., 2012). Spindles are a key feature of stage 2 non-rapid eye movement sleep; generated by TC circuits spindles are visible in scalp recorded EEG as bursts of 12–15Hz activity (De Gennaro and Ferrara, 2003). Spindles have been correlated with sleep dependent memory processes (Fogel and Smith, 2011) and spindle abnormalities in patients have been linked to memory deficits seen in the disease (Manoach et al., 2004; 2010).

To summarise there are consistent and robust deficits seen in a number of electrophysiological markers of brain function in patients with schizophrenia. These differences reflect altered and dysfunctional information processing and perceptual processes and give further support to the hypothesis that a pathological dysconnection in functional neural networks is the underlying cause of the symptoms of schizophrenia.

1.3.5 Cause of Dysconnection

The leading hypothesis for the cause of the dysconnectivity is that it results from a defect in the functional coupling of neurons due to impairments in synaptic plasticity (Friston, 1999). Specifically, abnormal regulation of NMDAr-dependent

synaptic plasticity has been proposed to results in the dysconnection seen in schizophrenia (Stephan et al., 2006). NMDAr activity controls plasticity at glutamatergic synapses by altering the function and or number of α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors (Stephan et al., 2009). This is achieved by NMDAr activation dependent phosphorylation of AMPA receptor subunits and altering the trafficking of AMPA receptors from the post synaptic density (Bagal et al., 2005; Montgomery and Madison, 2004; Passafaro et al., 2001).

Alterations to synaptic plasticity can have a far reaching impact on the functional and structural connectivity of a neural network; for instance, the strength of functional coupling between neurons is a product of the strength of input they receive at excitatory glutamatergic synapses (Zhang and Poo, 2001). Furthermore the strength of this functional coupling determines the survival of connections and neurons in the process of developmental pruning (Hua and Smith, 2004). Deficiencies in the ability to regulate synaptic plasticity can have far reaching effects that could explain the involvement of environmental and gene interactions in schizophrenia (Sullivan et al., 2003) as well as the integral involvement of developmental processes (Uhlhaas, 2013).

Neural oscillations are a fundamental mechanism that enable coordinated brain activity during cognitive functioning (Fries, 2005). Oscillatory activity can establish precise temporal correlations between distributed neuronal responses. Oscillations in the γ frequency range in particular have been linked to the synchronisation of cortical networks and a range of perceptual and cognitive processes (Herrmann et al., 2010). Disruption to the neural oscillations that serve to precisely coordinate disparate neuronal circuits presents another hypothesis for the functional dysconnectivity seen in schizophrenia (Stephan et al., 2009; Uhlhaas, 2013). These two hypotheses are not mutually exclusive, in fact they are intimately related; excitatory glutamatergic input onto PV+ interneurons is the proposed mechanism through which gamma oscillations and synchronised neuronal activity is generated (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2008).

Disruption to NMDAr activity resulting in dysfunctional synaptic plasticity is a putative mechanism that may underlie γ oscillation abnormalities in schizophrenia. NMDAr hypofunction is already a prominent hypothesis for the origins of schizophrenia and there is an extensive body of clinical research investigating γ oscillations in patients. The next two sections of this literature review will summarise current knowledge regarding these potential mechanisms of schizophrenia and establish the rationale for studying the fundamental nature of these phenomena, in an effort to better understand the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

The dysconnection hypothesis brings together the various disparate threads of molecular, cellular and functional abnormalities observed in schizophrenia and provides a robust and comprehensive account of the disease. The dysconnection hypothesis is ideally suited for translational research into the mechanisms that underlie the cognitive deficits and functional dysconnectivity in schizophrenia, as it provides clear molecular and physiological targets that can be investigated in animal and cellular translational models (Uhlhaas, 2013). In particular electrophysiolgical recordings can be made in animal models and readily compared to EEG data acquired in the clinic, with standardised analysis techniques allowing comprehensive comparisons. The dysconnection hypothesis provides a comprehensive explanation for the symptoms, pathology and cause of schizophrenia. It allows for robust preclinical exploration of these factors and provides a framework for incorporating the findings of works such as that performed in this thesis.

1.4

NMDA Receptor Hypofunction

The NMDAr hypofunction hypothesis for schizophrenia was first proposed in the late 1980's based on observations that non-competitive NMDAr antagonists such as phencyclidine (PCP) and ketamine could elicit symptoms reminiscent of schizophrenia in healthy subjects (Krystal et al., 1994). These findings gave rise to the concept that the symptoms of schizophrenia are the result of reduced or abnormal NMDAr functioning (Olney, 1995). This idea has since undergone significant revision and advancement, with new findings from the fields of genetics and molecular biology adding further support to the hypothesis. Theoretical advances in the conceptualisation of schizophrenia have also increased the relevance of the NMDAr hypofunction model. Pre and postsynaptic NMDArs govern synaptic plasticity (Hua and Smith, 2004), the molecular process responsible for learning and memory and that determines the functional coupling between neurons. This makes NMDArs uniquely positioned in the nervous system to disrupt learning, memory and perception (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993), the key cognitive domains disrupted in patients with schizophrenia. Modulating synaptic strengths due to experience also affects the functional connectivity between neurons. Deficits in the ability to modulate the effective coupling between neuronal circuits results in deficits in connectivity across the brain (Stephan et al., 2009). Furthermore, NMDArs are essential in the generation and coordination of neural oscillations (Nakazawa et al., 2012). What began as a simple concept based on the psychotomimetic activity of NMDAr antagonists has evolved into a comprehensive hypothesis of neuronal dysconnection in schizophrenia.

1.4.1 Glutamate and NMDA Receptors

Glutamate is the most abundant excitatory neurotransmitter in the central nervous
system – many excitatory neurons utilise glutamate and it is estimated that half of all of neurons in the brain release it (Meldrum, 2000; Purves et al., 2011). Glutamate receptors can be split into two discrete categories, the ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptors. Ionotropic receptors are defined as receptors that when activated (through shifting membrane potential or ligand binding) allow the flow of ions through a central pore in the receptor. There are three known families of ionotropic glutamate receptors: AMPA, kainate and NMDArs. They received their names from the glutamate analogues used to identify them as distinct receptors with separate properties. The metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) are G-protein coupled receptors that modify neuronal functioning through intracellular signalling cascades and are thought to play a role in learning and memory through adjusting synaptic excitability and glutamate release.

The NMDAr is a heterotetramer - made of four discrete subunits of distinct types, NR1, NR2 or NR3 (also referred to as GluN1, 2 and 3). Two NR1 subunits are essential to form a functioning receptor with the remaining two composed of either NR2 or NR3 subunits. The NR3 subunits were the last to be identified and show the smallest homology to the other units, they remain less studied and poorly understood and there is limited evidence for much endogenous expression of NR1/NR3 receptors (Low and Wee, 2010). NR1 subunits contain a glycinebinding domain, while NR2 have a glutamate binding domain giving NMDArs the unique property of requiring the binding of two separate agonists to activate. They also have another unique property; they are "doubly gated" requiring a simultaneous change in membrane voltage and the binding of a ligand in order to open. This is caused by the presence of a Mg⁺⁺ ion in the channel pore, meaning that even when the ligand gated channel opens, unless there is a corresponding depolarisation to expel the Mg⁺⁺ ion, there may not be any inward current flow. These unique ligand and voltage gating characteristics of NMDArs allows them to play a distinctive role in the nervous system, ideally suited to integrating information from multiple

pathways (Kantrowitz and Javitt, 2010), acting as a 'coincidence detector' (Seeburg et al., 1995), filtering sub-threshold perceptual information (Butler et al., 2008) and detecting aberrant events (Javitt, 2000); these properties are all essential for learning and perception.

Once open, NMDArs are permeable to calcium, unlike most other ligand gated ion channels. Unlike the other ions (Na⁺, K⁺ or Cl⁻), Ca⁺⁺ doesn't just effect membrane potential, it is metabolically active as well. Ca⁺ is in fact, essential for the processes of long term potentiation and depression (Artola et al., 1990). These processes are the primary physiological events thought to underlie learning and new memory formation in cortex and hippocampus, consistent with the well described memory deficits associated with schizophrenia (Javitt, 2009). Lastly, the kinetics of NMDArs are also unique. NMDArs mediate relatively slow excitatory postsynaptic potentials. While other ionotropic glutamate receptors have depolarisations lasting 10's of milliseconds, NMDArs depolarise the cell for up to 100's of milliseconds. These slow channel kinetics makes them more sensitive to bursts of released glutamate as opposed to single inputs, which is consistent with a role in gating and information integration (Magleby, 2004). In addition, the complexity of unblocking kinetics makes NMDArs highly sensitive to timing, facilitating to spike-timingdependent synaptic plasticity (Kampa et al., 2004). NMDArs are uniquely positioned in the nervous system to play a role in learning, perception, and memory. These processes are all disrupted in schizophrenia, which means that any theory that includes disruption to NMDAr or glutamate function is positioned theoretically to explain a vast range of the cognitive, and perceptual symptoms of schizophrenia.



Figure 1.1 – A schematic Representation of NMDA Receptor Voltage Activation

The NMDAr has several unique properties that underlie its specific role in the nervous system and have relevance to pathophysiology of schizophrenia. The NMDAr is doubly gated, requiring both the binding of ligands as well as membrane depolarisation to occur before it opens to ion flow. In this schematic the different potential configurations of the NMDAr are shown. In the top panel glycine and glutamate have bound to the NMDAr and the pore is open, however the membrane potential is still highly negative and a Mg⁺⁺ ion is present, blocking the central pore of the receptor. In the middle panel, nearby AMPA receptors have also been activated by glutamate, these channels open and the influx of Na⁺ ions has depolarised the membrane. This allows the Mg⁺⁺ ion to exit the pore and Na⁺ and Ca⁺⁺ ions to enter. In the bottom panel the AMPA receptor is active, the membrane is depolarised but the non-competitive NMDAr antagonist ketamine is blocking the flow of ions through the NMDAr pore. Ketamine binds to the PCP site inside the NMDAr pore; as a result it does not 'compete' with glutamate binding and requires the channel to be open before it can inhibit activity. To the bottom right are idealised representations of NMDA and AMPA receptor excitatory post-synaptic currents (EPSCs). The NMDA receptor has much slower kinetics, resulting in excitatory currents that last up to 10 times longer than non-NMDAr glutamate receptors.

1.4.2 NMDA Receptor Antagonists in Humans

The NMDAr hypofunction hypothesis of schizophrenia arose in the late 1980's when the neurochemistry underlying the psychotomimetic actions of phencyclidine (PCP) and ketamine was revealed to be dependent on their ability to block neurotransmission at NMDArs (Javitt and Zukin, 1991). PCP was the first known NMDAr antagonist and had been reported to provoke a broad range of schizophrenia-like symptoms since as early as 1959 (Luby et al., 1959). Similar reports abounded of recreational users of PCP presenting to hospitals and psychiatric care and being initially diagnosed with schizophrenia in the midst of acute psychotic episodes (Fauman et al., 1976).

PCP was eventually removed from clinical use due to its potency and the propensity for abuse. Ketamine, another non-competitive NMDAr antagonist has similar psychotomimetic effects, but a lower NMDAr affinity (Anis et al., 1983) and a much shorter half-life (Idvall et al., 1979). Ketamine has a strong record for safety and remains in common use clinically as an anaesthetic and analgesic in healthy adults and children (Green and CotÃ, 2009; Green et al., 1998). It is also currently undergoing pre-clinical trials in the treatment of depression where it shows promising results (Berman et al., 2000; Ibrahim et al., 2011; Zarate et al., 2006). When utilised in the clinical setting as a model for schizophrenia NMDAr antagonists are typically administered intravenously and the resulting plasma concentrations are monitored and adjusted to achieve a steady, specific dosage.

Ketamine in particular is rapidly metabolised and its effects can change dramatically over relatively small changes in plasma concentration (Krystal et al., 1994). The onset of symptoms is rapid, occurring in as short as 5 minutes (Moghaddam and Krystal, 2012). The psychotic symptoms typically presented include disorganised thought, paranoia, confusion and visual and auditory hallucinations. There is also an amotivational presentation, with blunted affect and withdrawal observed (Cohen et al., 1962; Goff and Coyle, 2001). Ketamine treatment also causes transient cognitive deficits reminiscent of schizophrenia, while sparing overall global function (Malhotra et al., 1997; Newcomer et al., 1999).

The use of NMDAr antagonists as pharmacological models of schizophrenia quickly gained interest as research revealed that NMDAr blockade triggered not just the positive symptoms of schizophrenia, but also the negative and cognitive symptoms in otherwise healthy subjects (Krystal et al., 1994; 1999; Malhotra et al., 1997; Newcomer et al., 1999; Oye et al., 1992; Vollenweider et al., 1997). This was a marked difference to existing pharmacological models of psychosis or schizophrenia, which typically utilised dopaminergic stimulants like amphetamine or serotonergic hallucinogens such as lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) or mescaline. These alternative pharmacological models can reproduce the positive symptoms, such as disordered thought, motor agitation and hallucinations but produced little of the negative symptoms such as apathy and withdrawal (Gouzoulis-Mayfrank et al., 2005; Krystal et al., 2005). Not only does ketamine/PCP produce a broader and more comprehensive pharmacological model of schizophrenia's symptoms, it was found that the phenomenological nature of ketamine-induced thought disorder in healthy subjects closely resembled the nature of thought disorder in schizophrenia patients (Adler et al., 1998; 1999).

There have also been studies demonstrating that in patients with schizophrenia an acute treatment with ketamine will transiently induce a psychotic episode, exacerbating positive symptoms (Lahti et al., 1995; 2001; Malhotra et al., 1997). Schizophrenia patients reported that the nature of the ketamine-induced positive symptoms in these studies were similar to when they occur naturally. Specifically over 70% of patients reported hallucinations and delusions that reminded them of their 'typical' positive symptoms during a spontaneous exacerbation (Lahti et al., 2001). In addition to the positive and negative symptoms

of schizophrenia, NMDAr antagonists have also been shown to elicit specific cognitive deficits that are typical of schizophrenia. Particular alterations in executive function that are common and quite specific in schizophrenia have been reported, including deficits in attention, working memory, abstract reasoning, planning and judgement (Hetem et al., 2000; Krystal et al., 1994; 1999; Malhotra et al., 1997; Newcomer et al., 1999).

As well as the neuropsychological effects that acute NMDAr blockade can induce, there are numerous physiological abnormalities that are transiently induced in healthy subjects that are also commonly observed in patients with schizophrenia. These include deficits in electrophysiological measures such as MMN (Umbricht et al., 2000) and ERPs (Hong et al., 2010). There were also alterations to physiological characteristics such as smooth eye tracking (Avila, 2002; Radant et al., 1998), prepulse inhibition (PPI) and cortical blood flow (measured with fMRI) (Abel et al., 2003).

Ketamine also causes significant dissociative symptoms – feelings of detachment from and withdrawal from reality – in a large proportion of healthy subjects administered the drug. Dissociative states are not generally thought of as symptoms of schizophrenia, although they have been suggested to be a part of the schizophrenia prodrome, the early symptoms preceding or marking the onset of the disease (Møller and Husby, 2000). Interestingly the nature of hallucinations induced by ketamine and PCP administration is also more relevant to the early onset of schizophrenia than the chronic disease. In the early course of schizophrenia both auditory and visual hallucinations and disturbances are common, whereas auditory hallucinations dominate later (McGhie and Chapman, 1961). In light of this and the phenomenological similarity between ketamine administration and acute psychotic episodes, the acute ketamine challenge may be best thought of as a model of acute onset schizophrenia, or a psychotic episode rather than later, more chronic, phases

(Kantrowitz and Javitt, 2010). In summary there is considerable neuropsychological and physiological evidence that ketamine and other NMDAr antagonists provide a useful and comprehensive pharmacological model of schizophrenia's symptoms, providing insight into potential mechanisms and pathways.

1.4.3 Molecular and Genetic Evidence

As well as the neuropsychological and physiological evidence that acute NMDAr antagonism elicits symptoms reminiscent of schizophrenia in healthy subjects, there is considerable molecular evidence obtained from patients with schizophrenia. One of the very first proposals that abnormalities in the glutamatergic system were related to schizophrenia was based on molecular evidence gathered from patients. Low levels of glutamate were observed in the cerebral spinal fluid of patients with schizophrenia (Kim et al., 1980). This finding received limited traction at the time, as it was reproduced by some (Bjerkenstedt et al., 1985; Macciardi et al., 1990), but not all studies that further investigated the issue (Gattaz et al., 1982; Perry, 1982; Tsai et al., 1998). Further investigations into glutamate and related molecules in patients with schizophrenia have yielded more promising results. Such as an *in vivo* single photon emission tomography study that revealed reduced NMDAr binding in the hippocampus of untreated patients with schizophrenia, an effect that was reversed in patients taking antipsychotic medications (Pilowsky et al., 2005).

Post-mortem studies of brain tissue found that patients with schizophrenia had lower levels of glutamate in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus, and lower levels of aspartate (another ligand for NMDArs) than healthy controls (Tsai and Coyle, 1995). The same study made the novel finding that Nacetylaspartylglutamate (NAAG) levels were higher in the hippocampus of patients. NAAG is a neuropeptide (a small protein-like molecule that can signal neurons) and consists of N-acetylaspartic acid (NAA) bound to a glutamate molecule. NAAG has been demonstrated to be an NMDAr antagonist (Puttfarcken et al., 1993), although this finding is presently a matter of considerable debate (Begeron and Coyle, 2012). Less controversially NAAG acts as an agonist at mGluR₃s (Wroblewska et al., 1998), that in turn inhibit glutamate release (Sánchez-Prieto et al., 1996). The precise regulation of NAAG, NAA and glutamate are complex (Tsai et al., 1995) but these results further indicate abnormal glutamate transmission and NMDAr hypofunction; whether these glutamate-related molecules are altered as a byproduct or a primary cause is not yet established.

Numerous other studies of post-mortem tissue from patients with schizophrenia have examined glutamate receptor binding, transcription, subunit protein and mRNA expression across numerous different brain areas (Geddes et al., 2011; Snyder and Gao, 2013). These results broadly support the NMDAr hypofunction hypothesis; showing reductions in NMDAr subunit proteins in the temporal lobe (Beneyto et al., 2007) prefrontal cortex (Beneyto and Meador-2008), thalamus (Ibrahim et al., 2000) and hippocampus Woodruff, (McCullumsmith et al., 2007). Other commonly reported changes include alterations in the level of NMDAr affiliated structural proteins such as post synaptic density protein 95 (PSD95) (Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2008; Dracheva et al., 2001) and synapse associated protein 102 (Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2008; Dracheva et al., 2001; Kristiansen et al., 2006). Binding studies utilising autoradiographay have produced more mixed results; increases in kainate receptors in the prefrontal cortex, decreases of both AMPA and kainate in the hippocampus, and inconsistent results for NMDArs across the brain (Snyder and Gao, 2013).

One final molecular finding of particular interest to the theoretical underpinnings of the NMDAr hypofunction hypothesis of schizophrenia is the NMDAr subunit switch. Numerous studies have indicated that during adolescence there is a NMDAr subunit switch i.e. NR2B subunits are replaced with NR2A or NR3A to NR3B (Monyer et al., 1994; Sheng et al., 1994; Snyder et al., 2013; Wang and Gao, 2009; Wang et al., 2008b). This change in NMDAr subunits marks a transition to adult neural processing (Dumas, 2005) and creates a situation where NMDArs are particularly susceptible to environmental and genetic risk factors (Spear, 2000). The fact that this coincides with the typical age of onset of schizophrenia is of particular interest and further adds to the evidence of the centrality of NMDAr hypofunction to schizophrenia.

There are numerous genes that have been linked to or shown some involvement to schizophrenia, a large proportion of which are related to NMDAr or glutamate function (Harrison and Owen, 2003). For instance, a recent large metaanalysis of genome wide association studies for schizophrenia 'risk' genes (Allen et al., 2008) showed that polymorphisms in GRIN2B, the gene that encodes the NR2B subunit of the NMDAr, is a significant risk factor for schizophrenia. GRM3, which encodes the mGluR₃ subtype of metabotropic glutamate receptors has also been identified as a risk gene (Egan et al., 2004).

A series of papers published across 2002 and 2003 revealed a total of seven separate risk genes for schizophrenia, practically all of which converged on the glutamate system (Harrison and Owen, 2003). One of the first and best replicated genes identified as a risk for schizophrenia, *Nrg1* (Munafo et al., 2006; Stefansson et al., 2002; Williams et al., 2003), has considerable interactions with NMDArs and the glutamate pathway. The receptor for Nrg1, ErbB4 (which has itself been shown to have a genetic link to schizophrenia (Norton et al., 2006)) shares a common anchoring region on the PSD-95 structural protein with NMDAr (Garcia et al., 2000). It has also been shown that Nrg1 activity in the prefrontal cortex increases the association between ErbB4 and the NR1 subunit, and can lead to a reduction in NR2A phosphorylation and decreases in NMDAr activity through internalisation of the receptor. (Gu et al., 2005; Hahn et al., 2006).

Other genes also have direct links to NMDAr function: *DAAO* and *G72* are interrelated and affect NMDArs – DAAO metabolises D-serine, an endogenous modulator of the NMDArs (Mothet et al., 2000) and G72 is thought to initiate the activity of DAAO (Chumakov et al., 2002). Dysbindin is localised to presynaptic terminals, and may participate in the formation and maintenance of synapses, and in signal transduction (Benson et al., 2001; Straub et al., 2002). *COMT* acts directly on dopamine neurotransmission, (Gogos et al., 1998) and almost certainly could alter glutamate transmission through the various links between dopamine and glutamate transmitter systems (Grace, 1991).

1.4.4 NMDA Receptor Hypofunction and Other Neurotransmitters

The first prominent theory about the neurochemistry underlying schizophrenia was the dopamine hypothesis, which stated that the symptoms of schizophrenia arose from a hyper-dopaminergic state in the frontal cortex of patients (Seeman, 1987). This view arose due to dopamine antagonist properties of the antipsychotic drugs developed in the 1950s and become widely accepted, as the antipsychotic drugs were quite successful at treating the positive symptoms of schizophrenia (Seeman and Lee, 1975). As the initial success of pharmacological treatment waned and the unmet need of negative and cognitive symptoms grew in importance, it was realised the dopamine hypothesis was not sufficient to fully explain all aspects of schizophrenia (Thaker and Carpenter, 2001) and as discussed throughout this section, there is substantial evidence that a dysfunction of NMDArs fulfils that role. However, any alternate theory still needs to account for the same evidence answered by the dopamine hypothesis, which is still a prominent account in the field. The major evidence supporting dopamine involvement in schizophrenia pathophysiology is that dopamine D₂ receptor antagonist drugs are effective in treating the positive symptoms of schizophrenia and a substantial body of evidence showing altered dopamine levels in patients (Howes and Kapur, 2009).

As stated earlier glutamate is the most abundant neurotransmitter in the brain, and NMDArs are broadly distributed throughout the nervous system (Meldrum, 2000). This enables glutamatergic transmission to regulate the function of other neurons that have also been implicated in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. For example, the bursting firing pattern of dopaminergic neurons (the stereotypical response pattern of these neurons), requires NMDAr activation to occur (Johnson et al., 1992). Studies with NMDAr antagonists have also produced evidence linking the two neurochemical hypotheses. Ketamine treatment can induce increased dopamine release in the striatum (Smith et al., 1998), simultaneously with an increase in positive symptoms (Breier et al., 1998). These studies demonstrate that an NMDAr blockade can lead to a hyper-dopaminergic state. Further evidence associating NMDAr hypofunction with excessive dopamine activity are studies of amphetamine-triggered dopamine release. Patients with schizophrenia show a higher level of dopamine release following amphetamine administration than healthy controls (Abi-Dargham et al., 1998; Laruelle et al., 1996). Similar effects are seen in healthy subjects pretreated with a dose of ketamine (Kegeles et al., 2000; 2002), indicating altered NMDAr function may lead to hyper-dopaminergic states.

Glutamatergic systems are also linked to GABAergic interneurons, another neurotransmitter system that has been strongly implicated in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. See Section 1.3.3 for a summary of GABAergic pathology in schizophrenia, but to briefly summarise, considerable histological evidence shows reductions in PV and GAD_{67} expression in patients with schizophrenia (Lewis et al., 2005). PV+ GABAergic interneurons are essential for the generation of synchronised activity amongst neuronal ensembles, in particular γ frequency oscillations (Bartos et al., 2007; Mann and Paulsen, 2007). There is increasing evidence that deficits and synchrony and neural dynamics is a major pathophysiological aspect of schizophrenia (Reviewed in section 1.5.3) and that PV+ GABAergic interneuron dysfunction is the mechanism through which these alterations occur.

Several lines of evidence indicate that NMDArs specifically contribute to GABAergic dysfunction. GABAergic interneurons are disproportionally more sensitive to NMDAr antagonists than pyramidal neurons (Greene et al., 2000; Grunze et al., 1996; Olney, 1995). Secondly, repeated administration of NMDAr antagonists causes depletion in levels of GAD_{67} and PV in cortical areas (Behrens et al., 2007; Cochran et al., 2003; Keilhoff et al., 2004; Rujescu et al., 2006), causing effects similar to that seen in histological examination of patients post-mortem tissue. Recent studies utilising cell-specific techniques to ablate NMDArs on PV+ interneurons in mice revealed these animals display a range of behavioural and cognitive deficits reminiscent of schizophrenia, and a concurrent increase in the power of ongoing γ oscillations (Carlen et al., 2012; Korotkova et al., 2010).

The mechanisms by which NMDAr may affect PV+ interneurons are still unclear, but one hypothesis posits that the calcium permeability of the NMDAr channel plays a role. PV is a calcium binding protein and its physiological role is as a calcium buffer; it quickly sequesters free Ca⁺⁺ in the intracellular space and reduces available Ca⁺⁺ concentrations. Reduced PV expression may be a compensatory reduction that reflects reduced Ca⁺⁺ entry into PV-containing interneurons and reduced GAD₆₇ may reflect reduced excitatory NMDAr drive onto PV+ interneurons. The associations between NMDAr hpyofucntion and PV+ interneuron excitatory drive provide a link to disruptions in γ oscillations and synchronisation. NMDAr function is essential for the proper maintenance and generation of γ frequency activity, leading to a conception of schizophrenia as the product of deficits in NMDAr function, leading to abnormal γ frequency activity which results in a dysconnection in functional neural networks and a breakdown in neural communication.

1.5

Neural Oscillations

Oscillatory activity is an intrinsic characteristic of neuronal tissue, observed in the very first human EEG recordings by Hans Berger in the 1920's (Berger, 1929). Berger reported the existence of the alpha wave – an 8-12 Hz rhythm that dominated his recordings when subjects closed their eyes. There has since been an enormous interest in the nature and function of these rhythms: what role did they play, and how were they generated?

As these oscillatory patterns were observed to change in ways related to the activity of the subject being recorded, they gave rise to the hope that we could gain insight into the activity of the living, functioning and intact brain through the study of these oscillations. There is a growing view in cognitive neuroscience that the higher order cognitive processes result from the complex interplay of highly structured and organised brain activity (Engel et al., 2001), and that by studying the neural dynamics of oscillatory activity we can gain insight into them (Herrmann et al., 2010). This approach has borne fruit in recent years as the functional role of brain oscillations has become more fully understood; oscillations have been demonstrated to play a role in governing the complex flow of information and activity in the human brain (Buzsaki and Watson, 2012; Fries, 2009).

When viewing raw EEG recorded from a human scalp it can give the impression of being a rapidly changing seemingly random, chaotic process. However, this is the result of the EEG signal captured from the scalp consisting of the summation of multiple different frequency bands overlaid on top of each other (Buzsaki, 2006). These frequency bands were labelled for the order they were discovered in, and in increasing order are delta (δ , 1-4 Hz), theta (θ , 4-8 Hz), alpha (α , 8-12 Hz), beta (β , 13-29 Hz), gamma (γ , 30-80 Hz), (Figure 1.2). In recent years advances in recording equipment and analysis technologies has allowed the study of even higher frequency bands including 'high gamma' (80-140 Hz) (Canolty et al., 2006) and hippocampal ripples (140-220 Hz) (Buzsaki and da Silva, 2012). These different frequency bands are posited to be generated through different neuronal and network mechanisms and be related to different activities. For example, α oscillations are associated with a relaxed, unoccupied brain; they decrease with attention and focus (Klimesch, 1999). In contrast θ band activity is associated with memory tasks and the strength of θ oscillations has been shown to increase with memory load and when engaged in memory related tasks (Kahana et al., 2001; Nunez, 2000).

The power of the EEG has the property that as the frequency increases the power of the related oscillations decreases at a proportional rate i.e. 1/f (Freeman et al., 2000); the faster frequencies have considerably lower power than the lower frequencies. The precise origin of this property is still up for debate (Bédard and Destexhe, 2009; Logothetis et al., 2007), but has given rise to several concepts. Lower frequency oscillations are generally understood to involve larger volumes of neural tissue, incorporating larger numbers of neurons and propagating over larger distances (Stein and Sarnthein, 2000). This is due to both the 1/f property and the fact that their slower oscillatory speeds allow synchronisation at larger distances. The axonal conductance times over long distances can prevent faster oscillations over large distances. The faster oscillations are thought to be more constrained in space, therefore generated locally (Csicsvari et al., 2003; Steriade, 2001). These

multiple time and distance domains are proposed to allow the brain to operate at multiple temporal and spatial scales (Buzsaki et al., 2004).





The top panel represents a raw ECoG recording taken from the cortical surface of a Wistar rat. Shown underneath are representations of the same recording period, filtered to display specific frequency bands. The bottom panel shows a stereotypical power spectrum. This graph uses a log scale on the Y-axis and the distinct frequency bands are highlighted in different colours. Neural oscillations spontaneously emerge in brain regions as the result of several intrinsic cellular and circuit properties (Destexhe and Sejnowski, 2003; Somers and Kopell, 1993; Whittington and Traub, 2003). These properties range from the type, location and number of specific ion channels in cell membranes (Llinas, 1988), the presence or absence of electrical gap junctions (Draguhn et al., 1998; Gibson et al., 1999), through to the reciprocal excitation and inhibition between networks of large numbers of neurons (Whittington and Traub, 2003). The specific mechanisms governing γ oscillations are detailed in Section 1.5.4.

Studying the function and purpose of neural oscillations is a rapidly expanding field of neuroscience that has come to overlap multiple fields from physiology, psychology, computational neuroscience and cognitive neuroscience. A general concept has arisen in which synchrony between neurons, neural ensembles and circuits is an essential process for combining distributed information processing in the brain (Buzsaki, 2006; Buzsaki et al., 2004; Fries, 2009; Uhlhaas et al., 2009). Oscillations represent a 'low energy' mechanism for entraining synchronisation in neural networks (Buzsaki and Draguhn, 2004). Spontaneously generated oscillations are rhythmic changes in the membrane potential and hence the propensity to fire of individual neurons. This equates to rhythmic changes in both the likelihood of firing and the sensitivity to synaptic inputs of the oscillating cells (Fries, 2005). This allows the period of oscillations to govern the communication between neurons and within neuronal ensembles. Communication and the transfer of information will be enabled and aided in neurons that are firing in phase with surrounding oscillations and inhibited or blocked in those out of phase. The exact timing of spikes controls how well information is transmitted from one brain region to another (Softky and Koch, 1993) and synchronous inputs from upstream neurons to a target neuron can summate more effectively and lead to an action potential. This synchronisation of neuronal firing and oscillations has been proposed to enable wide ranging computational processes in the brain, at the simplest conception the rhythmic

activity in neural networks influences communication and the passage of information between neurons (Fries, 2009).

The study of oscillations can be used to give insight into neurological diseases; oscillatory patterns of activity and abnormal traits reveal the mechanisms at play in pathological conditions, and can be used to develop treatments and diagnostic tools (Herrmann and Demiralp, 2005; Traub and Whittington, 2010; Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010). For example both Parkinson's disease and epilepsy can be thought of as diseases of oscillations (Traub and Whittington, 2010). Epilepsy represents hyper-synchronous activity, where a seizure is brought on by aberrant oscillatory activity spreading and dominating the brain leading to a loss of consciousness (Fisher et al., 2005). Parkinson's disease represents a break down in the normal oscillatory processes that govern movement and motor control. A β rhythm that normally disinhibits motor control is overactive in the disease, and may contribute to the motor dysfunction that is observed (Levy et al., 2002). The success of deep brain stimulation in treating the condition has been theorised to be due to its ability to diminish the aberrant beta frequency activity (Bronte-Stewart, 2012).

Schizophrenia can be conceived of as a disease characterised by abnormalities in the expression of coordinated activity in the brain, resulting from a dysconnection between functional networks and breakdown in communication. In turn, neural oscillations and the synchronisation of neuronal outputs can play a role in information processing and cortical communication; allowing us to conceptualise schizophrenia as a disease of dysfunctional oscillations. γ frequency oscillations in particular have been proposed as the mechanism through which coordinated neural activity is generated and controlled (Fries, 2005), leading to the conception of γ as a mechanism through which the symptoms of schizophrenia may arise (Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010). This hypothesis presents a powerful framework to understand how schizophrenia may manifest and could potentially lead to improvements in our ability to treat and prevent it.

1.5.1 Studying Oscillations

The most common way to study neural oscillations in humans is through scalp recorded EEG, this recording technique captures the broad electrical activity of large populations of neurons. However, oscillatory activity patterns can be seen all the way down to the level of individual neurons for which different recording techniques and methods can be utilised to capture different levels and types of information.

Magneto/Electroencephalogram (MEG/EEG) – Scalp recorded magnetic or electrical activity, the signals measured by MEG and EEG represent activity from large ensembles of cells with fairly crude spatial resolution, although modern analysis techniques are improving the ability to separate out and identify distinct current sources.

Electrocorticogram (ECoG) – Electrical recordings made directly from the cortical surface these provide stronger and clearer signals than scalp recorded EEG. Due to the incredibly invasive nature these recordings are only performed on humans who require cranial surgery. Can also be performed in non-human primates and rodents for the study of neuronal activity. Both the EEG and ECoG are thought to only record the activity of cortical layer neurons.

Local field potentials (LFP) – Recordings made from electrodes inserted directly into brain tissue, allowing precise targeting of relevant brain regions for study. LFP recording allows the study of the electrical activity of cortical and subcortical structures that are unavailable to EEG/ECoG recordings. It is generally believed that the LFP signal reflects the electrical currents associated with synaptic activity and intrinsic membrane properties in a local population of neurons around the electrode (Buzsaki et al., 2012). LFP recordings can capture the spiking activity from multiple or individual neurons as well as the surrounding electric field.

Single and multi-unit recordings – The lowest level at which oscillatory γ frequency activity can be detected is in the firing pattern of individual neurons. This can be achieved by single or multi-unit recordings in animals and again is rarely seen in humans. Typically, γ frequency activity is observed as spiking patterns that occur every 10–30 ms and can be analysed by auto or cross correlating the spike timings or capturing concurrent LFP to analyse the spike timing with regard to LFP phase.

In addition to the multiple recording techniques, each targeting different scales on neuronal activity, when studying neuronal oscillations there are at least four distinct types of oscillatory activity that should be considered (Figure 1.3):

Ongoing – Ongoing or baseline oscillations are spontaneously occurring rhythms that are not tied to any specific stimulus or activity. Also know as resting or pre-stimulus oscillations, ongoing oscillations are spontaneously generated by cortical, hippocampal and other structures (Merker, 2013). They are dominant during the desynchronised state of the electroencephalogram (Ahmed and Cash, 2013; Jasper, 1936).

Evoked – Oscillations directly triggered via a sensory stimulus are called evoked oscillations. Oscillatory activity that is time-locked (in phase) with a stimulus can be averaged across many trials to generate an evoked response. Any oscillations that are not time-locked to the stimulus average to zero over many trials leaving a solely evoked waveform. Evoked oscillations generally occur soon after the stimulus and are thought to reflect early sensory processing (Haenschel and Linden, 2011). Steady State – Elicited through repeated sensory stimulation, steady state oscillations represent neural 'entrainment' to a repeated stimulus at a set frequency. Steady-state paradigms are utilised to assess the ability of neuronal networks to generate and sustain oscillatory activity in different bands, through varying the stimulus frequency. Auditory stimuli are most commonly used although visual and tactile paradigms exist.

Induced – Oscillations that are related to sensory stimuli (or cognitive tasks) that are not precisely time locked to a stimulus. Induced oscillations vary in time on each trial and are thus not seen with simple averaging techniques. Induced oscillations are thought to be related to object and perceptual representation and higher order cognition (Tallon-Baudry and Bertrand, 1999).



Figure 1.3 – Illustration of the Different Categories of Neural Oscillations and Methods of Analysis

A) Multiple EEG traces in a sensory task (simulated data), the dotted line represents the time that a sensory stimulation is presented. Ongoing or baseline activity is marked in red boxes, the evoked response occurs at the same latency in every trial and is marked in blue. Induced oscillations (marked in green) are triggered by the stimuli but are not time locked, appearing at different latencies in each trial. **B)** Averaging across a large number of trials cancels out the non-time locked activity (both ongoing and induced) leaving a purely evoked response. **C)** A heatmap showing the power of the evoked response across time (x-axis) and across different frequencies (y-axis), the non time-locked activity has been removed through averaging. **D)** Calculating time-frequency data for each individual trial reveals the induced activity for each trial. **E)** When the individual trial data is then averaged the induced gamma response is revealed. **F)** Time-frequency analysis is performed by convolving a family of Morlet wavelets with the EEG signal – s(t). This series of wavelets have differing peak frequency responses and time dimensions. **G)** By utilising a series of wavelets across a sliding time window analysis of both time and frequency can be made with high resolution. *Adapted from (Tallon-Baudry and Bertrand, 1999)*

1.5.2 Gamma Oscillations

 γ frequency oscillations have been associated with a wide range of cognitive processes, leading to a growing conception of γ frequency activity as an essential function of information processing in the brain (Fries, 2009). γ oscillations came to prominence as a phenomenon related to perceptual processes due to a series of studies in the late 1980's and 90's that proposed they served as a solution to the 'binding problem' – how the numerous structures and functions of the brain subserving memory, emotion, attention and perception combine their outputs into the single unitary experience we describe as consciousness (Revonsuo, 1999).

A study was performed in the cat visual cortex, where the authors found that in response to moving bars of light, the multi-unit activity in cat visual cortex showed synchronous activity at γ frequencies (Gray and Singer, 1989). This unit activity was accompanied by and in synchrony with prominent γ oscillations in the LFP. A second, similar experiment was performed that demonstrated a similar result in widely separated regions of the visual cortex; units fired in synchrony with almost no lag despite having no direct anatomical connections (Gray et al., 1989). These observations led to the hypothesis that γ frequency synchrony enacts the temporal binding of disparate perceptual features into a coherent whole (Singer, 1993). The γ binding hypothesis posits that neurons in diverse regions can synchronously encode different features of a percept (such as colour, shape or motion) by firing together in a single γ cycle. This synchronous firing across regions is thought to 'bind' the encoded features together into a unified perception of an object (Ahmed and Cash, 2013).

This work in the visual system and the notion of temporal binding initiated enormous interest in the area and a huge body of work has followed. Subsequently, the synchronisation of neuronal spiking has been demonstrated across multiple species and for nearly every perceptual domain: visual, auditory, olfactory and somatosensory (Engel and Singer, 2001). The animal work regarding γ synchronisation in visual perception has also been replicated in humans (Müller et al., 1996). This role for synchronisation in neural circuits for the representation of incoming sensory information was also rapidly expanded to encompass other domains of cognition (Salinas and Sejnowski, 2001). One of the first cognitive properties found to be correlated with γ frequency oscillations was attention (Tiitinen et al., 1993). This was quickly expanded to encompass nearly the full spectrum of human cognitive processes, including: memory (Basar et al., 2000; Gruber and Müller, 2006; Jensen et al., 2007; Kaiser and Lutzenberger, 2005; Sederberg et al., 2007), object representation (Tallon-Baudry and Bertrand, 1999), perceptual awareness (Martinovic and Busch, 2011; Ohla et al., 2007; Rodriguez et al., 2001; Eulitz et al., 1996; Pulvermüller et al., 1996) and physical movement (Pesaran et al., 2002).

In recent years theories of binding and neuronal synchronisation have grown to be considered as neurological explanations for phenomenological consciousness (Engel et al., 2001; Thompson and Varela, 2001). This is still a highly disputed and unproven area, but a hypothesis has been formed wherein dynamically linked networks of synchronised neurons are the substrate in which conscious perception is instantiated (Uhlhaas et al., 2009). γ oscillations have been associated with all the key cognitive domains that are disrupted in schizophrenia, as well as (tentatively) consciousness itself. Schizophrenia is a disease of perception and consciousness, which raises the interesting question of what relationship γ oscillations have to schizophrenia. As will be detailed next, γ oscillations are substantially disrupted in patients with schizophrenia and the molecular and cellular mechanisms of their generation intersects with the NMDAr hypofunction hypothesis of schizophrenia. This positions γ oscillations as the mechanism that results in the dysconnection that is hypothesised to characterise this illness; establishing a framework which provides a strong foundation to improve our understanding of schizophrenia as well as the neural dynamics of both health and disease.

1.5.3 Gamma Oscillations in Schizophrenia

1.5.3.1 Perceptual Related Gamma

The cognitive functions that have been demonstrated to be associated with γ frequency activity are also disrupted in patients with schizophrenia (Woo et al., 2010). The dysfunction of γ activity in the brain provides an explanation of the varied perceptual and cognitive abnormalities seen in schizophrenia (Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010). Given that hallucinations and delusions are the most dramatic and compelling symptom of schizophrenia, much research has concentrated on perceptual differences in schizophrenia and abnormalities in their associated EEG response (Woo et al., 2010).

The γ frequency response to auditory stimuli is a widely used paradigm due to the ease of implementation. In such tests, subjects have EEG recording electrodes affixed and then listen to a series of tones and the resulting neural responses are analysed. The most widely studied and replicated γ frequency abnormality in patients with schizophrenia is the 40 Hz auditory steady state response (ASSR). In this paradigm a series of audio tones of 40 Hz frequency are played to a subject undergoing EEG recording and there is a concurrent increase in 40 Hz EEG activity, and the auditory triggered neural activity is said to be 'entrained' to the stimulation frequency (Picton et al., 2003). Numerous studies have demonstrated that patients with schizophrenia do not display the same EEG 'entrainment' as seen in healthy subjects (Brenner et al., 2003; Hong et al., 2004b; Kwon et al., 1999; Light et al., 2006). Instead, patients with schizophrenia typically show a reduction in the power of γ responses and reduction in the degree of synchronisation to the imposed auditory signal (Hong et al., 2004a).

Other studies examining evoked responses and involving simple auditory stimuli have investigated the earliest evoked γ frequency responses, thought to represent the first stages of percepetual processing (Pantev et al., 1991). These studies comprehensively catalogue reductions in auditory triggered γ responses in patients with schizophrenia (Basar-Eroglu et al., 2009; Krishnan et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2001; Leicht et al., 2011; 2010; Roach and Mathalon, 2008). A smaller number of studies have studied later (\geq 200ms) auditory γ responses and also found reductions in patients (Gallinat et al., 2004; Gordon et al., 2001; Haig et al., 2000). Studies examining visually-evoked responses in patients also show similar deficits in the early γ perceptual responses. (Spencer et al., 2004), used a visual perception task that involved responding to the presence of a gestalt image. Not only was visually-evoked γ power and phase locking diminished in patients, there was a significant correlation between phase locking values and the positive symptoms of schizophrenia. These data suggests that perceptual abnormalities can be reflected in γ measures, which in turn reflect symptom dimensions. There have also been studies demonstrating reduced visual steady-state responses in patients (Brenner et al., 2009; Krishnan et al., 2005), in agreement with the auditory findings.

Studies have also examined somatosensory perception (Arnfred et al., 2011) and transcranial magnetic stimulation (Ferrarelli et al., 2008) evoked γ responses, again showing a reduction in the evoked response. Interestingly reduced audioevoked γ frequency oscillations have been recorded in first-degree relatives of patients with schizophrenia, as well as in unaffected siblings in monozygotic twin pairs discordant for schizophrenia (Hall et al., 2011a; 2011b). This indicates that there is a substantial genetic component to the presence of aberrant evoked γ frequency activity. This was also replicated in a separate study of unaffected relatives, showing similar deficits to schizophrenia patients (Leicht et al., 2010).

There is a solid body of evidence demonstrating that perceptual stimuli related γ oscillations are disrupted in patients with schizophrenia, providing an electrophysiological correlate to the existing evidence of perceptual abnormalities in patients (Uhlhaas and Mishara, 2007). These findings suggest that abnormal perceptual evoked γ frequency responses reflect a broad dysfunction in the generation of γ frequency synchronisation and oscillations in patients with schizophrenia.

1.5.3.2 Cognition Related Gamma

Cognitive tasks typically generate γ responses that are not time-locked to a specific stimulus and occur later in time than evoked responses. These induced γ responses are thought to reflect high-order cognitive processes in contrast to the early perceptual processing that evoked γ oscillations are associated with (Haenschel and Linden, 2011; Tallon-Baudry and Bertrand, 1999). There is a substantial body of evidence that indicates dysfunction of induced γ frequency responses associated with higher order processes such as memory and attention in patients with schizophrenia. Working memory and executive control abnormalities are representative of these core cognitive deficits in schizophrenia, providing a useful theoretical explanation for these abnormalities and lending further support to the hypothesis that γ frequency abnormalities underlie these symptoms.

Working memory presents an especially relevant cognitive process to study in the context of schizophrenia and γ oscillations. Working memory impairments, particularly in terms of visual and spoken memory are the most consistent cognitive deficits in schizophrenia (Harvey and Keefe, 2001; Heinrichs and Zakzanis, 1998; Keefe and Harvey, 2012). Furthermore, the magnitude of cognitive impairments as the disease progresses has been associated with poor functioning and lower quality of life (Green, 1996; Leeson et al., 2009). Working memory deficits may themselves lead to poorer outcomes as the cognitive deficits impede patients' ability to cope with the challenges of psychotic symptoms.

Working memory is also particularly pertinent in the context of γ oscillations; a computational model of working memory explains the limitations of working memory in terms of nested γ and θ oscillations (Lisman and Idiart, 1995). The 'magic number' of 7 ± 2 publicised by (Miller, 1956), is thought of as the limit on the number of discrete items able to be maintained in working memory. In Lisman and Idiart's model the number of γ cycles per θ wave is the reason for this computational limit, and there is considerable experimental evidence that supports this both in terms of θ / γ coupling (Axmacher et al., 2007; Lisman and Buzsaki, 2008) and γ oscillations correlating with working memory load (Howard et al., 2003).

The correlation between working memory load and the magnitude of γ oscillations is absent in patients with schizophrenia. Patients display an abnormally large γ response that does not scale with task difficulty (Basar-Eroglu et al., 2007). There is also evidence that points to deficits in specific aspects of working memory; deficits in working memory performance can potentially arise from deficits in the perception, encoding, maintenance or retrieval of the stimuli (Haenschel and Linden, 2011). As discussed previously patients with schizophrenia exhibit deficits in fundamental perceptual processes (Butler et al., 2008) and have corresponding γ frequency abnormalities, which is potentially a confounding factor when studying working memory tasks. However, a study by (Haenschel et al., 2009) examined cortical oscillatory activity during each individual stage of a working memory task: encoding, maintenance and retrieval, between schizophrenia patients and healthy

controls. During encoding, successful memorisation was predicted by the induced θ , α , and β oscillations in control subjects, where patients exhibited substantial reductions in the evoked activity in these frequency bands. During the maintenance period of the task patients showed a load-dependent increase in γ activity that was comparable to the control group. However induced γ was lower in patients during retrieval, which corresponded to poorer performance in the task. These findings suggest that patients have impairments at each stage in the working memory task and they may reach the 'capacity limit' of their working memory system at earlier stages. It is also interesting to note that several studies of working memory have report elevated levels of baseline γ activity in schizophrenia despite a lack of task-specific activation (Barr et al., 2010; Basar-Eroglu et al., 2007), this would seem to support the inference that working memory in patients is more easily filled and they may effectively be functioning as if they were under significant cognitive strain at baseline levels.

There have been studies of other areas of cognitive function that are altered in schizophrenia that also report aberrant γ oscillations. (Kissler et al., 2000) studied patients and healthy controls while performing a complex mental arithmetic task. Similarly to working memory results patients performed worse and also displayed abnormal induced γ oscillations. The healthy subjects showed an increase in γ power over left frontal areas, while the patients showed no task effect at all in a low γ band (30-45 Hz) and displayed a reversal in a higher band (45 - 71 Hz), with increases over the right frontal areas.

A study looking at cognitive control also found reductions in induced γ band activity as well as more complex deficits, (Cho et al., 2006). Patients had similar levels of performance as controls in the 'easy' condition, but performed significantly worse in the harder task. Healthy subjects showed a corresponding increase in induced γ activity as the task difficulty increased, indicating that induced γ power may represent the current cognitive load. Patients did not show this increase in relation to task difficulty, indicating that there is a deficit in the ability to coordinate synchronised neural activity in reaction to task demands. This result was replicated in another study looking at unmedicated, first-episode patients who displayed similar deficits in induced γ .

Another study examined executive function by utilising the Wisconsin card sorting task – a neuropsychological test that is designed to examine cognitive flexibility, the ability to learn and adapt to changing rules and reinforcement (Monchi et al., 2001). Patients performed extremely poorly on this test, in line with earlier results (Cuesta et al., 1995) which is an exceedingly complex task and presents significant challenges to patients with schizophrenia. When healthy controls were performing the task they exhibited broad increases in all frequency bands, except α where decreases were observed. Patients showed similar increases except in the γ frequency band, again indicating a deficiency in the ability to generate or 'ramp up' γ oscillations in response to cognitive loads.

Overall results from studies looking at cognitive function and induced γ oscillations in patients with schizophrenia reveal a more complex interplay between γ oscillations and cognitive function than the broad reductions in evoked γ in perceptual tasks do. Although the general results support an idea that patients with schizophrenia exhibit lower levels of γ oscillatory activity in response to external stimuli, there are important subtleties to consider. There is evidence that patients lack the ability to appropriately modulate γ activity in response to cognitive demands, the task dependent changes in oscillatory activity that define a normal response to cognitive challenges is absent or abnormal. Complementary to this is some evidence that patients have increased baseline γ activity in relation to cognitive tasks, indicating their cognitive workload may be limited in comparison to healthy controls. Whether this is a causal relationship – deficient mechanisms in

generating and modulating γ oscillations result in reduced working memory, attention and executive function – or these γ abnormalities reflect the already existing cognitive deficits is still unknown and presents an intriguing field of research.

1.5.3.3 Ongoing Gamma

As well as the extensive literature pertaining to deficits and abnormalities in γ oscillatory measures generated through the presentation of stimuli or in cognitive tasks there is also considerable evidence regarding the properties of ongoing or baseline γ activity in schizophrenia. Two separate types of data contribute to the literature on ongoing oscillations, studies specifically examining the characteristics and properties of baseline activity – sometimes called 'resting state' paradigms, to contrast with active studies. The other is obtained by analysing the baseline or 'prestimulus' period in sensory stimuli or cognitive task based designs. By examining the EEG activity recorded prior to the presentation of stimuli the 'baseline' activity can be extracted and analysed for differences.

Several studies of the resting state EEG were done in the earlier decades of research in neural oscillations, as a result they do not always examine broadband γ (30-80 Hz), as recording paradigms and equipment available were often limited to a maximum frequency of 40-50 Hz. This is still high enough to capture some of the γ range and inform us of the characteristics of baseline γ oscillations in patients with schizophrenia. In a study dating back to 1942, specific mention is made of the "choppy and disorganised, for want of a better term" oscillations that dominate the EEG of patients with schizophrenia (Davis, 1942). This choppy activity ranged from 26-50 Hz and is highly reminiscent of what we now think of desynchronised EEG activity, which is typically dominated by γ activity. Although this study lacks

modern quantitative analysis, the author notes some 61% of patients with schizophrenia had baseline activity dominated with choppy, or γ activity compared to just 5% of manic-depressive patients. A similar study performed in the 1940's noted that the presence of "high-voltage rapid frequency" (20-40 Hz) activity in up to 75% of psychotic, 35% of schizophrenia and just 5% of 'normal' patients. More applicable to modern EEG analysis techniques several studies using spectral analysis reported elevated high β (26-34 Hz) amongst patients with schizophrenia compared to controls (Giannitrapani and Kayton, 1974; Itil et al., 1972). Other modern studies have reported similar results (Kissler et al., 2000; Krishnan et al., 2005), with (Venables et al., 2009), finding increased baseline power in a 20-50 Hz band in both patients, a result that extended to first-degree unaffected relatives.

Interestingly, excessive baseline γ activity seems to be associated with a specific symptom dimension. Baldeweg et al. (1998), reports a case of a schizophrenia patient experiencing severe somatic hallucinations, accompanied by a dramatic increase in baseline γ power. This relationship to symptom dimensions has been seen in other studies, Lee et al. (2003), reported an overall reduction in frontal γ synchrony in patients undergoing an auditory stimuli task. However, when the patients were categorised by their dominant symptoms, patients that exhibited positive symptoms (primarily disorganisation and reality distortion) were found to exhibit increased γ synchrony. Other studies also reflect this result: in contrast to the typical finding of decreased evoked γ power, patients with more severe positive symptoms are found to exhibit greater levels of γ activity (Hirano et al., 2008; Spencer et al., 2009; Spencer, 2008; Spencer et al., 2004; Uhlhaas et al., 2006).

As well as the results of resting state studies, several studies report the characteristics of 'pre-stimulus' baseline γ amongst patients with schizophrenia. Two such studies that utilised audio evoked paradigms reported increased prestimulus γ power in patients as compared to healthy controls (Winterer et al., 2004). This raises a potential methodological problem, nearly all evoked stimuli methodologies involve baseline correction of the captured data (Urbach and Kutas, 2006). If there is a pathological increase in ongoing high frequency oscillations in the schizophrenia population this could be masked by the conventions of baseline correcting data and reporting the corrected evoked results. As a result, this may end up overstating the magnitude of sensory-evoked deficits in schizophrenia by comparing them to the already elevated baseline. A particularly pertinent example of this is a study by Spencer, (2011), that reanalysed a previously published (and baseline corrected) study that had found a decrease in the γ response to ASSR (Spencer et al., 2009). The revised results looking at baseline γ found increased power in the patients with schizophrenia.

When examining studies that do not baseline correct the data generated we see other similar results. A study examining audio-evoked responses and utilising non-baseline corrected measures values of γ synchrony found increased levels of γ synchrony amongst first-episode schizophrenia patients (Flynn et al., 2008). The same group repeated this result in a visual task study (Williams et al., 2009), leading them to theorise that this excessive γ activity reflects 'overbinding' of nonrelevant stimuli, which in turn leads to the reductions in task-specific γ typically seen. It is also interesting to note that several studies of working memory in schizophrenia report elevated baseline γ , concurrent with deficient task-related γ (Barr et al., 2010; Basar-Eroglu et al., 2007; González-Hernández et al., 2003). These studies agree with the 'overbinding' hypothesis that excessive pathological γ activity may be present at a baseline, or ongoing level that then interferes with the generation and utilisation of 'normal' task-related γ activity.

With the prevalence of disrupted sensory and cognitive task-related γ oscillation in schizophrenia, and the array of baseline γ abnormalities as well, it is possible that this aberrant basal γ activity is modulating task-specific γ (Hakami et

al., 2009). Several reports consider increases in ongoing γ oscillations as a source of excessive 'noise' in neural networks (Baldeweg et al., 1998; Gandal et al., 2012b; Hakami et al., 2009; Rolls et al., 2008). It is hypothesised that this increase in aberrant network γ activity could mask and interfere with genuine sensory-evoked responses thereby impairing sensory information processing (Gandal et al., 2012b; Hakami et al., 2009), resulting in a reduced signal-to-noise ratio in the computation capabilities of the brain. This hypothesis has been suggested by multiple sources (Flynn et al., 2008; Gandal et al., 2012b; Hakami et al., 2009; Kissler et al., 2000; Krishnan et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2009; Winterer et al., 2004) and there is increasing evidence from animal models (Kulikova et al., 2012; Saunders et al., 2012) and human studies (Spencer, 2011; Suazo et al., 2012) that supports the hypothesis that elevations in baseline γ activity represent increased 'noise' in neural networks, and that this may impair γ -mediated sensory-evoked responses and information processing.

There is considerable data to suggest that ongoing or baseline γ oscillations are elevated in patients with schizophrenia, which may be specifically associated with the positive symptoms of the disease (Baldeweg et al., 1998; Lee et al., 2003). There is also a large and still growing body of evidence that the sensory and cognitive task related γ oscillations are disrupted in patients with schizophrenia. These multitude of different γ abnormalities points to the existence of diffuse network noise in the neural circuits that generate and sustain γ activity and a corresponding reduction in the ability to generate and/or distinguish sensory triggered γ oscillations. This presents a theoretical explanation for the broad dysconnectivity that defines schizophrenia, which is potentially the result of the aberrant cellular and molecular pathways already identified.

1.5.4 Mechanisms of Gamma Oscillations

The mechanisms that generate oscillatory activity that typifies neuronal tissue have been intensely studied over the past several decades and provides an important connection between the observed γ oscillation deficits and the known pathophysiological traits found in schizophrenia. GABAergic inhibition is an efficient way of synchronising the activity of large numbers of pyramidal neurons (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2008; Whittington et al., 2000). GABA-expressing neurons that target the perisomatic region of pyramidal cells, such as PV+ interneurons are strongly inhibitory, as they synapse near the proximal axon, where action potentials are usually triggered (Cobb et al., 1995; Miles et al., 1996). PV+ cells are particularly important to the generation of γ frequency activity because of their fast-spiking characteristics and the short time constants of synaptic interactions mediated by these cells (Bartos et al., 2007). As reviewed in Section 1.3.3, GABAergic deficits, particularly in the PV+ interneuron class, are one of the most robust findings in histological studies of post-mortem brain tissue. The inhibitory post synaptic potential generated through even a single GABAergic neuron can be sufficient to synchronise the firing of a large number of postsynaptic cells (Cobb et al., 1995). Shortly following GABA-induced inhibitor potentials the targeted pyramidal cells are highly likely to fire, meaning all the cells targeted by a single PV+ GABAergic neuron are silenced for a period and then likely to fire in synchrony. The major mechanisms that generate γ frequency oscillations have been found to depend on the action of inhibitory PV+ interneurons that directly innervate the perisomatic regions of vast numbers of excitatory neurons (Figure 1.4) (Bartos et al., 2007; Mann and Paulsen, 2007). The precise mechanism that governs the generation of γ oscillations in PV+ and pyramidal cell networks is still unclear, and two separate models have been proposed to explain the observed neural dynamics.



Figure 1.4 – A Schematic Representation of the Pyramidal - Interneuron Gamma (PING) Model

GABAergic PV+ interneurons are efficient at synchronising neuronal activity in cortical networks. The top panel represents a local field potential (LFP) recorded in the vicinity of pyramidal neurons reflects the synchronisation of pyramidal cell activity. Th negative (downward) oscillations of the LFP, coincide with periods of spike synchronisation as shown in the idealised unit activity shown below in red. The bottom panel displays a theoretical PV+ interneuron (in blue) with perisomatic GABAergic synapses (in orange) onto multiple pyramidal neurons (in red). Simultaneous GABAergic release onto the pyramidal neurons produces hyperpolarizing inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSPs) that transiently inhibit spike firing and produce synchronous 'rebound' firing following the inhibition. In the PING model of gamma generation excitatory glutamatergic synapses from pyramidal cells (in green) serve to drive the GABAergic output leading to network wide oscillations. *Adapted from (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2008)*

The interneuron network γ activity (ING) model posits that reciprocally connected GABAergic neurons generate rhythmic activity and are synchronised by their mutual inhibitory inputs, while the pyramidal interneuron network γ (PING) model proposes that γ oscillations arise from the interplay between pyramidal cells and GABAergic neurons. In the PING model interneuron activity is driven through glutamate released by the pyramidal cells, which are in turn rhythmically synchronised by the interneurons activity (Whittington et al., 2000).

In both the ING and PING models of γ oscillations, excitatory drive to GABAergic neurons is essential to the maintenance of synchronised activity (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2008). As detailed in Section 1.4.1, the main excitatory input in neural networks is glutamatergic. The importance of excitatory input into interneuron-pyramidal networks for the generation of γ oscillations incorporates the other major hypothesis of schizophrenia – NMDAr hypofunction, as a potential mechanism underlying the γ frequency abnormalities we observe. Interneurons in general receive considerable excitatory input through glutamatergic receptors, and PV+ interneurons display a dramatically higher excitatory synapse density than other interneuron sub types (Gulyàs et al., 1999). Results from in-vitro studies of PV+ interneuron synaptic properties suggest that the NMDAr contribution to EPSCs in these cells is relatively small, compared to that in pyramidal cells (Hull et al., 2009; Rotaru et al., 2011). This contrasts with several studies demonstrating that GABAergic neurons are substantially more sensitive to the effects of NMDAr antagonism than pyramidal cells, with some studies reporting a 10-fold increase in sensitivity (Greene et al., 2000; Grunze et al., 1996; Olney, 1995).

Studies of neuronal firing in the cortex of awake rodents have also demonstrated that NMDArs may be a crucial driver of inhibitory interneuron activity (Homayoun and Moghaddam, 2007). In this study NMDAr antagonist
of administration reduced the activity GABAergic interneurons while simultaneously disinhibiting the firing of pyramidal cells. Consistent with these results, when NMDAr antagonist was applied to *in-vitro* brain slice preparations, a decrease in IPCSs onto pyramidal cells was observed (Li et al., 2002). It has also been demonstrated that PV+ cells have larger NMDAr currents, while juvenile, and these gradually disappear over adolescence (Wang and Gao, 2009). This indicates a potential environmental sensitivity in PV+ cells specific to NMDArs. The precise role of NMDA and other glutamate inputs into PV+ cells and the generation of γ oscillations is still undetermined, this is an active area of research and presents an opportunity to learn more about how altered synaptic function in schizophrenia can lead to the dramatic network and in turn cognitive abnormalities seen. See Section 1.6.2 for an examination of NMDAr antagonists in models for schizophrenia.

As well as arising through the activity of local cortical networks, γ oscillations can be generated through long range projections (Llinás et al., 2005). For instance, γ oscillations are robustly generated by thalamic cells (Steriade et al., 1993) and can propagate between thalamic and cortical circuits via recurrent thalamocortical interactions (Contreras and Steriade, 1995; Jones, 2001). Of particular interest is the role of the thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN), a thin shell of GABAergic neurons that surrounds the dorsal thalamus and receives glutamatergic innervation from both thalamocortical (TC) and corticothalamic (CT) fibres (Guillery and Harting, 2003; Pinault, 2004). The TRN has intrinsic γ frequency pacemaker properties (Pinault and Deschênes, 1992) and stimulation of the TRN causes bursts of γ frequency activity in the related sensory cortex (Macdonald et al., 1998). It is thought that the TRN serves to modulate and 'gate' information flow between the thalamus and cortex and deficits in this structure could explain the pathological deficits in perception and cognition seen in the disorder. Given the

specific perceptual and sensory abnormalities in schizophrenia and the fact they are associated with abnormal γ oscillations (Spencer et al., 2008) the role of the TRN in the (dys)function of γ oscillations is a key target for future research in neural dynamics and schizophrenia.

It is clear that PV+ interneurons play a key role in the generation and pathology of γ oscillations. In recent years we have gained the ability to manipulate cell specific activity through optogenetic techniques. A study performed PV+ specific manipulations, both inhibiting and driving the activity of these interneurons. Inhibiting PV+ cells caused a suppression of γ frequency activity *in-vivo*, whereas driving them at 40 Hz caused a network-wide increases in γ frequency activity and remarkably an increase in the efficiency of information transfer in these circuits (Sohal et al., 2009). Studies such as this, coupled with the importance of PV+ interneurons in generating γ oscillatory activity have given rise to the idea that the balance of excitatory and inhibitory activity across a network is essential for the maintenance of healthy cognitive functioning (Uhlhaas, 2013).

As well as connecting with the NMDAr hypofunction hypothesis, a proposed mechanism behind the generation of γ oscillations also involves the actions of a key schizophrenia risk gene – Nrg1. The receptor for Nrg1, ErbB4, is highly expressed on PV interneurons (Fazzari et al., 2010) and alters the intrinsic excitability of these cells (Li et al., 2011). It has also been shown that upregulating the expression of Nrg1 modulates the development of GABAergic and glutamate synapse development (Fazzari et al., 2010). Nrg1-ErbB4 signalling promotes the development of excitatory synapses onto PV+ interneurons and perisomatic inhibitory synapses from them onto pyramidal cells. This provides a genetic link to the balance of excitatory inhibitory function in neural circuits and warrants further research into its importance to γ disturbances in schizophrenia.

The cellular and network mechanisms that generate γ oscillations neatly intersect with a number of important elements that constitute the pathophyisology of schizophrenia. There is a large body of evidence that demonstrates γ oscillations are disrupted in schizophrenia, providing a neurophysiological account that explains the wide ranging perceptual and cognitive deficits of the disease. The most robust and widely replicated histological finding from patients is a reduction in the specific cell type thought to play the most important role in generating γ frequency activity. The substantial evidence that supports the NMDAr hypofunction hypothesis provides a neurochemical explanation for abnormal γ frequency activity. Key genetic factors implicated in schizophrenia also directly affect the systems relevant for generating γ oscillations. This evidence provides a compelling hypothesis to explain the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and research into γ oscillations should be a useful paradigm to increase our understanding of the disease. There are still many unanswered questions concerning the nature of the γ oscillation deficit – how it is manifested through NMDAr dysfunction, and how it can be treated. γ oscillations present a particularly appealing paradigm for investigation in translational models as electrophysiolgical recordings can be made in animal models and readily compared to EEG data acquired in the clinic, with standardised analysis techniques allowing comprehensive comparisons. The molecular and cellular targets identified in the proceeding sections enables the development of focused and relevant translational models to investigate these changes. As such research into translational animal models presents a compelling path towards a more complete understanding of schziophrenia as well as the neural dynamics that underlie cognition.

1.6

Animal Models for Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a fundamentally human disease; the phenomenological aspects such as hallucinations and delusions, the cognitive changes, and the lack of objective physiological markers for diagnosis make it largely impossible to comprehensively model the disease in animals. Despite these clear limitations the use of animal models has a long history in the study of schizophrenia (Van den Buuse et al., 2005), and has led to considerable insight into the disease and important refinements to our understanding of schizophrenia. Current animal models are not intended to model the entire human disease, instead serving to test mechanisms and hypothesis about the underlying processes relevant to specific elements of schizophrenia (Marcotte et al., 2001). We are able to recapitulate select symptoms and aspects of the disease by utilising models that are informed and guided by the underlying biology and pathology of schizophrenia and hopefully gain insight into the pathological mechanisms of the disease. There are a wide variety of animal models that are used in the study of schizophrenia, utilising a variety of methodologies to generate abnormal behaviours and cognitive deficits similar to those seen in humans, in a neurobiologically plausible fashion (Mouri et al., 2013). These include pharmacological models: utilising amphetamine to generate hyperdopaminergic states, or ketamine to create NMDAr hypofunction. Other models include neurodevelopmental models that use lesions or insults early in life to interfere with the development of the nervous system and genetic models that manipulate gene expression to cause schizophrenia-like behaviour.

Below I will review the evidence of behavioural, molecular and physiological changes that occur in the two models utilised in this thesis: NMDAr antagonism and the Nrg1 transmembrane heterozygous mouse model (Nrg1 TM HET). These two models are particularly relevant for the study of γ oscillations in schizophrenia;

there is evidence of disrupted PV+ activity (del Pino et al., 2013; Fazzari et al., 2010; Morrow et al., 2007; Rujescu et al., 2006) and existing literature that connects these models to alterations in γ oscillations (Fisahn et al., 2009; Hakami et al., 2009; Pinault, 2008). An important principle for animal models of disease is that it should be both reliable and valid (Van den Buuse et al., 2005).

Reliability in a formal sense means that we are able to make accurate and repeatable observations utilising the model that are consistent across time, location and appropriate physiology. Validity is a more complex concept and has multiple aspects to be considered including: face validity - which requires the symptoms and pathology be similar to the clinical condition, construct validity - are the mechanisms involved biologically plausible, and predictive validity – does the model inform about the success or failure of therapeutic agents (McGonigle, 2014). The models used in this thesis have different strengths: NMDAr antagonists have strong face validity as their use in humans causes behavioural changes phenomenologically similar to schizophrenia (Adler et al., 1999), while the neuregulin model has strong construct validity being generated from a clinically identified genetic association (Stefansson et al., 2002). Animal models of the abnormal γ frequency activity seen in schizophrenia are in their infancy and the validity and reliability of such models is not yet established. The research presented in this thesis aims to increase our knowledge about the electrophysiological characteristics seen in animal models for schizophrenia and further the development of useful animal models to study this aspect of schizophrenia.

Currently rodent models for schizophrenia are typically characterised by behavioural changes such as hyperlocomotion and social interaction deficits, cognitive deficits in working memory and attention, and a range of physiological traits that are known to be disrupted in humans with schizophrenia such as MMN and ERPs (Mouri et al., 2013). Adding the study of neural oscillations to this array of existing measures is of great potential benefit to the study of schizophrenia and understanding of the disease. As detailed throughout this literature review there are several biological pathways that can plausibly be connected to the altered γ oscillations observed in schizophrenia (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2012; Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010; Woo et al., 2010), providing construct validity to the measure. γ oscillations have also shown genetic heritability (Hall et al., 2011a; 2011b; Leicht et al., 2010) indicating γ oscillatory deficits may represent an endophenotype of schizophrenia. Furthermore, γ oscillation deficits provide a powerful and far ranging theoretical explanation for the diverse perceptual and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia – deficits in γ oscillations lead to widespread dysconnectivity across the brain which manifests as the heterogenous symptomatology of schizophrenia (Stephan et al., 2009; Uhlhaas, 2013). This provides γ oscillations considerable explanatory power and by increasing our understanding of their function in both health and disease could reveal important insight into the physiological processes that underlie perception and cognition.

1.6.1 Neuregulin 1 Models for Schizophrenia

Neuregulin 1 (*NRG1*) is a prominent risk gene for schizophrenia (Harrison and Law, 2006; Stefansson et al., 2002; Williams et al., 2003). *NRG1* encodes neuregulin 1 (Nrg1), a protein essential for normal development of nervous system (Riley and Kendler, 2006). Nrg1 is a trophic factor that plays a role in the guidance of thalamocortical afferents (López-Bendito et al., 2006), interneuron migration (Flames et al., 2004; Yau et al., 2003), myelination (Nave and Salzer, 2006) and synapse development and maintenance (Fazzari et al., 2010; Li et al., 2007; Woo et al., 2007). Nrg1 mRNA and protein expression has been found to be altered in schizophrenia (Hashimoto et al., 2004; Law et al., 2010), with subtle differences in

behavioural and molecular phenotypes. Mice genetically engineered to be heterozygous for the transmembrane domain of the Nrg1 protein (Nrg1 TM HET mice) possess a behavioural phenotype relevant to schizophrenia, exhibiting hyperlocomotion, increased anxiety, impairments in working memory and social interaction deficits (Chesworth et al., 2012; Duffy et al., 2010; Karl et al., 2007; Stefansson et al., 2002). These animals have already been shown to display schizophrenia relevant electrophysiological abnormalities, with reductions in ERPs and MMN reported (Ehrlichman et al., 2009b). The model also displays predictive validity with clozapine treatment rescuing some of the behavioural and physiological abnormalities (Stefansson et al., 2002).

The mechanisms by which the pathological schizophrenia-like behaviour emerges is not clear, but it appears that it may involve interactions with glutamatergic and GABAergic systems. The receptor for Nrg1 – ErbB4 (which is itself a risk gene for schizophrenia (Silberberg et al., 2006)) is highly expressed on GABAergic interneurons and it has been shown that upregulating the expression of Nrg1 modulates the development of GABAergic and glutamate synapse development (Fazzari et al., 2010). Of particular interest is work showing that ablation of ErbB4 specifically on PV interneurons leads to a range of abnormal synaptic and circuit level activities, including altered γ frequency oscillations (del Pino et al., 2013; Wen et al., 2010) and that administration of exogenous Nrg1 can influence γ oscillations (Fisahn et al., 2009). Abnormal Nrg1 expression presents a potential genomic mechanism that may promote altered GABAergic interneuron and NMDAr function, in turn generating abnormal γ oscillations.

1.6.2 NMDA Receptor Antagonist Models for Schizophrenia

As reviewed in detail in Section 1.4, NMDAr hypofunction is a prominent hypothesis for the origin of schizophrenia. The schizophrenia-related behaviours observed in humans following NMDAr antagonist treatment are also seen in animals and numerous animal models have been developed utilising NMDAr antagonists such as PCP, ketamine and MK-801 (Bubeníková-Valešová et al., 2008; Jentsch and Roth, 1999). NMDAr antagonists cause a wide range of behavioural deficits in rodents relevant to schizophrenia, including hyperlocomotion (Nagai et al., 2003; Sturgeon et al., 1979), social deficits (Sams-Dodd, 1995; Wang et al., 2007), PPI deficits (Martinez et al., 1999; Tanaka et al., 2011), working memory abnormalities (Campbell et al., 2004; Marquis et al., 2003), impairments in attention (Egerton et al., 2005), learning (Mouri et al., 2007; Noda et al., 2001) and memory deficits (Tanaka et al., 2011). Repeated PCP treatment can lead to long lasting changes in hyperlocomotion and increased immobility in the forced swim test (Mouri et al., 2012; Nagai et al., 2003). This has led to the proposal that repeated PCP exposure may better model the long term effects of schizophrenia, while a single treatment may be more applicable to an acute psychotic episode (Bubeníková-Valešová et al., 2008; Jentsch and Roth, 1999; Mouri et al., 2007). Studies of brain metabolic activity support this hypothesis, with ketamine and MK801 resulting in an increase of cortical glucose uptake, indicating increased activity (Duncan et al., 1999). This matched a study in human patients presenting with unmedicated positive symptoms (Soyka et al., 2005).

Repeated administration of NMDAr antagonists in animals also produces GABAergic deficits reminiscent of schizophrenia. Decreased expression of GAD67 has been seen following continual subcutaneous infusion of MK-801 (Qin et al., 1994). Daily injections of PCP or MK801 also produce reductions in the numbers of PV+ interneurons (Morrow et al., 2007; Rujescu et al., 2006). Sub-chronic ketamine administration has been shown to deplete PV+ interneurons as well (Behrens et al., 2007), attributed to increases oxidative stress in the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus and thalamus. NMDAr antagonist models display considerable predictive validity for current antipsychotics (Miyamoto et al., 2012; Mouri et al., 2013). In a wide range of preclinical animal studies, pre-treatment with antipsychotics, particularly the atypical drugs can attenuate the behavioural and physiological effects of NMDAr antagonists (Bakshi and Geyer, 1995; Corbett et al., 1995; Duncan et al., 1998; Jones et al., 2012). Unfortunately the mechanisms through which antipsychotic treatment is able to attenuate NMDAr antagonists psychotomimetic effects is poorly understood. It is possible long-term treatment with antipsychotics is modulating the number, density or phosphorylation states of NMDAr receptors. However, to date numerous animal studies have produced inconsistent results, showing an increase, decrease or no changes in several brain regions and for various glutamate receptors. (Giardino et al., 1997; McCoy et al., 1998; Ossowska et al., 1999; Spurney et al., 1999). In summary acute administration of NMDAr antagonists produces a wide variety of abnormal behaviours that are relevant to the study of schizophrenia, this fact and the pharmacological relevance of NMDAr activity to the generation of gamma oscillations makes them a useful model to study the role of gamma oscillations in schizophrenia.

1.6.3 Animal Models and Gamma Oscillations

Gamma oscillations have been well characterised in clinical investigations, with multiple studies reporting altered γ activity in a range of cognitive and perceptual paradigms. Research into γ oscillations in animal models for schizophrenia has not been as fully developed and there is a limited existing literature. As described previously, both Nrg1 and NMDAr antagonists affect biological pathways relevant to γ oscillations, making them potentially useful models to study this phenomenon.

The existing research on γ oscillations in Nrg1 models is sparse, but there is some indication of electrophysiological abnormalities. (Ehrlichman et al., 2009b) reported reductions in MMN and audio-evoked potentials, while not utilising frequency specific analyses, this indicates a relevant disrupted electrophysiological phenotype. There has also been a report of Nrg1 disrupting inhibitory signalling via a cannabinoid pathway (Du et al., 2013) and more directly related, a study that reporting that exogenous Nrg1 increases the power of γ oscillations in *in vitro* hippocampal slice experiments (Fisahn et al., 2009). When considered in the context of the existing changes to GABAergic pathways and the functional role of Nrg1 in neuronal development, the Nrg1 TM HET mouse is a relevant model for the study of γ oscillations in schizophrenia. Research into this animal model will help develop a biologically relevant genetic neurodevelopmental model with which to study the role of γ oscillations in schizophrenia.

The study of γ oscillations in NMDAr antagonist models for schizophrenia has been further developed and it has been demonstrated as a useful paradigm to investigate electrophysiolgical abnormalities relevant to the disease. A number of studies have reported increases in ongoing γ oscillations following NMDAr antagonist administration (Hunt and Kasicki, 2013; Kocsis et al., 2013). A proposed mechanism to explain NMDAr antagonists increasing γ oscillations is that blockade of NMDArs leads to a reduction of excitatory input into PV+ GABAergic interneurons, leading to a disinhibition of pyramidal cells leading to a hyperglutamatergic state and resulting in pathological γ activity (see Figure 1.5) (Olney et al., 1999).



Figure 1.5 A – PV+ Interneuron and Pyramidal Cell Interaction Under Physiological Conditions

Parvalbumin expressing Interneurons have GABAergic synapses onto pyramidal neurons, which act to inhibit their firing. Pyramidal neurons make glutamatergic synapses onto interneurons to excite them through activation of non-NMDA and NMDA receptors. The typical firing properties of each type of neuron are represented by examples underneath. PV+ fast-spiking interneurons have high firing rates. Pyramidal neurons have broader action potentials and fire at much lower rates.



Figure 1.5 B – PV+ Interneuron and Pyramidal Cell Interaction During NMDAr Blockade

Ketamine may block NMDA receptors in interneurons more effectively than it blocks the same receptors in pyramidal neurons. This is hypothesised to result in a disinhibition of pyramidal cells resulting in an increase in neuronal firing. *Adapted from (Seamans, 2008)*

This mechanism is supported by some studies showing opposite effects of NMDAr antagonists on pyramidal and inhibitory neurons (Homayoun and Moghaddam, 2007) and evidence of hyperactivity in pyramidal neurons and excessive cortical glutamate release following NMDAr antagonist administration (Jackson et al., 2004; Suzuki et al., 2002), but further research is needed to verify this hypothesis and understand the precise mechanism involved. This NMDAr antagonist-induced increase in γ power has been shown to be dose-dependent (Pinault, 2008), with systemic ketamine and MK801 causing dose-dependent increases in ECoG recordings from the frontal cortex in freely moving rats. Further studies have demonstrated that this effect is found across the cortex with NMDAr antagonists-induced increases being reported in most cortical regions (Pálení**č**ek et al., 2011; Phillips et al., 2012).

ECoG recordings have also been supplemented with LFP recordings from other structures that have also been shown to produce altered γ oscillations following NMDAr antagonist administration including: prefrontal, motor and somatosensory cortex, striatum, amygdala, nucleus accumbens, and thalamus (Ehrlichman et al., 2009a; Hakami et al., 2009; Lazarewicz et al., 2010), indicating NMDAr blockade leads to pathological γ oscillations across the brain. Other studies have reported simultaneous increases in ongoing γ activity and decreases in sensoryevoked γ oscillations in rodent models utilising NMDAr antagonists. Rats receiving somatosensory stimulation of the vibrissae have been shown to have increased baseline γ oscillations following ketamine administration, and a simultaneous reduction in evoked γ power, resulting in a decreased γ signal to noise ratio (Kulikova et al., 2012). Similarly, mice performing an auditory evoked potential task and administered MK801 or ketamine display an increase in ongoing γ oscillations and a decrease in the magnitude of evoked γ (Saunders et al., 2012). These findings have led to the hypothesis that NMDAr antagonists induce a pathological γ frequency 'noise' throughout disparate neural networks. Increased aberrant ongoing γ oscillations could interfere with normal physiological role of γ in sensory processing, masking incoming sensory-evoked γ and leading to a decreased signal to noise ratio in sensory processing (Gandal et al., 2012b; Kulikova et al., 2012). This mirrors some reported alterations seen in patients (Flynn et al., 2008; Krishnan et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2009) and indicates that NMDAr antagonists may model complex changes in electrophysiological signal-to-noise patterns similar to those seen in schizophrenia. This hypothesis is an active area of research in clinical studies and a working animal model would be a useful translation tool to aid in understanding the mechanisms that may lead to disruptions in γ signal-to-noise.

Investigations into the predictive validity of animal models of γ oscillations deficits have been minimal to date. A study has reported no effect of haloperidol on evoked γ oscillations (Ehrlichman et al., 2009a). Another study from our laboratory has revealed that haloperidol, clozapine and the metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist LY379268, all reduce ongoing γ power in rats, indicating a possible relationship between antipsychotic efficacy against positive symptoms and γ oscillations (Jones et al., 2012). Further research into the effects of antipsychotic medication on γ oscillations will both enhance the predictive validity of animal models for gamma oscillation disturbances in schizophrenia, but will also aid in the development of potential biomarker of antipsychotic efficacy and hopefully aid in the development of novel treatments.

In conclusion NMDAr antagonist and Nrg1 animal models for schizophrenia are viable paradigms for the study of γ oscillation disturbances relevant to the disease. They are based on biological pathways that are relevant to the pathogenesis of schizophrenia and the physiological mechanisms that generate γ oscillations. Improving our understanding of how γ oscillations are disrupted will shed light on the mechanisms that cause the symptoms of schizophrenia. Therefore it is the goal of the research presented in this thesis to characterise γ oscillations animal models for schizophrenia to aid in the development of robust, reliable and valid animal models to help further research into the disease.

1.7 Thesis Aims

The goal of this thesis is to expand and enhance the characterisation of γ oscillations in rodent models for schizophrenia. It is anticipated that this would increase the utility of such models for translational studies of γ oscillations and their involvement in the pathophysiological processes that underlie schizophrenia. Three separate studies were conducted, each of which explore clinically relevant pharmacological or genetic manipulations and the related changes in γ oscillations:

Aim 1 – Chronic Administration of Antipsychotics and the Behavioural and Electrophysiological Effects of Ketamine

Antipsychotic medications are the current main treatment option for schizophrenia but less than half of patients respond to them and they show limited efficacy in the negative and cognitive symptom domains (Leucht et al., 2008). As such, the development of novel antipsychotic medications is a key goal in improving treatment of this disease. Translational biomarkers of antipsychotic efficacy will greatly aid in the development of such novel medications. Non-competitive N-Methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonists induce increases in the power of ongoing γ oscillations in rodents concurrently with dose-dependent increases in hyperlocomotor activity (Hakami et al., 2009), a commonly employed model of acute psychosis (Van den Buuse et al., 2005). Animal studies link drug-induced hyperlocomotor activity with increases in the power of ongoing γ activity in rodents and clinical results demonstrate that abnormalities in γ activity in schizophrenia patients is linked to psychotic symptomatology (Gordon et al., 2001; Spencer, 2009). These findings suggest that NMDAr antagonist-induced increases in the power of γ oscillations represent a useful electrophysiological biomarker of an acute psychotic-like state (Lee et al., 2003). Previous work from our laboratory (Jones et al., 2012) demonstrated that typical and atypical antipsychotics given acutely modulate the power of γ oscillations and reduce ketamine-induced behavioural effects. The studies detailed in this thesis aim to investigate the efficacy of conventional pharmacological treatments and a novel metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR) agonist (LY379368) in a dosing paradigm that reflects clinical treatment, to enhance the clinical relevance and validity of this model.

Aim 2 – Aberrant Gamma Frequency Neural activity and NMDA Receptors in Neuregulin 1 Mutant Mice

Nrg1 is a leading candidate for a schizophrenia 'risk' gene (Stefansson et al., 2002), with Nrg1 mRNA and protein expression being altered in schizophrenia (Hashimoto et al., 2004; Law et al., 2006b). Although the pathophysiological mechanisms by which altered Nrg1 expression results in vulnerability to develop schizophrenia is not known, several lines of evidence link Nrg1 and NMDAr function (Geddes et al., 2011). Nrg1 signalling is important for the development of PV interneuron circuits, and these fast-spiking interneurons contribute to the generation of γ oscillations and ablation of ErbB4 (the Nrg1 receptor) on PV interneurons leads to a range of abnormal synaptic and circuit level activities, including altered γ frequency activity (del Pino et al., 2013; Wen et al., 2010). Mice genetically engineered to be heterozygous for the transmembrane domain of the Nrg1 protein (Nrg1 TM HET mice) possess a behavioral phenotype relevant to schizophrenia, exhibiting hyperlocomotion, increased anxiety, impairments in working memory and social interaction deficits (Chesworth et al., 2012; Duffy et al., 2010; Karl et al., 2007; Stefansson et al., 2002). This study examined γ frequency activity and expression of NMDArs in Nrg1 TM HET mice with the aim to characterise the electrophysiological characteristics of this genetic model for schizophrenia.

Aim 3 – Contribution of the Corticothalamic Pathway to Ketamine-Induced Disruption of Information Processing

There is a growing body of literature indicating involvement of dysfunctional thalamic networks in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, including disturbances in function-related γ frequency oscillations (Cronenwett and Csernansky, 2010; Woodward et al., 2012). A postulated mechanism of these impairments is reduced NMDAr activation at glutamatergic synapses on GABAergic interneurons (Carlen et al., 2012). We previously demonstrated that a single sub-anaesthetic dose of ketamine (NMDAr antagonist with psychotomimetic effects) increased the power of ongoing γ oscillations and decreased that of sensory-evoked γ oscillations in the rat somatosensory thalamocortical (TC) network (Kulikova et al., 2012), reducing the γ signal-to-noise ratio (defined as the sensory-evoked γ response above the baseline γ noise). Both the glutamatergic TC neurons and the GABAergic thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN) neurons are highly innervated by glutamatergic corticothalamic (CT) axons originating from layer VI. The goal of the present study was to assess the contribution of the CT pathway in the ongoing and sensory-evoked γ oscillations in the thalamus.

CHAPTER 2

EFFECTS OF CHRONIC ADMINISTRATION OF ANTIPSYCHOTICS ON KETAMINE-INDUCED BEHAVIOURAL AND ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL ABNORMALITIES

Abstract

Non-competitive N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAr) antagonists elicit many of the symptoms observed in schizophrenia in healthy humans, and induce a behavioural phenotype relevant to psychosis in animals. These compounds also elevate the power and synchrony of high frequency gamma (γ , 30-80Hz) neural oscillations. Acute doses of antipsychotic medications have been shown to reduce ongoing γ power and to inhibit NMDAr antagonist-mediated psychosis-like behaviour in rodents. This study aimed to investigate how a chronic antipsychotic dosing regimen affects ongoing cortical γ oscillations, and the electrophysiological and behavioural responses induced by the NMDAr antagonist ketamine.

Male Wistar rats were chronically treated with haloperidol (0.25 mg/kg/day), clozapine (5 mg/kg/day), LY379268 (0.3 mg/kg/day) or vehicle for 28 days, delivered by subcutaneous (s.c.) osmotic pumps. Weekly electrocorticogram (ECoG) recordings were acquired. On day 26, ketamine (5 mg/kg, s.c.) was administered, and ECoG and locomotor activity were simultaneously measured. These results were compared with data generated previously following acute treatment with these antipsychotics.

Sustained and significant decreases in ongoing γ power were observed during chronic administration of haloperidol (64%) or clozapine (43%), but not of LY379268 (2% increase), compared to vehicle. Acute ketamine injection concurrently increased γ power and locomotor activity in vehicle-treated rats, and these effects were attenuated in rats chronically treated with all three antipsychotics. The ability of haloperidol or clozapine to inhibit ketamine-induced elevation in γ power was not observed following acute administration of these drugs.

These results indicate that modulation of γ power may be a useful biomarker of chronic antipsychotic efficacy.

2.1

Introduction

Schizophrenia is a debilitating psychiatric disorder that is characterised by a range of symptoms, including disordered thought, hallucinations, delusions and diverse cognitive deficits (Harrison, 1999). In recent years there has been a convergence of various lines of evidence suggesting that the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia involves disruptions of neural synchrony (Uhlhaas et al., 2008). In particular, it has been demonstrated that high frequency γ (30-80 Hz) oscillations are disrupted in patients with schizophrenia (Herrmann and Demiralp, 2005; Krishnan et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2003; Light et al., 2006; Maharajh et al., 2010; Spencer et al., 2004; Uhlhaas et al., 2006). The functional role of γ oscillations has been linked to a range of higher-order brain functions, including cognition (Engel et al., 2001), working-memory (Howard et al., 2003; Tallon-Baudry et al., 1998) and sensory perception (Gross et al., 2007; Herrmann and Demiralp, 2005; Krishnan et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2003; Light et al., 2006; Maharajh et al., 2010; Spencer et al., 2004; Uhlhaas et al., 2006). These same cognitive processes are disrupted in schizophrenia, an effect that may be mediated by hypofunction of NMDArs (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2012).

Ketamine and other NMDAr antagonists induce hallucinations in healthy humans, and exacerbate psychotic symptoms in schizophrenic patients (Krystal et al., 1994). This and other evidence has led to the development of the NMDAr hypofunction hypothesis of schizophrenia; which posits that reduced activity at NMDArs leads to the expression of schizophrenia symptoms. We (Hakami et al., 2009; Pinault, 2008) and others (Ehrlichman et al., 2009a; Lazarewicz et al., 2010) have previously demonstrated that NMDAr antagonists dose-dependently increase the power of ongoing γ oscillations in rodents and also recapitulate complex electrophysiological abnormalities seen in schizophrenia (Kulikova et al., 2012;

Saunders et al., 2012). We further developed this model by examining the effects of antipsychotic compounds on ongoing γ oscillations, and in response to a ketamine challenge (Jones et al., 2012). We tested a typical (haloperidol) and atypical (clozapine) antipsychotic and a preclinical metabotropic glutamate 2/3 receptor (mGlu $R_{2/3}$) agonist (LY379268) with antipsychotic properties (Imre, 2007). Our results demonstrated that, on their own, antipsychotic medications reduce the power of ongoing cortical γ oscillations in freely moving rodents. This result has since been replicated in an in-vitro model (Schulz et al., 2012), which provided evidence that dopamine D_3 receptors may play a role in inhibiting ongoing γ oscillations. It was also demonstrated that a range of typical and atypical antipsychotics could modulate higher frequency oscillations (100-180Hz) in the nucleus accumbens of rats(Olszewski et al., 2012), supporting the relevance of neural oscillation modulation to antipsychotic efficacy. In our earlier study acute treatment with conventional antipsychotics did not impact the ability of ketamine to increase γ oscillations, a finding in contrast to the effects of these drugs on ketamine-induced hyperlocomotor activity (Jones et al., 2012)

This result is relevant regarding the study of the relationship between γ oscillations and schizophrenia. The ability of antipsychotic medications to modulate γ oscillations could greatly impact results seen in studies of clinical populations. Although some studies have compared drug-free and medicated patients (Gallinat et al., 2004) or examined first onset patients in order to control for the effects of medication (Symond et al., 2005), this remains an understudied area with important potential ramifications.

Given the wide spread prevalence of γ frequency alterations in schizophrenia, the ability of antipsychotic medications to modulate neuronal oscillations may be central to their efficacy, with the potency of modulation of γ activity representing a potential new biomarker of antipsychotic efficacy. Previous studies have only examined acute antipsychotic drug treatment, whereas in the clinic patients are chronically administered antipsychotic mediations; the effects of which typically take several weeks to manifest (Gelder et al., 2000). This study aims to further develop rodent models for schizophrenia incorporating γ oscillations exploring a more clinically relevant and realistic model of chronic antipsychotic administration.

2.2

Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Animals

Male Wistar rats aged 10-12 weeks old (weighing 250-350g) were used (N = 32). Animals were bred and housed (3-4 per cage) in the Biological Research Facility of the Department of Medicine, Royal Melbourne Hospital, University of Melbourne with a 12 hour light-dark cycle (lights on at 0600) and maintained at $22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Animals were housed in opaque plastic cages (59 x 31 cm) with wire lids and woodchip bedding with access to food and water ad libitum. All experiments were approved by the University of Melbourne Animal Ethics committee (Ethics #1011868) and adhered to the Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes.

2.2.2 Surgery

Animals were anaesthetised by inhalation of isoflurane (5% induction, 1.5–2.5% maintenance) in equal parts of medical air and oxygen and implanted with an osmotic mini-pump (Model 2ML4, Alzet, USA) in the dorsal thoracic region via a single incision midway between the scapulae. Animals were then positioned in a stereotaxic frame as described previously (Hakami et al., 2009) for implantation of

electrocorticograph (ECoG) electrodes. Briefly, a single midline incision was made over the scalp and six holes were drilled through the skull with stereotaxic guidance (Paxinos and Watson, 1998) [2 mm anterior and 2 mm lateral to bregma bilaterally (active electrodes); 2 mm posterior and 2 mm lateral to bregma bilaterally (ground electrodes); and 2 mm posterior and 2 mm lateral to lambda bilaterally (reference electrodes)]. Electrodes were then screwed into the skull without breaching the dura, and dental cement applied to the skull to fix the electrodes in place. After recovery from anaesthesia, animals were housed individually for the duration of the experiment.

2.2.3 Drugs and Vehicles

Clozapine, haloperidol and LY379268 were obtained from Tocris Bioscience (Bristol, UK). Ketamine was obtained from Parnell Laboratories (Australia). Isoflurane was purchased from Abbott Pharmaceuticals (USA). Haloperidol and ketamine were diluted in 0.9% sterile saline, clozapine was dissolved in 10% acetic acid in sterile water with pH adjusted to 6.0 using 10M NaOH. Control pumps were loaded with 10% acetic acid (n=5) or sterile saline (n=3): there were no significant differences in the outcome of these treatments so the two vehicle control conditions were combined for analysis. All antipsychotic treatment groups consisted of n=8 animals. Pumps were weighed before and after filling and residual volume was checked at the end of the experiment to ensure adequate delivery (> 95%expected volume) of drug. Clozapine was administered to give an approximate dose of 5 mg/kg/day, haloperidol at 0.25 mg/kg/day and LY 79268 at 0.3 mg/kg/day, based on the predicted weight of animals at day 28. Dosages were selected on two criteria: to maintain a clinically relevant plasma concentration (for haloperidol and clozapine) (Kapur et al., 2003) and to have an equivalent effect on γ power (based on acute dosing (Jones et al., 2012)).

2.2.4 Assessment of ECoG Power and Locomotor Activity

Animals underwent 'baseline' ECoG recordings at 7, 14 & 21 days post surgery. Animals had a recording cable attached whilst in their home cages and after a 30 min acclimatisation period, 30 min of ECoG activity was recorded. On day 26 or 27 of the experiment animals underwent a ketamine 'challenge' between 1100 -1600 hours. Animals were brought into the Behavioural Testing Facility in the Department of Medicine at least 30 min prior to the start of the study to allow habituation to the environment. Rats were then individually placed into an open arena while attached to an ECoG recording cable suspended from the ceiling. The apparatus used was a circular arena (100cm diameter) enclosed by 30cm high walls, made of black Perspex. Lighting in the centre of the arena was approximately 100 lux from indirect lighting sources. Each rat was allowed to acclimatise to the arena for 30 min at which point ECoG recording began. Following a 30 min baseline recording animals received an injection of ketamine (5 mg/kg s.c.) and recorded for another 60 min. Throughout the ECoG acquisition animals locomotor activity was video-tracked and objectively assessed with Ethovision software (Noldus, The Netherlands), total distance travelled was calculated for each 2 min interval.

2.2.5 ECoG Acquisition and Analysis

ECoG was acquired and analysed with a Synamp amplifier and SCAN v4.5 software (Compumedics, Australia), ECoG was sampled at 2000 Hz with a bandpass of 0.5 – 1000 Hz. Drug effects on the power of different frequency bands was assessed as previously described (Hakami et al., 2009). Briefly, recordings were manually assessed for artifacts and discarded if contaminated by noise, all remaning recordings were treated as independent trials. Raw ECoG was then sectioned into 2.048 s epochs, fast Fourier transformations were performed to determine the average power in different frequency bands (θ – 4-8 Hz; α – 8-12 Hz; β – 13-29

Hz; $\gamma - 30-80$ Hz) and average power was then calculated for each 2 min interval and averaged over 30 minutes. For the ketamine challenge experiments, to quantify both γ power and locomotor activity, the first 15 data points (representing the 30 min prior to ketamine) are averaged to give a baseline activity for each recording, all recorded values are then expressed as percentage of this activity.

2.2.6 Acute Dosage Data

Data from an acute dosage experiment (Jones et al., 2012) was reanalysed to compare the effects of different dosage paradigms. ECoG data from the acute experiment was acquired with a MacLab amplifier and Chart v. 3.5 software (AD Instruments, Australia). 50 Hz line noise was eliminated from the signal using selective eliminators (Humbugs ; Digitimer, UK). Data used are from equivalent single dosages i.e. clozapine 5 mg/kg, haloperidol 0.25 mg/kg and LY379268 0.3 mg/kg. ECoG and locomotor data was acquired in the same behavioural facility using a protocol equivalent to the ketamine 'challenge' recording with an added 30 minute post-antipsychotic recording: 30 min acclimatisation period, 30 min baseline recording followed by s.c. injection of antipsychotic, 30 min post drug recording, followed by injection of ketamine and a final 60 min recording. Data from the acute experiment was normalised to be expressed as a percentage of the post-antipsychotic period average.

2.2.7 Statistical Analyses

Differences between treatment groups in spectral power was assessed by averaging the 15 data points from the 30 min baseline recording and then comparing these values using the Kruskal-Wallis test, with Dunn's multiple comparisons post-hoc test. Both the electrophysiological and locomotor response to a ketamine challenge was assessed with two-way repeated measures ANOVA comparing each drug treatment to vehicle controls. The effects of ketamine on γ power was quantified by analysing the area under the curve for each animal, normalised to the mean γ power in the 20 min preceding ketamine injection. Comparisons between acute and chronic treatments were made with two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test.

2.3

Results

2.3.1 Haloperidol And Clozapine Reduce the Power of Ongoing Gamma Oscillations, LY379268 Increases Low Frequency Power

Chronic treatment with the conventional antipsychotics haloperidol and clozapine caused pronounced and persistent decreases across the power spectrum (Figure 1A). Conversely LY379268 treated animals displayed power comparable to vehicle treated animals. These changes were stable over the 4-week experimental period with the decrease in θ , α and γ power caused by clozapine and haloperidol persisting throughout. The most robust differences were observed in the γ frequency band, two-way repeated measures ANOVA showed a significant effect of drug treatment ($F_{(3,105)} = 11.92$, p < 0.0001). Post-hoc tests showed significant differences between haloperidol and vehicle treated animals at all time points (p <0.01) while clozapine was different to vehicle at all but week 2 (p < 0.05). LY379268 treated animals did not have significantly different γ power at any timepoint. Theta and alpha power bands were also shown to be altered by antipsychotic treatment (two-way repeated measures ANOVA, theta: $F_{(3,105)}$ = 3.161, p = 0.036, alpha: $F_{(3,105)} = 8.696$, p = 0.0002) while beta was not $F_{(3,105)} = 0.706$, p = 0.555. Tables 1-4 give a detailed summary of the power levels in each band across the experimental period.



Figure 2.1 – Average Spectral Power from ECoG of Rats Undergoing Chronic Antipsychotic Treatment

The graph in panel A shows average spectral power from all animals recorded on week 3 of treatment. Panel B quantifies spectral power in discrete frequency bands taken during each week of treatment. LY379268 treated animals have elevated alpha power, but no change in γ power compared to vehicle. Clozapine and haloperidol treated animals display reduced θ , α and γ power as compared to vehicle treatment. Data represent mean \pm SEM n = 9-11/group.

	Vehicle		Haloperidol		Clozapine		LY379268	
	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM
Week 1	95.03	15.73	52.88	14.89	63.56	12.76	93.97	13.88
Week 2	129.40	23.57	45.36 *	14.13	84.43	20.33	115.29	17.11
Week 3	104.57	12.83	73.76	14.84	77.89	11.44	112.69	22.78
Week 4	84.71	11.25	47.48	8.80	61.56	5.97	100.41	20.18

Table 1: Weekly θ Spectral Power

Table 2: Weekly α Spectral Power

	Vehicle		Haloperidol		Clozapine		LY379268	
	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM
Week 1	39.02	6.45	15.12	3.73	22.06	3.80	55.40	10.58
Week 2	49.50	7.36	17.01	5.06	40.27	9.43	56.59	8.67
Week 3	62.87	11.85	23.69 *	5.35	33.07	6.70	56.17	11.47
Week 4	41.51	4.91	17.97	2.06	25.58	2.96	84.72 *	15.43

Table 3: Weekly β Spectral Power

	Vehicle		Haloperidol		Clozapine		LY379268	
	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM
Week 1	8.91	1.46	5.32	1.18	8.04	1.09	9.07	1.43
Week 2	10.82	1.54	4.88	1.38	10.44	1.74	9.56	1.47
Week 3	12.70	1.59	6.97	1.37	9.09	1.23	10.08	1.53
Week 4	8.50	0.92	6.05	0.54	8.71	0.85	10.42	1.52

Table 4: Weekly **y** Spectral Power

	Vehicle		Haloperidol		Clozapine		LY379268	
	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM
Week 1	3.08	0.35	1.63 *	0.41	1.68 *	0.22	3.16	0.45
Week 2	3.06	0.25	1.35 *	0.42	1.72 *	0.19	3.33	0.47
Week 3	3.88	0.38	1.86 *	0.42	1.77 *	0.25	3.07	0.42
Week 4	3.70	0.19	1.70 *	0.18	2.13 *	0.32	3.78	0.46

* represents significantly different from vehicle-treatment at that time point.

Tables 2.1-4 – Average Spectral Power in Discrete Frequency Bands from ECoG of Rats Undergoing Chronic Antipsychotic Treatment

Tables 1 through 4 show mean spectral power in the theta, alpha, beta and gamma frequency bands. Data are taken from animals in a quiet resting state and represent the average power in each frequency band in a 30 minute recording period data, n = 9-11 per group

2.3.2 Chronic Treatment with Haloperidol or Clozapine Significantly Attenuates the Ketamine-Induced Rise in Gamma Power

The electrophysiological response to the ketamine challenge injection (5 mg/kg s.c.) manifested as a rapid and large increase in the power of ongoing γ oscillations, with vehicle-treated animals having an average maximum response of 237 ± 14% relative to baseline occurring at 10 minutes post-injection. This effect of ketamine was inhibited in the chronically treated animals, with all treatments reducing ketamine's effect. In the clozapine- and LY379268-treated animals, the power of ongoing γ oscillations returned to baseline levels sooner than vehicle treated animals (Figure 2A). Peak responses for the three treatment groups were haloperidol: 187 ± 13% occurring at 10 minutes post injection; clozapine: 213 ± 9% at 10 minutes post injection; and LY379268: 177 ± 7% at 12 minutes post injection. ANOVA showed that treatment had a statistically significant effect on γ power for haloperidol ($F_{(1,20)} = 6.57$, p = 0.0185), clozapine ($F_{(1,24)} = 25.30$, p < 0.0001) and LY 379268 ($F_{(1,22)} = 37.83$, p < 0.0001).

In order to compare the effects of chronic treatment with antipsychotic drugs to those induced by a single acute dose, we reanalysed our previously published data (Jones et al., 2012), examining single acute doses of the same drugs. When comparing the time course of effects of acute antipsychotics, only LY379268 significantly reduced the electrophysiological effect of ketamine ($F_{(1,24)} = 52.68$, p compared vehicle 2B). <0.0001) to treated animals (Figure The electrophysiological response to ketamine was quantified by calculating the area under the curve 0 - 60 mins post ketamine injection (Figure 2C), and responses compared between the acute and chronic treatment paradigms. ANOVA showed that drug treatment (p < 0.0001), treatment regime (p < 0.0001) and the interaction between these variables (p = 0.0032) were significant. Bonferroni posthoc tests showed that for both clozapine and haloperidol, only chronic treatment significantly reduced the effect of ketamine on γ power (p < 0.05), whereas LY379268 significantly affected this outcome after both chronic and acute treatments (p < 0.001).



Figure 2.2 – Effects of Antipsychotic Treatment on Ketamine-Induced Increases in Gamma Power

Chronic treatment (top panel) with all three drugs attenuated the ketamine induced rise in γ power, compared to vehicle treatment. In contrast, in the acute treatment paradigm (B), only LY379268 significantly attenuated ketamine's effect. Direct comparison of the effects of chronic versus acute antipsychotic treatment on ketamine induced γ power (C) found that chronic treatment with haloperidol and clozapine reduced the magnitude of ketamine-induced increases in γ power when compared to acute treatments. However, both acute and chronic treatment with LY379268 induced similar magnitude of effects. Data represents mean \pm SEM; n = 9-14/group. * indicates p < 0.05 compared to vehicle.

2.3.3 All Three Antipsychotics Attenuate Ketamine-Induced Hyperlocomotion

The effects of chronic antipsychotic treatment on the power of ongoing γ oscillations were mirrored in the outcome of the locomotor response to ketamine injection. Ketamine caused a hyperlocomotor response in all injected animals; in vehicle treated animals, we observed a maximum response of 932 ± 229% occurring at 2 min post injection (Figure 3A). This response was significantly, but not completely, reduced in all three chronic treatment groups with maximum locomotor activities for haloperidol: 441 ± 92% at 8 min post injection, clozapine: 494 ± 151% at 2 min and LY379268: 313 ± 105% at 2 min post injection. ANOVA showed that chronic treatment had a significant effect on the locomotor response for haloperidol ($F_{(1,12)} = 4.69$, p = 0.0496), clozapine ($F_{(1,14)} = 8.28$, p = 0.0122) and LY379268 ($F_{(1,12)} = 9.96$, p = 0.0083). Acute treatment (Fig 3B) evoked similar results, with haloperidol ($F_{(1,14)} = 22.29$, p = 0.0003), clozapine ($F_{(1,13)} = 8.12$, p = 0.0137) and LY379268 ($F_{(1,11)} = 5.68$, p = 0.0362) all significantly inhibiting the locomotor response of ketamine as compared to vehicle treated animals.

In contrast to their effects on the electrophysiological response to ketamine, when assessing the area under the curve (Fig 3C), there were no differences between the acute and chronic treatment regime (p > 0.05), such that all treatments were equally effective at reducing the locomotor response to ketamine.



Figure 2.3 – Effects of Antipsychotic Treatment on Ketamine-Induced Locomotion

Chronic treatment (A) with all three different drugs attenuated the ketamine induced locomotor activity as compared to vehicle treatment. Similar effects on locomotion where seen with acutely treated animals (B) where all three medications attenuated the hyperlocomotion effects of ketamine. For all drugs, these two treatment regimens were equally effective at reducing the ketamine-induced locomotor effect (C). Data represent mean \pm SEM, n = 6 – 8/group. * indicates p < 0.05 compared to vehicle.

Discussion

The primary finding of this study is that chronic treatment with the antipsychotic medications haloperidol and clozapine, and the pre-clinical drug LY379268, attenuate the effects of an acute ketamine challenge, as measured by electrophysiological and behavioural responses. Chronic treatment with haloperidol and clozapine attenuated the ketamine induced increase in γ power, an effect not seen with single acute dosages. The mGluR_{2/3} agonist LY379268 reduced ketamine-induced locomotor and γ hyper-activities under both acute and chronic treatment paradigms. Furthermore LY379268 did not alter the power of ongoing physiological γ oscillations during the 4-week treatment, while the conventional antipsychotics, clozapine and haloperidol, caused a pronounced depression of the ongoing background γ activity that was sustained throughout the treatment period.

The observation that chronic treatment for 4 weeks with the conventional antipsychotics was effective in attenuating the effects of ketamine to increase cerebral γ activity, while acute single dosing was not (Jones et al., 2012), is a potentially important finding. In clinical practice, the efficacy of antipsychotic treatment is typically not seen until 2-3 weeks after treatment has been instituted (Gelder et al., 2000). While some recent studies have questioned this (Agid et al., 2003), it is clear that in clinical settings antipsychotic treatment displays increasing efficacy over time. The findings of this study suggest that the cerebral γ activity response to ketamine may represent an endophenotype of the efficacy of chronic antipsychotic treatment, which is practical for use in drug screening in animal models. It is important to point out that our study was conducted in healthy animals, displaying physiologically normal γ oscillations, not the chronic pathological abnormalities seen in schizophrenia. This limits any interpretations made; the acute NMDAr antagonist treatment should be thought of at best, as

2.4

similar to an acute psychotic event. Further work performed in genetic or pharmacological chronic models for the schizophrenic state should be conducted to verify the present results. Nonetheless, the findings presented in this study – that chronic treatment with antipsychotic medications strongly attenuates the ketamineinduced increase in γ power – supports the hypothesis that γ frequency abnormalities are a significant feature of schizophrenia that is recreated in the NMDAr model.

There is a large body of evidence reporting altered γ frequency oscillations in patients with schizophrenia, with studies reporting both decreases in evoked γ (Ford and Roth, 2004; Kwon et al., 1999; Spencer et al., 2003) and increases in ongoing γ (typically associated with psychotic events or positive symptoms) (Becker et al., 2009; Behrendt, 2010; Gordon et al., 2001; Spencer et al., 2009). It has been proposed that these findings represent different aspects of an overall disruption in γ signal-to-noise in cortical information processing (Flynn et al., 2008; Gallinat et al., 2004; Krishnan et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2009, see Gandal et al., 2012b for a recent review). This conceptualises that the increase in ongoing γ power triggered by NMDAr antagonists represent a diffuse network noise, disrupting cortical processing and leading to perceptual and cognitive deficits reminiscent of those seen in schizophrenia. The findings of this study support the proposition that modulation of γ power represent a key property of antipsychotic medications, with both clozapine and haloperidol's capacity to inhibit aberrant γ oscillations potentially reflecting their efficacy against positive symptoms.

It is interesting to note the disassociation between the effects of antipsychotic medications on ketamine-induced hyperlocomotion and those on γ oscillations. Both acute and chronic treatment with all three different antipsychotic compounds had similar effects, attenuating the ketamine-induced hyperlocomotion seen in the treated animals. This finding supports previous work published by us demonstrating that the increase in γ oscillations seen following NMDAr antagonist administration can be dissociated from the behavioural measure of hyperlocomotion (Pinault 2008). Investigating the physiological mechanisms behind this disconnection was beyond the scope of this study but a potential mechanism for this result is the downstream dopamine release triggered by NMDAr antagonists (Moghaddam et al., 1997; Schulz et al., 2012). This mechanism could also explain the effectiveness of dopaminergic antagonist antipsychotics in preventing hyperlocomotion while sparing the gamma increasing effects of ketamine. This result supports the possibility that γ oscillations may be a more effective marker of the cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia (Light et al., 2006), than the positive symptoms.

The differential effects of LY379268 on spontaneous (ongoing) γ activity compared to the established clinical antipsychotic drugs, haloperidol and clozapine, is noteworthy. LY379268 is a mGluR_{2/3} agonist, while most clinical antipsychotic drugs are thought to primarily act via dopamine D2 receptors (although clozapine has less effects at this receptor that haloperidol) (Seeman, 2002). The mGlu $R_{2/3}$ agonists have been shown to decrease the release of glutamate and inhibit excitatory synaptic activity (Battaglia et al., 1997; Lovinger and McCool, 1995; Yoshino et al., 1996). Ketamine (and other NMDAr antagonists) trigger release of glutamate in the prefrontal cortex (Adams and Moghaddam, 1998) and LY379268 pre-treatment can block this glutamate release following PCP administration (Lorrain et al., 2003), providing a plausible mechanism of action of how this drug may combat the behavioural and electrophysiological effects of ketamine observed here. Furthermore, while LY379268 causes a transient decrease in ongoing γ power following acute administration (Jones et al., 2012), this effect was not seen with chronic treatment. In contrast the two clinical antipsychotic drugs resulted in sustained decreases in ongoing γ activity, yet only chronic treatment with them attenuated the magnitude of ketamine-induced γ activity. mGluR_{2/3}receptor agonists have been shown in clinical trials to have a lower cognitive side effect profile (Adams et al., 2013). It is possible that the lack of effect of LY379268 on the physiological ongoing γ may be related to its reduced cognitive side effects, given the role they are thought to play on cognitive processing. Haloperidol has been shown to induce negative symptoms (Veselinovic et al., 2013), and a comprehensive assessment in healthy subjects showed a general effect of impairing attention and speed of processing caused by antipsychotic administration (Ramaekers et al., 1999)

It is important to point out that our study was conducted in healthy animals, displaying physiologically normal γ oscillations, not the chronic pathological abnormalities seen in schizophrenia. This limits any interpretations made, with the acute NMDAr antagonist treatment considered an acute psychotic precipitant. Further work performed in genetic or chronic pharmacological models for the schizophrenic state should be conducted to validate the relevance of the findings of this study. Nonetheless, the findings of this study – that chronic treatment with antipsychotic medications attenuates the ketamine-induced increase in γ power – supports the hypothesis that γ frequency abnormalities are a significant feature of the psychotic-like state that is induced in the NMDAr model.

In conclusion this study has demonstrated chronic antipsychotic administration causes a strong attenuation of the psychotomimetic effects of ketamine, as assessed through hyperlocomotion and ECoG γ hyperactivity. The modulation of γ frequency oscillations by NMDAr antagonists and antipsychotic medications provide insights into the role that γ frequency abnormalities may play in schizophrenia, and have potential utility as a measure of antipsychotic efficacy and cognitive side effects.
CHAPTER 3

ABERRANT GAMMA FREQUENCY NEURAL ACTIVITY AND NMDA RECEPTORS IN NEUREGULIN 1 MUTANT MICE

Abstract

Neuregulin 1 (Nrg1) is a protein coded by a replicated schizophrenia 'risk' gene. Nrg1 signalling is important for the development of parvalbumin (PV) interneuron circuits, and these fast-spiking interneurons contribute to the generation of γ (γ , 30-80 Hz) oscillations. Gamma oscillations are disrupted in schizophrenia, and by NMDAr antagonists. In order to link Nrg1 gene mutations to neurobiological change, we examined if γ frequency activity and expression of NMDAr are altered in mice containing a heterozygous mutation in the transmembrane domain of Nrg1. To measure the power of ongoing and auditory-evoked γ oscillations, female Nrg1 mutants and wild-type controls underwent locomotor and electrocorticogram recordings before and after subcutaneous administration of the NMDAr antagonist ketamine (10 mg/kg) or saline. mRNA expression of NMDAr subunits, as well as NR2B phosphorylation levels, were measured in the prelimbic cortex. Nrg1 mutant mice displayed an increase in the power of spontaneously occurring cortical γ oscillations compared to wild-type mice (p<0.0001), significantly reduced sensoryrelated γ activity (p<0.0001) as well as a dampened γ power response to ketamine. Nrg1 mice exhibited increased baseline locomotor activity compared to WT, but a similar response to ketamine. ErbB4 and NMDAr subunit mRNA expression was unaffected by Nrg1 genotype, but NR2B phosphorylation levels were significantly lower in Nrg1 mutant mice. Nrg1 TM HET mice display an altered γ oscillation phenotype, which may be relevant to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

Reduced phosphorylation of the NMDAr NR2B subunit may play a role in the generation of these abnormal γ rhythms.

3.1

Introduction

Gamma frequency (30-80 Hz) oscillations support the dynamics of large-scale neural assemblies involved in global brain operations (Engel et al., 1997), and have been associated with various cognitive functions, including attention, memory and perception (Fries et al., 2001; Melloni et al., 2007). These same cognitive domains are disrupted in patients with schizophrenia, who also display alterations in γ oscillations (Uhlhaas et al., 2008; Woo et al., 2010). GABAergic interneurons expressing parvalbumin (PV) contribute to the generation of γ oscillations (Freund, 2003), and postmortem studies of patients with schizophrenia have identified changes in molecular markers of their function (e.g., (Fung et al., 2010; Hashimoto et al., 2008)). These findings lead to the hypothesis that abnormal γ oscillations in schizophrenia result from a dysfunction of perisomatic inhibition of pyramidal neurons mediated by basket cells expressing PV. Several lines of clinical and experimental evidence suggest that this synaptic dysfunction involves a hyporegulation of NMDArs (Bitanihirwe et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2008a; Woo et al., 2010), although the precise mechanisms involved remain unclear (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2012).

Neuregulin 1 (Nrg1) is a protein coded by a leading candidate for a schizophrenia 'risk' gene (Harrison and Law, 2006; Stefansson et al., 2002). Nrg1 mRNA and protein expression is altered in schizophrenia (Chong et al., 2008; Hashimoto et al., 2004; Law et al., 2006a), and the haplotype of single nucleotide polymorphisms in non-coding regions of Nrg1 has been linked to changes in Nrg1 mRNA expression (Law et al., 2006a; Weickert et al., 2012), although the pathophysiological mechanism by which altered Nrg1 expression results in vulnerability to develop schizophrenia is not known. Interestingly, ablation of ErbB4 (the Nrg1 receptor) specifically on PV+ interneurons leads to a range of

abnormal synaptic and circuit level activities, including altered γ frequency oscillations (del Pino et al., 2013); furthermore, exogenous Nrg1 has been shown to influence γ oscillations (Fisahn et al., 2009). A number of different Nrg1 mutant mouse models exist (Duffy et al., 2010), with subtle differences in behavioural and molecular phenotypes. Mice with a heterozygous deletion of the transmembrane domain of Nrg1 (Nrg1 TM HET mice) possess a behavioural phenotype relevant to schizophrenia, exhibiting hyperlocomotion, increased anxiety, impairments in working memory and social interaction deficits (Duffy et al., 2010; Karl et al., 2007; Stefansson et al., 2002). The transmembrane domain mutation is downstream of the biologically active EGF-like domain of Nrg1, which may impact on both the amount of soluble Nrg1 available for extracellular signalling, and on intracellular signalling by the cytoplasmic portion of Nrg1 (Bao et al., 2003). We hypothesised that abnormal Nrg1 expression would alter GABAergic interneuron and NMDAr function, and be detected as abnormal γ oscillations. The receptor for Nrg1, ErbB4, is highly expressed on PV+ interneurons (Fazzari et al., 2010) and alters the intrinsic excitability of these cells (Li et al., 2011), and Nrg1-ErbB4 signaling controls GABAergic synaptic development (Fazzari et al., 2010; Woo et al., 2007). There is also evidence that Nrg1 signalling can affect glutamatergic synapse development (Li et al., 2007) and NMDAr function; ErbB4 attaches to the scaffolding protein PSD-95 in the same location as NMDAr NR2 subunits (Huang et al., 2000) and can alter receptor phosphorylation (Bjarnadottir et al., 2007). This suggests that NMDAr activity (and related γ oscillations) may be affected by alterations in Nrg1 signalling.

Ketamine is a non-competitive NMDAr antagonist, and its administration to rodents has been used as a pharmacological model of psychosis/schizophrenia, modeling NMDAr hypofunction (Bubeníková-Valešová et al., 2008). Previous work demonstrates that administration of low-dose ketamine increases the power of ongoing γ frequency oscillations, representing a potential electrophysiological correlate of an acute psychotic state (Hakami et al., 2009; Kocsis, 2011; Pinault, 2008). In the present study we investigated how the Nrg1 transmembrane domain mutation affects cortical γ oscillatory activity, both in control conditions and through interaction with ketamine, and the expression of NMDAr subunits using Nrg1 TM HET mice.

3.2

Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Animals

The generation of Nrg1 transmembrane domain heterozygous mutant mice (C57BL/6] background) was described previously (Stefansson et al., 2002). Female mice heterozygous for a mutation in the transmembrane domain of Nrg1 (total Nrg1 TM HET, n = 29) and female wild type-like littermate controls (WT, n =31) were bred and housed at Australian BioResources (Moss Vale, New South Wales, Australia). For electrophysiology (n=20 Nrg1 TM HET; n=22 WT) and locomotor studies mice were transported to the Department of Medicine, Royal Melbourne Hospital, University of Melbourne. Animals were housed (3-5 per cage) in the Biological Research Facility of the Department of Medicine, Royal Melbourne Hospital, University of Melbourne, with a 12 hour light-dark cycle (lights on at 0600) and maintained at 22 \pm 1° C. Animals were housed in opaque plastic cages with wire lids and woodchip bedding with access to food and water ad libitum. All experimental procedures were approved by the University of Melbourne Animal Ethics Committee (#1011868) or by the University of New South Wales Animal Care and Ethics Committee (#10/98B) and carried out in accordance with the Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes.

3.2.2 Electrode Implantation Surgery

Female mice (\sim 36 weeks of age) were implanted with cranial recording electrodes for the acquisition of surface electrocorticograms (ECoG). Briefly, animals were anaesthetised using isoflurane (Abbott Pharmaceuticals, USA) and placed in a stereotactic frame. A single midline incision was made, four holes were drilled in the skull and epidural brass recording electrodes were implanted and held in place with dental cement.

3.2.3 Electrophysiology Recordings and Analyses

ECoG recordings of ongoing parietal cortical activity in a cohort of mice (n=12 Nrg1 TM HET; n=8 WT) were undertaken in a quiet, dimly lit behavioural testing suite as previously described (Hakami et al., 2009). Animals were habituated to the environment for 30 min, at which time they were in a state of quiet wakefulness. A 30 min baseline ECoG recording was then acquired, which was followed by injection with either ketamine (Parnell Laboratories, Australia, 10 mg/kg subcutaneous (s.c.)) or saline (10 ml/kg s.c.) and a subsequent 60 min of recording. A second cohort of mice (n=8 Nrg1 TM HET; n=14 WT) underwent recordings to assess auditory-evoked activity; recordings were done in SR-Lab startle chambers and stimuli generated with SR-Lab software (San Diego Instruments, CA, USA). Stimuli consisted of 85 dB white noise pulses, 10 ms in duration with an inter-stimulus interval of 6 s, background white noise was maintained at 70 dB. This stimulus is below the threshold for animals of both genotypes to elicit a startle response. In both cohorts, ECoG recordings were acquired using a Powerlab 4/30 amplifier and A-D converter and LabChart 7 software (AD Instruments, Australia), recordings were sampled at 2000 Hz, and band pass filtered offline at 0.5 - 500 Hz.

Data was exported to MATLAB software, visually inspected for movement artefacts, then spectral power and response to auditory stimuli were analysed. Ongoing γ activity was measured using fast Fourier transformations (Hamming window, 0.48 Hz resolution) for each 2-minute interval of the recording. Total relative power in each frequency band was calculated as the ratio of the raw power of the band divided by the total power (1-100 Hz), with the average relative power defined as the relative power per Hz. e.g for the theta band (4-8 Hz) P_{theta} = P₍₄₋₈ Hz)/P_(1-100 Hz). Epochs spanning ± 500 ms from the auditory stimulus were extracted and event related spectral activity was calculated using EEGLAB toolbox (Delorme and Makeig, 2004). Power was calculated using Morlet wavelets ranging from 3 to 10 cycles across 20-200 Hz.

3.2.4 Locomotor activity

Locomotor effects of ketamine were also assessed. The same cohort of animals that underwent auditory-evoked recordings were utilised prior to the ECoG experiemtns. Animals were individually placed in photocell tracking chambers (Med Associates, St Albans, VT, USA) to measure spontaneous baseline activity and after 30 min were administered ketamine (10mg/kg, s.c) or saline and allowed to explore the chamber for a further 60 min. Quantification of the distance travelled both before and after injection was objectively assessed using Activity Monitor software (Med Associates, St Albans, VT, USA).

3.2.5 Tissue Collection

For mRNA analyses, the prelimbic cortex was dissected from drug naive male and female Nrg1 TM HET and WT littermates at PND 161. Total RNA (N = 18, female 9, male = 9; Nrg1 TM HET = 8, WT = 10) was extracted for qPCR

analysis using Trizol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, California) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The quality of total RNA was determined using the Agilent Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, California). 100-200 ng RNA was applied to an RNA 6000 Nano LabChip, without heating prior to loading. The RNA integrity number (RIN) was used as an indicator of RNA quality, ranging from 1-10 (lowest – highest quality). The mean RIN was 8.81 \pm 0.32. For Western blot analyses, animals from the ongoing cortical ECoG cohort were randomised to receive an injection of either ketamine (10mg/kg s.c) or saline (10 ml/kg s.c). 10 min later animals were culled via cervical dislocation and brains rapidly removed and manually dissected to extract the frontal cortex including the prelimbic cortex. Samples were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

3.2.6 qPCR Assessment of NMDA Receptor Expression

cDNA was synthesised in two reactions of 0.5 μ g of total RNA using the Superscript III First-Strand Synthesis Kit (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Pre-designed TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA) were chosen for the genes encoding the NMDAr subunits of interest (Table 1). qPCR was performed with an ABI Prism 7900HT Fast real-time PCR system with a 384-well format.

Gene Name	Gene Symbol	Taqman Assay
Genes of Interest		
Glutamate receptor, ionotropic, NMDA1	Grin1 (NR1)	Mm00433790_m1
Glutamate receptor, ionotropic, NMDA2A	Grin2a (NR2A)	Mm00433802_m1
Glutamate receptor, ionotropic, NMDA2B	Grin2b (NR2B)	Mm00433820_m1
Glutamate receptor, ionotropic, NMDA2C	Grin2c (NR2C)	Mm00439180_m1
Glutamate receptor, ionotropic, NMDA3A	Grin3a (NR3A)	Mm01341723_m1
Reference Genes		
TATA box binding protein	Тbp	Mm00446973_m1
Ubiquitin C	Ubc	Mm01201237_m1
Eukaryotic 18S rRNA	18S	Hs99999901_s1

Table 3.1 – Applied Biosystems TaqMan Gene Expression Assay Numbers

Measurements were performed in duplicate and relative quantities determined from a seven-point standard curve. Expression levels were normalised to the geometric mean of three reference genes (Table 1) – the expression of the housekeeping gene mRNAs and 18S rRNA did not change significantly with genotype or sex (p > 0.05; data not shown).

3.2.7 Western Blot Assessment of NMDA Receptor Phosphorylation

Tissue samples were ground on dry ice, and the powder dissolved in RIPA buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50mM TRIS, 0.1% SDS, 1% Sodium deoxycholate, 1% Triton X-100, Roche Complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail and Sigma Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail), then spun at 12,000g for 20 min at 4°C and supernatants collected. Protein concentration of the supernatants was determined with a BCA protein assay kit, and adjusted to a concentration of 1mg/ml total protein in SDS loading buffer. After heating at 95°C for 5 min, proteins were separated by 6% SDS polyacrylamide gel and the protein bands electrophoretically transferred to PVDF membranes, and immunoblotted with anti-NMDA NR2B (Invitrogen, mouse monoclonal, 1:2000) or anti-NMDA NR2B pY1472 (Novus Biological, rabbit polyclonal, 1:2000) antibodies. Immunoreactive bands were detected with a chemiluminescent substrate kit and exposed to X-ray film. The blots on X-ray film were scanned and the sum optical density quantitatively analysed by Image J. The immunoreactivities of proteins were normalised against α -tubulin (Sigma, mouse monoclonal, 1:10000). All data were expressed as relative levels of wild type-saline treated mean.

3.2.8 Statistical Analysis

For the electrophysiology studies, spectral power and specific frequency bands were compared using the non-parametric stastical Mann Whitney U-tests (for between genotype analyses) as the normality of the distribution of spectral power cannot be assumed (Korotkova et al,. 2010). The magnitude of the ketamine-induced increase in γ power was quantified as the area under the curve and compared using Student's t-test. Locomotor activity was assessed in 2-min time bins, and compared between genotypes both before and after ketamine injection using two-way ANOVA, as per our previous work (Jones et al., 2010). For γ frequency Event-Related Spectral Perturbations (ERSP), individual trials were averaged into 2 min blocks (20 trials in each), and comparisons between drug conditions were made using the mean of 100 trials spanning 5 – 15 min post injection, statistical significance was assessed with one-way, repeated measures ANOVA. The relationship between ongoing γ and ERSP was assessed with Pearson's correlation. For the molecular studies, differences in normalised mRNA expression and NMDAr NR2B subunit protein expression were compared using ANOVA.

3.3

Results

3.3.1 Nrg1 TM HET Mice Have Elevated Ongoing Gamma

Frequency Power

Spectral analysis of ongoing ECoG recordings revealed a persistent elevation in the spectral power of the Nrg1 TM HET mutants compared to WT (Figure 3.1A). The abnormal ECoG activity was selectively observed in the higher frequency bands, beginning at 20 Hz (β frequency) and appearing most predominantly in the γ frequency (30-80 Hz) range (Figure 3.1B). Statistically, this was borne out when comparing the relative power of γ (Mann-Whitney U = 2, p = 0.01) and beta (U = 4, p = 0.03) bands of Nrg1 mutant and WT mice. No significant differences were observed in the theta (4-8 Hz) or alpha (8-12 Hz) bands between genotypes.



Figure 3.1 – Spontaneous High Frequency Cortical Oscillations are Increased in Nrg1 TM HET Mice

A) Relative power 0.5-100 Hz in Nrg1 TM HET (n = 7) and WT (n = 5) littermates show increased power at higher frequencies. Analysis performed on recordings taken from the 0-30 minute period post saline injection; data displays the average power of 15 individual 2 minute epochs. Spectra significantly differ (p = 0.0012). B) Relative ECoG power in theta, alpha, beta and gamma bands. Power was significantly higher in Nrg1 TM Het animals in the beta and gamma bands (* = p < 0.05, Mann-Whitney test).

3.3.2 Nrg1 TM HET Mice Display Reduced Gamma Frequency Response to Ketamine

We also investigated the cortical oscillatory dynamics of the Nrg1 mutant mice in response to ketamine. All animals exhibited a typical electrophysiological response to ketamine with a pronounced increase in the power of ongoing γ oscillations (Figures 3.2A & B). The magnitude of effect was smaller in Nrg1 mutant mice (maximum change from baseline: 144% vs 156%) and shorter acting (effect returning to baseline at 26 min post-ketamine injection in Nrg1 TM HET compared to 36 min in WT). This response to ketamine was quantified by calculating the area under the curve (Figure 3.2B inset) and this was significantly smaller in Nrg1 mutant mice (t = 2.14, p = 0.048). Saline injection did not change ongoing γ power in either genotype.



Figure 3.2 – Changes In Spectral Power Following Saline or Ketamine Injections in Nrg1 TM HET Mice and Wildtype Littermates

A-B) Relative spectral power following saline or ketamine injections in Nrg1 TM HET mice and wildtype littermates. **C)** Gamma power following ketamine administration, normalised to percentage of mean power in the 30 min preceding injection. **Inset)** Area under the curve 30 - 60 min, quantifying changes in gamma power. (* = p < 0.05, Mann-Whitney test). All data are presented as mean \pm SEM, WT n = 8, HET n = 11.

3.3.3 Nrg1 TM HET Mice Show Reduced Auditory-Evoked Gamma Oscillations

We next examined the ECoG response elicited by auditory stimulation in Nrg1 TM HET and WT mice (Figure 3.3). The electrographic response (Figure 3.3) in control WT mice appeared to have three components: an early, large positive deflection, a late positive short-lasting wave, and a subsequent long-lasting negative wave. Ketamine treatment abolished the late positive short-lasting wave of the evoked potential, and also the subsequent long-lasting negative wave, compared to vehicle treatment. When quantifying the γ power evoked by the stimulus, Nrg1 TM HET animals exhibited reduced sensory-evoked γ power compared to WT controls ($F_{(3,142)} = 116.8$, p < 0.0001; Figure 3.4 A). Ketamine also reduced the γ response to the auditory stimuli ($F_{(1,32)} = 100.71$, p = 0.0016), although no interaction was observed between drug and genotype. Correlation analysis showed significant negative correlations between the power of ongoing γ oscillations and the event-related γ signal for both genotypes (r = 0.83 for both WT and Nrg1 TM HET animals; Figure 3.4 B), such that the higher the ongoing γ oscillations, the smaller the evoked γ responses.



Figure 3.3 – Average Evoked Responses and Time-Frequency Heatmaps of Audio Stimuli ECoG Recordings in Nrg1 Mice And Wildtype Controls

Grand average evoked potentials from wild type and Nrg1 TM HET mice under both saline and ketamine conditions (top panels) and heatmaps representing the event-related spectral perturbation triggered by auditory stimuli (bottom panels). Averages are generated from all trials in the period 2-12 minutes post injection. Note the increased gamma power prior to stimulus in the HET mice relative to WT, and in the ketamine conditions, n = 20 for both genotypes.



Figure 3.4 – Reduced Event-Related Gamma Activity in Nrg1 Mutant Mice

A) Gamma frequency (30 - 80 Hz) event related spectral perturbation following auditory stimulus (0 – 60 ms post stimuli) over time, data points represent 2 min mean \pm SEM. **B)** Correlations between ongoing gamma activity and gamma ERSP, data points are 2 min averages, n = 20 for both genotypes.

3.3.4 Nrg1 TM HET Mice Exhibit Hyperlocomotion, but Genotype Does Not Differentially Impact Behavior Following Ketamine.

Consistent with previous reports, Nrg1 TM HET mice displayed hyperlocomotion upon being introduced to the testing chamber, with significantly greater distance travelled as compared to WT controls (t = 3.886; p < 0.001). This hyperlocomotion was less pronounced in the time bracket following saline administration, but still reached statistical significance (t = 2.133; p < 0.05). Ketamine administration triggered an increase in locomotor activity in WT and mutant mice as compared to saline ($F_{(1,20)} = 37.22$; p < 0.0001) although there was no significant difference in locomotion between the genotypes in the 30 min period after ketamine administration (t = 0.168; p = 0.868).



Figure 3.5 – Locomotor Activity of Nrg1 TM HET Mice and Wildtype Controls Over 30 Minute Periods

A) Locomotor activity displayed in 5 min averages: upon introduction to recording chamber, following saline, and following ketamine injections. B) Total distance travelled in the 30 min periods prior to and following ketamine and saline administration, * p < 0.05, **p < 0.001. Data represent mean ± SEM, WT n = 14, HET n = 8.

3.3.5 NMDA Receptor Subunit Expression in Nrg1 TM HET Mice

Since activation of Nrg1 signalling can cause changes in gene expression we first examined if the mechanisms behind altered γ power in Nrg1 TM HET mice may involve changes in cortical mRNA expression of the NMDAr subunits NR1, NR2A, NR2B, NR2C and NR3A (Figure 3.6) in adult WT and Nrg1 TM HET mice. We observed no significant differences in the expression of mRNA for any genes examined between Nrg1 TM HET and WT mice or between male and female mice (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6 – mRNA Expression of NMDA Receptor Subunits in Prelimbic Cortex of Nrg1 TM HET Mice and Wildtype Controls

mRNA expression was determined by qPCR and normalised to the geometric mean of three reference genes. No expression changes in any of the genes were observed. Data represents mean \pm SEM, Nrg1 TM HET n = 8, WT n = 10

3.3.6 Cortical NR2B Subunit Phosphorylation is Reduced in Nrg1 TM HET Mice

We next tested if the activation state of NMDAr may be changed by examining the phosphorylation state of the Y1472 residue of NR2B in the frontal cortex (Figure 3.7). We found that Nrg1 TM HET mice displayed reduced phosphorylation of Y1472 compared to WT mice ($F_{(1,20)} = 20.25$, p < 0.001). We also found a

significant main effect of ketamine treatment ($F_{(1,20)} = 37.52$, p < 0.0001) where ketamine induced phosphorylation of NR2B overall, and a significant genotype × treatment interaction ($F_{(1,20)}=13.61$, p=0.0015), such that the saline-treated WT mice showed significantly higher levels of NR2B phosphorylation than the other three treatment groups. We found no changes across the treatment groups in the total expression levels of NR2B receptor protein (effect of genotype: $F_{(1,20)} = 0.79$, p = 0.39; effect of treatment: $F_{(1,20)} = 0.09$, p = 0.76), consistent with our mRNA expression data.



Figure 3.7 – Protein Levels of the NMDA Receptor Subunit NR2B and the Phosphorylated NR2B Y1472

Phosphorylation of NMDAr NR2B subunits is reduced in Nrg1 TM HET mice, but the ketamine-induced reduction in NR2B phosphorylation observed in wild-type mice is not apparent in the mutants. The top panel shows a representative Western Blot image. The bottom panel shows total cortical NR2B protein is not affected by genotype or treatment, but phosphorylation of the NR2B Y1472 residue is reduced in Nrg1 TM HET mice. Ketamine reduces phosphorylation in WT, but not in Nrg1 mutants (** p < 0.01). Nrg1 TM HET n=12, WT n=8.

Discussion

The major findings of this study are that schizophrenia-relevant mutations in Nrg1 result in increased γ power in ongoing cortical oscillations, and reduced sensoryevoked γ responses. These electrophysiological observations were associated with alterations in locomotor behaviour, and reduced phosphorylation of the NMDAr NR2B subunit in Nrg1 mutant mice. This study provides the first evidence of abnormal electrophysiological regulation in the Nrg1 transmembrane domain mutant mouse, providing a neurophysiological correlate of the behavioural abnormalities previously characterised in this model. This also raises intriguing possibilities concerning mechanisms by which mutations in Nrg1 may result in schizophrenia – a disorder linked with disturbances in γ frequency cortical activity.

There is an extensive literature demonstrating that γ frequency neural activity is disrupted in patients with schizophrenia, both at rest and during various cognitive or perceptual tasks (summarised by (Gandal et al., 2012b)). This supports a hypothesis that abnormal γ activity is a measure of disrupted neuronal activity that underlies the various symptoms in schizophrenia. Increasing evidence from animal models (Kulikova et al., 2012; Saunders et al., 2012) and human studies (Spencer, 2011) suggests that elevations in baseline γ activity represent increased 'noise' in neural networks, and that this may impair sensory-evoked γ oscillations and information processing. Our findings lend further support to this hypothesis, with Nrg1 TM HET mice displaying elevated γ frequency power in 'baseline' recordings and concurrent reductions in sensory-driven γ responses. This study supports previous work (Ehrlichman et al., 2009) that found electrophysiological alterations in Nrg1 mutant animals and presents evidence of specific sensory-evoked gamma alterations similar to those seen in NMDAR mutant animals (Gandal et al., 2012).

3.4

In addition to the electrophysiological differences observed between the genotypes we also replicated previous findings that the Nrg1 mutant mice exhibit a hyperlocomotor phenotype. However, both genotypes displayed a typical and equivalent hyperlocomotor response to ketamine, a finding consistent with previous reports showing no differential effects of NMDAr antagonists on hyperactivity or prepulse inhibition of startle in Nrg1 TM HET mice (van den Buuse et al., 2009). What causative role alterations in γ activity may play in the behavioural phenotype of these mice is still unclear, although this may be particularly pertinent to the working memory deficits previously identified (Duffy et al., 2010), since γ oscillations have been linked with this behaviour (Howard et al., 2003). Our results demonstrating altered γ oscillations in the Nrg1 TM HET mice establish this genetic model as a suitable one for further exploring the relationship between altered γ oscillations and cognitive abnormalities relevant to schizophrenia.

The mechanism through which altered Nrg1 signalling leads to the abnormal γ frequency activity is not clear. Nrg1 is a trophic factor that plays a role in several developmental processes, such as interneuron migration (Flames et al., 2004), and synapse development and maintenance (Fazzari et al., 2010; Li et al., 2007; Woo et al., 2007); disruptions to any of these processes could conceivably result in neuronal networks which generate disturbed neural oscillations in adulthood. In particular, subtle changes in synaptic composition during different developmental stages could lead to lasting alterations in brain network connectivity. The expression of NMDAr subunits, for example, is under tight regulatory control during development (Monyer et al., 1994) and can be influenced by Nrg1 signalling (Li et al., 2007). Conditional ablation of NMDAr on PV+ interneurons (the cells proposed to underlie the generation of γ frequency activity) results in marked increases in the spectral power of ongoing neural oscillations specific to the γ frequency band (Carlen et al., 2012; Korotkova et al., 2010) – similar to our

observations in the Nrg1 TM HET mice. Deletion of the Nrg1 receptor ErbB4 on PV positive interneurons also causes synaptic abnormalities and altered γ oscillations in mouse models (del Pino et al., 2013), highlighting the role this pathway plays in establishing and maintaining normal excitatory/inhibitory balance.

However, we found no evidence that the Nrg1 TM mutation influences expression of NMDAr subunits in adulthood, suggesting that the altered γ power observed in these mice is not caused by changes in gene expression of NMDAr subunits. This is consistent with the lack of change in MK 801 radioligand binding to NMDAr in Nrg1 TM HET mice (Long et al., 2012). However, we cannot rule out a selective alteration of NMDAr on cortical interneurons, particularly since ErbB4 – the signalling partner of Nrg1 – is largely expressed on these cells (Fazzari et al., 2010).

Considerable evidence suggests that Nrg1 signalling affects NMDAr function: ErbB4 (the Nrg1 receptor) attaches to the scaffolding protein PSD-95 in the same location as NMDArs (Huang et al., 2000). This allows direct physical interaction between the two systems – interactions which have been demonstrated to be altered in schizophrenia (Hahn et al., 2006). Multiple studies have shown that altered Nrg1 signaling can affect NMDAr activity, alter subunit phosphorylation and influence NMDAr internalisation (Bjarnadottir et al., 2007; Hahn et al., 2006). While baseline levels of NMDAr mRNA are unchanged, we found that the Nrg1 TM mutation influenced the functional activation of NMDA NR2B receptors, robustly decreasing cortical phosphorylation of Y1472 (~50%) compared to WT. The Y1472 residue is the major phosphorylation site of the NR2B receptor (Nakazawa et al., 2001), and phosphorylation prevents internalisation of NMDArs, thereby prolonging its synaptic availability for activation and enhancing its cell surface function (Prybylowski et al., 2005). Our finding of reduced phosphorylation in Nrg1 TM mutant mice, which agrees with a previous study in hippocampus (Bjarnadottir et al., 2007), is suggestive of reduced surface expression and availability of these receptors (Prybylowski et al., 2005), therefore representing a potential mechanism responsible for the dampened electrophysiological response to ketamine in mutant mice. We also observed that, in WT mice, ketamine lowered phosphorylation of the Y1472 residue of NR2B, agreeing with previous reports of the consequence of NMDAr antagonism (Xi et al., 2011), and mimicking the baseline state of Nrg1 TM mutants. Interestingly, Nrg1-ErbB4 signaling is thought to inhibit plasticity at some synapses via suppression of phosphorylation of the NR2B subunit (Pitcher et al., 2011), raising intriguing questions about whether and how Nrg1-ErbB4 signaling is altered by the transmembrane domain mutation.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated increased ongoing, and reduced auditory-evoked γ frequency ECoG activity in the Nrg1 transmembrane domain heterozygous mutant mouse. These findings, which may be related to reduced phosphorylation of NMDAr found in the mutant mice, add to the existing evidence of schizophrenia-relevant molecular, behavioural and cognitive abnormalities in this mutant mouse. This study suggests that alterations in the regulation of γ frequency oscillations may represent a neural mechanism by which altered Nrg1 signalling contributes to the pathogenesis of schizophrenia.

CHAPTER 4

CONTRIBUTION OF THE CORTICOTHALAMIC PATHWAY TO KETAMINE-INDUCED DISRUPTION OF INFORMATION PROCESSING

Abstract

There is a growing body of literature indicating involvement of dysfunctional thalamic networks in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, specifically in the observed disturbances in function-related gamma (γ , 30-80 Hz) frequency oscillations (Cronenwett and Csernansky, 2010; Pinault, 2011; Woodward et al., 2012). A postulated mechanism of these impairments is reduced NMDAr activation at glutamatergic synapses on GABAergic interneurons (Carlen et al., 2012). We previously demonstrated that a single subanesthetic dose of ketamine transiently increases the power of ongoing γ oscillations and decreases sensory-evoked γ oscillations in the rat somatosensory thalamocortical (TC) network (Kulikova et al., 2012), reducing the γ signal-to-noise ratio; (defined as the power of the sensory-evoked γ response above the power of the baseline γ noise). Both glutamatergic TC neurons and GABAergic thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN) neurons are innervated by glutamatergic corticothalamic (CT) axons originating from layer VI. The goal of the present study was to assess the contribution of the CT pathway in the ongoing and sensory-evoked γ oscillations in the somatosensory thalamos.

To investigate the contribution of the CT pathway to thalamic ongoing and sensory-evoked γ activities we performed a series of in-vivo electrophysiological studies in lightly anaesthetised adult Wistar rats. Local-field potential and multi-unit activities were simultaneously recorded at the three key sites of the somatosensory

TC system. We recorded the activities of 1) the medial part of the ventral posterior nucleus (VPm) – the principal target of trigeminal nerve input to the thalamus; 2) The thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN) – a GABAergic structure with γ pacemaker properties that exclusively innervates the dorsal thalamus and receives innervation from both the VPm and the Layer VI CT pathway (Pinault, 2004); 3) Layer VI of the corresponding somatosensory cortex. Electrical stimulation of the vibrissae was applied to evoke somatosensory activity and electrophysiological measures were recorded under saline and ketamine (2.5 mg/kg, s.c.) conditions. Further experiments were conducted with tetrodotoxin (TTX, a sodium channel blocker) applied directly to the cortical surface to block cortically-generated feedback. Data generated were analysed with time-frequency decomposition using wavelet techniques, this allowed for the qualitative and quantitative assessment of ongoing and sensory-evoked γ activities.

A single injection of ketamine quickly and transiently increased the power of ongoing γ oscillations and simultaneously decreased both the amplitude and the γ power of the sensory-evoked responses in both the thalamus and the cortex. The sensory-evoked response recorded in the VPm and TRN was characterised principally by a short-latency (3.7 ± 0.1 ms) and a long-latency (10.5 ± 0.1 ms) negative component. The late response was hypothesised to be the result of CT feedback. Local application of TTX in the related cortex abolished the amplitude of the late response and decreased the amount of the associated γ power. The amplitude of the late response was highly correlated ($r^2 = 0.956$, p < 0.0001), with the power of the sensory-evoked γ oscillations, indicating that the CT pathway significantly contributed to the sensory-evoked γ in the thalamus. Investigating the contribution of the CT pathway in the ongoing and somatosensory-evoked γ oscillations demonstrated that the cortex plays a great role in the generation of

thalamic γ oscillations during information processing and that ketamine reduces the CT-mediated sensory γ signal-to-noise ratio.

4.1

Introduction

Sensory and cognitive deficits are core pathophysiological features in schizophrenia (Elvevåg and Goldberg, 2000; Wobrock et al., 2009). A growing body of clinical and experimental evidence indicates that they are underlain by dysfunction of highly distributed neural networks (Stephan et al., 2009; Uhlhaas, 2013), including corticothalamic (CT) and thalamocortical (TC) systems (Pinault, 2011) which display disturbances of gamma (γ , 30-80 Hz) frequency oscillations. Clinical observations of increased ongoing or baseline γ power in patients with schizophrenia (Kissler et al., 2000; Krishnan et al., 2005), coupled with extensive reports of decreased evoked γ oscillations (Gandal et al., 2012b; Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010) have led to a hypothesis that there is reduced gamma signal-to-noise during cortical information processing in schizophrenia (Kulikova et al., 2012; Winterer et al., 2000). The fundamental mechanisms underlying these deficits are still unknown. The glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia has come to prominence in recent years and is the subject of ongoing clinical and basic experimental investigations (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2012; Moghaddam and Krystal, 2012). In particular NMDAr antagonists such as ketamine have been widely used as pharmacological models for schizophrenia, as they induce hallucinations in healthy humans, and exacerbate psychotic symptoms as well as cause sensory and cognitive deficits in patients with schizophrenia (Krystal et al., 1994; Newcomer et al., 1999). We (Hakami et al., 2009; Pinault, 2008) and others (Ehrlichman et al., 2009a; Lazarewicz et al., 2010) have previously demonstrated that NMDAr antagonists dose-dependently increase the power of ongoing γ oscillations in rodents and also recapitulate the complex electrophysiological abnormalities seen in schizophrenia (Kulikova et al., 2012; Saunders et al., 2012).

We demonstrated that a single systemic low-dose injection of ketamine increases the power of baseline γ oscillations and decreases that of sensory-evoked γ in the rat somatosensory TC pathways (Kulikova et al., 2012). This initial sensoryevoked γ was calculated from a 100-ms long post stimulation epoch, compared to the approximately 10 ms latency of the principal TC-mediated potential. This 100 ms epoch should contain the effective results of multi-synaptic cortico-cortical and corticofugal integration processes, the sort of distributed neuronal integration hypothesised to underlie cognitive function (Uhlhaas, 2013). This finding supports the hypothesis that ketamine-induced psychotomimetic state impairs the ability of sensory TC systems to discriminate incoming sensory signals from background neural activity during information processing (Flynn et al., 2008; Gandal et al., 2012b; Winterer and Weinberger, 2004). In this conception ketamine induces a diffuse aberrant network 'noise', elevating the natural γ frequency oscillations that are prominent during desynchronised cortical activity to an abnormal and excessive level and reducing the 'effective' signal-to-noise ratio of sensory processing systems. These findings leave open the question about the relative contributions of the TC, cortico-cortical and CT pathways in ketamine-induced sensory and cognitive deficits and the related neural information processing.

We also demonstrated that the power of sensory-evoked γ oscillations is strongly positively correlated with the amplitude of a short-latency TC-mediated cortical potential, indicating that sensory-evoked γ oscillations represent a useful index of intra-cortical sensory information processing, which involve corticocortical and corticofugal pathways. Therefore the goal of the present study was to estimate the impact of TC-mediated cortical γ oscillations on cortical output under physiological and pathological (ketamine influence) conditions. One of the principal cortical outputs is the CT pathway originating from layer VI. Layer VI CT neurons innervate both the dorsal thalamus and the GABAergic thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN). In the present study these two anatomically and functionally related structures were used to identify and characterise the sensory-evoked, TC-mediated CT response using multisite cell-to-network recordings under light anaesthesia in rats. Baseline activity of the somatosensory TC-CT system was challenged by sensory stimulation of the vibrissae, which evoked in both the thalamus and the TRN a well-identifiable CT response. We further provide strong evidence that the CT pathway significantly contributes to the generation of thalamic γ oscillations and that ketamine disrupts the function of the CT pathway.

4.2

Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Animals

A total of twenty adult (3–6-month-old) male Wistar rats (280–380 g) were used in accordance with European Union Guidelines (directive 2010/63/EU) and with the approval of the National and Regional Ethics Committee (Comité Regional d'Ethique en Matière d'Experimentation Animale, Université de Strasbourg). Animals were group housed (3-4 animlas per cage) in opaque plastic cages with wire lids and woodchip bedding. Animals had ad libitum access to standard rat chow and water and were housed in a temperature controlled facility (21 \pm 1° C) with a 12 h light-dark cycle (lights on at 0700).

4.2.2 Surgery

Surgical procedures were performed under deep general anaesthesia induced with pentobarbital (40 mg/kg i.p. Sanofi, Libourne, France) and supplemented with ketamine (50 mg/kg i.m. Merial, Lyon, France). The penile vein was catheterised for the i.v. administration of light neurolept anaesthesia. The trachea was

cannulated and animals were connected to a ventilator (SAR-830/P, CWE, Inc., BIOSEB, Chaville, France). Artificial ventilation was maintained with an O_2 enriched mixture (50% air, 50% O_2) at 60 breaths per minute. A rectal temperature probe was inserted and core body temperature was maintained at 37-38 °C using a thermoregulated blanket. Electrocardiogram electrodes were inserted subcutaneously to monitor heart rate. Animals were placed in a stereotaxic frame.

Local anaesthetic was injected under the skin on the head (lidocaine 2%) and a midline incision made. The skin was pinned back and the skull surface revealed and cleared of any tissue. A micro-cranioduratomy (diameter approx. 0.5 mm²) was performed above the left somatosensory parietal cortex as per (Pinault, 2005). For recordings made in layer VI of the parietal cortex the cranioduratomy was extended laterally to expose the target region. A dental drill (Technobox, Bien Air France SARL, Paris) was used to ablate the skull surface above the recording site until only a thin bone membrane remained. Small openings for parietal cortex ECoG electrodes were also drilled, (without breaching the dura) adjacent to the The bone membrane was kept hydrated through the cranioduratomy site. application of saline (0.9% NaCl) soaked gelatine surgical sponges. A small opening is then made in the bone membrane with forceps. The precise site of recording electrode insertion was stereotaxically marked on the dura surface with a pontamine blue filled glass micropipette. This marked location was then carefully incised with the bent tip of a 26 gauge needle. The brain surface and surrounding area was maintained hydrated and clean through the regular application of saline infused gelatine sponges.

At this point in the procedure light neurolept anaesthesia was induced by continuous intravenous injection of a mixture of fentanyl (2 mg/h), glucose (25 mg/h). Muscle rigidity and tremors were blocked with i.v. D-tubocurarine chloride (0.4 mg/h). Depth of anaesthesia was monitored through

electrocardiogram and ECoG recordings and lidocaine was topically applied to surgical wounds every two hours. At least two hours was given before beginning electrophysiological recordings after neuroplept anaesthesia began.

4.2.3 Recording Procedure

Glass micropipettes were used to record LFPs and multi-unit activity in the VPm, TRN and the ventral lateral nucleus of the thalamus (VL). Control recordings were made in the VL to determine effects specific to the somatosensory pathway, as this nucleus does not receive direct somatosensory input. Micropipettes were prepared from 1.2 mm glass capillaries (A-M systems) on a Kopf model 730 pipette puller (Kopf instruments, Tujunga, CA). Pipettes were filled with artificial cerebral spinal fluid (ACSF) and neurobiotin (1%) and had a tip diameter of 5-10 μ m and typical resistance of 10-20 M Ω . A metallic quartz-glass coated platinum-tungsten electrode with a resistance of 0.5M Ω (Thomas Recording GmbH, Giessen, Germany) was used to record multi-unit activity and LFPs in layer VI of the somatosensory parietal cortex in some experiments. ECoG electrodes were made from Ag-AgCl wire and used to record broad cortical activity from somatosensory parietal cortex. Recordings were made under two different experimental designs:

1) Simultaneous recordings from the VPm and TRN made with glass micropipettes and concurrent somatosensory cortical ECoG.

2) Simultaneous recordings from the VPm and VL thalamic nuclei with conjoined glass micropipettes, layer VI of the somatosensory parietal cortex with a platinumtungsten electrode or glass micropipette and concurrent somatosensory ECoG. Electrode locations were made with the use of a stereotaxic atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 1998) and verified through electrophysiological characteristics (cell firing, receptive field) and post-mortem histology. Recordings were made at least 2 hours after the induction of light neurolept anaesthesia and monitoring of the cortical ECoG verified that deep anaesthesia had worn off. Electrodes were attached to micro-drivers and slowly lowered into the brain tissue. Cortical electrodes were lowered to 1.7-1.8 mm, TRN electrodes were lowered to approximately 4 mm and TRN recording was confirmed by the presence of fast-spiking cells. VPm and VL micropipettes were lowered to 4 mm depth and then electrical stimulation of the vibrissae was applied. Thalamic electrodes were further lowered until a maximal stimulus-evoked short-latency (<5 ms) response was detected. Once the optimal recording location was determined the current used for stimulation was increased until a maximal response was observed and then 50% of that current was used as the stimulation current, with a typical stimulation current of ≈ 1 mA.



Figure 4.1 – Experimental Design for Simultaneous Recording of the Major regions of the Somatosensory TC-CT Networks

A) This diagram illustrates the experimental design used to investigate the function of TC-CT sensory networks. Glass micropipettes filled with ACSF and neurobiotin (1%, tracer) were inserted into the VPm, TRN and layer VI of the somatosensory cortex. Simultaneous ECoG was captured over the related somatosensory cortex with a Ag/AgCl wire electrode. Superimposed in colour is a diagram of the TC-CT projections in the somatosensory system. **B)** Micrographs made of post-mortem extracellular histological staining, showing regions ionphoretically marked with neurobiotin. These stainings highlight the locations of the primary recording pipettes in layer VI and the VPm. **C)** Sensory-evoked potentials in the primary recording regions. These are representative electrophysiolgical traces showing the average evoked potential (100 trials) in the bold, top trace and a typical single trial in the bottom trace. VPm and TRN traces were simultaneously recorded in a single experiment. ECoG and layer VI LFP were also recorded simultaneously from a separate recording session.

Experimental procedure involved 20-min recording session of spontaneously occurring electrophysiological activity while the rat received an electrical stimulation of the vibrissae every 10 s (Figure 4.1). Recordings were made under one of two drug conditions, saline control (1ml/kg, s.c.) or ketamine (2.5 mg/kg s.c.). A separate series of recordings were made with the topical application on the somatosensory cortex of TTX (100 μ M) or ACSF control impregnated gelatine sponges (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2 – Experimental Design of TTX Experiments for Identification of the CT Component in the Thalamic Sensory-Evoked Potential

A1) This diagram illustrates the experimental design used to investigate the role of the CT pathway on sensory-evoked responses in thalamic nuclei. Glass micropipettes filled with ACSF and neurobiotin (1%, tracer) were inserted into the VPm, VL, and layer VI of the somatosensory cortex. Simultaneous ECoG was captured over the related somatosensory cortex with a Ag/AgCl wire electrode. Superimposed in colour is a diagram of the TC-CT projections in the somatosensory system. Topical application of ACSF of TTX soaked gelatine sponges allowed the silencing of CT feedback. A2) TTX application silences cortical neuronal firing and abolishes cortical sensory-evoked potentials. This panel shows representative local field potential traces and average waveforms from layer VI and VPm recording electrodes after local topical application of ACSF (left) or TTX (right) to the parietal cortex surface. These recordings demonstrate that under ACSF conditions there is ongoing neuronal firing and characteristic evoked potentials in the Layer VI and VPm LFP recordings. After TTX administration cortical firing has ceased in the LayerVI LFP trace while multi-unit activity in the VPm is unaffected; also the evoked response in the cortex has been abolished while only the second component has been affected in the VPm.

4.2.4 Electrophysiology and Histology

Neural activity recorded with glass micropipettes was amplified with ultra-low noise amplifiers. ECoG signals were processed with a bandpass of 1–800 Hz, LFP with a bandpass of 0.1-6 kHz, all signals were sampled at 20 kHz. Potential 50 Hz line noise was eliminated with Humbug selective noise eliminators (Quest Scientific, Hertfordshire, UK). To locate recordings sites, extracellular labelling (Pinault, 1996) using neurobiotin was performed at the end of the experimental sessions. The tracer was iontophoretically expelled from the glass micropipettes using a 600-nA current pulse, 200 ms on-200ms off for 5 min. Animals were than euthanised with an over dose of pentobarbital and trans-cardially perfused with saline (200 ml) followed by 500 ml of 0.1M pH 7.4 phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 4% paraformaldehyde and 0.5 % glutaldehyde. Serial coronal brain sections were cut at 100 μ m with a vibratome then washed in PBS three times before being incubated in avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (ABC, Vector labs, CA) overnight. The tracer was visualised using a DAB kit (Vector labs) and slices mounted on gelatine coated slides. Micrographs were taken using a Nikon E600 light microscope (Nikon France, Champigny-sur-Marne, France).

4.2.5 Analysis

Data analysis was performed with Clampfit 10 (Molecular Devices, CA), Matlab (Mathworks, MA) and Sciworks (Datawave Technologies, CO) software packages. Spectral analysis of ongoing spontaneously occurring activity was performed with fast Fourier transformation at a resolution of 2.5 Hz (unless specified otherwise). The power of baseline activity was analysed in four frequency bands: slow (1-14 Hz), β (16-29 Hz), γ (30-80 Hz) and high frequency oscillations (HFO, 81-250 Hz), total power in a band was calculated as the sum of all power within the frequency range. The time-course of γ frequency changes was calculated using

mean γ power in two-minute blocks, then normalising all data to the mean γ power in the 20-min saline control condition and expressing all values as a percentage of this. For the sensory-evoked calculations time-frequency analysis was performed on 1-s long epochs, extracted from the continuous data and centred on the time of stimulation. Epochs were manually inspected for artefacts and slow-wave activity; only trials occurring during a desynchronised state were used for analysis. Amplitude and latency of sensory-evoked responses in the thalamus was calculated by determining the minimal voltage in two windows 1-7 ms post stimulus for the 'early' and 7-15 ms post stimulus for the 'late' response. The same process was used in the cortical recordings using minima and maxima across a single window 3-20 ms post-stimulus. Spectral power was calculated for all trials using the newtimef function from the EEGLAB Matlab toolbox (Delorme and Makeig, 2004). Morlet wavelets were utilised in 80 evenly spaced frequency bands from 20 to 100 Hz, with wavelet cycles ranging from 3 at the lowest frequency to 10 at the highest frequency. Baseline γ power was calculated for each individual trial as the average power in the γ range from -400 to -50 ms before stimulus onset. Evoked γ power was calculated in the span 0 - 100 ms post stimulus. γ signal was defined as the per trial difference between the evoked and baseline γ power i.e. γ signal = evoked γ baseline γ . γ power measures were averaged into minute blocks (10 data points). Correlation between γ signal and the amplitude of the 'late' thalamic response was calculated using Pearson's correlation between the mean VPm γ signal and the mean late amplitude of all recordings. Drug condition means were calculated using the periods 10-20 min post drug administration (100 data points). Statistical significance of the observed effects was evaluated with ANOVA, Student's t-test and Wilcoxon signed-ranked test performed in Prism 6 (GraphPad Software, CA); spectral power and specific frequency bands were compared using the nonparametric stastical Wilcoxon signed-ranked tests as the normality of the distribution of spectral power cannot be assumed (Korotkova et al., 2010).


Figure 4.3 – Time-Frequency Analysis Using Morlet Wavelets to Determine the Gamma Signal-to-Noise Ratio

This figure gives a schematic overview of the analysis strategy used to calculate baseline and evoked γ power and the corresponding γ signal. **A1-2**) The sensory pathway is challenged through repeated (0.1 Hz) electrical stimulation of the whisker teguments, causing stereotypical evoked responses in both the related cortex (layer VI) and thalamus (VPm). 1-second epochs centred on the stimulus were extracted for time-frequency analysis. **B1-2**) The extracted epochs were decomposed using a sliding wavelet window to produce a multidimensional time × frequency × trial matrix. From this we were able to extract the γ power in the pre-stimulus baseline and the γ power evoked by the sensory stimulation. **C1-2**) By calculating the baseline and evoked γ power for each individual trial we were able to calculate the average baseline and evoked γ power. By subtracting the difference between the two we calculate an estimation of the γ signal, the ratio of the ongoing noise to the evoked response.

Results

4.3.1 Ketamine has Opposite Effects on Ongoing and Sensory-

Evoked Gamma Oscillations Throughout the TC-CT Somatosensory Pathway

To examine the effects of a psychotomimetic dose of ketamine on oscillatory activity throughout the somatosensory neural circuit, we conducted simultaneous multisite recordings in the VPm, TRN and the related parietal somatosensory cortex. Spectral analysis of these recordings demonstrated that in all cases (ParCx & VPm, n =7; TRN, n =5; Layer VI, n = 3) there was a significant (Wilcoxon matched-pairs test: p<0.001) increase in the total power of γ and HFO bands following ketamine administration. The parietal ECoG recording displayed significant increases in the beta (Wilcoxon matched-pairs test: p = 0.014), γ (p < 0.001) and HFO (p < 0.001) frequency bands.

As well as the distinct frequency bands, analysis of the total spectra showed significant differences under saline and ketamine conditions in each recording site (p < 0.0001, Wilcoxon matched-pairs test). This is illustrated in Figure 4.4 B, where pooled data from 3 animals for each recording site are displayed. These results were in line with previous studies we have conducted (Kulikova et al., 2012; Pinault, 2008) showing increases in cortical γ and HFO following systemic NMDAr antagonist administration and replicates and expands upon our previous finding demonstrating the increases in aberrant γ activity throughout subcortical structures (Hakami et al., 2009).

4.3



Figure 4.4 – Effects of Ketamine on Ongoing Oscillations in the Somatosensory Cortex and Related Thalamus

A) Representative traces from the different recordings sites of the somatosensory TC-CT network. These traces were taken in the period 10-20 min after administration of either saline (1 ml/kg, s.c.) or ketamine (2.5 mg/kg, s.c). Ketamine increases the amplitude of the bouts of γ oscillations. **B1-4)** Panels B1 through B4 show mean power spectra under both saline (thick line) and ketamine (dotted line) conditions, from the surface ECoG of the parietal somatosensory cortex (vibrissae area), the corresponding layer VI LFP and the related VPm and TRN LFPs. VPm and TRN recordings were made simultaneously and show pooled data from 3 separate animals. Layer VI and parietal cortex ECoG were acquired simultaneously and represent pooled data from 3 different recordings sessions. Each panel shows the mean of a 10-minute recording period, 10 minutes following drug administration, Ketamine injection (2.5 mg/kg, s.c) significantly increased the power at all recording sites (Wilcoxon matched-pairs test: p < 0.0001). The inset histograms show the average power at four frequency bands: slow (1–15 Hz), β (16–29 Hz), γ (30–80 Hz or GFO) and HFO (81-250 Hz); ketamine specifically increased the power of y and HFO in all recording sites, as well as increasing beta frequency power in the ECoG. (* p < 0.001, Wilcoxon matched-pairs test).

We also investigated the effects of a sub-anaesthetic dose of ketamine on the first stages of sensory information processing throughout the somatosensory circuit. The system was challenged with repetitive (0.1 Hz) electrical stimulation of the vibrissae to generate sensory input and the subsequent evoked oscillations were analysed utilising the time-frequency techniques outlined in Figure 4.3. The baseline or pre-stimulus γ activity mirrored that seen when assessing the ongoing γ with FFT analysis (Figure 4.4). That is, ketamine caused an increase in the power of baseline γ oscillations that returned to pre-drug levels within approximately 45-60 minutes, (Figure 4.6 A & B). This was seen in all recording sites analysed and in all experimental animals (ParCx & VPm n = 9, TRN n = 5, Layer VI n = 3 animals). These effects were broadly similar between the LFP recordings with the VPm, TRN and layer VI showing maximum increases in ongoing gamma power of 227%, 209% and 210% respectively; the surface parietal cortex ECoG recording showed a maximal change of 360%.

As well as increasing the ongoing γ activity throughout the somatosensory pathway ketamine administration leads to a decrease in the γ signal-to-noise ratio, reducing the sensory-evoked γ signal in these regions. This is best illustrated in the representative heatmaps of the time-frequency data from the layer VI and VPm LFP recordings taken from a single experiment (Figure 4.5). These images demonstrate that under saline conditions there is persistent ongoing γ activity and a distinct large burst of evoked response from the sensory stimulation, followed by a decrease in activity. Under ketamine conditions the pre-stimulus baseline activity in the γ frequency band is increased and there is a substantial reduction in the magnitude of the sensory stimulation evoked response. This is best illustrated in the bottom panels, which show the difference between the ketamine and saline conditions. There is a clear increase in baseline γ power and a substantial reduction in the evoked response following the stimulus; at the time of stimulus, the decrease in power response following the sensory stimulation is also attenuated. Ketamine increases the ongoing γ power and decreased the sensory-evoked γ signal. Figure 4.6 A1 & A2 shows the time-course of these ketamine induced changes and it is clear to see the opposite nature of ketamine's effects on the ongoing and sensoryevoked γ activity. Two-way ANOVA's revealed that the effects of ketamine were significant on both baseline γ (F_(1,23) = 106.3, p < 0.0001) and γ signal (F_(1,23) = 138.9, p < 0.0001), with post-hoc tests revealing significant differences between saline and ketamine conditions in all recording sites for both baseline γ and γ signal (p < 0.001, Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test, Figure 4.6 C).



Figure 4.5 – Ketamine has Opposite Effects on Ongoing and Sensory-Evoked Gamma Activity in both Layer VI and the VPm

This figure shows representative heatmaps generated through time-frequency analysis of the sensory-evoked waveforms from layer VI of the parietal cortex and the VPm. The top panels show under saline conditions persistent baseline electrophysiological activity and large evoked responses at time = 0. The middle panels demonstrate that under ketamine conditions the baseline γ activity is increased and the corresponding stimulus triggered response is reduced. This is further highlighted in the bottom panels showing the difference between the ketamine and saline conditions: an increase in pre-stimulus gamma power and decrease in the stimulus triggered response, data taken from 10-20 min after drug administration.



Figure 4.6 – Ketamine has Opposite Effects on the Baseline and Sensory-Evoked Gamma Signal Throughout the TC-CT Somatosensory System

A1-2) Panels A1 and A2 show the time-course in changes to both the γ baseline (top section) and γ signal (bottom section) in the thalamus (A1) and cortical (A2) recording regions. Baseline γ was calculated as the mean power in the frequency range 30 – 80 Hz, 250 – 50 ms preceding the stimulus onset. γ signal was determined by calculating the evoked γ power (mean power 30 – 80 Hz, 0 – 100 ms post stimulus) and subtracting the γ baseline power on a trial by trial basis. **B1-2)** Histograms that represent the mean baseline γ power (B1) and mean γ signal (B2) in the 10 min period following injection with saline (filled bars) or ketamine (checked bars). Ketamine causes significant increases in γ baseline at each recording site and similar decreases in the stimulus elicited γ signal were seen at all recording sites in the somatosensory pathway. * p < 0.01, Bonferonni's multiple comparisons test. In all panels data represents the mean \pm SEM of ParCx & VPm n = 9, TRN n = 5, Layer VI n = 3 animals

4.3.2 Latency of Sensory-Evoked Responses Indicate CT Feedback Regulates the Late Thalamic Response

The extended γ evoked response seen in the 100ms post-stimulus period should contain the effective results of multi-synaptic cortico-cortical and corticofugal integration processes; as ketamine administration disrupted the γ signal-to-noise ratio in this period we next decided to investigate the role of CT pathways in the generation of sensory-evoked γ oscillations. We observed that the sensory-evoked response recorded in the VPm and TRN was characterised principally by two distinct negative going components; a short-latency (3.75±0.01 ms) and longlatency (10.5±0.1 ms) component. Qualitative and quantitative analysis of the sensory-evoked response in the both the thalamus and the cortex was undertaken and the 'late' response was hypothesised to be the result of CT feedback arriving in the thalamic nuclei.

The results of this analysis support the hypothesis of the involvement of CT feedback processes, in agreement with (Kublik et al., 2003). Figure 4.7 illustrates typical individual and average responses observed simultaneously from the layer VI and VPm LFP electrodes following sensory stimulation. The two distinct separate responses seen in the thalamus indicated the possibility of two mechanisms of generation; the latency of these responses and those observed in the cortical LFP support the hypothesis that CT activity is driving the second or 'late' response. Quantitative analysis of the latencies of the sensory-evoked responses also supported this hypothesis, Table 4.1 records the latencies of the early and late responses in various recording sites throughout the TC-CT pathway. The early thalamic response preceded the cortical evoked response in every recording made, with the thalamic late response in turn following the cortical activation. An example of population spiking consistent with layer VI firing related to the late thalamic response is shown in Figure 4.7 B.



Figure 4.7 – Timing of Sensory-Evoked Response in the Somatosensory TC-CT Circuit

A) Schematic 'wiring' diagram of the somatosensory TC-CT circuit demonstrating the anatomical connections between the separate components of the system. Incoming information relayed via the trigeminal nerve arrives in the VPm nuclei of the thalamus and is relayed to the cortex, where corticofugal fibres originating in layer VI send feedback returning to the thalamus. **B)** Single trial simultaneous recordings in the VPm and Layer VI of the somatosensory cortex. **C)** Average sensory-evoked responses in VPm and layer VI recordings. Panels B and C demonstrated the latencies of sensory-evoked activity in the TC-CT circuit support a hypothesis where pre-thalamic input evoked a population response in the VPM, which in turn triggers population spiking in the somatosensory cortex. CT feedback is relayed via layer VI neurons eliciting a second 'late' response in the thalamus; the proposed origin of the discrete evoked responses in marked by arrows in panel C.

	VPm		TRN		Layer VI		Surface ECoG	
	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM	Mean	SEM
Early	3.74	0.007	3.17	0.01	8.22	0.01	9.31	0.07
Late	10.51	0.02	10.90	0.03	15.10	0.01	15.98	0.02

Table 4.1 – Latencies of Sensory-Evoked Potentials Throughout the TC-CT Somatosensory Pathway

Mean and standard deviations of the early and late sensory-evoked potentials in the thalamus (VPm), TRN and somatosensory cortex (surface ECoG and the related layer VI LFP). The temporal order of the sensory-evoked response supports a hypothesis where CT feedback is responsible for eliciting the second, late response in the VPm and TRN. Mean and standard deviations are produced from of ParCx & VPm n =9, TRN n =5, Layer VI n = 3 animals.

4.3.3 Cortical Application of TTX Alters the Sensory-Evoked Activity in the Thalamus

To determine whether the observed sensory-evoked late response in the VPm and TRN involved the CT pathway, neuronal firing in the somatosensory cortex was blocked using TTX. Gelatine surgical sponges were immersed in either 100 μ M TTX or ACSF before being applied directly to the parietal cortex surface. As illustrated in Figure 4.2 TTX application resulted in the cessation of recorded unit firing in layer VI of the somatosensory cortex while not affecting observed multi-unit activity in the VPm. Furthermore the stereotypical evoked response to sensory stimulation observed in the cortex was abolished following TTX applications, whilst ACSF had no discernible effect. In support of our hypothesis that the 'late' response observed in thalamic recording sites was mediated through CT pathways, TTX application also greatly attenuated the amplitude of this long-latency negative wave. The time course of these effects is illustrated in Figure 4.8, in the cortex the layer VI LFP recorded large amplitude early and late evoked responses, both of which rapidly decrease following the topical application of TTX (panel A1).

The parietal cortex ECoG showed a smaller early response than the LFP recordings and an equivalently smaller decline in the first response, the larger second response was diminished much the same as the LFP recordings. Two-way ANOVA of the amplitudes of the evoked response in the period 10 - 20 min after TTX or ACSF application showed significant effects for drug for both early and late responses ($F_{(1,15)} = 12.19 \text{ p} < 0.005$ and $F_{(1,15)} = 25.1 \text{ p} < 0.0001$ for early and late effects respectively). Post-hoc tests showed significant differences in the layer VI LFP amplitude at both early and late responses and significant changes only in the late response in the parietal cortex ECoG (p < 0.05 Bonferroni's multiple comparisons). When performing TTX experiments simultaneous recordings were also made in the VL nuclei; the VL receives basal ganglia input and should not be affected by manipulations of the somatosensory pathways serving as a control

recording for these experiments. Recorded activity in the VPm displayed two prominent negative going amplitudes, one early (amplitude: 0.52 ± 0.01 mV; latency: 3.7 ± 0.01 ms) and one late (amplitude: 0.83 ± 0.01 mV; latency: 10.5 ± 0.3 ms). In the VL some response to the sensory stimulation was detectable but of a lower amplitude (early amplitude: 0.1 ± 0.01 mV, late amplitude: 0.27 ± 0.01 mV). The mean amplitude of the early, responses showed no discernible effect following TTX application, supporting the hypothesis that their source is pre-thalamic, represent incoming information from the trigeminal nerve, via the brain stem. The 'late' response however showed a clear effect of TTX application in the VPm, but not the VL. Two-way ANOVA showed no effect of drug on the early response, location was statistically significant ($F_{(1,8)} = 11.09$, p < 0.05). For the late response both drug ($F_{(1,9)} = 18.35$, p < 0.005) and location ($F_{(1,9)} = 6.89$, p < 0.05) were significant effects, with post-hoc tests showing the late VPm response was different (p < 0.05 Bonferroni's multiple comparisons).

The time course of these effects is illustrated in Figure 4.8, in the cortex the layer VI LFP recorded large amplitude early and late evoked responses, both of which rapidly decrease following the topical application of TTX (panel A1). The parietal cortex ECoG showed a smaller early response than the LFP recordings and an equivalently smaller decline in the first response, the larger second response was diminished much the same as the LFP recordings. Two-way ANOVA of the amplitudes of the evoked response in the period 10-20 after TTX or ACSF application showed significant effects for drug for both early and late responses ($F_{(1,15)} = 12.19 \text{ p} < 0.005 \text{ and } F_{(1,15)} = 25.1 \text{ p} < 0.0001$ for early and late effects respectively). Post-hoc tests showed significant differences in the layer VI LFP amplitude at both early and late responses and significant changes only in the late response in the parietal cortex ECoG (p < 0.05 Bonferroni's multiple comparisons).



Figure 4.8 – TTX Application to the Cortical Surface Reveals the 'late' Thalamic Evoked Response involves CT Feedback

A1-2) Time course of TTX's effects on cortical (A1) and thalamic (A2) sensory-evoked response amplitudes. Local application of TTX to the cortical surface causes a profound decrease in the amplitude of both the early and late response in ParCx ECoG and Layer VI LFP recordings. In the thalamic recordings TTX has no effect on either the VPm or the control area VL early response, while it does significantly decrease the late amplitude in the VPm alone. Data points represent the average amplitude in each minute of recording (10 trials), data SEM \pm mean of n = 7 in ParCx, 6 in Layer VI, 5 in VPm and VL. **B1-2**) Representative sensory-evoked potentials recorded simultaneously from the somatosensory parietal cortex (B1) and thalamic nuclei (B2), after topical application of ACSF (top traces) and TTX (bottom traces). Traces represent the average of 120 trials taken 20 - 40 min after drug administration. C1-2) Bars represent mean ± SEM of average amplitude 10 - 20 min post application of ACSF (C1) or 20-30 minutes post TTX (C2). * p < 0.001, Bonferonni's multiple comparisons test. Animal numbers are: ParCx n = 7, Layer VI n = 6, VPm, and VL n = 5.

4.3.4 Reducing CT Feedback Attenuates the Gamma Signal in the Thalamus

We have previously established that the amplitude of the cortical sensory-evoked response is positively correlated with the power of the sensory-evoked γ response (Kulikova et al., 2012). We further investigated the TTX effects on the TC-CT pathways in the somatosensory system through time-frequency analysis of the sensory-evoked activity. Utilising Morlet wavelet decomposition of the LFP and ECoG recordings we assessed the effects of TTX application on sensory-evoked γ signals (Figure 4.9). Unsurprisingly, TTX had a pronounced effect on the γ frequency activity in the somatosensory parietal cortex, causing a rapid decreases in evoked γ signal, seen in both the layer VI LFP and the parietal cortex ECoG (Figure 4.10 A1). In the thalamus TTX application also triggered a decrease in the evoked γ signal recorded in the VPm, while leading to only a slight decrease in the γ signal observed in the VL (Figure 4.10 B2).

Two-way ANOVA of the mean γ signal recorded in in the 10-20 min following TTX or ACSF administration revealed significant effects of TTX ($F_{0,22}$) = 107.7, p < 0.0001) and a significant interaction between TTX administration and the location recorded from ($F_{0,22}$) = 5.82, p < 0.01). Post-hoc analysis revealed significant differences between ACSF and TTX conditions in the parietal cortex ECoG, layer VI LFP and VPm LFP (p < 0.0001, Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test) (Figure 4.10 B). There was no significant difference in evoked γ signal recorded in the VL between ACSF and TTX conditions. This result further supports the hypothesis that CT feedback projections mediate the sensory-evoked response in the VPm, and that they are essential for evoking γ signal activity. We also demonstrated a strong positive correlation between the amplitude of the 'late' CT mediated evoked response in the VPm ($r^2 = 0.957$, p < 0.0001), this relationship was much weaker for the 'early' evoked response ($r^2 = 0.147$, p < 0.005).



Figure 4.9 – Time-Frequency Analysis of TTX Effects on Sensory-Evoked Responses in the VPm and Layer VI of the Related Somatosensory Cortex

Representative heatmaps generated through time-frequency analysis of the sensoryevoked waveforms from the parietal ECoG and related thalamic (VPm) LFP. The top panels show show ongoing followed by sensory-evoked activities under control condition (local, topical application of ACSF onto the somatosensory cortex). The bottom panels show ongoing followed by sensory-evoked activities after (~20-30 min) TTX application to the cortical surface. The evoked response in the ParCx is greatly diminished and the response in the related VPm is also reduced.



Figure 4.10 – TTX Effects on the Power of Sensory-Evoked Gamma Responses in the VPm and Layer VI of the Somatosensory Cortex

A1-A2) Time course of TTX's effects on cortical (A1) and thalamic (VPm and VL, A2) γ signal. The sensory-evoked γ signal is greatly diminished in the cortex and related VPm. A non-significant slight decrease is recorded in the VL. Each point represents the mean \pm SEM of ParCx & VPm n = 7, VL & Layer VI n = 6 animals. **B)** Histograms highlighting drug effects, data are taken from 10-20 min post drug administration and represent 100 trials from ParCx & VPm n = 7, VL & Layer VI n = 6 animals. TTX administration causes a decrease in all areas, with this reaching significance in ParCx, Layer VI and VPm, * = p < 0.05, Bonferonni's multiple comparisons test. **C)** Correlation between the amplitude of sensory-evoked responses in the VPm and the γ signal; data points are from 20 min before through 40 min after TTX application to the cortical surface and represent the mean of 7 animals. Early VPm amplitude has a much weaker relationship to the strength of the γ signal while the second 'late' component is highly correlated to the sensory γ signal, both correlations are significant (p < 0.001, Pearson's correlation)

Discussion

4.4

The major novel result of this study is the finding that the CT pathway significantly contributes to the generation of γ oscillations in the thalamus during information processing of somatosensory input. We demonstrated a specific role of CT feedback in the generation of sensory-evoked γ oscillations in the thalamus by blocking the CT pathway with local application of the sodium channel blocker TTX. Silencing firing in layer VI of the somatosensory cortex led to the attenuation of a distinct 'late' component of the sensory driven response. This CT response was strongly correlated with the magnitude of sensory-evoked γ response in the thalamus, lending support to the hypothesis that CT feedback is driving this γ activity. This was further supported by the fact that activity in the VL nuclei of the thalamus was not significantly affected by the blockade somatosensory driven CT feedback.

This result supports research that posits CT feedback plays a role in enhancing and modulating thalamic responses to perceptual stimuli (Alitto and Usrey, 2003). Thalamic sensory relay neurons have specific receptive fields; areas of stimulation that elicit an excitatory response. In the somatosensory system, VPm neurons react to specific whisker input (Waite, 1973). It is hypothesized that corticothalamic input serves to sharpen and adjust the profile of thalamic receptive fields and evidence for a role of CT feedback in thalamic perceptual processing has been established in visual (Murphy and Sillito, 1987) auditory sensory domains (Suga et al., 2000), and somatosensory domains (Ghazanfar et al., 2001; Krupa et al., 1999). A role has also been suggested for CT feedback in enhancing extraction of salient information from 'noisy' background environments (Sillito and Jones, 2002). Given the now well established role of γ frequency activity in perceptual and sensory processes (Brosch et al., 2002; Gray et al., 1989; Palva, 2005; Ribary et al., 1991; Ribary, 2005; Singer and Gray, 1995; Tallon-Baudry and Bertrand, 1999; Traub et al., 1996) the γ activity we observed is likely related to the early stages of information processing. The disruption caused to this γ activity by blocking CT feedback indicates that the CT feedback loop plays a specific role in generating γ oscillations related to the information processing of sensory input. CT feedback to the thalamus originates in cortical layer VI and can either directly innervate thalamic neurons or activate inhibitory neurons in the TRN that synapse into the thalamus. The TRN is a thin GABAergic layer that interfaces between the thalamus and cortex, modulating TC activity and playing a key role in the integration of multiple diverse cognitive activities (Ferrarelli and Tononi, 2011; Pinault, 2011). The TRN's GABAergic constitution has specific γ frequency pacemaker properties (Pinault and Deschênes, 1992) that further indicate its relevance in γ oscillationy deficits. The present study does not establish whether CT feedback is acting directly or through TRN input to generate γ activity but given the role of the TRN in γ oscillations.

In the present study we also demonstrated that an acute sub-anaesthetic dose of the psychotomimetic ketamine reduces sensory-evoked γ signal-to-noise ratio in both TC and CT pathways of the somatosensory network. This finding supports our previous study that established NMDAr hypofunction impairs the ability of the somatosensory TC networks to distinguish sensory-evoked γ activity from the ongoing background γ noise (Kulikova et al., 2012). It also expands this result to include not just cortical γ oscillations but also activity in the VPm and TRN of the dorsal thalamus. In this study we demonstrated that the VPm and TRN γ activity is disrupted through the actions of NMDAr antagonists and this could contribute to the sensory and cognitive abnormalities NMDAr blockade engenders. Further study on the role of TRN modulation of TC and CT pathways in sensory processing will be essential to understanding the dynamics involved and their relationship to schizophrenia.

It is important to note potential limitations of the current study; as it was conducted solely in an anaesthetised preparation this limits the interpretation able to be made. It is known that the use of anaesthesia can affect the spiking activity of neurons in electrophysiological recordings, which could alter the results seen (Massaux, 2004). The use of anaesthesia has also been shown to alter oscillatory dynamics, with deep anaesthesia inducing a state reminiscent of slow-wave sleep (Bennett et al., 2009), which would also alter the results seen here. These confounding factors are somewhat ameliorated by our use of neurolept anaesthesia during our active recording portion of the experiments. This form of anaesthesia allows for more periods of desynchronised activity, reminiscent of the awake state. Furthermore, our previous studies conducted (Kulikova et al., 2012) obtained similar results in both anaesthetised and awake preparations giving confidence that the basic physiological properties underlying these observations persist in both circumstances. However, to be completely confident of the accuracy of these results the experiments would need to be supplemented with recordings made in awake head-restrained animals to validate the results.

A single sub-anaesthetic dose of ketamine was sufficient to increase the baseline γ noise throughout the cortex and sub-cortical areas and reducing the sensory-evoked γ response, resulting in a decreased γ signal-to-noise ratio throughout the TC-CT somatosensory network. These findings further bolster the existing literature that hypothesises the existence of abnormalities and dysconnectivity in TC circuits in schizophrenia (Clinton and Meador-Woodruff, 2004; Ferrarelli and Tononi, 2011; Friston, 2002; Lisman, 2012; Pinault, 2011; Stephan et al., 2006; 2009; Uhlhaas, 2013) and is in line with clinical reports of dysfunctional neuronal oscillations in patients with schziophrenia (Herrmann and

Demiralp, 2005; Krishnan et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2003; Light et al., 2006; Maharajh et al., 2010; Spencer et al., 2003; 2004; Uhlhaas et al., 2006). Increasing evidence from animal models (Kulikova et al., 2012; Saunders et al., 2012) and human studies (Spencer, 2011; Suazo et al., 2012) suggests that elevations in baseline γ activity represent increased 'noise' in neural networks, and that this may impair γ -mediated sensory-evoked responses and information processing. Our findings lend further support to this hypothesis, with the NMDAr antagonist ketamine leading to an elevation in diffuse γ noise throughout the cortical and subcortical structures, including the somatosensory TC-CT system.

This finding raises interesting questions about the mechanisms that lead to the broadly psychotomimetic effects of NMDAr antagonists. NMDAr antagonists cause a wide variety of behavioural deficits, spanning a range of cognitive domains (Bubeníková-Valešová et al., 2008). The role of CT feedback in generating sensoryevoked γ oscillations indicates that this dysfunction may be driven by top down cortical disturbances, rather than bottom up abnormalities in sensory transmission. The present study can neither rule out nor confirm that NMDAr antagonists act through CT driven dysfunction, but the role of CT feedback does indicate that topdown cortical processes are clearly important in sensory γ activity.

The role of CT feedback also provides a potential explanation for the detrimental effects that ketamine has on the sensory γ signal-to-noise ratio. If ketamine is acting to interfere with cortico-cortico and CT communication it could disrupt the necessary feedback loops that are required to generate coherent oscillations (Contreras et al., 1996; Jones, 2001).The mechanisms by which NMDAr blockade leads to such disrupted neural transmission is not yet clear but is thought to be the result of disinhibition of pyramidal neurons (Moghaddam, 2003; Nakazawa et al., 2012). NMDAr blockade can preferentially target GABAergic interneurons (Homayoun and Moghaddam, 2007), which leads to the disinhibition

of pyramidal cells (Jackson et al., 2004) and an increase in glutamate release (Deutch et al., 1987; Verma and Moghaddam, 1996) and markers of increased neuronal activity (Moghaddam et al., 1997). This hyper-gultamatergic state and the disinhibition of pyramidal neurons would interfere with the ability to generate coherent synchronised activity and effectively transmit information through neural networks (Lisman et al., 2008).

These are the same effects of NMDAr antagonism that are hypothesised to cause the increase in ongoing γ oscillations (Hakami et al., 2009; Moghaddam, 2003). Whether the mechanisms through which the sensory-evoked γ signal is disrupted and the excessive γ baseline noise is generated is still unknown. The opposite effects of NMDAr antagonists on the magnitude of ongoing and sensory-evoked γ activity would indicate that they are governed by different mechanisms, as would the involvement of CT feedback loops in the generation of sensory-evoked γ . In this study and previous work (Kulikova et al., 2012) we have demonstrated the NMDAr antagonists administration can clearly interfere with both aspects of γ oscillations in sensory networks, but further research into the distinct mechanisms of sensory-evoked γ is still needed. Our finding of the importance of CT mediated feedback to the generation of thalamic sensory-evoked γ gives an indication that TC-CT and potentially cortico-thalamo-cortical networks will be involved.

A recent review by (Gandal et al., 2012b) suggests that abnormalities in γ frequency oscillations are ubiquitous in schizophrenia. As such, the γ signal-to-noise ratio may be a useful translational biomarker to study the health and function of sensory neural networks in models for schizophrenia. It has been demonstrated in several animal (Kulikova et al., 2012; Saunders et al., 2012) and human studies (Spencer, 2011; Suazo et al., 2012) that elevations in baseline γ activity represent increased 'noise' in neural networks, and that this may impair γ -mediated sensory-evoked responses and information processing. This study acts to further develop

this concept by replicating previous findings of NMDAr antagonist induced abnormal γ signal-to-noise ratios in somatosensory pathways and extending this result to the thalamic structures in the circuit. We further demonstrated that CT mediated feedback plays a role in the generation of thalamic sensory-evoked γ activity. In conclusion, we have demonstrated that abnormalities in the γ signal-to-noise ratio are induced throughout the TC-CT somatosensory pathway through the action of NMDAr antagonists. These abnormalities may have relevance to the understanding of the pathophysiological neural activity that gives rise to the symptoms of schizophrenia. Understanding the neural dynamics involved in sensory processing will inform us on the pathophysiology of psychiatric diseases and help in the generation of effective therapies.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

5.1

Key Findings

This thesis sought to expand upon our current knowledge of γ oscillatory abnormalities in rodent models for schizophrenia, aid in further improvement of these models as translational tools for the development of novel antipsychotics and research into the fundamental mechanisms governing coordinated neural activity. By utilising genetic and pharmacological rodent models for schizophrenia, the work performed in this thesis has generated the following key novel findings:

Aim 1) Utilising a chronic dosing paradigm in a rodent model to study the effects of antipsychotic medications, it was revealed that antipsychotic drugs had a significant impact on the characteristics of ongoing γ oscillations and their alteration in response to NMDAr blockade. Chronic administration of the typical antipsychotic haloperidol and the atypical drug clozapine produced significant and sustained decreases in the power of ongoing γ oscillations throughout the course of a 28-day treatment. Chronic treatment with the novel pre-clinical antipsychotic, an mGluR_{2/3} agonist, LY379268, did not produce continual changes in the power of ongoing γ oscillations, despite having pronounced effects on this property acutely. The effects of acute ketamine injection (significantly increased γ power and locomotor activity) were greatly attenuated by chronic administration of all three drugs compared to control animals.

When compared to the effects of single acute antipsychotic administration, the chronic delivery of both haloperidol and clozapine was able to significantly reduce the electrophysiological effects of ketamine injection. This result is in line with the known clinical treatment profile of antipsychotic medications, which take time to produce their clinical effects (Gelder et al., 2000). This result increases the face validity of this model; the observed results match with the current clinical expectations and understanding. These findings also indicate increased support for the predicative validity of measuring γ oscillations in an acute NMDAr antagonist model for schizophrenia. The results with the pre-clinical drug also support current human studies utilising mGluR_{2/3} agonists in the treatment of schizophrenia, showing equivalent or greater efficacy as the conventional drugs. The differences in the mGluR_{2/3} agonists γ oscillation profile also potentially provides insight into how a reported beneficial side-effect profile may be the result of the relative sparing of ongoing activity. In summary the study of chronic antipsychotic treatment both verifies and expands our previous work demonstrating that antipsychotic medications affect γ oscillations. This result validates a potential biomarker of antipsychotic efficacy and further increases the relevance of γ oscillations to the schizophrenia disease state.

Aim 2) In a genetic model for schizophrenia based on widely replicated schizophrenia association studies (Stefansson et al., 2003; 2002), we utilised mice that were heterozygous for a mutation in the Neuregulin 1 gene. Nrg1 TM HET mutant mice display a range of behavioural and physiological abnormalities that are relevant to the schizophrenia disease state (Duffy et al., 2010; Karl et al., 2007). The study reported in this thesis provides the first evidence of γ oscillations abnormalities that coincide with their schizophrenia relevant behaviour. Nrg1 TM HET mice displayed an increase in the power of ongoing cortical γ compared to wild-type mice, a result similar to the effects of the psychotomimetic NMDAr antagonists on γ oscillations.

Studying sensory-evoked γ oscillations in these animals revealed further neural oscillations deficits relevant to schizophrenia. Nrg1 TM HET mice displayed a reduction in sensory-evoked γ activity; coupled with the presence of increased baseline γ this resulted in a substantially disrupted γ signal-to-noise ratio in these animals. This altered sensory related γ signal-to-noise finding is relevant to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia; supporting theoretical conceptions of the perceptual and cognitive abnormalities in the disease as a result of aberrant noises and reduced sensory signal discrimination in neural networks (Gandal et al., 2012b; Kulikova et al., 2012; Winterer et al., 2000). ErbB4 and NMDAr subunit mRNA expression was unaffected by Nrg1 genotype, but NR2B phosphorylation levels were significantly lower in Nrg1 mutant mice. The reduced phosphorylation of the NMDAr NR2B subunit presents a potential physiological mechanism in the generation of these abnormal γ rhythms and adds further support for the involvement of NMDAr dysfunction in abnormal γ oscillations and schizophrenia. In summary, the presence of distinct γ frequency electrophysiological abnormalities in Nrg1 mutant animals is the first evidence of an abnormal γ oscillatory phenotype in the Nrg1 transmembrane domain mutant mouse, providing a neurophysiological correlate of the behavioural abnormalities observed in this model. It provides further evidence of the signal-to-noise decreases in schizophrenia models and is an important extension of our γ oscillation model into a genetic foundation.

Aim 3) In a study utilising the NMDAr antagonist ketamine to probe the cell-tonetwork level effects of NMDAr blockade on γ oscillations in the TC-CT somatosensory neural pathway, it was demonstrated that a single injection of ketamine simultaneously increased the power of ongoing γ oscillations and decreased both the amplitude and the γ power of the sensory-evoked responses in both the thalamus and the cortex. This result both replicates and expands upon our previous findings (Hakami et al., 2009; Kulikova et al., 2012) that NMDAr blockade reduces sensory-evoked γ signal-to-noise in the cortex. As well as replicating these existing results, this study reported the novel finding that this disruption of sensory information transfer occurs throughout the TC-CT somatosensory pathway.

Further investigation of the thalamic response to somatosensory stimulation revealed the presence of a putative CT feedback response, a 'late' latency response at approximately 10 ms after the stimulation. We were able to successfully demonstrate that this late response was dependent on CT neuronal firing, indicating it is CT feedback to the sensory stimulation. Furthermore, the magnitude of this response strongly correlated ($r^2=0.9$, p<0.001) with the power of the sensoryevoked γ oscillations in the thalamus, indicating that the CT pathway significantly contributed in the sensory-evoked γ in the thalamus. Investigating the contribution of the CT pathway in the ongoing and sensory-evoked γ oscillations demonstrated that the cortex plays a significant role in the generation of thalamic γ oscillations during information processing and that ketamine reduces the CT-mediated sensory signal-to- γ -noise ratio.

As well as the specific findings in each study, the combined work adds to the growing impression that the study of neural dynamics will be critical to further our understanding of schizophrenia and other psychiatric illnesses (Uhlhaas, 2013). Utilising multiple rodent models for schizophrenia, this thesis demonstrated the presence of multiple γ oscillatory abnormalities across these different models and in a variety of perpetual and behavioural paradigms. Disruptions and changes in γ frequency activity were shown to be pervasive in both acute and chronic pharmacological interventions, as well as chronic genetic alterations based on clinically relevant mutations.

The prevalence of these alterations throughout our rodent models gives reassurance that γ oscillations are important neurological properties relevant to psychiatric illness as well as encouragement that rodent models will be useful tools for their study. The work presented here extends our understanding of the involvement of γ alterations in rodent models for schizophrenia, demonstrating how cellular and synaptic changes (be they pharmacological or genetic) can lead to network level modifications in neuronal dynamics. These findings expand the scope and relevance of these rodent models and will help guide future work in translational models of γ oscillations and schizophrenia.

5.2

Rodent Models as Translational Tools for Understanding Gamma Oscillations in Schizophrenia

There is a growing consensus that disruptions in neural oscillations, particularly γ oscillations, play a significant role in the pathophysiology of human psychiatric disease (Herrmann and Demiralp, 2005; Sun et al., 2011). The result of this research has led to a modern conception of schizophrenia as a disease of dysconnection (Stephan et al., 2009) that is underpinned by disruptions in communication caused by faults in neural synchrony and disruptions to γ oscillations (Uhlhaas, 2013). The research presented in this thesis expands upon our existing knowledge of γ oscillation abnormalities in rodent models for schizophrenia and further develops models that have strong translational potential for the investigation of the neural dynamics that give rise to psychiatric illness.

There is strong evidence for the NMDAr hypofunction hypothesis of schizophrenia across a broad range of neuropsychological, pharmacological and genetic fields of research (Goff and Coyle, 2001; Moghaddam, 2003), however it is only recently that studies have examined γ frequency activity in these models. The research presented in this thesis fully supports the existing understanding of the effects of γ oscillations in rodent models for schizophrenia. This is not an insignificant point, as the existing literature is relatively limited and establishing these are robust and replicable effects is important to establishing the reliability and validity of these models. Furthermore, the work in this thesis establishes that the effects of NMDAr antagonist treatment on ongoing γ oscillations are broadly applicable across a range of behavioural conditions, treatment paradigms and species. In addition to the replication and support of our existing understanding of γ oscillations in rodent models, the work presented in this thesis crucially expands the scope of γ oscillation abnormalities in rodent models. The study conducted in Nrg1 TM HET mice made the novel finding that these mutant mice display increased γ power in baseline cortical oscillations, and reduced sensory-evoked γ responses. observations associated with reduced These electrophysiological were phosphorylation of the NMDAr NR2B subunit. This study provides the first evidence of an abnormal γ oscillatory phenotype in the Nrg1 transmembrane domain mutant mouse, providing a γ oscillation correlate of the behavioural abnormalities previously observed in this model (Duffy et al., 2010; Karl et al., 2007).

This finding validates and extends the existing literature on γ oscillations in rodent models for schizophrenia, in particular other studies demonstrating opposite effects on ongoing and baseline γ oscillations (Kulikova et al., 2012; Saunders et al., 2012). This study is useful in demonstrating the potential for animal models to be informed by clinical research, demonstrating that a clinically relevant genetic mutation related to schizophrenia can induce substantial γ oscillation abnormalities in a rodent model. This finding also supports the hypothesis that γ oscillations are integral to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia; a mutation in a gene identified as a risk factor for schizophrenia leads to the recapitulation of complex electrophysiological disturbances that are also observed in patients. Secondly, this result provides important support for the utility of animal models for schizophrenia. We now have a neurodevelopmental, and environmentally realistic model animal that possesses innate γ oscillatory deficits. This animal model can provide a basis for studies looking at interventions and treatments, specifically geared towards rescuing electrophysiological abnormalities. It also provides a unique animal model for examining the pathology underlying these abnormal γ oscillations. By studying the cellular and molecular differences in Nrg1 mutant mice, we will be able to reveal potential causes of the similar pathological neural dynamics in humans.

The results of the existing study do not provide a mechanistic explanation for the observed γ abnormalities, although they do provide support for the currently existing hypotheses of NMDAr hypofunction and PV+ GABAergic interneuron dysfunction (Gonzalez-Burgos et al., 2010; Woo et al., 2010). Considerable evidence suggests that Nrg1 signalling affects NMDAr function: ErbB4 (the Nrg1 receptor) attaches to the scaffolding protein PSD-95 in the same location as NMDArs (Huang et al., 2000). Although we saw no alteration in the expression NMDAr subunits, we cannot rule out a selective alteration of NMDArs on cortical interneurons, particularly since ErbB4 is highly expressed by these cells (Fazzari et al., 2010). Also, we did see alterations in NMDAr phosphorylation, supporting previous reports (Bjarnadottir et al., 2007) and providing some evidence that glutamatergic dysfunction is involved. Recent studies that utilised the conditional ablation of NMDArs on PV+ interneurons found marked increases in the spectral power of ongoing neural oscillations specific to the γ frequency band (Korotkova et al., 2010) supporting the hypothesis that NMDAr input to PV+ cells is essential for normal γ oscillatory function.

Our study into the TC-CT somatosensory circuit and the effects of NMDAr antagonism on sensory transmission demonstrates the utility of such animal models. Ketamine provides a viable model of the electrophysiological abnormalities seen in schizophrenia (Gandal et al., 2012b) and by utilising this effect we were able to investigate the pathophysiological processes in detailed anatomical specificity. Using this model we demonstrated that detreimental changes in the γ signal-to-noise ratio were present throughout the TC circuit that relays somatosensory information. Furthermore we showed that top-down CT feedback is essential for sensory-evoked γ responses in the VPm. These results indicate that sensory-evoked γ oscillations, (which are known to play a role in perceptual and sensory processes (Gray et al., 1989; Singer and Gray, 1995; Tallon-Baudry and Bertrand, 1999; Traub et al., 1996)) rely on CT pathways for generation in the thalamus. While these findings are still at a preliminary stage they will help guide future research. For instance these results indicate that the top-down cortical influence on thalamic sensory processing plays a significant role in sensory-evoked γ , indicating that this process would be a useful target for investigating the pathological mechanisms of schizophrenia. The use of NMDAr antagonists in anaesthetised animal preparations enables the investigation of detailed cellular and circuit mechanisms underlying the pathophysiological γ oscillations relevant to schizophrenia and other psychiatric disease.

Our research into the effects of antipsychotic treatment on γ oscillations also demonstrates the potential translational utility of such animal models. A previous study performed in our laboratory demonstrated that the acute administration of antipsychotic medications had a substantial impact on the power of ongoing γ oscillations (Jones et al., 2012). Treatment with haloperidol, clozapine or LY379268 caused a rapid and sustained decrease in γ oscillations. Given the widespread prevalence of γ abnormalities observed in the disease (Gandal et al., 2012b; Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010) the finding that antipsychotic medications alter γ activity indicates a potential novel mechanism for their efficacy. This study established a potential translational model of antipsychotic efficacy; NMDAr antagonists induced pathological γ activity and antipsychotic medications opposed this. Interestingly, although the conventional antipsychotics reduced the power of ongoing γ oscillations and so attenuated ketamine's overall effect on γ activity, they did not reduce the proportional effects of ketamine. The study reported in this thesis sought to replicate this original study and validate its results as well as expand the model into a more clinically realistic dosing paradigm.

In clinical practice it has long been held that the response to antipsychotic treatment is typically delayed 2-3 weeks before effects are seen (Gelder et al., 2000) and so we aimed to model this time frame of antipsychotic effects. The primary finding of the study was that chronic treatment with the conventional antipsychotics haloperidol and clozapine strongly attenuated the psychotomimetic effects of an acute ketamine challenge, as measured through electrophysiological and behavioural activity. This effect was substantially different to that seen in acute dosing. Under the chronic treatment paradigm the conventional antipsychotics substantially attenuated the proportional effects of ketamine, reducing its impact on γ oscillations. This finding matches the expected clinical results and so increases the face validity of this new translational model. As well as displaying validity with respect to existing antipsychotic medications the methods used in this paradigm give potential insights into the mechanisms that underlie antipsychotic efficacy. The drugs we tested have highly varied pharmacological profiles yet had similar effects on animal behaviour and electrophysiology, indicating that changes in γ oscillations may be relevant to the antipsychotic efficacy. This animal model also yielded potential insight into the cause of antipsychotic side effects, mGluR_{2/3} agonists are reported to be effective antipsychotics with beneficial side-effect profiles (Adams et al., 2013), which may be reflected in the lack of persistent effects on ongoing γ . These results would need further investigation, but demonstrate the utility of such animal models. A γ oscillation rodent model of antipsychotic efficacy could be used to evaluate novel antipsychotic compounds as well as investigate the mechanisms that underlie neural dynamic deficits and their potential pharmacological amelioration.

5.3

Gamma Signal-to-Noise Abnormalities

The findings presented in this thesis relate to the hypothesis that the observed increase in ongoing γ oscillations represents a pathological, excessive neural 'noise' and that the electrophysiological abnormalities in schizophrenia result in an overall decrease in the γ signal-to-noise ratio in information processing circuits. This idea has been proposed multiple times (Flynn et al., 2008; Gandal et al., 2012a; Hakami et al., 2009; Kulikova et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2009; Winterer et al., 2000; 2004) citing evidence from clinical studies (see Section 1.5.3 for a detailed summary, also reviews by (Gandal et al., 2012b; Uhlhaas and Singer, 2010)). This literature demonstrates that γ frequency neural activity is disrupted in patients with schizophrenia, both at rest and during various cognitive or perceptual tasks.

The results reported in this thesis offer support for this hypothesis, as well as demonstrating that animal models for schizophrenia present a reliable and valid method to study this phenomenon. Our research provides support across multiple paradigms and techniques indicating a commonality of sensory γ signal-to-noise abnormalities in rodent schizophrenia models. To briefly summarise the findings that are relevant to the neural 'noise' hypothesis, it was established that NMDAr antagonists disrupt γ signal-to-noise ratios in both rat and mouse models for

schizophrenia, across pharmacological and genetic models, and in multiple different sensory domains. The overall results of the studies that constitute this thesis support a conception of pathological γ activity in schizophrenia, including aberrant ongoing γ noise and a subsequent disruption of the γ signal-to-noise ratio in information processing circuits of the brain. While not providing mechanistic explanations for these electrophysiological abnormaltities, we have demonstrated that these rodent models are viable paradigms for investigations of γ oscillation defiicts relevant to schizophrenia.

Our finding that Nrg1 TM HET mice display elevated γ frequency power in 'baseline' recordings and concurrent reductions in stimulus-driven γ responses is a good example of the potential utility of such rodent models. This finding expands the existing animal models that manifest the complex electrophysiological characteristics seen in patients with schizophrenia from just pharmacological models into genetic neurodevelopmental models as well. This is an important advance in the capabilities of animal models of electrophysiological deficits in schizophrenia, demonstrating that pharmacological intervention is not the only method to elicit γ signal-to-noise deficits. The fact that a mutation that presumably results in the development of aberrant neuronal networks (Fazzari et al., 2010) can also result in similar electrophysiological characteristics is an important addition to our understanding of these deficits and increases the face validity of such models. The similarities between the Nrg1 model and the NMDAr antagonist models could also shed light into the mechanisms involved, although further studies into the anatomical and cellular pathologies associated with the Nrg1 mouse model are still needed.

In the third results chapter of this thesis, the study of TC and CT circuits in the somatosensory pathway was explicitly designed to elucidate the effects of NMDAr antagonist administration on the γ signal-to-noise ratio in sensory processing. The findings replicated the previous results of (Kulikova et al., 2012), and expanded upon these, demonstrating that ketamine has opposite effects on ongoing and sensory-evoked γ oscillations and disrupts the γ signal-to-noise ratio throughout the somatosensory pathway. This adds to our existing understanding of γ abnormalities in animal models for schizophrenia, demonstrating that γ signal-tonoise are present at a precise anatomical level throughout the somatosensory pathway. This study has also provided insight into the mechanisms that may drive the pathological γ processes in sensory processing. Our results demonstrated an important role for CT feedback in generating sensory-evoked γ oscillations. This indicates that dysfunctional γ generated in sensory pathways may be driven by topdown cortical disturbances. The present results can neither rule out nor confirm that NMDAr antagonists act through CT driven dysfunction, but they do indicate that top-down cortical processes are essential to sensory γ activity. The role of CT feedback also provides a potential explanation for the detrimental effects that ketamine has on the sensory γ signal-to-noise ratio. If ketamine is acting to interfere with cortico-cortical and CT communication it could disrupt the necessary feedback loops that are required to generate coherent oscillations (Contreras et al., 1996; Jones, 2001)

It is important to note some important limitations in our understanding of γ signal-to-noise deficits; we do not have a complete understanding of the mechanisms that lead to these abnormal oscillations and we also do not understand the relationship between ongoing γ activity and sensory-evoked γ oscillations. γ oscillations are generated through the peri-somatic inhibition of pyramidal cells (Gonzalez-Burgos and Lewis, 2008; Whittington et al., 2000), which is mediated via the action of PV+ interneurons (Bartos et al., 2007; Cobb et al., 1995). NMDAr blockade is theorised to lead to a reduction of excitatory input to GABAergic interneurons and result in a disinhibition of pyramidal cells (Behrens et

al., 2007; Breier et al., 1998; Homayoun and Moghaddam, 2007), which in turn produces a hyper-glutamatergic state. This excessive glutamate release is purported to cause the increase of γ frequency activity seen in-vivo following NMDAr antagonist administration (Hakami et al., 2009; Lazarewicz et al., 2010; Pinault, 2008). Although widely supported this theory is not conclusive (Kulikova et al., 2012) and ketamine's 'off target' actions at muscarinic, serotonergic, dopaminergic and GABAergic receptors could all conceivably play a role (Flood and Krasowski, 2000; Irifune et al., 2000; Kapur and Seeman, 2002). Further investigation into the mechanisms that lead to NMDAr antagonist-induced γ oscillations is needed to further refine and develop animal models for γ oscillation abnormalities in schizophrenia.

Another important issue is that the relationship between ongoing γ oscillations and those elicited through sensory and cognitive tasks. The nature of these two types of γ is not clearly understood and two competing hypotheses exist. In one conception the 'additive' model, sensory-evoked activity reflects bottom-up processing of sensory stimulus that is superimposed on top of the random background 'noise' of ongoing oscillations (Allison et al., 1991). The competing view is that evoked potentials result from the phase locking or reset of basic underlying oscillations as a response to external input (Basar, 1980). In this second phase locking theory, the state of the ongoing neural oscillations could dramatically affect the evoked and induced responses to sensory input. Reduced phase locking has been reported in schizophrenia, in the context of a reduction of γ signal-tonoise ratio (Winterer et al., 2000). NMDAr antagonist-induced pathological ongoing γ 'noise' will alter the overall γ signal-to-noise ratio in different ways depending on the precise mechanisms involved in the generation of sensory-evoked responses. At present we do not have conclusive data as to which mechanism is involved in sensory-evoked γ , nor how NMDAr blockade affects this. This is an

area that should be the subject of future research with the goal of understanding sensory abnormalities in schizophrenia. The models developed throughout this thesis are viable paradigms for the further investigation of such processes.

In conclusion, the research presented in this thesis provides evidence that the γ frequency signal-to-noise ratio is disrupted in pharmacological and genetic rodent models for schizophrenia. This measure may be a suitable marker for the use of evaluating sensory neural circuit function in both animals and human, serving as a translational measure in models for schizophrenia (Gandal et al., 2012b; Kulikova et al., 2012; Winterer et al., 2000). We have presented findings that a mutation in the Nrg1 can result in dysfunctional sensory processing circuits in mice, leading to reductions in the γ signal-to-noise ratio. This is similar to the effects induced by NMDAr antagonists (Kulikova et al., 2012) and also mirrors the complex electrophysiological abnormalities seen in patients with schizophrenia (Gandal et al., 2012b; Winterer et al., 2000). We also demonstrated that these abnormalities exist throughout TC and CT pathways in somatosensory networks and further investigation of these pathways will hopefully yield insights into the pathophysiological processes that underlie schizophrenia. The animal models we have developed in these studies should prove to be useful tools for investigating perceptual and cognitive deficits in schizophrenia and treatments to mitigate these deficits.

5.4

Limitations and Future Directions

The goal of this thesis was to expand and enhance our understanding of γ oscillations in rodent models for schizophrenia and the work presented here has successfully grown our knowledge regarding γ activity in pharmacological and

genetic models for schizophrenia. The goal of such animal models is to improve our understanding of the human disease and ultimately improve the well-being of patients. Extrapolating any results to the human condition must be done with great care and the limitations of animal studies must be acknowledged. Schizophrenia in particular is a uniquely human disease and no animal model can ever hope to capture the full spectrum of its effects. However if we can restrict our models to specific aspects of the disease and ensure the validity and relevance of the biological mechanisms involved we can gain useful insight into the pathophysiological mechanism involved with these specific aspects of the disease. In the case of rodent models for schizophrenia and the specific measure of electrophysiological characteristics we can have a high degree of confidence that our findings will be comparable to the human condition. Rodents have a similarly structured cortex to humans, including a six layered organisation and topographically aligned sensory and motor areas (Lui et al., 2011). Mice and rats also share the specific neuronal subtypes regarded as important for the generation and coordination on neural oscillations and in many ways the human brain can be considered a 'scaled-up' version of other primates and mammals' brains (Herculano-Houzel, 2009). Of specific relevance to this thesis, studies of the temporal characteristics of the multiple brain rhythms that constitute neural oscillations show a high degree of similarity across practically all mammals (Buzsaki et al., 2013). As a result we can assume with a high degree of confidence that the results of rodent studies into neural oscillations do have relevance to the human condition.

One of the foremost limitaions in the work that constitutes this thesis is in regard to the study of chronic antipsychotic administration. This study expanded upon previous work that demonstrated antipsychotics could alter the power of ongoing γ oscillations in rats. We increased the scope of this model to include a more clinically relevant dosing paradigm that covered several weeks of treatment, which attenuated a ketamine-induced increase in the power of ongoing γ

oscillations. However this also reveals a key limitation of the study; while the treatment received more accurately reflects the clinical situation, the model used did not. This study was conducted in healthy animals, displaying physiologically normal γ oscillations, not the chronic abnormalities seen in schizophrenia. This places clear limits on the interpretations that can be made. As discussed earlier (Section 1.4 on NMDAr hypofunction) there is reason to believe that acute NMDAr antagonist treatment may reflect the early-onset of schizophrenic illness representing the psychotic symptoms of the disease (Bubeníková-Valešová et al., 2008; Jentsch and Roth, 1999; Mouri et al., 2007). The increased efficacy of chronic antipsychotic treatment versus the single acute dose administered in (Jones et al., 2012), is a useful advancement of the model, but further studies in paradigms that model the chronic nature of schizophrenia are essential to the further development of these models.

Sub-chronic administration of NMDAr antagonists have already been demonstrated to successfully capture some elements of chronic schizophrenia, producing persistent changes in hyperlocomotion and increased immobility in the forced swim test (Mouri et al., 2012; Nagai et al., 2003) as well as anatomical deficits in markers of GABAergic health (Morrow et al., 2007; Qin et al., 1994; Rujescu et al., 2006), suggesting these may be suitable models to investigate the chronic disease. Neurodevelopment models would also be a useful addition; in that context the Nrg1 TM HET model utilised in Chapter 3 would be ideal. We have already demonstrated specific γ oscillation abnormalities in this model and there is existing research that demonstrates its responsiveness to antipsychotic treatment (Bjarnadottir et al., 2007; Moghaddam and Jackson, 2003; Stefansson et al., 2002). Finally, the addition of electrophysiological measures to clinical studies of novel antipsychotics would be an essential step to truly demonstrate the translational utility of such model. Another limitation of this study is that it does not address the molecular mechanisms that underlie the effects of antipsychotic treatment on γ
oscillations. It is possible that long-term treatment with antipsychotics is modulating the number, density or phosphorylation states of NMDAr receptors. However, to date numerous animal studies have produced inconsistent results. Showing increases, decreases and no changes in various brain region and for various glutamate receptors. (Giardino et al., 1997; McCoy et al., 1998; Ossowska et al., 1999; Spurney et al., 1999). The original study also revealed the interesting finding that an acute dose of antipsychotics resulted in long-lasting (~ 24 hour) depressions in ongoing γ power (Jones et al., 2012). This is well beyond the time that these drugs would have effective plasma concentrations; indicating that down-stream processes are involved in their modulatory effect on γ power. Future research will need to address both the molecular mechanisms and the neural dynamics involved in order to understand these processes.

The link between γ oscillations and behaviour in the experimental animal models investigated in this thesis is another limitation. The results of the studies reported in chapters 2 and 3 as well as previous studies from our laboratories (Hakami et al., 2009; Jones et al., 2012; Pinault 2008) provide evidence that there exists a disconnection between the γ oscillations and hyperlocomotor activity induced by psychotomimetic NMDAr antagonists such as ketamine and MK-801. We have specifically demonstrated that the increase in power of ongoing γ oscillations does not depend upon concurrent locomotor activity (Pinault 2008) and that antipsychotic medications can attenuate the locomotor effects of ketamine while not affecting the magnitude of increase in γ oscillations (Jones et al., 2012; Chapter 2). Investigating the physiological mechanisms behind this disconnection was beyond the scope of the studies presented in this thesis, but a likely pathway is the downstream dopamine release triggered by NMDAr antagonists (Moghaddam et al., 1997). This mechanism can potentially explain the effectiveness of dopaminergic antagonist antipsychotics in preventing hyperlocomotion while

sparing the γ increasing effects of ketamine. Further studies to specifically examine the link between NMDAr antagonism, γ oscillation changes and hyperlocomotor effects will be needed in order to understand this phenomeneon.

This also highlights the need for more complex and robust behavioural paradigms to be developed and investigated in order to understand the links between altered γ oscillations and behaviour. Understanding of the mechanisms underlying the negative and cognitive symptoms in schizophrenia is currently an underserved need in the disease and γ oscillations provide a potential pathway for doing so. γ oscillations are robustly linked to cognitive processes in human studies (Engel et al., 2001; Herrmann et al., 2004; Uhlhaas and Singer 2010) and disruptions to neural oscillations may give rise to the cognitive symptoms seen in schizophrenia. The studies presented in this thesis have not investigated the cognitive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia and the main behavioural paradigm used (locomotion) fails to give insight into any potential links between these factors.

Future research will need to develop new paradigms and behavioural measures that simultaneously examine γ oscillations and aspects of cognition such as memory, attention and perception in order to increase our understanding of the link between these domains and their relevance to schizophrenia. There already exists numerous cognitive testing paradigms for rodent models that have been demonstrated to be relevant and valid for assessing schizophrenia relevant behavioural outcomes in animals (Young et al., 2009); adapting these tests to incorporate simultaneous measures of neural oscillations will lead to the development of useful behavioural paradigms to measure both cognitive outcomes and neural oscillatory activity relevant to the schizophrenia disease state.

Chapters 3 and 4 reported reductions in the γ signal-to-noise ratio, which has been proposed as a marker of neuronal circuit dysfunction (Gandal et al., 2012b; Kulikova et al., 2012; Winterer et al., 2000). This is an important step towards developing effective animal models for the study of γ oscillations in schizophrenia, but further development of novel behavioural paradigms will be essential to understand the role that γ oscillations play in sensory and cognitive processing. For example, in our study in the somatosensory circuit we demonstrated reduced γ signal-to-noise in the TC and CT pathways. In order to understand the functional results of this disruption it will be essential to develop behavioural paradigms that can reveal the outcome of disrupted γ oscillations. Perceptual tasks that involve responding to threshold level sensory information is one potential route, conducted under control and NMDAr blockade conditions, γ oscillations can be recorded in the sensory pathway and correlations between the level of task performance can inform us of the function of these oscillations. Similar tasks exist for memory paradigms (Tort et al., 2008) and there are a range of wellvalidated animal behavioural tasks that can measure elements of schizophrenia pathology (Young et al., 2009). As well as correlative measures of the effect of γ oscillations more direct manipulation of neural dynamics is now possible through the use of optogenetic and pharmacological targeting of specific neuronal subtypes (Armbruster et al., 2007; Deisseroth et al., 2006). It has already been demonstrated that γ frequency optogenetic stimulation of PV+ interneurons is sufficient to generate γ oscillations (Sohal et al., 2009). Furthermore, this enhancement of γ frequency activity was found to enhance information theoretic measures of signal transmission in vivo (Carlen et al., 2012; Sohal et al., 2009). The ability to target specific cell-types coupled with the development of novel behavioural paradigms will allow for the precise elucidation of the functional role of γ frequency activity in a range of perceptual and cognitive tasks. The pharmacological and genetic animal models of altered γ oscillations developed in this thesis should be useful tools in the development of future paradigms and hopefully lead to new insights into the cognitive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia and their treatment.

5.5 Final Conclusions

Gamma oscillations have been demonstrated to play an important role in the various cognitive processes that constitute healthy brain function. There is increasing evidence that the cognitive abnormalities and symptoms seen in schizophrenia are related to dysfunctional γ frequency activity and that deficits in the brain's ability to coordinate synchronised neuronal networks may underlie the pathophysiology of the disease. Animal models for schizophrenia that capture the complex neural dynamics and pathological γ oscillations seen in schizophrenia. The findings in this thesis have demonstrated that a variety of animal models for schizophrenia can recapitulate specific γ oscillation abnormalities relevant to the disease state and that these models may have utility for future translational studies into the pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abel, K.M., Allin, M.P.G., Kucharska-Pietura, K., Andrew, C., Williams, S., David, A.S., and Phillips, M.L. (2003). Ketamine and fMRI BOLD signal: distinguishing between effects mediated by change in blood flow versus change in cognitive state. Hum Brain Mapp 18, 135–145.
- Abi-Dargham, A., Gil, R., Krystal, J., Baldwin, R.M., Seibyl, J.P., Bowers, M., van Dyck, C.H., Charney, D.S., Innis, R.B., and Laruelle, M. (1998). Increased striatal dopamine transmission in schizophrenia: confirmation in a second cohort. Am J Psychiatry 155, 761– 767.
- Adams, B., and Moghaddam, B. (1998). Corticolimbic dopamine neurotransmission is temporally dissociated from the cognitive and locomotor effects of phencyclidine. J Neurosci 18, 5545–5554.
- Adams, C.E., Awad, G.A., Rathbone, J., Thornley, B., and Soares-Weiser, K. (2014). Chlorpromazine versus placebo for schizophrenia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 1, CD000284.
- Adams, D.H., Kinon, B.J., Baygani, S., Millen, B.A., Velona, I., Kollack-Walker, S., and Walling, D.P. (2013). A long-term, phase 2, multicenter, randomized, open-label, comparative safety study of pomaglumetad methionil (LY2140023 monohydrate) versus atypical antipsychotic standard of care in patients with schizophrenia. BMC Psychiatry 13, 143.
- Addington, A.M., Gornick, M., Duckworth, J., Sporn, A., Gogtay, N., Bobb, A., Greenstein, D., Lenane, M., Gochman, P., Baker, N., et al. (2005). GAD1 (2q31.1), which encodes glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD67), is associated with childhood-onset schizophrenia and cortical gray matter volume loss. Mol Psychiatry 10, 581–588.
- Adler, C.M., Goldberg, T.E., Malhotra, A.K., Pickar, D., and Breier, A. (1998). Effects of ketamine on thought disorder, working memory, and semantic memory in healthy volunteers. Biol Psychiatry 43, 811–816.
- Adler, C.M., Malhotra, A.K., Elman, I., Goldberg, T., Egan, M., Pickar, D., and Breier, A. (1999). Comparison of ketamine-induced thought disorder in healthy volunteers and thought disorder in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 156, 1646–1649.
- Agartz, I., Andersson, J.L., and Skare, S. (2001). Abnormal brain white matter in schizophrenia: a diffusion tensor imaging study. Neuroreport *12*, 2251–2254.
- Agid, O., Kapur, S., Arenovich, T., and Zipursky, R.B. (2003). Delayed-onset hypothesis of antipsychotic action: a hypothesis tested and rejected. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60, 1228– 1235.
- Agid, O., Seeman, P., and Kapur, S. (2006). The "delayed onset" of antipsychotic action--an idea whose time has come and gone. J Psychiatry Neurosci *31*, 93–100.

- Ahmed, O.J., and Cash, S.S. (2013). Finding synchrony in the desynchronized EEG: the history and interpretation of gamma rhythms. Front Integr Neurosci 7, 1-7
- Akbarian, S., Kim, J.J., Potkin, S.G., Hagman, J.O., Tafazzoli, A., Bunney, W.E., and Jones, E.G. (1995). Gene expression for glutamic acid decarboxylase is reduced without loss of neurons in prefrontal cortex of schizophrenics. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52, 258–266.
- Akbarian, S., and Huang, H.-S. (2006). Molecular and cellular mechanisms of altered GAD1/GAD67 expression in schizophrenia and related disorders. Brain Res Rev 52, 293– 304.
- Alain, C., Hargrave, R., and Woods, D.L. (1998). Processing of auditory stimuli during visual attention in patients with schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 44, 1151–1159.
- Alitto, H.J., and Usrey, W.M. (2003). Corticothalamic feedback and sensory processing. Curr Opin Neurobiol 13, 440–445.
- Allen, N.C., Bagade, S., McQueen, M.B., Ioannidis, J.P.A., Kavvoura, F.K., Khoury, M.J., Tanzi, R.E., and Bertram, L. (2008). Systematic meta-analyses and field synopsis of genetic association studies in schizophrenia: the SzGene database. Nat Neurosci 40, 827–834.
- Allison, T., McCarthy, G., Wood, C.C., and Jones, S.J. (1991). Potentials evoked in human and monkey cerebral cortex by stimulation of the median nerve. A review of scalp and intracranial recordings. Brain 114 (Pt 6), 2465–2503.
- Allison, D.B., Mentore, J.L., Heo, M., Chandler, L.P., Cappelleri, J.C., Infante, M.C., and Weiden, P.J. (1999). Antipsychotic-induced weight gain: a comprehensive research synthesis. Am J Psychiatry 156, 1686–1696.
- Anis, N.A., Berry, S.C., Burton, N.R., and Lodge, D. (1983). The dissociative anaesthetics, ketamine and phencyclidine, selectively reduce excitation of central mammalian neurones by N-Methyl-D-aspartate. Br J Pharmacol 79, 565–575.
- Ardekani, B.A., Nierenberg, J., Hoptman, M.J., Javitt, D.C., and Lim, K.O. (2003). MRI study of white matter diffusion anisotropy in schizophrenia. Neuroreport *14*, 2025–2029.
- Armbruster, B.N., Li, X., Pausch, M.H., Herlitze, S., and Roth, B.L. (2007). Evolving the lock to fit the key to create a family of G protein-coupled receptors potently activated by an inert ligand. PNAS 104, 5163–5168.
- Arndt, S., Andreasen, N.C., Flaum, M., Miller, D., and Nopoulos, P. (1995). A longitudinal study of symptom dimensions in schizophrenia. Prediction and patterns of change. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52, 352–360.
- Arnfred, S.M.H., M rup, M., Thalbitzer, J., Jansson, L., and Parnas, J. (2011). Attenuation of beta and gamma oscillations in schizophrenia spectrum patients following hand posture perturbation. Psychiatry Res 185, 215–224.
- Arseneault, L., Cannon, M., Poulton, R., Murray, R., Caspi, A., and Moffitt, T.E. (2002). Cannabis use in adolescence and risk for adult psychosis: longitudinal prospective study. BMJ 325, 1212–1213.

- Artola, A., Bröcher, S., and Singer, W. (1990). Different voltage-dependent thresholds for inducing long-term depression and long-term potentiation in slices of rat visual cortex. Nature 347, 69–72.
- Avila, M.T. (2002). Effects of ketamine on leading saccades during smooth-pursuit eye movements may implicate cerebellar dysfunction in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 159, 1490–1496.
- Axmacher, N., Mormann, F., Fernández, G., Cohen, M.X., Elger, C.E., and Fell, J. (2007). Sustained neural activity patterns during working memory in the human medial temporal lobe. J Neurosci 27, 7807–7816.
- Bagal, A.A., Kao, J.P.Y., Tang, C.-M., and Thompson, S.M. (2005). Long-term potentiation of exogenous glutamate responses at single dendritic spines. PNAS 102, 14434–14439.
- Baiano, M., David, A., Versace, A., Churchill, R., Balestrieri, M., and Brambilla, P. (2007). Anterior cingulate volumes in schizophrenia: a systematic review and a meta-analysis of MRI studies. Schizophr Res 93, 1–12.
- Bakshi, V.P., and Geyer, M.A. (1995). Antagonism of phencyclidine-induced deficits in prepulse inhibition by the putative atypical antipsychotic olanzapine. Psychopharmacology 122, 198–201.
- Baldeweg, T., Spence, S., Hirsch, S.R., and Gruzelier, J. (1998). Gamma-band electroencephalographic oscillations in a patient with somatic hallucinations. Lancet 352, 620–621.
- Bao, J., Wolpowitz, D., Role, L.W., and Talmage, D.A. (2003). Back signaling by the Nrg-1 intracellular domain. J Cell Biol 161, 1133–1141.
- Barr, M.S., Farzan, F., Tran, L.C., Chen, R., Fitzgerald, P.B., and Daskalakis, Z.J. (2010). Evidence for excessive frontal evoked gamma oscillatory activity in schizophrenia during working memory. Schizophr Res 121, 146–152.
- Bartos, M., Vida, I., and Jonas, P. (2007). Synaptic mechanisms of synchronized gamma oscillations in inhibitory interneuron networks. Nat Rev Neurosci *8*, 45–56.
- Basar, E. (1980). EEG-brain dynamics: Relation between EEG and brain evoked potentials (Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press).
- Basar, E., Basar-Eroglu, C., Karakas, S., and Sch rmann, M. (2000). Brain oscillations in perception and memory. Int J Psychophysiol 35, 95–124.
- Basar-Eroglu, C., Brand, A., Hildebrandt, H., Karolina Kedzior, K., Mathes, B., and Schmiedt, C. (2007). Working memory related gamma oscillations in schizophrenia patients. Int J Psychophysiol 64, 39–45.
- Basar-Eroglu, C., Schmiedt-Fehr, C., Mathes, B., Zimmermann, J., and Brand, A. (2009). Are oscillatory brain responses generally reduced in schizophrenia during long sustained attentional processing? Int J Psychophysiol 71, 75–83.

- Basser, P.J., and Pierpaoli, C. (2011). Microstructural and physiological features of tissues elucidated by quantitative-diffusion-tensor MRI. Journal of Magnetic Resonance 213, 560– 570.
- Bastiaansen, M., and Hagoort, P. (2006). Oscillatory neuronal dynamics during language comprehension. Prog Brain Res 159, 179–196.
- Battaglia, G., Monn, J.A., and Schoepp, D.D. (1997). In vivo inhibition of veratridine-evoked release of striatal excitatory amino acids by the group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist LY354740 in rats. Neurosci Lett *229*, 161-164.
- Becker, C., Gramann, K., Müller, H.J., and Elliott, M.A. (2009). Electrophysiological correlates of flicker-induced color hallucinations. Conscious Cogn 18, 266–276.
- Begeron, R., and Coyle, J.T. (2012). N-Acetyl aspartyl-glutamate, NMDA Rceptor and Psychosis. Curr Med Chem 19, 1360.
- Behrendt, R.-P. (2010). Contribution of hippocampal region CA3 to consciousness and schizophrenic hallucinations. Neurosci Biobehav Rev *34*, 1121–1136.
- Behrens, M.M., Ali, S.S., Dao, D.N., Lucero, J., Shekhtman, G., Quick, K.L., and Dugan, L.L. (2007). Ketamine-induced loss of phenotype of fast-spiking interneurons is mediated by NADPH-oxidase. Science 318, 1645–1647.
- Beneyto, M., Kristiansen, L.V., Oni-Orisan, A., McCullumsmith, R.E., and Meador-Woodruff, J.H. (2007). Abnormal glutamate receptor expression in the medial temporal lobe in schizophrenia and mood disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 32, 1888–1902.
- Beneyto, M., and Meador-Woodruff, J.H. (2008). Lamina-specific abnormalities of NMDA receptor-associated postsynaptic protein transcripts in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 33, 2175–2186.
- Bengtsson-Tops, A., and Hansson, L. (1999). Clinical and social needs of schizophrenic outpatients living in the community: the relationship between needs and subjective quality of life. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 34, 513–518.
- Bennett, C., Voss, L.J., Barnard, J.P., and Sleigh, J.W. (2009). Practical use of the raw electroencephalogram waveform during general anesthesia: the art and science. Anesth. Analg. 109, 539–550.
- Benson, M.A., Newey, S.E., Martin-Rendon, E., Hawkes, R., and Blake, D.J. (2001). Dysbindin, a novel coiled-coil-containing protein that interacts with the dystrobrevins in muscle and brain. J Biol Chem 276, 24232–24241.
- Berger, H. (1929). On the EEG in Humans. Arch Psychiatr Nervenkr 87, 527–570.
- Berlucchi, G. (1999). Integration of brain activities: the roles of the diffusely projecting brainstem systems and the corpus callosum. Brain Res Bull 50, 389–390.
- Berman, R.M., Cappiello, A., Anand, A., Oren, D.A., Heninger, G.R., Charney, D.S., and Krystal, J.H. (2000). Antidepressant effects of ketamine in depressed patients. Biol

Psychiatry 47, 351-354.

- Bédard, C., and Destexhe, A. (2009). Macroscopic models of local field potentials and the apparent 1/f noise in brain activity. Biophys J 96, 2589–2603.
- Bitanihirwe, B.K.Y., Lim, M.P., Kelley, J.F., Kaneko, T., and Woo, T.U.W. (2009). Glutamatergic deficits and parvalbumin-containing inhibitory neurons in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. BMC Psychiatry 9, 71.
- Bjarnadottir, M., Misner, D.L., Haverfield-Gross, S., Bruun, S., Helgason, V.G., Stefansson, H., Sigmundsson, A., Firth, D.R., Nielsen, B., Stefansdottir, R., et al. (2007). Neuregulin1 (NRG1) signaling through Fyn modulates NMDA receptor phosphorylation: differential synaptic function in NRG1+/- knock-outs compared with wild-type mice. J Neurosci 27, 4519–4529.
- Bjerkenstedt, L., Edman, G., Hagenfeldt, L., Sedvall, G., and Wiesel, F.A. (1985). Plasma amino acids in relation to cerebrospinal fluid monoamine metabolites in schizophrenic patients and healthy controls. Br J Psychiatry 147, 276–282.
- Bleuler, E. (1950). Dementia praecox or the group of Schizophrenias (New York, NY: International Universities Press).
- Bliss, T.V.P., and Collingridge, G.L. (1993). A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature *361*, 31–39.
- Bradbury, T.N., and Miller, G.A. (1985). Season of birth in schizophrenia: A review of evidence, methodology, and etiology. Psychol Bull 98, 569–594.
- Braff, D.L., Ryan, J., Rissling, A.J., and Carpenter, W.T. (2013). Lack of use in the literature from the last 20 years supports dropping traditional schizophrenia subtypes from DSM-5 and ICD-11. Schizophr Bull 39, 751–753.
- Breier, A., Adler, C.M., Weisenfeld, N., Su, T.P., Elman, I., Picken, L., Malhotra, A.K., and Pickar, D. (1998). Effects of NMDA antagonism on striatal dopamine release in healthy subjects: application of a novel PET approach. Synapse 29, 142–147.
- Brenner, C.A., Krishnan, G.P., Vohs, J.L., Ahn, W.-Y., Hetrick, W.P., Morzorati, S.L., and O'Donnell, B.F. (2009). Steady state responses: electrophysiological assessment of sensory function in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 35, 1065–1077.
- Brenner, C.A., Sporns, O., Lysaker, P.H., and O'Donnell, B.F. (2003). EEG synchronization to modulated auditory tones in schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, and schizotypal personality disorder. Am J Psychiatry 160, 2238–2240.
- Bressan, R.A., Erlandsson, K., Stone, J.M., Mulligan, R.S., Krystal, J.H., Ell, P.J., and Pilowsky, L.S. (2005). Impact of Schizophrenia and Chronic Antipsychotic Treatment on [123I]CNS-1261 Binding to N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptors In Vivo. Biol Psychiatry 58, 41–46.
- Bromet, E.J., and Fennig, S. (1999). Epidemiology and natural history of schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 46, 871–881.

- Brosch, M., Budinger, E., and Scheich, H. (2002). Stimulus-related gamma oscillations in primate auditory cortex. J Neurophysiol 87, 2715–2725.
- Brown, A.S., and Susser, E.S. (2002). In utero infection and adult schizophrenia. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev *8*, 51–57.
- Browne, S., Roe, M., Lane, A., Gervin, M., Morris, M., Kinsella, A., Larkin, C., and Callaghan, E.O. (1996). Quality of life in schizophrenia: relationship to sociodemographic factors, symptomatology and tardive dyskinesia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 94, 118–124.
- Broyd, S.J., Demanuele, C., Debener, S., Helps, S.K., James, C.J., and Sonuga-Barke, E.J.S. (2009). Default-mode brain dysfunction in mental disorders: A systematic review. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 33, 279–296.
- Bubeníková-Valešová, V., Horáček, J., Vrajová, M., and Höschl, C. (2008). Models of schizophrenia in humans and animals based on inhibition of NMDA receptors. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 32, 1014–1023.
- Buckley, P., Miller, A., Olsen, J., Garver, D., Miller, D.D., and Csernansky, J. (2001). When symptoms persist: clozapine augmentation strategies. Schizophr Bull 27, 615–628.
- Buckner, R.L., Andrews-Hanna, J.R., and Schacter, D.L. (2008). The brain's default network: anatomy, function, and relevance to disease. Ann NY Acad Sci 1124, 1–38.
- Bullmore, E., and Sporns, O. (2009). Complex brain networks: graph theoretical analysis of structural and functional systems. Nat Rev Neurosci 10, 186–198.
- Butler, P.D., Silverstein, S.M., and Dakin, S.C. (2008). Visual perception and its impairment in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 64, 40–47.
- Buzsaki, G. (2006). Rhythms of the Brain (New York, NY: Oxford University Press).
- Buzsaki, G., and da Silva, F.L. (2012). High frequency oscillations in the intact brain. Progress in Neurobiology 98, 241–249.
- Buzsaki, G., and Draguhn, A. (2004). Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks. Science 304, 1926–1929.
- Buzsaki, G., and Watson, B.O. (2012). Brain rhythms and neural syntax: implications for efficient coding of cognitive content and neuropsychiatric disease. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 14, 345.
- Buzsaki, G., Anastassiou, C.A., and Koch, C. (2012). The origin of extracellular fields and currents--EEG, ECoG, LFP and spikes. Nat Rev Neurosci 13, 407–420.
- Buzsaki, G., Geisler, C., Henze, D.A., and Wang, X.-J. (2004). Interneuron Diversity series: Circuit complexity and axon wiring economy of cortical interneurons. Trends Neurosci 27, 186–193.
- Buzsaki, G., Logothetis, N., and Singer, W. (2013). Scaling brain size, keeping timing: evolutionary preservation of brain rhythms. Neuron *80*, 751–764.

- Caldwell, C.B., and Gottesman, I.I. (1990). Schizophrenics kill themselves too: a review of risk factors for suicide. Schizophr Bull *16*, 571–589.
- Campbell, U.C., Lalwani, K., Hernandez, L., Kinney, G.G., Conn, P.J., and Bristow, L.J. (2004). The mGluR5 antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP) potentiates PCP-induced cognitive deficits in rats. Psychopharmacology 175, 310–318.
- Cannon, M., Jones, P.B., and Murray, R.M. (2002). Obstetric complications and schizophrenia: historical and meta-analytic review. Am J Psychiatry *159*, 1080–1092.
- Canolty, R.T., Edwards, E., Dalal, S.S., Soltani, M., Nagarajan, S.S., Kirsch, H.E., Berger, M.S., Barbaro, N.M., and Knight, R.T. (2006). High Gamma Power Is Phase-Locked to Theta Oscillations in Human Neocortex. Science 313, 1626–1628.
- Carlen, M., Meletis, K., Siegle, J.H., Cardin, J.A., Futai, K., Vierling-Claassen, D., Ruhlmann, C., Jones, S.R., Deisseroth, K., Sheng, M., et al. (2012). A critical role for NMDA receptors in parvalbumin interneurons for gamma rhythm induction and behavior. Mol Psychiatry 17, 537–548.
- Chakos, M., Lieberman, J., Hoffman, E., Bradford, D., and Sheitman, B. (2001). Effectiveness of second-generation antipsychotics in patients with treatment-resistant schizophrenia: a review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Am J Psychiatry 158, 518–526.
- Chen, L., and Yang, C.R. (2002). Interaction of dopamine D1 and NMDA receptors mediates acute clozapine potentiation of glutamate EPSPs in rat prefrontal cortex. J Neurophysiol *87*, 2324–2336.
- Chesworth, R., Downey, L., Logge, W., Killcross, S., and Karl, T. (2012). Cognition in female transmembrane domain neuregulin 1 mutant mice. Behav Brain Res *226*, 218–223.
- Cho, R.Y., Konecky, R.O., and Carter, C.S. (2006). Impairments in frontal cortical gamma synchrony and cognitive control in schizophrenia. PNAS. *103*, 19878–19883.
- Chong, V.Z., Thompson, M., Beltaifa, S., Webster, M.J., Law, A.J., and Weickert, C.S. (2008). Elevated neuregulin-1 and ErbB4 protein in the prefrontal cortex of schizophrenic patients. Schizophr Res 100, 270–280.
- Chumakov, I., Blumenfeld, M., Guerassimenko, O., Cavarec, L., Palicio, M., Abderrahim, H., Bougueleret, L., Barry, C., Tanaka, H., La Rosa, P., et al. (2002). Genetic and physiological data implicating the new human gene G72 and the gene for D-amino acid oxidase in schizophrenia. PNAS. 99, 13675–13680.
- Clementz, B.A., Blumenfeld, L.D., and Cobb, S. (1997). The gamma band response may account for poor P50 suppression in schizophrenia. Neuroreport *8*, 3889–3893.
- Clementz, B.A., Geyer, M.A., and Braff, D.L. (1998). Poor P50 suppression among schizophrenia patients and their first-degree biological relatives. Am J Psychiatry 155, 1691–1694.
- Clinton, S.M., and Meador-Woodruff, J.H. (2004). Abnormalities of the NMDA receptor and associated intracellular molecules in the thalamus in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder.

Neuropsychopharmacology 29, 1353–1362.

- Cobb, S.R., Buhl, E.H., Halasy, K., Paulsen, O., and Somogyl, P. (1995). Synchronization of neuronal activity in hippocampus by individual GABAergic interneurons. Nature 378, 75– 78.
- Cochran, S.M., Kennedy, M., McKerchar, C.E., Steward, L.J., Pratt, J.A., and Morris, B.J. (2003). Induction of metabolic hypofunction and neurochemical deficits after chronic intermittent exposure to phencyclidine: Differential modulation by antipsychotic drugs. Neuropsychopharmacology 28, 265–275.
- Cohen, B.D., Rosenbaum, G., Luby, E.D., and SS, G.J. (1962). Comparison of phencyclidine hydrochloride (Sernyl) with other drugs. Arch Gen Psychiatry *6*, 395–401.
- Contreras, D., and Steriade, M. (1995). Cellular basis of EEG slow rhythms: a study of dynamic corticothalamic relationships. J Neurosci 15, 604–622.
- Contreras, D., Destexhe, A., Sejnowski, T.J., and Steriade, M. (1996). Control of spatiotemporal coherence of a thalamic oscillation by corticothalamic feedback. Science *274*, 771–774.
- Corbett, R., Camacho, F., Woods, A.T., Kerman, L.L., Fishkin, R.J., Brooks, K., and Dunn, R.W. (1995). Antipsychotic agents antagonize non-competitiveN-Methyl-D-aspartate antagonist-induced behaviors. Psychopharmacology 120, 67–74.
- Creese, I., Burt, D.R., and Snyder, S.H. (1976). Dopamine receptor binding predicts clinical and pharmacological potencies of antischizophrenic drugs. Science *192*, 481–483.
- Crone, N.E., Hao, L., Hart, J., Boatman, D., and Lesser, R.P. (2001). Electrocorticographic gamma activity during word production in spoken and sign language. Neurology 57 2045-2053.
- Cronenwett, W.J., and Csernansky, J. (2010). Thalamic pathology in Schizophrenia. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 4, 509–528.
- Csicsvari, J., Jamieson, B., Wise, K.D., and Buzsaki, G. (2003). Mechanisms of gamma oscillations in the hippocampus of the behaving rat. Neuron *37*, 311–322.
- Cuesta, M.J., Peralta, V., Caro, F., and de Leon, J. (1995). Schizophrenic syndrome and Wisconsin card sorting test dimensions. Psychiatry Re 58, 45-51.
- Cunningham, M.O., Hunt, J., Middleton, S., LeBeau, F.E.N., Gillies, M.G., Davies, C.H., Maycox, P.R., Whittington, M.A., and Racca, C. (2006). Region-specific reduction in entorhinal gamma oscillations and parvalbumin-immunoreactive neurons in animal models of psychiatric illness. J Neurosci 26, 2767–2776.
- Davies, M.A., Compton-Toth, B.A., Hufeisen, S.J., Meltzer, H.Y., and Roth, B.L. (2004). The highly efficacious actions of N-desmethylclozapine at muscarinic receptors are unique and not a common property of either typical or atypical antipsychotic drugs: is M1 agonism a pre-requisite for mimicking clozapine?s actions? Psychopharmacology 178, 451–460.

- Davis, J.M., Chen, N., and Glick, I.D. (2003). A meta-analysis of the efficacy of secondgeneration antipsychotics. Arch Gen Psychiatry *60*, 553.
- Davis, P.A. (1942). Comparative study of the EEG's of schizophrenic and manic-depressive patients. Am J Psychiatry 99, 210–217.
- De Gennaro, L., and Ferrara, M. (2003). Sleep spindles: An overview. Sleep Medicine Reviews 7, 423–440.
- Deisseroth, K., Feng, G., Majewska, A.K., Miesenbock, G., Ting, A., and Schnitzer, M.J. (2006). Next-generation optical technologies for illuminating genetically targeted brain circuits. J Neurosci 26, 10380–10386.
- del Pino, I., García-Frigola, C., Dehorter, N., Brotons-Mas, J.R., Alvarez-Salvado, E., de Lagrán, M.M., Ciceri, G., Gabaldón, M.V., Moratal, D., Dierssen, M., et al. (2013). Erbb4 deletion from fast-spiking interneurons causes schizophrenia-like phenotypes. Neuron 79, 1152–1168.
- Delorme, A., and Makeig, S. (2004). EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. J Neurosci Methods *134*, 9–21.
- Destexhe, A., and Sejnowski, T.J. (2003). Interactions between membrane conductances underlying thalamocortical slow-wave oscillations. Physiol Rev *83*, 1401–1453.
- Deutch, A.Y., Tam, S.Y., Freeman, A.S., Bowers, M.B., and Roth, R.H. (1987). Mesolimbic and mesocortical dopamine activation induced by phencyclidine: contrasting pattern to striatal response. Eur J Pharmacol 134, 257–264.
- Dracheva, S., Marras, S.A., Elhakem, S.L., Kramer, F.R., Davis, K.L., and Haroutunian, V. (2001). N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor expression in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 158, 1400–1410.
- Draguhn, A., Traub, R.D., Schmitz, D., and Jefferys, J.G. (1998). Electrical coupling underlies high-frequency oscillations in the hippocampus in vitro. Nature *394*, 189–192.
- Du, H., Kwon, I.K., and Kim, J. (2013). Neuregulin-1 Impairs the Long-term Depression of Hippocampal Inhibitory Synapses by Facilitating the Degradation of Endocannabinoid 2-AG. J Neurosci 33, 15022–15031.
- Duffy, L., Cappas, E., Lai, D., Boucher, A.A., and Karl, T. (2010). Cognition in transmembrane domain neuregulin 1 mutant mice. Neuroscience *170*, 800–807.
- Dumas, T.C. (2005). Developmental regulation of cognitive abilities: modified composition of a molecular switch turns on associative learning. Prog Neurobiol 76, 189–211.
- Duncan, G.E., Leipzig, J.N., Mailman, R.B., and Lieberman, J.A. (1998). Differential effects of clozapine and haloperidol on ketamine-induced brain metabolic activation. Brain Res 812, 65–75.
- Duncan, G.E., Miyamoto, S., Leipzig, J.N., and Lieberman, J.A. (1999). Comparison of brain metabolic activity patterns induced by ketamine, MK-801 and amphetamine in rats:

support for NMDA receptor involvement in responses to subanesthetic dose of ketamine. Brain Res *843*, 171–183.

- Egan, M.F., Straub, R.E., Goldberg, T.E., Yakub, I., Callicott, J.H., Hariri, A.R., Mattay, V.S., Bertolino, A., Hyde, T.M., Shannon-Weickert, C., et al. (2004). Variation in GRM3 affects cognition, prefrontal glutamate, and risk for schizophrenia. PNAS. *101*, 12604– 12609.
- Egerton, A., Reid, L., McKerchar, C.E., Morris, B.J., and Pratt, J.A. (2005). Impairment in perceptual attentional set-shifting following PCP administration: a rodent model of set-shifting deficits in schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology *179*, 77–84.
- Ehrlichman, R.S., Gandal, M.J., Maxwell, C.R., Lazarewicz, M.T., Finkel, L.H., Contreras, D., Turetsky, B.I., and Siegel, S.J. (2009a). N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor antagonistinduced frequency oscillations in mice recreate pattern of electrophysiological deficits in schizophrenia. Neuroscience 158, 705–712.
- Ehrlichman, R.S., Luminais, S.N., White, S.L., Rudnick, N.D., Ma, N., Dow, H.C., Kreibich, A.S., Abel, T., Brodkin, E.S., Hahn, C.-G., et al. (2009b). Neuregulin 1 transgenic mice display reduced mismatch negativity, contextual fear conditioning and social interactions. Brain Res 1294, 116–127.
- Elvevåg, B., and Goldberg, T.E. (2000). Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia is the core of the disorder. Critical Reviews in Neurobiology *14*, 1–21.
- Engel, A.K., and Singer, W. (2001). Temporal binding and the neural correlates of sensory awareness. Trends Cogn Sci 5, 16–25.
- Engel, A.K., Fries, P., and Singer, W. (2001). Dynamic predictions: oscillations and synchrony in top-down processing. Nat Rev Neurosci 2, 704–716.
- Engel, A.K., Roelfsema, P.R., Fries, P., Brecht, M., and Singer, W. (1997). Role of the temporal domain for response selection and perceptual binding. Cereb Cortex 7, 571–582.
- Eulitz, C., Maess, B., Pantev, C., Friederici, A.D., Feige, B., and Elbert, T. (1996). Oscillatory neuromagnetic activity induced by language and non-language stimuli. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res 4, 121–132.
- Farde, L., Nordstrom, A.-L., Wiesel, F.-A., Pauli, S., Halldin, C., and Sedvall, G. (1992). Positron emission tomographic analysis of central D1 and D2 dopamine receptor occupancy in patients treated with classical neuroleptics and clozapine: relation to extrapyramidal side effects. Arch Gen Psychiatry 49, 538.
- Fauman, B., Aldinger, G., and Fauman, M. (1976). Psychiatric sequelae of phencyclidine abuse. Clin Toxicol 9, 529–538.
- Fazzari, P., Paternain, A.V., Valiente, M., Pla, R., Lujan, R., Lloyd, K., Lerma, J., Marin, O., and Rico, B. (2010). Control of cortical GABA circuitry development by Nrg1 and ErbB4 signalling. Nature 464, 1376–1380.
- Ferrarelli, F., and Tononi, G. (2011). The thalamic reticular nucleus and schizophrenia.

Schizophr Bull 37, 306-315.

- Ferrarelli, F., Huber, R., Peterson, M.J., Massimini, M., Murphy, M., Riedner, B.A., Watson, A., Bria, P., and Tononi, G. (2007). Reduced sleep spindle activity in schizophrenia patients. Am J Psychiatry 164, 483–492.
- Ferrarelli, F., Massimini, M., Peterson, M.J., Riedner, B.A., Lazar, M., Murphy, M.J., Huber, R., Rosanova, M., Alexander, A.L., Kalin, N., et al. (2008). Reduced evoked gamma oscillations in the frontal cortex in schizophrenia patients: A TMS/EEG study. Am J Psychiatry 165, 996–1005.
- Ferrarelli, F., Peterson, M.J., Sarasso, S., Riedner, B.A., Murphy, M.J., Benca, R.M., Bria, P., Kalin, N.H., and Tononi, G. (2010). Thalamic dysfunction in schizophrenia suggested by whole-night deficits in slow and fast spindles. Am J Psychiatry 167, 1339–1348.
- Fisahn, A., Neddens, J., Yan, L., and Buonanno, A. (2009). Neuregulin-1 Modulates Hippocampal Gamma Oscillations: Implications for Schizophrenia. Cereb Cortex 19, 612– 618.
- Fisher, R.S., van Emde Boas, W., Blume, W., Elger, C., Genton, P., Lee, P., and Engel, J. (2005). Epileptic seizures and epilepsy: definitions proposed by the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) and the International Bureau for Epilepsy (IBE). Epilepsia 46, 470– 472.
- Flames, N., Long, J.E., Garratt, A.N., Fischer, T.M., Gassmann, M., Birchmeier, C., Lai, C., Rubenstein, J.L.R., and Marin, O. (2004). Short- and long-range attraction of cortical GABAergic interneurons by Neuregulin-1. Neuron 44, 251–261.
- Flood, P., and Krasowski, M.D. (2000). Intravenous anesthetics differentially modulate ligandgated ion channels. Anesthesiology *92*, 1418–1425.
- Flynn, G., Alexander, D., Harris, A., Whitford, T., Wong, W., Galletly, C., Silverstein, S., Gordon, E., and Williams, L.M. (2008). Increased absolute magnitude of gamma synchrony in first-episode psychosis. Schizophr Res 105, 262–271.
- Fogel, S.M., and Smith, C.T. (2011). The function of the sleep spindle: a physiological index of intelligence and a mechanism for sleep-dependent memory consolidation. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 35, 1154–1165.
- Foong, J., Maier, M., Clark, C.A., Barker, G.J., Miller, D.H., and Ron, M.A. (2000). Neuropathological abnormalities of the corpus callosum in schizophrenia: a diffusion tensor imaging study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 68, 242–244.
- Ford, J.M., and Roth, W.T. (2004). Deficient response modulation of event-related brain potentials in schizophrenia. Curr Opin Psychiatry 17, 91–96.
- Ford, J.M., White, P., Lim, K.O., and Pfefferbaum, A. (1994). Schizophrenics have fewer and smaller P300s: A single-trial analysis. Biol Psychiatry 35, 96–103.
- Freedman, R. (1996). Inhibitory Gating of an Evoked Response to Repeated Auditory Stimuli in Schizophrenic and Normal Subjects. Arch Gen Psychiatry 53, 1114.

- Freedman, R., Adams, C.E., Adler, L.E., Bickford, P.C., Gault, J., Harris, J.G., Nagamoto, H.T., Olincy, A., Ross, R.G., Stevens, K.E., et al. (2001). Inhibitory neurophysiological deficit as a phenotype for genetic investigation of schizophrenia. Am. J. Med. Genet. 97, 58–64.
- Freeman, W.J., Rogers, L.J., Holmes, M.D., and Silbergeld, D.L. (2000). Spatial spectral analysis of human electrocorticograms including the alpha and gamma bands. J Neurosci Methods 95, 111–121.
- Freund, T.F. (2003). Interneuron Diversity series: Rhythm and mood in perisomatic inhibition. Trends Neurosci 26, 489–495.
- Fries, P., Reynolds, J.H., Rorie, A.E., and Desimone, R. (2001). Modulation of oscillatory neuronal synchronization by selective visual attention. Science *291*, 1560–1563.
- Fries, P. (2005). A mechanism for cognitive dynamics: neuronal communication through neuronal coherence. Trends Cogn Sci 9, 474–480.
- Fries, P. (2009). Neuronal Gamma-Band Synchronization as a Fundamental Process in Cortical Computation. Annu Rev Neurosci *32*, 209–224.
- Friston, K.J. (1999). Schizophrenia and the disconnection hypothesis. Acta Psychiatr Scand 99, 68–79.
- Friston, K.J. (2002). Dysfunctional connectivity in schizophrenia. World Psychiatry 1, 66–71.
- Friston, K.J., Frith, C.D., Fletcher, P., Liddle, P.F., and Frackowiak, R.S. (1996). Functional topography: multidimensional scaling and functional connectivity in the brain. Cereb Cortex 6, 156–164.
- Friston, K.J., Liddle, P.F., Frith, C.D., Hirsch, S.R., and Frackowiak, R.S. (1992). The left medial temporal region and schizophrenia. A PET study. Brain 115 (Pt 2), 367–382.
- Fromer, M., Pocklington, A.J., Kavanagh, D.H., Williams, H.J., Dwyer, S., Gormley, P., Georgieva, L., Rees, E., Palta, P., Ruderfer, D.M., et al. (2014). De novo mutations in schizophrenia implicate synaptic networks. Nature 506, 179-184.
- Fung, S.J., Webster, M.J., Sivagnanasundaram, S., Duncan, C., Elashoff, M., and Weickert, C.S. (2010). Expression of interneuron markers in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of the developing human and in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 167, 1479–1488.
- Gallinat, J., Winterer, G., Herrmann, C.S., and Senkowski, D. (2004). Reduced oscillatory gamma-band responses in unmedicated schizophrenic patients indicate impaired frontal network processing. Clin Neurophysiol *115*, 1863–1874.
- Gandal, M.J., Sisti, J., Klook, K., Ortinski, P.I., Leitman, V., Liang, Y., Thieu, T., Anderson, R., Pierce, R.C., Jonak, G., et al. (2012a). GABAB-mediated rescue of altered excitatoryinhibitory balance, gamma synchrony and behavioral deficits following constitutive NMDAR-hypofunction. Transl Psychiatry 2, e142.
- Gandal, M.J., Edgar, J.C., Klook, K., and Siegel, S.J. (2012b). Gamma synchrony: Towards a

translational biomarker for the treatment-resistant symptoms of schizophrenia. Neuropharmacology 62, 1504–1518.

- Garcia, R.A.G., Vasudevan, K., and Buonanno, A. (2000). The neuregulin receptor ErbB-4 interacts with PDZ-containing proteins at neuronal synapses. PNAS *97*, 3596–3601.
- Garrity, A., Pearlson, G., McKiernan, K., Lloyd, D., Kiehl, K., and Calhoun, V. (2007). Aberrant "default mode" functional connectivity in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 164, 450–457.
- Gattaz, W.F., Gattaz, D., and Beckmann, H. (1982). Glutamate in schizophrenics and healthy controls Springer. Arch Psychiatr Nervenkr 231, 221-225.
- Geddes, A.E., Huang, X.-F., and Newell, K.A. (2011). Reciprocal signalling between NR2 subunits of the NMDA receptor and neuregulin1 and their role in schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35, 896–904.
- Geddes, J., Freemantle, N., Harrison, P., and Bebbington, P. (2000). Atypical antipsychotics in the treatment of schizophrenia: systematic overview and meta-regression analysis. Bmj *321*, 1371–1376.
- Gelder, M.G., Ibor, J., and Andreasen, N.C. (2000). New Oxford Textbook of Psychiatry (New York, NY: Oxford University Press).
- Ghazanfar, A.A., Krupa, D.J., and Nicolelis, M.A. (2001). Role of cortical feedback in the receptive field structure and nonlinear response properties of somatosensory thalamic neurons. Exp Brain Res *141*, 88–100.
- Giannitrapani, D., and Kayton, L. (1974). Schizophrenia and EEG spectral analysis. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol *36*, 377–386.
- Giardino, L., Bortolotti, F., Orazzo, C., Pozza, M., Monteleone, P., Calzà, L., and Maj, M. (1997). Effect of chronic clozapine administration on [3H]MK801-binding sites in the rat brain: a side-preference action in cortical areas. Brain Res 762, 216–218.
- Gibson, J.R., Beierlein, M., and Connors, B.W. (1999). Two networks of electrically coupled inhibitory neurons in neocortex. Nature 402, 75–79.
- Girard, S.L., Dion, P.A., and Rouleau, G.A. (2012). Schizophrenia Genetics: Putting All the Pieces Together. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep *12*, 261–266.
- Girolamo, G. de (1996). WHO Studies on Schizophrenia. The Psychotherapy Patient 9, 213–231.
- Goff, D.C., and Coyle, J.T. (2001). The emerging role of glutamate in the pathophysiology and treatment of schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry *158*, 1367–1377.
- Gogos, J.A., Morgan, M., Luine, V., Santha, M., Ogawa, S., Pfaff, D., and Karayiorgou, M. (1998). Catechol-O-methyltransferase-deficient mice exhibit sexually dimorphic changes in catecholamine levels and behavior. PNAS 95, 9991–9996.

- Goldberg, T.E., Ragland, J.D., Torrey, E.F., Gold, J.M., Bigelow, L.B., and Weinberger, D.R. (1990). Neuropsychological assessment of monozygotic twins discordant for schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 47, 1066–1072.
- Goldberg, T.E., Goldman, R.S., Burdick, K.E., Malhotra, A.K., Lencz, T., Patel, R.C., Woerner, M.G., Schooler, N.R., Kane, J.M., and Robinson, D.G. (2007). Cognitive improvement after treatment with second-generation antipsychotic medications in firstepisode schizophrenia: is it a practice effect? Arch Gen Psychiatry 64, 1115.
- Gonzalez-Burgos, G., and Lewis, D.A. (2008). GABA Neurons and the mechanisms of network oscillations: Implications for understanding cortical dysfunction in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 34, 944–961.
- Gonzalez-Burgos, G., and Lewis, D.A. (2012). NMDA receptor hypofunction, parvalbuminpositive neurons, and cortical gamma oscillations in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull *38*, 950– 957.
- Gonzalez-Burgos, G., Hashimoto, T., and Lewis, D.A. (2010). Alterations of cortical GABA neurons and network oscillations in schizophrenia. Curr Psychiatry Rep *12*, 335–344.
- González-Hernández, J.A., Cedeño, I., Pita-Alcorta, C., Galán, L., Aubert, E., and Figueredo-Rodríguez, P. (2003). Induced oscillations and the distributed cortical sources during the Wisconsin card sorting test performance in schizophrenic patients: new clues to neural connectivity. Int J Psychophysiol 48, 11–24.
- Gordon, E., Williams, L., Haig, A.R., Wright, J., and Meares, R.A. (2001). Symptom profile and "gamma" processing in schizophrenia. Cogn Neuropsychiatry 6, 7–19.
- Gottesman, I.I. (1991). Schizophrenia genesis : the origins of madness (New York, NY: Freeman).
- Gouzoulis-Mayfrank, E., Heekeren, K., Neukirch, A., Stoll, M., Stock, C., Obradovic, M., and Kovar, K.A. (2005). Psychological effects of (S)-ketamine and N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT): A double-blind, cross-over study in healthy volunteers. Pharmacopsychiatry 38, 301–311.
- Grace, A.A. (1991). Phasic versus tonic dopamine release and the modulation of dopamine system responsivity: a hypothesis for the etiology of schizophrenia. Neuroscience *41*, 1–24.
- Gray, C.M., and Singer, W. (1989). Stimulus-specific neuronal oscillations in orientation columns of cat visual cortex. PNAS. *86*, 1698–1702.
- Gray, C.M., Konig, P., Engel, A.K., and Singer, W. (1989). Oscillatory responses in cat visual cortex exhibit inter-columnar synchronization which reflects global stimulus properties. Nature 338, 334–337.
- Green, M.F. (1996). What are the functional consequences of neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia? Am J Psychiatry *153*, 321–330.
- Green, M.F., Kern, R.S., Braff, D.L., and Mintz, J. (2000). Neurocognitive deficits and functional outcome in schizophrenia: are we measuring the "right stuff"? Schizophr Bull *26*,

119-136.

- Green, M.F., Kern, R.S., and Heaton, R.K. (2004). Longitudinal studies of cognition and functional outcome in schizophrenia: implications for MATRICS. Schizophr Res 72, 41–51.
- Green, S.M., and CotÃ, C.J. (2009). Ketamine and Neurotoxicity: Clinical Perspectives and Implications for Emergency Medicine. Ann Emerg Med 54, 181–190.
- Green, S.M., Rothrock, S.G., Lynch, E.L., Ho, M., Harris, T., Hestdalen, R., Hopkins, G.A., Garrett, W., and Westcott, K. (1998). Intramuscular ketamine for pediatric sedation in the emergency department: safety profile in 1,022 cases. Ann Emerg Med 31, 688–697.
- Greene, R., Bergeron, R., McCarley, R., Coyle, J.T., and Grunze, H. (2000). Short-term and long-term effects of N-Methyl-D-Aspartate receptor hypofunction. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57, 1180.
- Gross, J., Schnitzler, A., Timmermann, L., and Ploner, M. (2007). Gamma oscillations in human primary somatosensory cortex reflect pain perception. PLoS Biol 5, e133.
- Gruber, T., and Müller, M.M. (2006). Oscillatory brain activity in the human EEG during indirect and direct memory tasks. Brain Res *1097*, 194–204.
- Grunze, H.C.R., Rainnie, D.G., Hasselmo, M.E., Barkai, E., Hearn, E.F., McCarley, R.W., and Greene, R.W. (1996). NMDA-dependent modulation of CA1 local circuit inhibition. J Neurosci 16, 2034–2043.
- Gu, Z., Jiang, Q., Fu, A.K.Y., Ip, N.Y., and Yan, Z. (2005). Regulation of NMDA receptors by neuregulin signaling in prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci 25, 4974–4984.
- Guidotti, A., Auta, J., Davis, J.M., Di-Giorgi-Gerevini, V., Dwivedi, Y., Grayson, D.R., Impagnatiello, F., Pandey, G., Pesold, C., Sharma, R., et al. (2000). Decrease in reelin and glutamic acid decarboxylase67 (GAD67) expression in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a postmortem brain study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57, 1061–1069.
- Guillery, R.W., and Harting, J.K. (2003). Structure and connections of the thalamic reticular nucleus: Advancing views over half a century. J. Comp. Neurol. *463*, 360–371.
- Gulyàs, A.I., Megìas, M., Emri, Z., and Freund, T.F. (1999). Total number and ratio of excitatory and inhibitory synapses converging onto single interneurons of different types in the CA1 area of the rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 19, 10082–10097.
- Haenschel, C., and Linden, D. (2011). Exploring intermediate phenotypes with EEG: working memory dysfunction in schizophrenia. Behav Brain Res *216*, 481–495.
- Haenschel, C., Bittner, R.A., Waltz, J., Haertling, F., Wibral, M., Singer, W., Linden, D.E.J., and Rodriguez, E. (2009). Cortical oscillatory activity is critical for working memory as revealed by deficits in early-onset schizophrenia. J Neurosci 29, 9481–9489.
- Hahn, C.-G., Wang, H.-Y., Cho, D.-S., Talbot, K., Gur, R.E., Berrettini, W.H., Bakshi, K., Kamins, J., Borgmann-Winter, K.E., Siegel, S.J., et al. (2006). Altered neuregulin 1-

erbB4 signaling contributes to NMDA receptor hypofunction in schizophrenia. Nat Med *12*, 824–828.

- Haig, A.R., Gordon, E., De Pascalis, V., Meares, R.A., Bahramali, H., and Harris, A. (2000). Gamma activity in schizophrenia: evidence of impaired network binding? Clin Neurophysiol 111, 1461–1468.
- Hajos, N., Pálhalmi, J., Mann, E.O., Németh, B., Paulsen, O., and Freund, T.F. (2004). Spike timing of distinct types of GABAergic interneuron during hippocampal gamma oscillations in vitro. J Neurosci 24, 9127–9137.
- Hakami, T., Jones, N.C., Tolmacheva, E.A., Gaudias, J., Chaumont, J., Salzberg, M., O'Brien, T.J., and Pinault, D. (2009). NMDA receptor hypofunction leads to generalized and persistent aberrant gamma oscillations independent of hyperlocomotion and the state of consciousness. PLoS ONE 4, e6755.
- Hall, M.-H., Taylor, G., Salisbury, D.F., and Levy, D.L. (2011a). Sensory gating event-related potentials and oscillations in schizophrenia patients and their unaffected relatives. Schizophr Bull 37, 1187–1199.
- Hall, M.-H., Taylor, G., Sham, P., Schulze, K., Rijsdijk, F., Picchioni, M., Toulopoulou, T., Ettinger, U., Bramon, E., Murray, R.M., et al. (2011b). The early auditory gamma-band response is heritable and a putative endophenotype of schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 37, 778–787.
- Harrison, P.J. (1999). The neuropathology of schizophrenia. A critical review of the data and their interpretation. Brain *122 (Pt 4)*, 593–624.
- Harrison, P.J., and Law, A.J. (2006). Neuregulin 1 and schizophrenia: Genetics, gene expression, and neurobiology. Biol Psychiatry *60*, 132–140.
- Harrison, P.J., and Owen, M.J. (2003). Genes for schizophrenia? Recent findings and their pathophysiological implications. Lancet *361*, 417–419.
- Harvey, P.D., and Keefe, R.S. (2001). Studies of cognitive change in patients with schizophrenia following novel antipsychotic treatment. Am J Psychiatry 158, 176–184.
- Hashimoto, R., Straub, R.E., Weickert, C.S., Hyde, T.M., Kleinman, J.E., and Weinberger, D.R. (2004). Expression analysis of neuregulin-1 in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 9, 299–307.
- Hashimoto, T., Arion, D., Unger, T., Maldonado-Avilés, J.G., Morris, H.M., Volk, D.W., Mirnics, K., and Lewis, D.A. (2008). Alterations in GABA-related transcriptome in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 13, 147–161.
- Hashimoto, T., Volk, D.W., Eggan, S.M., Mirnics, K., Pierri, J.N., Sun, Z., Sampson, A.R., and Lewis, D.A. (2003). Gene Expression Deficits in a Subclass of GABA Neurons in the Prefrontal Cortex of Subjects with Schizophrenia. J Neurosci 23, 6315–6326.
- Henderson, D.C., Cagliero, E., Copeland, P.M., Borba, C.P., Evins, E., Hayden, D., Weber, M.T., Anderson, E.J., Allison, D.B., Daley, T.B., et al. (2005). Glucose metabolism in

patients with schizophrenia treated with atypical antipsychotic agents. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62, 19–28.

- Heinrichs, R.W., and Zakzanis, K.K. (1998). Neurocognitive deficit in schizophrenia: a quantitative review of the evidence. Neuropsychology *12*, 426–445.
- Herculano-Houzel, S. (2009). The human brain in numbers: a linearly scaled-up primate brain. Front Hum Neurosci 3, 31.
- Herrmann, C.S., and Demiralp, T. (2005). Human EEG gamma oscillations in neuropsychiatric disorders. Clin Neurophysiol *116*, 2719–2733.
- Herrmann, C.S., Fründ, I., and Lenz, D. (2010). Human gamma-band activity: a review on cognitive and behavioral correlates and network models. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 34, 981– 992.
- Hetem, L.A.B., Danion, J.M., Diemunsch, P., and Brandt, C. (2000). Effect of a subanesthetic dose of ketamine on memory and conscious awareness in healthy volunteers. Psychopharmacology 152, 283–288.
- Hirano, S., Hirano, Y., Maekawa, T., Obayashi, C., Oribe, N., Kuroki, T., Kanba, S., and Onitsuka, T. (2008). Abnormal neural oscillatory activity to speech sounds in schizophrenia: a magnetoencephalography study. J Neurosci 28, 4897–4903.
- Homayoun, H., and Moghaddam, B. (2007). NMDA receptor hypofunction produces opposite effects on prefrontal cortex interneurons and pyramidal neurons. J Neurosci 27, 11496–11500.
- Hong, L.E., Summerfelt, A., McMahon, R.P., Thaker, G.K., and Buchanan, R.W. (2004a). Gamma/beta oscillation and sensory gating deficit in schizophrenia. Neuroreport 15, 155– 159.
- Hong, L.E., Summerfelt, A., Buchanan, R.W., O'Donnell, P., Thaker, G.K., Weiler, M.A., and Lahti, A.C. (2010). Gamma and delta neural oscillations and association with clinical symptoms under subanesthetic ketamine. Neuropsychopharmacology 35, 632–640.
- Hong, L.E., Summerfelt, A., McMahon, R., Adami, H., Francis, G., Elliott, A., Buchanan, R.W., and Thaker, G.K. (2004b). Evoked gamma band synchronization and the liability for schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 70, 293–302.
- Howard, M.W., Rizzuto, D.S., Caplan, J.B., Madsen, J.R., Lisman, J., Aschenbrenner-Scheibe, R., Schulze-Bonhage, A., and Kahana, M.J. (2003). Gamma oscillations correlate with working memory load in humans. Cereb Cortex 13, 1369–1374.
- Howes, O.D., and Kapur, S. (2009). The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: Version III--The final common pathway. Schizophr Bull 35, 549–562.
- Hua, J.Y., and Smith, S.J. (2004). Neural activity and the dynamics of central nervous system development. Nat Neurosci 7, 327–332.
- Huang, H.-S., and Akbarian, S. (2007). GAD1 mRNA expression and DNA methylation in

prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia. PLoS ONE 2, e809.

- Huang, Y.Z., Won, S., Ali, D.W., Wang, Q., Tanowitz, M., Du, Q.S., Pelkey, K.A., Yang, D.J., Xiong, W.C., Salter, M.W., et al. (2000). Regulation of neuregulin signaling by PSD-95 interacting with ErbB4 at CNS synapses. Neuron 26, 443–455.
- Hubl, D., Koenig, T., Strik, W., Federspiel, A., Kreis, R., Boesch, C., Maier, S.E., Schroth, G., Lovblad, K., and Dierks, T. (2004). Pathways that make voices: white matter changes in auditory hallucinations. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61, 658–668.
- Hull, C., Isaacson, J.S., and Scanziani, M. (2009). Postsynaptic mechanisms govern the differential excitation of cortical neurons by thalamic inputs. J Neurosci 29, 9127–9136.
- Hunt, M.J., and Kasicki, S. (2013). A systematic review of the effects of NMDA receptor antagonists on oscillatory activity recorded in vivo. J Psychopharmacol 27, 972–986.
- Hyman, S.E., and Fenton, W.S. (2003). What are the right targets for psychopharmacology. Science 299, 350–351.
- Ibrahim, H.M., Hogg, A.J., Healy, D.J., Haroutunian, V., Davis, K.L., and Meador-Woodruff, J.H. (2000). Ionotropic glutamate receptor binding and subunit mRNA expression in thalamic nuclei in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 157, 1811–1823.
- Ibrahim, L., Diazgranados, N., Luckenbaugh, D.A., Machado-Vieira, R., Baumann, J., Mallinger, A.G., and Zarate, C.A., Jr (2011). Rapid decrease in depressive symptoms with an N-Methyl-D-aspartate antagonist in ECT-resistant major depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35, 1155–1159.
- Idvall, J., Ahlgren, I., Aronsen, K.R., and Stenberg, P. (1979). Ketamine infusions: pharmacokinetics and clinical effects. Br J Anaesth *51*, 1167–1173.
- Imre, G. (2007). The preclinical properties of a novel group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist LY379268. CNS Drug Reviews *13*, 444–464.
- Irifune, M., Sato, T., Kamata, Y., Nishikawa, T., Dohi, T., and Kawahara, M. (2000). Evidence for GABA(A) receptor agonistic properties of ketamine: convulsive and anesthetic behavioral models in mice. Anesth Analg 91, 230–236.
- Itil, T.M., Saletu, B., and Davis, S. (1972). EEG findings in chronic schizophrenics based on digital computer period analysis and analog power spectra. Biol Psychiatry 5, 1–13.
- Jablensky, A. (2000). Epidemiology of schizophrenia: the global burden of disease and disability. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 250, 274–285.
- Jackson, M.E., Homayoun, H., and Moghaddam, B. (2004). NMDA receptor hypofunction produces concomitant firing rate potentiation and burst activity reduction in the prefrontal cortex. PNAS. 101, 8467–8472.
- Jablensky, A. (2000). The Scope of the Problem in Australia. In Schizophrenia and Other Psychoses, (Canberra: Australian Academy of Science), pp. 8–10.

- Jasper, H.H. (1936). Coritcal Excitatory State and Variability in Human Brain Rhythms. Science *83*, 259–260.
- Javitt, D.C. (2000). Intracortical mechanisms of mismatch negativity dysfunction in schizophrenia. Audiol Neurootol 5, 207–215.
- Javitt, D.C., and Zukin, S.R. (1991). Recent advances in the phencyclidine model of schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 148, 1301–1308.
- Javitt, D.C. (2009). When doors of perception close: Bottom-up models of disrupted cognition in schizophrenia. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 5, 249–275.
- Jensen, O., Kaiser, J., and Lachaux, J.-P. (2007). Human gamma-frequency oscillations associated with attention and memory. Trends Neurosci *30*, 317–324.
- Jentsch, J.D., and Roth, R.H. (1999). The neuropsychopharmacology of phencyclidine: From NMDA receptor hypofunction to the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 20, 201–225.
- Jobe, T.H., and Harrow, M. (2005). Long-term outcome of patients with schizophrenia: a review. Can J Psychiatry 50, 892–900.
- Johnson, S.W., Seutin, V., and North, R.A. (1992). Burst firing in dopamine neurons induced by N-Methyl-D-aspartate: role of electrogenic sodium pump. Science 258, 665–667.
- Jones, E.G. (2001). The thalamic matrix and thalamocortical synchrony. Trends Neurosci 24, 595–601.
- Jones, N.C., Martin, S., Megatia, I., Hakami, T., Salzberg, M.R., Pinault, D., Morris, M.J., O'Brien, T.J., and van den Buuse, M. (2010). A genetic epilepsy rat model displays endophenotypes of psychosis. Neurobiol Dis 39, 116–125.
- Jones, N.C., Reddy, M., Anderson, P., Salzberg, M.R., O'Brien, T.J., and Pinault, D. (2012). Acute administration of typical and atypical antipsychotics reduces EEG γ power, but only the preclinical compound LY379268 reduces the ketamine-induced rise in γ power. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol *15*, 657–668.
- Kahana, M.J., Seelig, D., and Madsen, J.R. (2001). Theta returns. Curr Opin Neurobiol 11, 739–744.
- Kaiser, J., and Lutzenberger, W. (2005). Cortical oscillatory activity and the dynamics of auditory memory processing. Rev Neurosci 16, 239–254.
- Kampa, B.M., Clements, J., Jonas, P., and Stuart, G.J. (2004). Kinetics of Mg2+ unblock of NMDA receptors: implications for spike-timing dependent synaptic plasticity. J Physiol 556, 337–345.
- Kanaan, R.A.A., Kim, J.-S., Kaufmann, W.E., Pearlson, G.D., Barker, G.J., and McGuire, P.K. (2005). Diffusion tensor imaging in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 58, 921–929.
- Kane, J. (1988). Clozapine for the Treatment-Resistant Schizophrenic. Arch Gen Psychiatry 45,

789.

- Kantrowitz, J.T., and Javitt, D.C. (2010). N-Methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptor dysfunction or dysregulation: the final common pathway on the road to schizophrenia? Brain Research Bulletin 83, 108-121.
- Kapur, S., and Seeman, P. (2002). NMDA receptor antagonists ketamine and PCP have direct effects on the dopamine D(2) and serotonin 5-HT(2)receptors-implications for models of schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 7, 837–844.
- Kapur, S., VanderSpek, S.C., Brownlee, B.A., and Nobrega, J.N. (2003). Antipsychotic dosing in preclinical models is often unrepresentative of the clinical condition: A suggested solution based on in vivo occupancy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 305, 625–631.
- Kapur, S., Zipursky, R.B., Remington, G., Jones, C., DaSilva, J., Wilson, A.A., and Houle, S. (1998). 5-HT2 and D2 receptor occupancy of olanzapine in schizophrenia: a PET investigation. Am J Psychiatry 155, 921–928.
- Kapur, S., Zipursky, R., Jones, C., Shammi, C.S., Remington, G., and Seeman, P. (2000a). A positron emission tomography study of quetiapine in schizophrenia: a preliminary finding of an antipsychotic effect with only transiently high dopamine D2 receptor occupancy. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57, 553–559.
- Kapur, S., Remington, G., Jones, C., Wilson, A., DaSilva, J., Houle, S., and Zipursky, R. (1996). High levels of dopamine D2 receptor occupancy with low-dose haloperidol treatment: a PET study. Am J Psychiatry 153, 948–950.
- Kapur, S., Zipursky, R.B., and Remington, G. (1999). Clinical and theoretical implications of 5-HT2 and D2 receptor occupancy of clozapine, risperidone, and olanzapine in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 156, 286–293.
- Kapur, S., Zipursky, R., Jones, C., Remington, G., and Houle, S. (2000b). Relationship between dopamine D2 occupancy, clinical response, and side effects: a double-blind PET study of first-episode schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 157, 514–520.
- Karl, T., Duffy, L., Scimone, A., Harvey, R.P., and Schofield, P.R. (2007). Altered motor activity, exploration and anxiety in heterozygous neuregulin 1 mutant mice: implications for understanding schizophrenia. Genes Brain Behav 6, 677–687.
- Keefe, R.S.E., and Harvey, P.D. (2012). Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. Handb Exp Pharmacol *213*, 11–37.
- Keefe, R.S.E., Bilder, R.M., Harvey, P.D., Davis, S.M., Palmer, B.W., Gold, J.M., Meltzer, H.Y., Green, M.F., Miller, D.D., Cañive, J.M., et al. (2006). Baseline neurocognitive deficits in the CATIE schizophrenia trial. Neuropsychopharmacology *31*, 2033–2046.
- Keefe, R.S.E., Eesley, C.E., and Poe, M.P. (2005). Defining a cognitive function decrement in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 57, 688–691.
- Kegeles, L.S., Abi-Dargham, A., Zea-Ponce, Y., Rodenhiser-Hill, J., Mann, J.J., Van Heertum, R.L., Cooper, T.B., Carlsson, A., and Laruelle, M. (2000). Modulation of amphetamine-

induced striatal dopamine release by ketamine in humans: implications for schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry *48*, 627–640.

- Kegeles, L.S., Martinez, D., Kochan, L.D., Hwang, D.-R., Huang, Y., Mawlawi, O., Suckow, R.F., Van Heertum, R.L., and Laruelle, M. (2002). NMDA antagonist effects on striatal dopamine release: positron emission tomography studies in humans. Synapse 43, 19–29.
- Keilhoff, G., Becker, A., Grecksch, G., Wolf, G., and Bernstein, H.G. (2004). Repeated application of ketamine to rats induces changes in the hippocampal expression of parvalbumin, neuronal nitric oxide synthase and cFOS similar to those found in human schizophrenia. Neuroscience 126, 591–598.
- Khashan, A.S., Abel, K.M., McNamee, R., Pedersen, M.G., Webb, R.T., Baker, P.N., Kenny, L.C., and Mortensen, P.B. (2008). Higher risk of offspring schizophrenia following antenatal maternal exposure to severe adverse life events. Arch Gen Psychiatry 65, 146– 152.
- Kiehl, K.A., Laurens, K.R., Duty, T.L., Forster, B.B., and Liddle, P.F. (2001). Neural sources involved in auditory target detection and novelty processing: an event-related fMRI study. Psychophysiology 38, 133–142.
- Kim, J.S., Kornhuber, H.H., Schmid-Burgk, W., and Holzmüller, B. (1980). Low cerebrospinal fluid glutamate in schizophrenic patients and a new hypothesis on schizophrenia. Neurosci Lett 20, 379–382.
- Kinney, D.K., Teixeira, P., Hsu, D., Napoleon, S.C., Crowley, D.J., Miller, A., Hyman, W., and Huang, E. (2009). Relation of schizophrenia prevalence to latitude, climate, fish consumption, infant mortality, and skin color: a role for prenatal vitamin d deficiency and infections? Schizophr Bull 35, 582–595.
- Kissler, J., M ller, M.M., Fehr, T., Rockstroh, B., and Elbert, T. (2000). MEG gamma band activity in schizophrenia patients and healthy subjects in a mental arithmetic task and at rest. Clin Neurophysiol 111, 2079–2087.
- Klausberger, T., Magill, P.J., Márton, L.F., Roberts, J.D.B., Cobden, P.M., Buzsaki, G., and Somogyi, P. (2003). Brain-state- and cell-type-specific firing of hippocampal interneurons in vivo. Nature 421, 844–848.
- Klimesch, W. (1999). EEG alpha and theta oscillations reflect cognitive and memory performance: a review and analysis. Brain Res Rev 29, 169–195.
- Knapp, M., Mangalore, R., and Simon, J. (2004). The global costs of schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 30, 279.
- Kocsis, B. (2012). Differential role of NR2A and NR2B subunits in N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist-induced aberrant cortical gamma oscillations. Biol Psychiatry 71, 987– 995.
- Kocsis, B., Brown, R.E., McCarley, R.W., and Hajos, M. (2013). Impact of ketamine on neuronal network dynamics: Translational modeling of schizophrenia-relevant deficits. CNS Neurosci Ther 19, 437–447.

- Konick, L.C., and Friedman, L. (2001). Meta-analysis of thalamic size in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 49, 28–38.
- Koro, C.E., Fedder, D.O., L'Italien, G.J., Weiss, S., Magder, L.S., Kreyenbuhl, J., Revicki, D., and Buchanan, R.W. (2002). An assessment of the independent effects of olanzapine and risperidone exposure on the risk of hyperlipidemia in schizophrenic patients. Arch Gen Psychiatry 59, 1021.
- Korotkova, T., Fuchs, E.C., Ponomarenko, A., Engelhardt, von, J., and Monyer, H. (2010). NMDA receptor ablation on parvalbumin-positive interneurons impairs hippocampal synchrony, spatial representations, and working memory. Neuron 68, 557–569.
- Krabbendam, L., and Van Os, J. (2005). Schizophrenia and urbanicity: A major environmental influence - Conditional on genetic risk. Schizophr Bull 31, 795–799.
- Kraeplin, E. (1919). Dementia Praecox and Paraphrenia (Chicago, IL: Chicago Medical Book Company).
- Krishnan, G.P., Hetrick, W.P., Brenner, C.A., Shekhar, A., Steffen, A.N., and O'Donnell, B.F. (2009). Steady state and induced auditory gamma deficits in schizophrenia. Neuroimage 47, 1711–1719.
- Krishnan, G.P., Vohs, J.L., Hetrick, W.P., Carroll, C.A., Shekhar, A., Bockbrader, M.A., and O'Donnell, B.F. (2005). Steady state visual evoked potential abnormalities in schizophrenia. Clin Neurophysiol 116, 614–624.
- Krishnan, R.R., Fivaz, M., Kraus, M.S., and Keefe, R.S.E. (2011). Hierarchical temporal processing deficit model of reality distortion and psychoses. Mol Psychiatry 16, 129–144.
- Kristiansen, L.V., Beneyto, M., Haroutunian, V., and Meador-Woodruff, J.H. (2006). Changes in NMDA receptor subunits and interacting PSD proteins in dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex indicate abnormal regional expression in schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 11, 737–47–705.
- Kroeze, W.K., Hufeisen, S.J., Popadak, B.A., Renock, S.M., Steinberg, S., Ernsberger, P., Jayathilake, K., Meltzer, H.Y., and Roth, B.L. (2003). H1-Histamine Receptor Affinity Predicts Short-Term Weight Gain for Typical and Atypical Antipsychotic Drugs. Neuropsychopharmacology 28, 519–526.
- Krupa, D.J., Ghazanfar, A.A., and Nicolelis, M.A. (1999). Immediate thalamic sensory plasticity depends on corticothalamic feedback. PNAS. 96, 8200–8205.
- Krystal, J.H., D'Souza, D.C., Karper, L.P., Bennett, A., Abi-Dargham, A., Abi-Saab, D., Cassello, K., Bowers, M.B., Jr, Vegso, S., Heninger, G.R., et al. (1999). Interactive effects of subanesthetic ketamine and haloperidol in healthy humans - Springer. Psychopharmacology 145, 193–204.
- Krystal, J.H., Karper, L.P., Seibyl, J.P., Freeman, G.K., Delaney, R., Bremner, J.D., Heninger, G.R., Bowers, M.B.J., and Charney, D.S. (1994). Subanesthetic effects of the noncompetitive NMDA Antagonist, ketamine, in humans: Psychotomimetic, perceptual, cognitive, and neuroendocrine Responses. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51, 199–214.

- Krystal, J.H., Perry, E.B., Jr, Gueorguieva, R., Belger, A., Madonick, S.H., Abi-Dargham, A., Cooper, T.B., MacDougall, L., Abi-Saab, W., and D'Souza, D.C. (2005). Comparative and interactive human psychopharmacologic effects of ketamine and amphetamine: Implications for glutamatergic and dopaminergic model psychoses and cognitive function. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62, 985.
- Kublik, E., Swiejkowski, D.A., and Wróbel, A. (2003). Cortical contribution to sensory volleys recorded at thalamic nuclei of lemniscal and paralemniscal pathways. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars) 63, 377–382.
- Kulikova, S.P., Tolmacheva, E.A., Anderson, P., Gaudias, J., Adams, B.E., Zheng, T.W., and Pinault, D. (2012). Opposite effects of ketamine and deep brain stimulation on rat thalamocortical information processing. Eur J Neurosci 36, 3407–3419.
- Kwon, J.S., O'Donnell, B.F., Wallenstein, G.V., Greene, R.W., Hirayasu, Y., Nestor, P.G., Hasselmo, M.E., Potts, G.F., Shenton, M.E., and McCarley, R.W. (1999). Gamma frequency-range abnormalities to auditory stimulation in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 56, 1001–1005.
- Lahti, A.C., Holcomb, H.H., Medoff, D.R., and Tamminga, C.A. (1995). Ketamine activates psychosis and alters limbic blood flow in schizophrenia. Neuroreport 6, 869–872.
- Lahti, A.C., Weiler, M.A., Michaelidis, T., Parwani, A., and Tamminga, C.A. (2001). Effects of ketamine in normal and schizophrenic volunteers. Neuropsychopharmacology 25, 455– 467.
- Laruelle, M., Abi-Dargham, A., van Dyck, C.H., Gil, R., D'Souza, C.D., Erdos, J., McCance, E., Rosenblatt, W., Fingado, C., Zoghbi, S.S., et al. (1996). Single photon emission computerized tomography imaging of amphetamine-induced dopamine release in drug-free schizophrenic subjects. PNAS 93, 9235–9240.
- Law, A.J., Kleinman, J.E., Weinberger, D.R., and Weickert, C.S. (2006a). Disease-associated intronic variants in the ErbB4 gene are related to altered ErbB4 splice-variant expression in the brain in schizophrenia. Hum Mol Genet *16*, 129–141.
- Law, A.J., Lipska, B.K., Weickert, C.S., Hyde, T.M., Straub, R.E., Hashimoto, R., Harrison, P.J., Kleinman, J.E., and Weinberger, D.R. (2006b). Neuregulin 1 transcripts are differentially expressed in schizophrenia and regulated by 5' SNPs associated with the disease. PNAS 103, 6747–6752.
- Lawrie, S.M., and Abukmeil, S.S. (1998). Brain abnormality in schizophrenia. A systematic and quantitative review of volumetric magnetic resonance imaging studies. Br J Psychiatry *172*, 110–120.
- Lawrie, S.M., Buechel, C., Whalley, H.C., Frith, C.D., Friston, K.J., and Johnstone, E.C. (2002). Reduced frontotemporal functional connectivity in schizophrenia associated with auditory hallucinations. Biol Psychiatry 51, 1008–1011.
- Lazarewicz, M.T., Ehrlichman, R.S., Maxwell, C.R., Gandal, M.J., Finkel, L.H., and Siegel, S.J. (2010). Ketamine Modulates Theta and Gamma Oscillations. J Cogn Neurosci 22, 1452– 1464.

- Lee, K.-H., Williams, L.M., Haig, A., Goldberg, E., and Gordon, E. (2001). An integration of 40 Hz Gamma and phasic arousal: novelty and routinization processing in schizophrenia. Clin Neurophysiol 112, 1499–1507.
- Lee, K.-H., Williams, L., Haig, A., and Gordon, E. (2003). "Gamma (40 Hz) phase synchronicity" and symptom dimensions in schizophrenia. Cogn Neuropsychiatry *8*, 57–71.
- Leeson, V.C., Barnes, T.R.E., Hutton, S.B., Ron, M.A., and Joyce, E.M. (2009). IQ as a predictor of functional outcome in schizophrenia: a longitudinal, four-year study of first-episode psychosis. Schizophr Res *107*, 55–60.
- Leicht, G., Karch, S., Karamatskos, E., Giegling, I., Möller, H.-J., Hegerl, U., Pogarell, O., Rujescu, D., and Mulert, C. (2011). Alterations of the early auditory evoked gamma-band response in first-degree relatives of patients with schizophrenia: hints to a new intermediate phenotype. J Psychiatr Res 45, 699–705.
- Leicht, G., Kirsch, V., Giegling, I., Karch, S., Hantschk, I., Möller, H.-J., Pogarell, O., Hegerl, U., Rujescu, D., and Mulert, C. (2010). Reduced early auditory evoked gamma-band response in patients with schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 67, 224–231.
- Leonard, S., and Freedman, R. (2006). Genetics of Chromosome 15q13-q14 in Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 60, 115–122.
- Leucht, S., Arbter, D., Engel, R.R., Kissling, W., and Davis, J.M. (2008). How effective are second-generation antipsychotic drugs? A meta-analysis of placebo-controlled trials. Mol Psychiatry 14, 429–447.
- Leucht, S., Pitschel-Walz, G., Abraham, D., and Kissling, W. (1999). Efficacy and extrapyramidal side-effects of the new antipsychotics olanzapine, quetiapine, risperidone, and sertindole compared to conventional antipsychotics and placebo. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Schizophr Res 35, 51–68.
- Leucht, S., Corves, C., Arbter, D., Engel, R.R., Li, C., and Davis, J.M. (2009). Secondgeneration versus first-generation antipsychotic drugs for schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Lancet 373, 31–41.
- Leveque, J.-C., Macias, W., Rajadhyaksha, A., Carlson, R.R., Barczak, A., Kang, S., Li, X.-M., Coyle, J.T., Huganir, R.L., Heckers, S., et al. (2000). Intracellular modulation of NMDA receptor function by antipsychotic drugs.
- Levine, J.B., Martin, G., Wilson, A., and Treistman, S.N. (2003). Clozapine inhibits isolated Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptors expressed in xenopus oocytes in a subunit specific manner. Neurosci Lett 346, 125–128.
- Levy, R., Ashby, P., Hutchison, W.D., Lang, A.E., Lozano, A.M., and Dostrovsky, J.O. (2002). Dependence of subthalamic nucleus oscillations on movement and dopamine in Parkinson's disease. Brain 125, 1196–1209.
- Lewis, D.A., and Moghaddam, B. (2006). Cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia: Convergence of γ -aminobutyric acid and glutamate alterations. Archives of Neurology 63, 1372–1376.

- Lewis, D.A., Curley, A.A., Glausier, J.R., and Volk, D.W. (2012). Cortical parvalbumin interneurons and cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. Trends Neurosci 35, 57–67.
- Lewis, D.A., Hashimoto, T., and Volk, D.W. (2005). Cortical inhibitory neurons and schizophrenia. Nat Rev Neurosci *6*, 312–324.
- Li, B., Woo, R.-S., Mei, L., and Malinow, R. (2007). The neuregulin-1 receptor ErbB4 controls glutamatergic synapse maturation and plasticity. Neuron 54, 583–597.
- Li, K.-X., Lu, Y.-M., Xu, Z.-H., Zhang, J., Zhu, J.-M., Zhang, J.-M., Cao, S.-X., Chen, X.-J., Chen, Z., Luo, J.-H., et al. (2011). Neuregulin 1 regulates excitability of fast-spiking neurons through Kv1.1 and acts in epilepsy. Nat Neurosci 15, 267–273.
- Li, Q., Clark, S., Lewis, D.V., and Wilson, W.A. (2002). NMDA receptor antagonists disinhibit rat posterior cingulate and retrosplenial cortices: a potential mechanism of neurotoxicity. J Neurosci 22, 3070–3080.
- Lidsky, T.I., Yablonsky-Alter, E., Zuck, L.G., and Banerjee, S.P. (1997). Antipsychotic drug effects on glutamatergic activity. Brain Res 764, 46–52.
- Lieberman, J.A., Mailman, R.B., Duncan, G., Sikich, L., Chakos, M., Nichols, D.E., and Kraus, J.E. (1998). Serotonergic basis of antipsychotic drug effects in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 44, 1099–1117.
- Light, G.A., Hsu, J.L., Hsieh, M.H., Meyer-Gomes, K., Sprock, J., Swerdlow, N.R., and Braff, D.L. (2006). Gamma band oscillations reveal neural network cortical coherence dysfunction in schizophrenia patients. Biol Psychiatry 60, 1231–1240.
- Lisman, J.E., and Idiart, M.A. (1995). Storage of 7 ± 2 short-term memories in oscillatory subcycles. Science 267, 1512–1515.
- Lisman, J. (2012). Excitation, inhibition, local oscillations, or large-scale loops: what causes the symptoms of schizophrenia? Curr Opin Neurobiol *22*, 537–544.
- Lisman, J., and Buzsaki, G. (2008). A neural coding scheme dormed by the combined function of gamma and theta oscillations. Schizophr Bull *34*, 974–980.
- Lisman, J.E., Coyle, J.T., Green, R.W., Javitt, D.C., Benes, F.M., Heckers, S., and Grace, A.A. (2008). Circuit-based framework for understanding neurotransmitter and risk gene interactions in schizophrenia. Trends Neurosci 31, 234–242.
- Llinas, R. (1988). The intrinsic electrophysiological properties of mammalian neurons: insights into central nervous system function. Science 242, 1654–1664.
- Llinas, R., Ribary, U., Contreras, D., and Pedroarena, C. (1998). The neuronal basis for consciousness. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 353, 1841–1849.
- Llinás, R., Urbano, F.J., Leznik, E., Ramírez, R.R., and van Marle, H.J.F. (2005). Rhythmic and dysrhythmic thalamocortical dynamics: GABA systems and the edge effect. Trends Neurosci 28, 325–333.

- Logothetis, N.K., Kayser, C., and Oeltermann, A. (2007). In vivo measurement of cortical impedance spectrum in monkeys: implications for signal propagation. Neuron 55, 809–823.
- Long, L.E., Chesworth, R., Huang, X.-F., McGregor, I.S., Arnold, J.C., and Karl, T. (2012). Transmembrane domain Nrg1 mutant mice show altered susceptibility to the neurobehavioural actions of repeated THC exposure in adolescence. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 16, 163–175.
- Lorrain, D.S., Baccei, C.S., Bristow, L.J., Anderson, J.J., and Varney, M.A. (2003). Effects of ketamine and N-Methyl-D-aspartate on glutamate and dopamine release in the rat prefrontal cortex: modulation by a group II selective metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist LY379268. Neuroscience 117, 697–706.
- Lovinger, D.M., and McCool, B.A. (1995). Metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated presynaptic depression at corticostriatal synapses involves mGLuR2 or 3. J Neurophysiol 73, 1076–1083.
- Low, C.M., and Wee, K.S.L. (2010). New insights into the not-so-new NR3 subunits of N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor: Localization, structure, and function. Molecular Pharmacology 78, 1–11.
- López-Bendito, G., Cautinat, A., Sánchez, J.A., Bielle, F., Flames, N., Garratt, A.N., Talmage, D.A., Role, L.W., Charnay, P., Marin, O., et al. (2006). Tangential neuronal migration controls axon guidance: a role for neuregulin-1 in thalamocortical axon navigation. Cell 125, 127–142.
- Luby, E.D., Cohen, B.D., Rosenbaum, G., Gottleib, J.S., and Kelly, R. (1959). Study of a new schizophrenomimetic drug—Sernyl. Arch NeurPsych *81*, 363–369.
- Lui, J.H., Hansen, D.V., and Kriegstein, A.R. (2011). Development and evolution of the human neocortex. Cell 146, 18–36.
- Maccaferri, G., and Lacaille, J.-C. (2003). Interneuron Diversity series: Hippocampal interneuron classifications – making things as simple as possible, not simpler. Trends Neurosci 26, 564–571.
- Macciardi, F., Lucca, A., Catalano, M., Marino, C., Zanardi, R., and Smeraldi, E. (1990). Amino acid patterns in schizophrenia: some new findings. Psychiatry Res *32*, 63–70.
- Macdonald, K.D., Fifkova, E., Jones, M.S., and Barth, D.S. (1998). Focal stimulation of the thalamic reticular nucleus induces focal gamma waves in cortex. J Neurophysiol 79, 474– 477.
- Magleby, K.L. (2004). Modal gating of NMDA receptors. Trends Neurosci 27, 231–233.
- Maharajh, K., Teale, P., Rojas, D.C., and Reite, M.L. (2010). Fluctuation of gamma-band phase synchronization within the auditory cortex in schizophrenia. Clin Neurophysiol 121, 542– 548.

Malhotra, A.K., Pinals, D.A., Adler, C.M., Elman, I., Clifton, A., Pickar, D., and Breier, A.

(1997). Ketamine-induced exacerbation of psychotic symptoms and cognitive impairment in neuroleptic-free schizophrenics. Neuropsychopharmacology *17*, 141–150.

- Mann, E.O., and Paulsen, O. (2007). Role of GABAergic inhibition in hippocampal network oscillations. Trends Neurosci *30*, 343–349.
- Manoach, D.S., Cain, M.S., Vangel, M.G., Khurana, A., Goff, D.C., and Stickgold, R. (2004). A failure of sleep-dependent procedural learning in chronic, medicated schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 56, 951–956.
- Manoach, D.S., Thakkar, K.N., Stroynowski, E., Ely, A., McKinley, S.K., Wamsley, E., Djonlagic, I., Vangel, M.G., Goff, D.C., and Stickgold, R. (2010). Reduced overnight consolidation of procedural learning in chronic medicated schizophrenia is related to specific sleep stages. J Psychiatr Res 44, 112–120.
- Marcotte, E.R., Pearson, D.M., and Srivastava, L.K. (2001). Animal models of schizophrenia: a critical review. J Psychiatry Neurosci 26, 395–410.
- Markram, H., Toledo-Rodriguez, M., Wang, Y., Gupta, A., Silberberg, G., and Wu, C. (2004). Interneurons of the neocortical inhibitory system. Nat Rev Neurosci 5, 793–807.
- Marquis, J.-P., Goulet, S., and Doré, F.Y. (2003). Schizophrenia-like syndrome inducing agent phencyclidine failed to impair memory for temporal order in rats. Neurobiol Learn Mem 80, 158–167.
- Martinez, Z.A., Ellison, G.D., Geyer, M.A., and Swerdlow, N.R. (1999). Effects of sustained phencyclidine exposure on sensorimotor gating of startle in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 21, 28–39.
- Martinovic, J., and Busch, N.A. (2011). High frequency oscillations as a correlate of visual perception. Int J Psychophysiol 79, 32–38.
- Massaux, A. (2004). Auditory Thalamus Bursts in Anesthetized and Non-Anesthetized States: Contribution to Functional Properties. J Neurophysiol *91*, 2117–2134.
- McCoy, L., Cox, C., and Richfield, E.K. (1998). Antipsychotic drug regulation of AMPA receptor affinity states and GluR1, GluR2 splice variant expression. Synapse 28, 195–207.
- McCullumsmith, R.E., Kristiansen, L.V., Beneyto, M., and Scarr, E. (2007). Decreased NR1, NR2A, and SAP102 transcript expression in the hippocampus in bipolar disorder. Brain Res 1127, 108–118.
- McDonald, C., and Murray, R.M. (2000). Early and late environmental risk factors for schizophrenia. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. *31*, 130–137.
- McGhie, A., and Chapman, J. (1961). Disorders of attention and perception in early schizophrenia. Br J Med Psychol *34*, 103.
- McGonigle, P. (2014). Animal models of CNS disorders. Biochem Pharmacol 87, 140-149.

McGrath, J. (1999). Hypothesis: is low prenatal vitamin D a risk-modifying factor for

schizophrenia? Schizophr Res 40, 173-177.

- McGrath, J.J., Féron, F.P., Burne, T.H., Mackay-Sim, A., and Eyles, D.W. (2003). The neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia: a review of recent developments. Ann Med 35, 86–93.
- Meldrum, B.S. (2000). Glutamate as a neurotransmitter in the brain: review of physiology and pathology. J Nutr *130*, 1007S–15S.
- Melloni, L., Molina, C., Pena, M., Torres, D., Singer, W., and Rodriguez, E. (2007). Synchronization of neural activity across cortical areas correlates with conscious perception. J Neurosci 27, 2858–2865.
- Meltzer, H.Y., Matsubara, S., and Lee, J.C. (1989). Classification of typical and atypical antipsychotic drugs on the basis of dopamine D-1, D-2 and serotonin2 pKi values. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 251, 238–246.
- Merker, B. (2013). Cortical gamma oscillations: the functional key is activation, not cognition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 37, 401–417.
- Meyer-Lindenberg, A.S., Olsen, R.K., Kohn, P.D., Brown, T., Egan, M.F., Weinberger, D.R., and Berman, K.F. (2005). Regionally specific disturbance of dorsolateral prefrontal– hippocampal functional connectivity in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62, 379–386.
- Miles, R., Tóth, K., Gulyàs, A.I., Hajos, N., and Freund, T.F. (1996). Differences between somatic and dendritic inhibition in the hippocampus. Neuron *16*, 815–823.
- Milev, P., Ho, B.-C., Arndt, S., and Andreasen, N.C. (2005). Predictive values of neurocognition and negative symptoms on functional outcome in schizophrenia: a longitudinal first-episode study with 7-year follow-up. Am J Psychiatry 162, 495–506.
- Millar, J.K., Wilson-Annan, J.C., Anderson, S., Christie, S., Taylor, M.S., Semple, C.A.M., Devon, R.S., Clair, D.M.S., Muir, W.J., Blackwood, D.H.R., et al. (2000). Disruption of two novel genes by a translocation co-segregating with schizophrenia. Hum Mol Genet 9, 1415–1423.
- Miller, G.A. (1956). The magical number seven, plus or minus two: some limits on our capacity for processing information. Psychol Rev 63, 81–97.
- Miyamoto, S., Duncan, G.E., Marx, C.E., and Lieberman, J.A. (2004). Treatments for schizophrenia: a critical review of pharmacology and mechanisms of action of antipsychotic drugs. Mol Psychiatry 10, 79–104.
- Miyamoto, S., Miyake, N., Jarskog, L.F., Fleischhacker, W.W., and Lieberman, J.A. (2012).
 Pharmacological treatment of schizophrenia: a critical review of the pharmacology and clinical effects of current and future therapeutic agents. Mol Psychiatry 17, 1206–1227.
- Moghaddam, B., and Krystal, J.H. (2012). Capturing the angel in "angel dust": Twenty years of translational neuroscience studies of NMDA receptor antagonists in animals and humans. Schizophr Bull *38*, 942–949.

- Moghaddam, B. (2003). Bringing order to the glutamate chaos in schizophrenia. Neuron 40, 881–884.
- Moghaddam, B., and Jackson, M.E. (2003). Glutamatergic Animal Models of Schizophrenia. Ann NY Acad Sci 1003, 131–137.
- Moghaddam, B., Adams, B., Verma, A., and Daly, D. (1997). Activation of glutamatergic neurotransmission by ketamine: a novel step in the pathway from NMDA receptor blockade to dopaminergic and cognitive disruptions associated with the prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci 17, 2921–2927.
- Monchi, O., Petrides, M., Petre, V., Worsley, K., and Dagher, A. (2001). Wisconsin Card Sorting revisited: distinct neural circuits participating in different stages of the task identified by event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosci 21, 7733– 7741.
- Montgomery, J.M., and Madison, D.V. (2004). Discrete synaptic states define a major mechanism of synapse plasticity. Trends Neurosci 27, 744–750.
- Monyer, H., and Markram, H. (2004). Interneuron Diversity series: Molecular and genetic tools to study GABAergic interneuron diversity and function. Trends Neurosci 27, 90–97.
- Monyer, H., Burnashev, N., Laurie, D.J., Sakmann, B., and Seeburg, P.H. (1994).
 Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors. Neuron *12*, 529–540.
- Morrow, B.A., Elsworth, J.D., and Roth, R.H. (2007). Repeated phencyclidine in monkeys results in loss of parvalbumin-containing axo-axonic projections in the prefrontal cortex. Psychopharmacology *192*, 283-290.
- Mothet, J.P., Parent, A.T., Wolosker, H., Brady, R.O., Linden, D.J., Ferris, C.D., Rogawski, M.A., and Snyder, S.H. (2000). D-serine is an endogenous ligand for the glycine site of the N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor. PNAS. 97, 4926–4931.
- Mouaffak, F., Tranulis, C., Gourevitch, R., Poirier, M.-F., Douki, S., Olié, J.-P., Lôo, H., and Gourion, D. (2006). Augmentation Strategies of Clozapine With Antipsychotics in the Treatment of Ultraresistant Schizophrenia. Clinical Neuropharmacology 29, 28.
- Mouri, A., Koseki, T., Narusawa, S., Niwa, M., Mamiya, T., Kano, S.-I., Sawa, A., and Nabeshima, T. (2012). Mouse strain differences in phencyclidine-induced behavioural changes. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 15, 767–779.
- Mouri, A., Nagai, T., Ibi, D., and Yamada, K. (2013). Animal models of schizophrenia for molecular and pharmacological intervention and potential candidate molecules. Neurobiol Dis 53, 61–74.
- Mouri, A., Noda, Y., Noda, A., Nakamura, T., Tokura, T., Yura, Y., Nitta, A., Furukawa, H., and Nabeshima, T. (2007). Involvement of a Dysfunctional Dopamine-D1/N-Methyl-daspartate-NR1 and Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II Pathway in the Impairment of Latent Learning in a Model of Schizophrenia Induced by Phencyclidine. Mol Pharmacol 71, 1598–1609.

- Munafo, M.R., Thiselton, D.L., Clark, T.G., and Flint, J. (2006). Association of the NRG1 gene and schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Mol Psychiatry 11, 539–546.
- Murphy, P.C., and Sillito, A.M. (1987). Corticofugal feedback influences the generation of length tuning in the visual pathway. Nature *329*, 727–729.
- Müller, M.M., Bosch, J., Elbert, T., Kreiter, A., Sosa, M.V., Sosa, P.V., and Rockstroh, B. (1996). Visually induced gamma-band responses in human electroencephalographic activity—a link to animal studies. Exp Brain Res 112, 96–102.
- Møller, P., and Husby, R. (2000). The initial prodrome in schizophrenia: searching for naturalistic core dimensions of experience and behavior. Schizophr Bull *26*, 217–232.
- Näätänen, R., Jacobsen, T., and Winkler, I. (2005). Memory-based or afferent processes in mismatch negativity (MMN): A review of the evidence. Psychophysiology 42, 25–32.
- Nagai, T., Noda, Y., Une, T., Furukawa, K., Furukawa, H., Kan, Q.M., and Nabeshima, T. (2003). Effect of AD-5423 on animal models of schizophrenia: phencyclidine-induced behavioral changes in mice. Neuroreport 14, 269–272.
- Nakazawa, K., Zsiros, V., Jiang, Z., Nakao, K., Kolata, S., Zhang, S., and Belforte, J.E. (2012). GABAergic interneuron origin of schizophrenia pathophysiology. Neuropharmacology 62, 1574–1583.
- Nakazawa, T., Komai, S., Tezuka, T., Hisatsune, C., Umemori, H., Semba, K., Mishina, M., Manabe, T., and Yamamoto, T. (2001). Characterization of fyn-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation sites on GluRɛ2 (NR2B) subunit of theN-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J Biol Chem 276, 693–699.
- Nasrallah, H.A. (2007). Atypical antipsychotic-induced metabolic side effects: insights from receptor-binding profiles. Mol Psychiatry 13, 27–35.
- Nasrallah, H., and Tandon, R. (2000). Classic Antipsychotic Medications. In The American Psychiatric Publishing Textbook of Psychopharmacology, 4th Edition, A.F. Schatzberg, and C.B. Nemeroff, eds. (American Psychiatric Association).
- Nave, K.-A., and Salzer, J.L. (2006). Axonal regulation of myelination by neuregulin 1. Curr Opin Neurobiol *16*, 492–500.
- Nelson, M.D., Saykin, A.J., Flashman, L.A., and Riordan, H.J. (1998). Hippocampal volume reduction in schizophrenia as assessed by magnetic resonance imaging: a meta-analytic study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55, 433–440.
- Newcomer, J.W., Farber, N.B., Jevtovic-Todorovic, V., Selke, G., Melson, A.K., Hershey, T., Craft, S., and Olney, J.W. (1999). Ketamine-induced NMDA receptor hypofunction as a model of memory impairment and psychosis. Neuropsychopharmacology 20, 106–118.
- Noda, A., Noda, Y., Kamei, H., Ichihara, K., Mamiya, T., Nagai, T., Sugiura, S., Furukawa, H., and Nabeshima, T. (2001). Phencyclidine impairs latent learning in mice: Interaction between glutamatergic systems and sigma(1) receptors. Neuropsychopharmacology 24, 451–460.

- Nordström, A.L., Farde, L., Wiesel, F.A., Forslund, K., Pauli, S., Halldin, C., and Uppfeldt, G. (1993). Central D2-dopamine receptor occupancy in relation to antipsychotic drug effects: a double-blind PET study of schizophrenic patients. Biol Psychiatry 33, 227–235.
- Nordström, A.L., Farde, L., Nyberg, S., Karlsson, P., Halldin, C., and Sedvall, G. (1995). D1, D2, and 5-HT2 receptor occupancy in relation to clozapine serum concentration: a PET study of schizophrenic patients. Am J Psychiatry 152, 1444–1449.
- Norton, N., Moskvina, V., Morris, D.W., Bray, N.J., Zammit, S., Williams, N.M., Williams, H.J., Preece, A.C., Dwyer, S., Wilkinson, J.C., et al. (2006). Evidence that interaction between neuregulin 1 and its receptor erbB4 increases susceptibility to schizophrenia. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 141B, 96–101.
- Nunez, P.L. (2000). Toward a quantitative description of large-scale neocortical dynamic function and EEG. Behav Brain Sci *23*, 371–98–discussion399–437.
- Ohla, K., Busch, N.A., and Herrmann, C.S. (2007). Early electrophysiological markers of visual awareness in the human brain. Neuroimage *37*, 1329–1337.
- Ohnuma, T., Augood, S.J., Arai, H., McKenna, P.J., and Emson, P.C. (1999). Measurement of GABAergic parameters in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia: focus on GABA content, GABA(A) receptor alpha-1 subunit messenger RNA and human GABA transporter-1 (HGAT-1) messenger RNA expression. Neuroscience 93, 441–448.
- Olesen, J., Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., Wittchen, H.U., and Jönsson, B. (2011). The economic cost of brain disorders in Europe. European Journal of Neurology *19*, 155–162.
- Olney, J.W. (1995). Glutamate Receptor Dysfunction and Schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52, 998.
- Olney, J.W., Newcomer, J.W., and Farber, N.B. (1999). NMDA receptor hypofunction model of schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Res *33*, 523–533.
- Olszewski, M., Piasecka, J., Goda, S.A., Kasicki, S., and Hunt, M.J. (2012). Antipsychotic compounds differentially modulate high-frequency oscillations in the rat nucleus accumbens: a comparison of first- and second-generation drugs. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 16, 1009–1020.
- Ossowska, K., Pietraszek, M., Wardas, J., Nowak, G., and Wolfarth, S. (1999). Chronic haloperidol and clozapine administration increases the number of cortical NMDA receptors in rats. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol *359*, 280–287–287.
- Oye, I., Paulsen, O., and Maurset, A. (1992). Effects of ketamine on sensory perception: evidence for a role of N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 260, 1209–1213.
- Palmer, B.A., Pankratz, V.S., and Bostwick, J.M. (2005). The lifetime risk of suicide in schizophrenia: a reexamination. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62, 247–253.
- Palva, J.M. (2005). Phase Synchrony among Neuronal Oscillations in the Human Cortex. J Neurosci 25, 3962–3972.
- Pantev, C., Makeig, S., Hoke, M., Galambos, R., Hampson, S., and Gallen, C. (1991). Human auditory evoked gamma-band magnetic fields. PNAS *88*, 8996–9000.
- Passafaro, M., Piëch, V., and Sheng, M. (2001). Subunit-specific temporal and spatial patterns of AMPA receptor exocytosis in hippocampal neurons. Nat Neurosci *4*, 917–926.
- Patil, S.T., Zhang, L., Martenyi, F., Lowe, S.L., Jackson, K.A., Andreev, B.V., Avedisova, A.S., Bardenstein, L.M., Gurovich, I.Y., Morozova, M.A., et al. (2007). Activation of mGlu2/3 receptors as a new approach to treat schizophrenia: a randomized Phase 2 clinical trial. Nat Med 13, 1102–1107.
- Paxinos, G., and Watson, C. (1998). The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates, (Academic Press).
- Páleníček, T., Fujáková, M., Brunovský, M., Balíková, M., Horáček, J., Gorman, I., Tylš, F., Tišlerová, B., Šoš, P., Bubeníková-Valešová, V., et al. (2011). Electroencephalographic Spectral and Coherence Analysis of Ketamine in Rats: Correlation with Behavioral Effects and Pharmacokinetics. Neuropsychobiology 63, 202–218.
- Perry, T.L., Kish, S.J., Buchanan, J., and Hansen, S. (1979). Gamma-aminobutyric-acid deficiency in brain of schizophrenic patients. Lancet 1, 237–239.
- Perry, T.L. (1982). Normal cerebrospinal fluid and brain glutamate levels in schizophrenia do not support the hypothesis of glutamatergic neuronal dysfunction. Neurosci Lett 28, 81–85.
- Pesaran, B., Pezaris, J.S., Sahani, M., Mitra, P.P., and Andersen, R.A. (2002). Temporal structure in neuronal activity during working memory in macaque parietal cortex. Nat Neurosci 5, 805–811.
- Phillips, K.G., Cotel, M.C., McCarthy, A.P., Edgar, D.M., Tricklebank, M., O'Neill, M.J., Jones, M.W., and Wafford, K.A. (2012). Differential effects of NMDA antagonists on high frequency and gamma EEG oscillations in a neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia. Neuropharmacology 62, 1359–1370.
- Picton, T.W., John, M.S., Dimitrijevic, A., and Purcell, D. (2003). Human auditory steady-state responses. Int J Audiol 42, 177–219.
- Pierri, J.N., Chaudry, A.S., Woo, T.U.W., and Lewis, D.A. (1999). Alterations in chandelier neuron axon terminals in the prefrontal cortex of schizophrenic subjects. Am J Psychiatry 156, 1709–1719.
- Pilowsky, L.S., Bressan, R.A., Stone, J.M., Erlandsson, K., Mulligan, R.S., Krystal, J.H., and Ell, P.J. (2005). First in vivo evidence of an NMDA receptor deficit in medication-free schizophrenic patients. Mol Psychiatry 11, 118–119.
- Pinault, D., and Deschênes, M. (1992). Voltage-dependent 40-Hz oscillations in rat reticular thalamic neurons in vivo. Neuroscience 51, 245–258.
- Pinault, D. (1996). A novel single-cell staining procedure performed in vivo under electrophysiological control: morpho-functional features of juxtacellularly labeled thalamic cells and other central neurons with biocytin or Neurobiotin. J Neurosci Methods 65, 113–

136.

- Pinault, D. (2004). The thalamic reticular nucleus: structure, function and concept. Brain Res Rev 46, 1–31.
- Pinault, D. (2005). A new stabilizing craniotomy-duratomy technique for single-cell anatomoelectrophysiological exploration of living intact brain networks. J Neurosci Methods 141, 231–242.
- Pinault, D. (2008). N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists ketamine and MK-801 induce wake-related aberrant gamma oscillations in the rat neocortex. Biol Psychiatry 63, 730– 735.
- Pinault, D. (2011). Dysfunctional Thalamus-Related Networks in Schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 37, 238–243.
- Pitcher, G.M., Kalia, L.V., Ng, D., Goodfellow, N.M., Yee, K.T., Lambe, E.K., and Salter, M.W. (2011). Schizophrenia susceptibility pathway neuregulin 1-ErbB4 suppresses Src upregulation of NMDA receptors. Nat Med 17, 470–478.
- Prybylowski, K., Chang, K., Sans, N., Kan, L., Vicini, S., and Wenthold, R.J. (2005). The Synaptic Localization of NR2B-Containing NMDA Receptors Is Controlled by Interactions with PDZ Proteins and AP-2. Neuron 47, 845–857.
- Pulvermüller, F., Eulitz, C., Pantev, C., Mohr, B., Feige, B., Lutzenberger, W., Elbert, T., and Birbaumer, N. (1996). High-frequency cortical responses reflect lexical processing: an MEG study. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 98, 76–85.
- Purves, D., Augustine, G.J., Fitzpatrick, D., Hall, W.C., Lamantia, A.-S., and White, L.E. (2011). Neuroscience (Sinauer Associates, Incorporated).
- Puttfarcken, P.S., Handen, J.S., Montgomery, D.T., Coyle, J.T., and Werling, L.L. (1993). Nacetyl-aspartylglutamate modulation of N-Methyl-D-aspartate-stimulated [3H]norepinephrine release from rat hippocampal slices. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 266, 796–803.
- Qin, Z.H., Zhang, S.P., and Weiss, B. (1994). Dopaminergic and glutamatergic blocking drugs differentially regulate glutamic acid decarboxylase mRNA in mouse brain. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 21, 293–302.
- Radant, A.D., Bowdle, T.A., Cowley, D.S., Kharasch, E.D., and Roy-Byrne, P.P. (1998). Does ketamine-mediated N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonism cause schizophrenia-like oculomotor abnormalities? Neuropsychopharmacology 19, 434–444.
- Ramaekers, J.G., Louwerens, J.W., Muntjewerff, N.D., Milius, H., de Bie, A., Rosenzweig, P., Patat, A., and O'Hanlon, J.F. (1999). Psychomotor, Cognitive, extrapyramidal, and affective functions of healthy volunteers during treatment with an atypical (amisulpride) and a classic (haloperidol) antipsychotic. J Clin Psychopharmacol 19, 209–221.
- Remington, G., and Kapur, S. (1999). D2 and 5-HT2 receptor effects of antipsychotics: bridging basic and clinical findings using PET. J Clin Psychiatry 60 Suppl 10, 15–19.

- Revonsuo, A. (1999). Binding and the phenomenal unity of consciousness. Conscious Cogn 8, 173–185.
- Ribary, U., Ioannides, A.A., and Singh, K.D. (1991). Magnetic field tomography of coherent thalamocortical 40-Hz oscillations in humans.
- Ribary, U. (2005). Dynamics of thalamo-cortical network oscillations and human perception. Prog Brain Res 150, 127–142.
- Riley, B., and Kendler, K.S. (2006). Molecular genetic studies of schizophrenia. Eur J Hum Genet 14, 669–680.
- Ripke, S., Sanders, A.R., Kendler, K.S., Levinson, D.F., Sklar, P., Holmans, P.A., Lin, D.-Y., Duan, J., Ophoff, R.A., Andreassen, O.A., et al. (2011). Genome-wide association study identifies five new schizophrenia loci. Nat Genet 43, 969–976.
- Roach, B.J., and Mathalon, D.H. (2008). Event-related EEG time-frequency analysis: An overview of measures and an analysis of early gamma band phase locking in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 34, 907–926.
- Robinson, D.G. (2004). Symptomatic and functional recovery from a first episode of schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. Am J Psychiatry *161*, 473–479.
- Rodriguez, E., George, N., Lachaux, J.P., Martinerie, J., Renault, B., and Varela, F.J. (1999). Perception's shadow: Long-distance synchronization of human brain activity. Nature 397, 430–433.
- Rolls, E.T., Loh, M., Deco, G., and Winterer, G. (2008). Computational models of schizophrenia and dopamine modulation in the prefrontal cortex. Nat Rev Neurosci 9, 696–709.
- Rosenheck, R., Perlick, D., Bingham, S., Liu-Mares, W., Collins, J., Warren, S., Leslie, D., Allan, E., Campbell, E.C., and Caroff, S. (2003). Effectiveness and cost of olanzapine and haloperidol in the treatment of schizophrenia. JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association 290, 2693–2702.
- Ross, C.A., Margolis, R.L., Reading, S.A.J., Pletnikov, M., and Coyle, J.T. (2006). Neurobiology of Schizophrenia. Neuron 52, 139–153.
- Rotaru, D.C., Yoshino, H., Lewis, D.A., Ermentrout, G.B., and Gonzalez-Burgos, G. (2011). Glutamate receptor subtypes mediating synaptic activation of prefrontal cortex neurons: Relevance for schizophrenia. J Neurosci 31, 142–156.
- Rössler, W., Joachim Salize, H., van Os, J., and Riecher-Rössler, A. (2005). Size of burden of schizophrenia and psychotic disorders. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15, 399–409.
- Rujescu, D., Bender, A., Keck, M., Hartmann, A.M., Ohl, F., Raeder, H., Giegling, I., Genius, J., McCarley, R.W., Möller, H.-J., et al. (2006). A pharmacological model for psychosis based on n-methyl-d-aspartate receptor hypofunction: Molecular, cellular, functional and behavioral abnormalities. Biol Psychiatry 59, 721–729.

- Sadock, B.J., Ruiz, P., and Sadock, V.A. (2014). Kaplan & Sadock's Comprehensive Textbook of Psychiatry, 9th Edition (Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins).
- Saha, S., Chant, D., and McGrath, J. (2007). A systematic review of mortality in schizophrenia: is the differential mortality gap worsening over time? Arch Gen Psychiatry 64, 1123–1131.
- Salinas, E., and Sejnowski, T.J. (2001). Correlated neuronal activity and the flow of neural information. Nat Rev Neurosci 2, 539–550.
- Sams-Dodd, F. (1995). Automation of the social interaction test by a video-tracking system: behavioural effects of repeated phencyclidine treatment. J Neurosci Methods 59, 157–167.
- SANE (2002). Schizophrenia: Costs An analysis of the burden of schizophrenia and related suicide in Australia. (Access Economics Report)
- Saunders, J.A., Gandal, M.J., and Siegel, S.J. (2012). NMDA antagonists recreate signal-to-noise ratio and timing perturbations present in schizophrenia. Neurobiol Dis 46, 93–100.
- Sánchez-Prieto, J., Budd, D.C., Herrero, I., Vázquez, E., and Nicholls, D.G. (1996). Presynaptic receptors and the control of glutamate exocytosis. Trends Neurosci 19, 235– 239.
- Scanziani, M., Salin, P.A., Vogt, K.E., Malenka, R.C., and Nicoll, R.A. (1997). Use-dependent increases in glutamate concentration activate presynaptic metabotropic glutamate receptors. Nature 385, 630–634.
- Schneider, K. (1959). Clinical psychopathology (New York, NY: Grune & Stratton).
- Schulz, S.B., Heidmann, K.E., Mike, A., Klaft, Z.-J., Heinemann, U., and Gerevich, Z. (2012). First and second generation antipsychotics influence hippocampal gamma oscillations by interactions with 5-HT 3and D 3receptors. Br J Pharmacol 167, 1480–1491.
- Schurger, A., Cowey, A., and Tallon-Baudry, C. (2006). Induced gamma-band oscillations correlate with awareness in hemianopic patient GY. Neuropsychologia 44, 1796–1803.
- Seamans, J. (2008). Losing inhibition with ketamine. Nat Chem Biol 4, 91–93.
- Sederberg, P.B., Schulze-Bonhage, A., Madsen, J.R., Bromfield, E.B., Litt, B., Brandt, A., and Kahana, M.J. (2007). Gamma oscillations distinguish true from false memories. Psychol Sci 18, 927–932.
- Seeburg, P.H., Burnashev, N., Köhr, G., Kuner, T., Sprengel, R., and Monyer, H. (1995). The NMDA receptor channel: Molecular design of a coincidence detector. In Recent progress in hormone research, C.W. Bardin, ed. (Boston: Academic Press), pp. 19–34.
- Seeman, P. (1987). Dopamine receptors and the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia. Synapse *1*, 133–152.
- Seeman, P., and Lee, T. (1975). Antipsychotic drugs: direct correlation between clinical potency and presynaptic action on dopamine neurons. Science *188*, 1217–1219.

- Seeman, P., Lee, T., Chau-Wong, M., and Wong, K. (1976). Antipsychotic drug doses and neuroleptic/dopamine receptors. Nature 261, 717–719.
- Seeman, P. (2002). Atypical antipsychotics: mechanism of action. Can J Psychiatry 47, 27-38.
- Seeman, P. (2011). All Roads to Schizophrenia Lead to Dopamine Supersensitivity and Elevated Dopamine D2High Receptors. CNS Neurosci Ther *17*, 118–132.
- Settle, E.C., and Ayd, F.J. (1983). Haloperidol: a quarter century of experience. J Clin Psychiatry.
- Sheng, M., Cummings, J., Roldan, L.A., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (1994). Changing subunit composition of heteromeric NMDA receptors during development of rat cortex. Nature 368, 144–147.
- Shi, Y., Li, Z., Xu, Q., Wang, T., Li, T., Shen, J., Zhang, F., Chen, J., Zhou, G., Ji, W., et al. (2011). Common variants on 8p12 and 1q24.2 confer risk of schizophrenia. Nat Genet 43, 1224–1227.
- Shim, S.S., Grant, E.R., Singh, S., Gallagher, M.J., and Lynch, D.R. (1999). Actions of butyrophenones and other antipsychotic agents at NMDA receptors: relationship with clinical effects and structural considerations. Neurochem. Int. 34, 167–175.
- Silberberg, G., Darvasi, A., Pinkas-Kramarski, R., and Navon, R. (2006). The involvement of ErbB4 with schizophrenia: association and expression studies. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 141B, 142–148.
- Sillito, A.M., and Jones, H.E. (2002). Corticothalamic interactions in the transfer of visual information. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 357, 1739–1752.
- Simon, A.E., Cattapan-Ludewig, K., Zmilacher, S., Arbach, D., Gruber, K., Dvorsky, D.N., Roth, B., Isler, E., Zimmer, A., and Umbricht, D. (2007). Cognitive functioning in the schizophrenia prodrome. Schizophr Bull 33, 761–771.
- Singer, W. (1993). Synchronization of cortical activity and its putative role in information processing and learning. Annu Rev Physiol 55, 349–374.
- Singer, W and Gray, C.M. (1995). Visual feature integration and the temporal correlation hypothesis. Annu Rev Neurosci 18, 555–586.
- Smith, G.S., Schloesser, R., Brodie, J.D., Dewey, S.L., Logan, J., Vitkun, S.A., Simkowitz, P., Hurley, A., Cooper, T., Volkow, N.D., et al. (1998). Glutamate modulation of dopamine measured in vivo with positron emission tomography (PET) and 11C-raclopride in normal human subjects. Neuropsychopharmacology 18, 18–25.
- Snyder, M.A., and Gao, W.J. (2013). NMDA hypofunction as a convergence point for progression and symptoms of schizophrenia. Front Cell Neurosci 7, 31.
- Snyder, M.A., Adelman, A.E., and Gao, W.J. (2013). Gestational methylazoxymethanol exposure leads to NMDAR dysfunction in hippocampus during early development and

lasting deficits in learning. Neuropsychopharmacology 38, 328–340.

- Softky, W.R., and Koch, C. (1993). The highly irregular firing of cortical cells is inconsistent with temporal integration of random EPSPs. J Neurosci *13*, 334–350.
- Sohal, V.S., Zhang, F., Yizhar, O., and Deisseroth, K. (2009). Parvalbumin neurons and gamma rhythms enhance cortical circuit performance. Nature 459, 698–702.
- Somers, D., and Kopell, N. (1993). Rapid synchronization through fast threshold modulation. Biol Cybern *68*, 393–407.
- Soyka, M., Koch, W., Möller, H.J., Rüther, T., and Tatsch, K. (2005). Hypermetabolic pattern in frontal cortex and other brain regions in unmedicated schizophrenia patients. Results from a FDG-PET study. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 255, 308–312.
- Spear, L.P. (2000). The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 24, 417–463.
- Spencer, K.M. (2009). The functional consequences of cortical circuit abnormalities on gamma oscillations in schizophrenia: insights from computational modeling. Front Hum Neurosci 3, 33.
- Spencer, K.M., Niznikiewicz, M.A., Nestor, P.G., Shenton, M.E., and McCarley, R.W. (2009). Left auditory cortex gamma synchronization and auditory hallucination symptoms in schizophrenia. BMC Neurosci 10, 85.
- Spencer, K.M. (2008). Visual gamma oscillations in schizophrenia: implications for understanding neural circuitry abnormalities. Clin EEG Neurosci *39*, 65–68.
- Spencer, K.M. (2011). Baseline gamma power during auditory steady-state stimulation in schizophrenia. Front Hum Neurosci 5, 190.
- Spencer, K.M., Nestor, P.G., Niznikiewicz, M.A., Salisbury, D.F., Shenton, M.E., and McCarley, R.W. (2003). Abnormal Neural Synchrony in Schizophrenia. J Neurosci 23, 7407–7411.
- Spencer, K.M., Nestor, P.G., Perlmutter, R., Niznikiewicz, M.A., Klump, M.C., Frumin, M., Shenton, M.E., and McCarley, R.W. (2004). Neural synchrony indexes disordered perception and cognition in schizophrenia. PNAS 101, 17288–17293.
- Spencer, K.M., Niznikiewicz, M.A., Shenton, M.E., and McCarley, R.W. (2008). Sensory-Evoked Gamma Oscillations in Chronic Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry *63*, 744–747.
- Spurney, C.F., Baca, S.M., Murray, A.M., Jaskiw, G.E., Kleinman, J.E., and Hyde, T.M. (1999). Differential effects of haloperidol and clozapine on ionotropic glutamate receptors in rats. Synapse 34, 266–276.
- Stefansson, H., Sarginson, J., Kong, A., Yates, P., Steinthorsdottir, V., Gudfinnsson, E., Gunnarsdottir, S., Walker, N., Petursson, H., Crombie, C., et al. (2003). Association of neuregulin 1 with schizophrenia confirmed in a Scottish population. Am J Hum Genet 72, 83–87.

- Stefansson, H., Petursson, H., Sigurdsson, E., Steinthorsdottir, V., Bjornsdottir, S.,
 Sigmundsson, T., Ghosh, S., Brynjolfsson, J., Gunnarsdottir, S., Ivarsson, O., et al.
 (2002). Neuregulin 1 and Susceptibility to Schizophrenia. Am J Hum Genet 71, 877–892.
- Stein, von, A., and Sarnthein, J. (2000). Different frequencies for different scales of cortical integration: from local gamma to long range alpha/theta synchronization. Int J Psychophysiol 38, 301–313.
- Stephan, K.E., Baldeweg, T., and Friston, K.J. (2006). Synaptic Plasticity and Dysconnection in Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 59, 929–939.
- Stephan, K.E., Friston, K.J., and Frith, C.D. (2009). Dysconnection in Schizophrenia: From Abnormal Synaptic Plasticity to Failures of Self-monitoring. Schizophr Bull *35*, 509–527.
- Steriade, M. (2001). Impact of network activities on neuronal properties in corticothalamic systems. J Neurophysiol 86, 1–39.
- Steriade, M., Curró Dossi, R., and Contreras, D. (1993). Electrophysiological properties of intralaminar thalamocortical cells discharging rhythmic (approximately 40 Hz) spike-bursts at approximately 1000 Hz during waking and rapid eye movement sleep. Neuroscience 56, 1–9.
- Stevens, K.E., Kem, W.R., Mahnir, V.M., and Freedman, R. (1998). Selective α7 -nicotinic agonists normalize inhibition of auditory response in DBA mice. Psychopharmacology 136, 320–327.
- Straub, R.E., Lipska, B.K., Egan, M.F., Goldberg, T.E., Callicott, J.H., Mayhew, M.B., Vakkalanka, R.K., Kolachana, B.S., Kleinman, J.E., and Weinberger, D.R. (2007). Allelic variation in GAD1 (GAD67) is associated with schizophrenia and influences cortical function and gene expression. Mol Psychiatry 12, 854–869.
- Straub, R.E., Jiang, Y., MacLean, C.J., Ma, Y., Webb, B.T., Myakishev, M.V., Harris-Kerr, C., Wormley, B., Sadek, H., Kadambi, B., et al. (2002). Genetic variation in the 6p22.3 gene DTNBP1, the human ortholog of the mouse dysbindin gene, is associated with schizophrenia. Am J Hum Genet 71, 337–348.
- Sturgeon, R.D., Fessler, R.G., and Meltzer, H.Y. (1979). Behavioral rating scales for assessing phencyclidine-induced locomotor activity, stereotyped behavior and ataxia in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 59, 169–179.
- Suazo, V., Díez, Á., Martín, C., Ballesteros, A., Casado, P., Martín-Loeches, M., and Molina, V. (2012). Elevated noise power in gamma band related to negative symptoms and memory deficit in schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 38, 270–275.
- Suga, N., Gao, E., Zhang, Y., Ma, X., and Olsen, J.F. (2000). The corticofugal system for hearing: recent progress. PNAS 97, 11807–11814.
- Sullivan, P.F. (2005). The genetics of schizophrenia. PLoS Med 2, e212.
- Sullivan, P.F., Kendler, K.S., and Neale, M.C. (2003). Schizophrenia as a complex trait: evidence from a meta-analysis of twin studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry *60*, 1187–1192.

- Sun, Y., Farzan, F., Barr, M.S., Kirihara, K., Fitzgerald, P.B., Light, G.A., and Daskalakis, Z.J. (2011). Gamma oscillations in schizophrenia: Mechanisms and clinical significance. Brain Res 1413, 98–114.
- Susser, E., Neugebauer, R., Hoek, H.W., Brown, A.S., Lin, S., Labovitz, D., and Gorman, J.M. (1996). Schizophrenia after prenatal famine. Further evidence. Arch Gen Psychiatry 53, 25–31.
- Suzuki, Y., Jodo, E., Takeuchi, S., Niwa, S., and Kayama, Y. (2002). Acute administration of phencyclidine induces tonic activation of medial prefrontal cortex neurons in freely moving rats. Neuroscience 114, 769–779.
- Suzuki, T., Remington, G., Mulsant, B.H., Uchida, H., Rajji, T.K., Graff-Guerrero, A., Mimura, M., and Mamo, D.C. (2012). Defining treatment-resistant schizophrenia and response to antipsychotics: a review and recommendation. Psychiatry Res 197, 1–6.
- Symond, M.B., Harris, A.W.F., Gordon, E., and Williams, L.M. (2005). "Gamma Synchrony" in first-episode schizophrenia: A disorder of temporal connectivity? Am J Psychiatry 162, 459–465.
- Szoke, A., Trandafir, A., Dupont, M.E., Meary, A., Schurhoff, F., and Leboyer, M. (2008). Longitudinal studies of cognition in schizophrenia: meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 192, 248– 257.
- Tallon-Baudry, C., and Bertrand, O. (1999). Oscillatory gamma activity in humans and its role in object representation. Trends Cogn Sci 3, 151–162.
- Tallon-Baudry, C., Bertrand, O., Peronnet, F., and Pernier, J. (1998). Induced gamma-band activity during the delay of a visual short-term memory task in humans. J Neurosci 18, 4244–4254.
- Tanaka, D.H., Toriumi, K., Kubo, K.-I., Nabeshima, T., and Nakajima, K. (2011). GABAergic precursor transplantation into the prefrontal cortex prevents phencyclidine-induced cognitive deficits. J Neurosci 31, 14116–14125.
- Tandon, R., Gaebel, W., Barch, D.M., Bustillo, J., Gur, R.E., Heckers, S., Malaspina, D., Owen, M.J., Schultz, S., Tsuang, M., et al. (2013). Definition and description of schizophrenia in the DSM-5. Schizophr Res 150, 3–10.
- Thaker, G.K., and Carpenter, W.T. (2001). Advances in schizophrenia. Nat Med 7, 667-671.
- Thompson, E., and Varela, F.J. (2001). Radical embodiment: neural dynamics and consciousness. Trends Cogn Sci 5, 418–425.
- Thornton, A.E., Van Snellenberg, J.X., Sepehry, A.A., and Honer, W. (2006). The impact of atypical antipsychotic medications on long-term memory dysfunction in schizophrenia spectrum disorder: a quantitative review. J Psychopharmacol *20*, 335–346.
- Tiitinen, H., Sinkkonen, J., Reinikainen, K., Alho, K., Lavikainen, J., and Näätänen, R. (1993). Selective attention enhances the auditory 40-Hz transient response in humans. Nature 364, 59–60.

- Tollefson, G.D., and Sanger, T.M. (1997). Negative symptoms: a path analytic approach to a double-blind, placebo-and haloperidol-controlled clinical trial with olanzapine. Am J Psychiatry 154, 466–474.
- Tort, A.B.L., Kramer, M.A., Thorn, C., Gibson, D.J., Kubota, Y., Graybiel, A.M., and Kopell, N.J. (2008). Dynamic cross-frequency couplings of local field potential oscillations in rat striatum and hippocampus during performance of a T-maze task. PNAS 105, 20517– 20522.
- Traub, R.D., and Whittington, M.A. (2010). Cortical oscillations in health and disease. (New York, NY: Oxford University Press).
- Traub, R.D., Whittington, M.A., Colling, S.B., Buzsaki, G., and Jefferys, J.G. (1996). Analysis of gamma rhythms in the rat hippocampus in vitro and in vivo. J Physiol 493 (*Pt 2*), 471–484.
- Tsai, G., Passani, L.A., Slusher, B.S., Carter, R., Baer, L., Kleinman, J.E., and Coyle, J.T. (1995). Abnormal excitatory neurotransmitter metabolism in schizophrenic brains. Arch Gen Psychiatry 52, 829–836.
- Tsai, G., van Kammen, D.P., Chen, S., Kelley, M.E., Grier, A., and Coyle, J.T. (1998). Glutamatergic neurotransmission involves structural and clinical deficits of schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 44, 667–674.
- Tsai, G., and Coyle, J.T. (1995). N-Acetylaspartate in neuropsychiatric disorders. Prog Neurobiol 46, 531–540.
- Tsuang, M. (2000). Schizophrenia: genes and environment. Biol Psychiatry 47, 210–220.
- Turetsky, B., Colbath, E.A., and Gur, R.E. (1998). P300 subcomponent abnormalities in schizophrenia: Longitudinal stability and relationship to symptom change. Biol Psychiatry 43, 31–39.
- Turner, T. (2007). Chlorpromazine: unlocking psychosis. BMJ 334.
- Tuunainen, A., Wahlbeck, K., and Gilbody, S. (2002). Newer atypical antipsychotic medication in comparison to clozapine: a systematic review of randomized trials. Schizophr Res 56, 1– 10.
- Uhlhaas, P.J. (2013). Dysconnectivity, large-scale networks and neuronal dynamics in schizophrenia. Curr Opin Neurobiol 23, 283–290.
- Uhlhaas, P.J., and Mishara, A.L. (2007). Perceptual anomalies in schizophrenia: integrating phenomenology and cognitive neuroscience. Schizophr Bull *33*, 142–156.
- Uhlhaas, P.J., and Singer, W. (2010). Abnormal neural oscillations and synchrony in schizophrenia. Nat Rev Neurosci *11*, 100–113.
- Uhlhaas, P.J., Haenschel, C., Nikolic, D., and Singer, W. (2008). The Role of Oscillations and Synchrony in Cortical Networks and Their Putative Relevance for the Pathophysiology of Schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 34, 927–943.

- Uhlhaas, P.J., Linden, D.E.J., Singer, W., Haenschel, C., Lindner, M., Maurer, K., and Rodriguez, E. (2006). Dysfunctional long-range coordination of neural activity during gestalt perception in schizophrenia. J Neurosci 26, 8168–8175.
- Uhlhaas, P.J., Pipa, G., Lima, B., Melloni, L., Neuenschwander, S., Nikolic, D., and Singer, W. (2009). Neural synchrony in cortical networks: history, concept and current status. Front Integr Neurosci 3, 17.
- Umbricht, D., and Krljes, S. (2005). Mismatch negativity in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Schizophr Res 76, 1–23.
- Umbricht, D., Schmid, L., Koller, R., Vollenweider, F.X., Hell, D., and Javitt, D.C. (2000). Ketamine-induced deficits in auditory and visual context-dependent processing in healthy volunteers: Implications for models of cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57, 1139–1147.
- Urbach, T.P., and Kutas, M. (2006). Interpreting event-related brain potential (ERP) distributions: implications of baseline potentials and variability with application to amplitude normalization by vector scaling. Biol Psychol. 72, 333-343.
- Van den Buuse, M., Garner, B., Gogos, A., and Kusljic, S. (2005). Importance of animal models in schizophrenia research. Aust N Z J Psychiatry *39*, 550–557.
- van den Buuse, M., Wischhof, L., Xi Lee, R., Martin, S., and Karl, T. (2009). Neuregulin 1 hypomorphic mutant mice: enhanced baseline locomotor activity but normal psychotropic drug-induced hyperlocomotion and prepulse inhibition regulation. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 12, 1383–1393.
- van der Werf, M., Hanssen, M., Köhler, S., Verkaaik, M., Verhey, F.R., RISE Investigators, van Winkel, R., Van Os, J., and Allardyce, J. (2012). Systematic review and collaborative recalculation of 133,693 incident cases of schizophrenia. Psychol Med 44, 9–16.
- Van Lieshout, R.J., and Voruganti, L.P. (2008). Diabetes mellitus during pregnancy and increased risk of schizophrenia in offspring: a review of the evidence and putative mechanisms. J Psychiatry Neurosci 33, 395–404.
- van Os, J., and Kapur, S. (2009). Schizophrenia. Lancet 374, 635-645.
- Venables, N.C., Bernat, E.M., and Sponheim, S.R. (2009). Genetic and Disorder-Specific Aspects of Resting State EEG Abnormalities in Schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 35, 826–839.
- Verma, A., and Moghaddam, B. (1996). NMDA receptor antagonists impair prefrontal cortex function as assessed via spatial delayed alternation performance in rats: modulation by dopamine. J Neurosci 16, 373–379.
- Veselinovic, T., Schorn, H., Vernaleken, I.B., Hiemke, C., Zernig, G., Gur, R., and Gründer, G. (2013). Effects of antipsychotic treatment on cognition in healthy subjects. J Psychopharmacol 27, 374–385.
- Vinson, P.N., and Conn, P.J. (2012). Metabotropic glutamate receptors as therapeutic targets for schizophrenia. Neuropharmacology *62*, 1461–1472.

- Volk, D.W., Austin, M.C., Pierri, J.N., Sampson, A.R., and Lewis, D.A. (2000). Decreased glutamic acid decarboxylase 67 messenger RNA expression in a subset of prefrontal cortical gamma-aminobutyric acid neurons in subjects with schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57, 237–245.
- Volk, D., Austin, M., Pierri, J., Sampson, A., and Lewis, D. (2001). GABA transporter-1 mRNA in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia: decreased expression in a subset of neurons. Am J Psychiatry 158, 256–265.
- Vollenweider, F.X., Leenders, K.L., Oye, I., Hell, D., and Angst, J. (1997). Differential psychopathology and patterns of cerebral glucose utilisation produced by (S)- and (R)ketamine in healthy volunteers using positron emission tomography (PET). Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 7, 25–38.
- Waite, P.M.E. (1973). Somatotopic organization of vibrissal responses in the ventro-basal complex of the rat thalamus. J Physiol 228, 527–540.
- Wamsley, E.J., Tucker, M.A., Shinn, A.K., Ono, K.E., McKinley, S.K., Ely, A.V., Goff, D.C., Stickgold, R., and Manoach, D.S. (2012). Reduced sleep spindles and spindle coherence in schizophrenia: mechanisms of impaired memory consolidation? Biol Psychiatry 71, 154– 161.
- Wang, C.Z., Yang, S.F., Xia, Y., and Johnson, K.M. (2008a). Postnatal phencyclidine administration selectively reduces adult cortical parvalbumin-containing interneurons. Neuropsychopharmacology 33, 2442–2455.
- Wang, D., Noda, Y., Zhou, Y., Nitta, A., Furukawa, H., and Nabeshima, T. (2007). Synergistic effect of galantamine with risperidone on impairment of social interaction in phencyclidinetreated mice as a schizophrenic animal model. Neuropharmacology 52, 1179–1187.
- Wang, H.-X., and Gao, W.-J. (2009). Cell type-specific development of NMDA receptors in the interneurons of rat prefrontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology *34*, 2028–2040.
- Wang, H., Stradtman, G.G., Wang, X.-J., and Gao, W.-J. (2008b). A specialized NMDA receptor function in layer 5 recurrent microcircuitry of the adult rat prefrontal cortex. PNAS. *105*, 16791–16796.
- Weickert, C.S., Tiwari, Y., Schofield, P.R., Mowry, B.J., and Fullerton, J.M. (2012). Schizophrenia-associated HapICE haplotype is associated with increased NRG1 type III expression and high nucleotide diversity. Translational Psychiatry 2, e104–e108.
- Weinberger, D.R., Berman, K.F., Suddath, R., and Torrey, E.F. (1992). Evidence of dysfunction of a prefrontal-limbic network in schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance imaging and regional cerebral blood flow study of discordant monozygotic twins. Am J Psychiatry 149, 890–897.
- Wen, L., Lu, Y.-S., Zhu, X.-H., Li, X.-M., Woo, R.-S., Chen, Y.-J., Yin, D.-M., Lai, C., Terry, A.V., Vazdarjanova, A., et al. (2010). Neuregulin 1 regulates pyramidal neuron activity via ErbB4 in parvalbumin-positive interneurons. PNAS. 107, 1211–1216.
- Wernicke, C. (1906). Grundriss der Psychiatrie (Leipzig: Thieme).

- Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Thermenos, H.W., Milanovic, S., Tsuang, M.T., Faraone, S.V., McCarley, R.W., Shenton, M.E., Green, A.I., Nieto-Castanon, A., LaViolette, P., et al. (2009). Hyperactivity and hyperconnectivity of the default network in schizophrenia and in first-degree relatives of persons with schizophrenia. PNAS. *106*, 1279–1284.
- Whitmer, D., De Solages, C., Hill, B., Yu, H., Henderson, J.M., and Bronte-Stewart, H. (2012). High frequency deep brain stimulation attenuates subthalamic and cortical rhythms in Parkinson's disease. Front Hum Neurosci 6, 1–18.
- Whittington, M.A., Traub, R.D., Kopell, N., Ermentrout, B., and Buhl, E.H. (2000). Inhibition-based rhythms: experimental and mathematical observations on network dynamics. Int J Psychophysiol 38, 315–336.
- Whittington, M.A., and Traub, R.D. (2003). Interneuron diversity series: Inhibitory interneurons and network oscillations in vitro. Trends Neurosci 26, 676–682.
- Williams, L.M., Whitford, T.J., Nagy, M., Flynn, G., Harris, A.W.F., Silverstein, S.M., and Gordon, E. (2009). Emotion-elicited gamma synchrony in patients with first-episode schizophrenia: a neural correlate of social cognition outcomes. J Psychiatry Neurosci 34, 303–313.
- Williams, N.M., Preece, A., Spurlock, G., Norton, N., Williams, H.J., Zammit, S., O apos Donovan, M.C., and Owen, M.J. (2003). Support for genetic variation in neuregulin 1 and susceptibility to schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 8, 485–487.
- Winterer, G., Ziller, M., Dorn, H., Frick, K., Mulert, C., Wuebben, Y., Herrmann, W.M., and Coppola, R. (2000). Schizophrenia: reduced signal-to-noise ratio and impaired phaselocking during information processing. Clin Neurophysiol 111, 837–849.
- Winterer, G., and Weinberger, D.R. (2004). Genes, dopamine and cortical signal-to-noise ratio in schizophrenia. Trends Neurosci 27, 683–690.
- Winterer, G., Coppola, R., Goldberg, T.E., Egan, M.F., Jones, D.W., Sanchez, C.E., and Weinberger, D.R. (2004). Prefrontal broadband noise, working memory, and genetic risk for schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 161, 490–500.
- Wittchen, H.U., Jacobi, F., Rehm, J., Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., Jönsson, B., Olesen, J., Allgulander, C., Alonso, J., Faravelli, C., et al. (2011). The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 21, 655–679.
- Wobrock, T., Ecker, U.K.H., Scherk, H., Schneider-Axmann, T., Falkai, P., and Gruber, O. (2009). Cognitive impairment of executive function as a core symptom of schizophrenia. World J. Biol. Psychiatry 10, 442–451.
- Wohl, M., and Gorwood, P. (2007). Paternal ages below or above 35 years old are associated with a different risk of schizophrenia in the offspring. European Psychiatry.
- Wong, A.H.C., and Van Tol, H.H.M. (2003). Schizophrenia: from phenomenology to neurobiology. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 27, 269–306.

- Woo, R.-S., Li, X.-M., Tao, Y., Carpenter-Hyland, E., Huang, Y.Z., Weber, J., Neiswender, H., Dong, X.-P., Wu, J., Gassmann, M., et al. (2007). Neuregulin-1 enhances depolarization-induced GABA release. Neuron 54, 599–610.
- Woo, T.-U.W., Spencer, K., and McCarley, R.W. (2010). Gamma oscillation deficits and the onset and early progression of schizophrenia. Harvard Review of Psychiatry 18, 173–189.
- Woo, T.-U.W., Walsh, J.P., and Benes, F.M. (2004). Density of glutamic acid decarboxylase 67 messenger RNA–containingneurons that express the N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit NR2A in the anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61, 649–657.
- Woo, T.-U., Whitehead, R.E., Melchitzky, D.S., and Lewis, D.A. (1998). A subclass of prefrontal γ -aminobutyric acid axon terminals are selectively altered in schizophrenia. PNAS. 95, 5341–5346.
- Woo, T., Kim, A.M., and Viscidi, E. (2008). Disease-specific alterations in glutamatergic neurotransmission on inhibitory interneurons in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. Brain Res 1218, 267–277.
- Woodruff, P.W., McManus, I.C., and David, A.S. (1995). Meta-analysis of corpus callosum size in schizophrenia. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 58, 457–461.
- Woodward, N.D., Karbasforoushan, H., and Heckers, S. (2012). Thalamocortical dysconnectivity in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry *169*, 1092–1099.
- Woodward, N.D., Purdon, S.E., Meltzer, H.Y., and Zald, D.H. (2005). A meta-analysis of neuropsychological change to clozapine, olanzapine, quetiapine, and risperidone in schizophrenia. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 8, 457–472.
- World Health Organisation (1992). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision (ICD-10) (WHO, Geneva).
- Wroblewska, B., Santi, M.R., and Neale, J.H. (1998). N-acetylaspartylglutamate activates cyclic AMP-coupled metabotropic glutamate receptors in cerebellar astrocytes. Glia 24, 172– 179.
- Xi, D., Li, Y.-C., Snyder, M.A., Gao, R.Y., Adelman, A.E., Zhang, W., Shumsky, J.S., and Gao, W.-J. (2011). Group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist ameliorates MK801induced dysfunction of NMDA receptors via the Akt/GSK-3[beta] pathway in adult rat prefrontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 36, 1260–1274.
- Xu, B., Roos, J.L., Levy, S., van Rensburg, E.J., Gogos, J.A., and Karayiorgou, M. (2008). Strong association of de novo copy number mutations with sporadic schizophrenia. Nat Genet 40, 880–885.
- Yau, H.J., Wang, H.F., Lai, C., and Liu, F.C. (2003). Neural development of the neuregulin receptor ErbB4 in the cerebral cortex and the hippocampus: Preferential expression by interneurons tangentially migrating from the ganglionic eminences. Cereb Cortex 13, 252– 264.

- Yoshino, M., Sawada, S., Yamamoto, C., and Kamiya, H. (1996). A metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist DCG-IV suppresses synaptic transmission at mossy fiber pathway of the guinea pig hippocampus. Neurosci Lett 207, 70–72.
- Young, J.W., Powell, S.B., Risbrough, V., Marston, H.M., and Geyer, M.A. (2009). Using the MATRICS to guide development of a preclinical cognitive test battery for research in schizophrenia. Pharmacol Ther *122*, 150–202.
- Yue, W.-H., Wang, H.-F., Sun, L.-D., Tang, F.-L., Liu, Z.-H., Zhang, H.-X., Li, W.-Q., Zhang, Y.-L., Zhang, Y., Ma, C.-C., et al. (2011). Genome-wide association study identifies a susceptibility locus for schizophrenia in Han Chinese at 11p11.2. Nat Genet 43, 1228–1231.
- Zarate, C.A., Jr, Singh, J.B., Carlson, P.J., Brutsche, N.E., Ameli, R., Luckenbaugh, D.A., Charney, D.S., and Manji, H.K. (2006). A randomized trial of an N-Methyl-D-aspartate antagonist in treatment-resistant major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63, 856–864.
- Zhang, L.I., and Poo, M.-M. (2001). Electrical activity and development of neural circuits. Nat Neurosci 4, 1207–1214.
- Zhou, Y., Liang, M., Tian, L., Wang, K., Hao, Y., Liu, H., Liu, Z., and Jiang, T. (2007). Functional disintegration in paranoid schizophrenia using resting-state fMRI. Schizophr Res 97, 194–205.



Paul Michael ANDERSON



Oscillations dans la bande de fréquence gamma dans des modèles de rongeurs pour la schizophrénie

Résumé

La schizophrénie est un trouble mental débilitant qui se caractérise par des perturbations de la pensée, des émotions et de la cognition. Ces processus d'intégration fonctionnelle sont généralement associés à des oscillations bioélectriques cérébrales synchrones dans la bande de fréquence gamma (30-80 Hz), lesquelles sont aussi altérées chez des patients souffrant de schizophrénie. Ce travail de thèse vise à développer des méthodes et des outils pour étudier les mécanismes neuronaux sous-tendant les altérations de ces oscillations physiopathologiques. Pour ce faire, nous avons développé des modèles de rongeurs de laboratoire pour la schizophrénie. Nous avons démontré que des modifications génétiques ou pharmacologiques conduisent à des perturbations des oscillations gamma et que des médicaments antipsychotiques peuvent les moduler.

Mots-clés: Schizophrénie, Gamma Oscillation, Antagoniste du récepteur NMDA, Des modèles de rongeurs, Stimulation sensorielle, thalamocortical

Résumé en anglais

Schizophrenia is a debilitating mental disorder that is characterised by a breakdown in normal thought processes, blunted emotional responses and a variety of cognitive difficulties. Gamma frequency (30 – 80 Hz) oscillations are associated with many processes that are disrupted in people with schizophrenia memory, perception and attention. This thesis aimed to develop methods and tools to investigate the basic mechanisms that underlie the alterations in gamma frequency brain activity that are observed in patients suffering from schizophrenia. To do this we developed a variety of experimental animal models for schizophrenia. We successfully demonstrated that both genetic and pharmacological changes lead to alterations in gamma oscillations and that antipsychotic medications can modulate them.

Keywords : Schizophrenia, Gamma Oscillation, NMDA receptor antagonist, Rodent Models, Sensory Stimulation, Thalamocortical